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Abstract

The episcopal office, and the individuals who held it, were fundamental to the
political, religious, social and cultural development of ducal Normandy. Not only men
of great political power, many strove to create vibrant centres of learning in their
dioceses, and accounts of their efforts to reform the Norman Church spread
throughout Europe. However, while the episcopate of twelfth-century Normandy
continues to be the subject of various studies, such as that published recently by Jérg
Peltzer, there are few works, especially in English, which examine the careers of their
predecessors in any real detail. This thesis is intended, therefore, as the first
comprehensive analysis of the tenth and eleventh-century episcopate, and their role in
the emergence of the Norman and Anglo-Norman realms. Using chronicles, ducal and
episcopal acta, published conciliar records, architecture, and a wide variety of
unpublished material in both French and English archives, this thesis traces the
origins of the bishops, their recruitment and relations with the dukes of Normandy,
their role in Normandy before the Conquest of England and in the governance of the
Anglo-Norman realm, their secular role and connections, and their role as cultural
patrons. It also includes, in various appendices, critical editions of texts either
associated with, or created by, members of the episcopate, including the texts of over
eighty episcopal acta.
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Note

Throughout the text French place names have been rendered according to the form
found in the topographical dictionaries for each département produced by the Institut
national de la statistique et des études économiques,* while those in their Latin form
have been identified using the works of Jean Adigard des Gautries? and Francois de
Beaurepaire.> Norman and French personal toponyms are rendered ‘de X’ in all but a
handful of cases. The form of English place names is taken from the relevant volume
of Victoria County History. Norman dukes are referred to by their numerical
sequence, rather than by their epithets, which means that William the Conqueror is
William 11. In the tables listing appearances in the diplomatic record the letters ‘T°,
‘S’ and ‘M’ stand for ‘Testes’, ‘Signum’ and ‘Mention’, while an ‘x’ in all three
columns indicates a charter issued by the bishop. In these tables, and in the episcopal
acta edited in Appendix G, reference is made to many documents that are often
referred to elsewhere as pancartes. This is a term that has been overused in studies of
Norman diplomatic, and it is used here according to the more precise criteria
determined elsewhere.* In the itineraries an asterisk next to the date means the

participation of the bishop in that event is not certain.

! INSEE. Direction régionale (Rouen), Nomenclature des hameaux écarts et lieux-dits du département
de Seine-Inférieure (Rouen, 1953); Nomenclature des hameaux écarts et lieux-dits du département de
[’Eure (Rouen, 1955); Nomenclature des hameaux: écarts et lieux-dits du département du Calvados
(Rouen, 1956); Nomenclature des hameaux écarts et lieux-dits du département de la Manche (Rouen,
1961); Nomenclature des hameaux écarts et lieux-dits du département de I’Orne (Rouen, 1962).

27, Adigard des Gautries, ‘Les noms de lieux de la Manche attestés entre 911 et 1066°, AN, 1 (1951),
pp. 9-44; ‘Les noms de lieux des iles anglo-normandes attestés entre 911 et 1066°, AN, 2 (1952), pp.
27-33; ‘Les noms de lieux du Calvados attestés entre 911 et 1066°, AN, 2 (1952), pp. 209-228; 3
(1953), pp. 22-36, 135-148; ‘Les noms de lieux de I’Eure attestés entre 911 et 1066°, AN, 4 (1954), pp.
39-60, 237-256; 5 (1955), pp. 15-34; ‘Les noms de lieux de la Seine-Maritime attestés entre 911 et
1066°, AN, 6 (1956), 119-135, 223-244; 7 (1957), pp. 135-158; 8 (1958), pp. 299-322; 9 (1959), pp.
151-167.

® F. de Beaurepaire, Les Noms des communes et anciennes paroisses de la Seine-Maritime (Paris,
1979); Les Noms des communes et anciennes paroisses de [’Eure (Paris, 1981); Les Noms des
communes et anciennes paroisses de la Manche (Paris, 1986).

* For discussion see Regesta, pp. 22-30; M. Parisse, ‘Les pancartes. Etude d’un type d’acte
diplomatique’, in Pancartes monastiques des Xle et Xlle siécles, ed. M. Parisse, P. Pégeot and B.-M.
Tock (Turnhout, 1998), pp. 11-62.



Introduction

The episcopal office, and the individuals who held it, occupied a central place in
eleventh-century Normandy. Through the building of cathedrals, the founding of
monastic houses and the sponsoring of such works as the famous Bayeux Tapestry,
these men made fundamental religious, political, social and cultural contributions to
the development of Normandy as a regional—and after 1066—an international power.
Compared to some other aspects of the ecclesiastical history of the duchy, however,
these individuals have not always received the attention that they deserve, especially
from scholars in the English-speaking world. Those that have sought to examine the
episcopate in more detail have often found their work hindered by two factors. The
first concerns the survival of source material. The history of tenth- and eleventh-
century Normandy suffers from a well-known paucity of sources, and while
documents for the history of the Norman church (including its episcopate) are more
plentiful than for other aspects of the duchy’s history, these often come with certain
conditions. This is perhaps illustrated no better than by the surviving material of the
diocese of Coutances. Decimated by the fire that destroyed the archives at Saint-L6 on
6 June 1944, the number of surviving charters for the eleventh-century bishops can be
counted on one hand, while our understanding of life in the city and diocese during
the eleventh century relies solely on two narrative texts that were both written in the
early twelfth.! These documents are consequently not only open to questions
concerning their veracity, but the very nature in which they have survived continues
to cause problems for those studying the history of the diocese, including the author

of this particular work.?

! These are the collection of miracles, which are edited below in Appendix F, and the text known most
commonly as the Gesta Gaufridi or ‘De statu huius ecclesiae ab anno 836 ad 1093’, which is printed in
Gallia Christiana (see abbreviations for details).

2 This is particularly true of De statu, which, along with the miracles of Coutances, was once found in
the Livre noir of the cathedral chapter, a medieval codex that itself fell victim to the vicissitudes of the
French Revolution. For discussion, see G. Désiré dit Gosset, ‘Les Livres noirs et les Livres blancs de
I’ancien diocése de Coutances’, Revue de la Manche, 39 (1997), pp. 7-21. The original intention was to
edit both texts in this study, but the oldest surviving complete manuscript copy of De statu, which was
made by Arthur Du Monstier in 1641, is in a manuscript (BN, ms. lat. 10049) that has been deemed,
due to its current state, to be ‘totalement incommunicable’. Frequent requests over the last two years,
including those made on the author’s behalf by Véronique Gazeau, Stephen Marritt and Emmanuel
Poulle, have failed to make the codex available for consultation. This is particularly unfortunate, for
earlier fragmentary copies of De statu suggest the edition in Gallia Christiana is wholly unsatisfactory,
yet it is still the version used most frequently by scholars to make arguments concerning important
aspects of life in eleventh-century Coutances. For an example with regards to the eleventh-century
cathedral, see below, pp. 182-185.



The second factor is related to the first. While the history of ducal Normandy is
served by some of the most famous chronicles of the High Middle Ages, the
frequency with which members of the Norman episcopate are mentioned in their
pages varies greatly from bishop to bishop. Like their modern counterparts, medieval
historians were limited by the amount of information available for the career of each
particular bishop, while personal taste and value judgements often determined which
bishops were the recipient of either praise or scorn. Among those to feature most
prominently in the work of Orderic Vitalis, for example, is Odo, bishop of Bayeux.®
He, like Geoffrey de Montbray, bishop of Coutances, had an active—often
controversial—career, the events of which were well documented on both sides of the
Channel. Consequently, much ink has been spilled by modern scholars on Odo and
Geoffrey, but to focus exclusively on such figures leaves the historiography of the
eleventh-century Norman episcopate, and that of the duchy itself, somewhat one-
dimensional. While it is true that bishops such as Ivo de Belléme, bishop of Sées, and
John of lvry, archbishop of Rouen, had much in common with their more (in)famous
colleagues, their careers were guided by entirely different forces. Moreover, men such
as William Bona Anima, archbishop of Rouen, and Serlo d’Orgeres, bishop of Sées,
represent a completely different aspect of the Norman episcopate at this time—one
which, due to its more pacific nature, has failed to capture so completely the attention
of modern authorities. There are, of course, also those who seem to have been
unjustly treated by both their contemporaries and later scholars, such as Mauger,

archbishop of Rouen.

The aim of this study is, therefore, twofold. First, it seeks to provide a complete
analysis of the career of every bishop during this period, and to document in full the
contribution that each made to the restoration of the Norman church following the
Scandinavian incursions of the ninth and tenth centuries. This will not only redress the
imbalances noted above, but will also allow for the careers of better known bishops to
be placed in their proper context. It will, moreover, confront the fact that too much of
our knowledge for this period is based upon the work of early modern antiquarians,
who although often having access to material that has since been lost, have never had

many of their assertions critically examined or questioned. These can sometimes

® P. Bouet, ‘L’image des évéques normands dans I’ceuvre d’Orderic Vital’, in Les évéques normands,
pp. 253-275.



concern what appear to be matters of minute detail, but in an era when so many events
and documents are undated, the clarification of something as minor as the identity of
the source used by Gallia Christiana to state that William Fleitel, bishop of Evreux,
died on 11 February 1066,* allows for other aspects of the region’s history to be
studied with far greater precision.®> Similar examples can be found throughout, while
the appendices, which represent the study’s second aim, namely to provide critical
editions of documents either written by or associated with members of the episcopate,
allow for many different aspects of the history of ducal Normandy to be studied with

greater rigour.

This work, of course, does not stand in isolation. From David Douglas’ seminal
study of the pre-Conquest Norman episcopate,’ to the recent collection of essays
published following a conference held in honour of Geoffrey de Montbray,’ the
quantity of secondary works on which this study relies is far too large to be outlined
in full here. However, while these studies have proved invaluable in completing this
thesis, few make full use of the wide range of material available for the study of the
episcopate. The episcopal acta of this period, many of which have been edited here
critically for the first time, have hitherto remained a particularly neglected source of
information. The work of David Bates and Richard Sharpe on the Anglo-Norman
royal acta of this period has already made accessible to analysis the texts of these
important documents, and has revealed the rewards of bringing new and more
rigorous standards of analysis to such material. Contemporary episcopal acta are
deserving of the same attention, and it is only by analysing the charters produced
during this formative period that we can truly understand the foundations on which

* GC, xi, col. 571. This date is often repeated without question (e.g. P. Bouet and M. Dosdat, ‘Les
évéques normands de 985 a 1150°, in Les évéques normands, pp. 19-37, at p. 29), even though it
clashes with the date given by an obituary of the cathedral of Evreux. The source of the editors of
Gallia Christiana appears to be a lost obituary of Saint-Sauveur d’Evreux, which is referenced in a
manuscript of the seventeenth century written by Arthur Du Monstier, BN, ms. lat. 10050, fol. 114r.
For full discussion, see below p. 223.

® Orderic claims that William was present at the meeting, which is traditionally located at Lillebonne,
during which the invasion plans for England were discussed, OV, ii, pp. 140-142. Armed with the
information discovered in the work of Arthur Du Monstier, scholars can now chose to either reject or
accept the date for the bishop’s death given by Gallia Christiana, and this means that the period in
which the meeting at Lillebonne, which is no better dated than early 1066, can be furthered refined.

® D.C. Douglas, ‘The Norman episcopate before the Norman Conquest’, Cambridge Historical Review,
13 (1957), pp. 101-115.

" This was the colloque entitled Geoffroy de Montbray et les évéques normands du Xle siécle, which
was held on 30 September to 3 October 1993 at Cerisy-la-Salle. The proceedings were published as Les
évéques normands (see abbreviations for details).



the diplomatic material of succeeding centuries was based. Moreover, once treated
properly these texts can allow for comments to be made on a wide variety of issues,
including the means by which a bishop appointed members of his cathedral chapter,
the manner in which he exercised authority in his city and the development and

administration of his estates.®

The narrative structure of this study, which examines the career of each bishop
individually, diocese by diocese, does mean, however, that it has not been possible to
do some things. Those searching for an overarching hypothesis that relates not only
the members of the Norman episcopate to each other, but also to the wider European
episcopal network, will not find such ideas openly expressed here. The evidence is
often far too slender to support such concepts, and while comparisons between
members of the Norman episcopate, or with their European colleagues, may seem
necessary, they are, given the circumstances in Normandy at this time, often
somewhat incongruous. Moreover, while many chapters consider similar themes, it
has seemed prudent not to try and examine these separately. This is done partly to
avoid repetition of existing material, but also because any such study would be
unfairly weighted towards those dioceses (normally Rouen and Bayeux) for which the
greatest amount of information survives. Every effort has been made to try and relate
the subjects considered in each chapter to events of wider significance in the duchy,
although given how completely some members of the episcopate can disappear from
the historical record, this has not always been possible. Such shortcomings, however,
should not detract from the need for a fresh examination of these bishops, and it is
hoped that what follows goes at least some way to illuminating not only the extent of
their individual achievements, but also their place as a group within the wider history

of ducal Normandy.

8 For two recent examples of the application of episcopal acta in this way, see R. Allen, ‘Five charters
concerning the early history of the chapter at Avranches’, Tabularia ‘Documents’, 8 (2008), pp. 1-33;
R. Allen, ‘Un évéque et sa ville: les évéques d’Avranches de 990 a 1134°, Revue de | ’Avranchin et du
pays de Granville, 86 (2009), pp. 1-49.



Fig. 1 has been removed due to Copyright restrictions

Fig 1 The ecclesiastical province of Rouen during the eleventh and twelfth
centuries

“ Map adapted from the French version in F. Neveux, ‘Les diocéses normands aux Xle et Xlle siécles’,
Les évéques normands, pp. 13-18, at p. 16.



The Norman episcopate before 989

Any assessment of the Norman episcopate before 989 is plagued by the severe
lack of evidence caused by the Northmen incursions of the previous century. First
appearing in the region in 841, no diocese escaped unscathed.® Churches were razed
to the ground, relics scattered, bishops killed, and another even captured and sold into
slavery.? By 862, the smallest diocese in the province, Avranches, had been
completely severed from the ecclesiastical chain of command. The see would lay
vacant for over a century, and was only reoccupied in around 990.% The destruction in
the bishopric of Coutances, also in Lower Normandy, was also profound. The
Northmen razed the cathedral to the ground, and the clergy fled, taking with them the
cathedral relics, which were subsequently scattered throughout France. Fortunately,
the newly converted Danish leader Hrolfr (christened Rollo by the archbishop of
Rouen in 911) made amends for the destruction wrought by his followers, and shortly
after his baptism, arranged for the transferral of Theoderic, bishop of Coutances, to
the church of Saint-L6 in Rouen, where he continued to work ‘as if he were in his
own see’.* This was a situation that would endure until the episcopate of Geoffrey de
Montbray (1049-1093).° The circumstances at Lisieux and Evreux were little better.
The editors of Gallia Christiana were unable to name any bishop for Lisieux between
876 and 990,° while the only person known unquestionably to have occupied the seat
at Evreux after 909 is Gunhardus,” who witnessed two charters of Ragenfredus,
bishop of Chartres, in favour of Saint-Pére de Chartres in the 950s.2 Lucien Musset

thought that Gunhardus had probably evacuated his see (although he couldn’t indicate

! Nithard, Histoire de fils de Louis de Pieux, ed. and trans. P.H. Lauer (Paris, 1926), p. 56; ‘Annales
Fontanellenses priores’, ed. J. Laporte, in Société de I'histoire de Normandie, Mélanges, 15 (1951), pp.
74-75.

2 Balfridus, bishop of Bayeux, was killed in 858 and Lista, bishop of Coutances, in 889, GC, xi, cols.
351, 867. Adalhelmus, bishop of Sées, was captured and sold into slavery in c. 885, ‘Liber

miraculorum sanctae Opportunae’, AASS, April 111, p. 68.

* GC, xi, col. 474.

4 <_.. ibique sicut in sede propria sedebat’, ‘De statu’, col. 218. The sections of this text dealing with
Rollo are translated in, The Normans in Europe, ed. and trans. E.M.C. van Houts (Manchester, 2000),
pp. 38-40.

> Both Geoffrey’s predecessors Herbert (c. 1022/3) and Robert (c. 1023-1048) were involved in the
reconstruction effort at Coutances, but it was only under Geoffrey that the bishop moved back
permanently to the Cotentin. For discussion, see below pp. 176-203.

® GC, xi, col. 765.

" Gallia Christiana names two other prelates in the list before Gunhardus (Cerdegarius and Hugh), but
the existence of both rests on no certain source.

8 Cartulaire de I’abbaye de Saint-Pére de Chartres, ed. B. Guérard, 2 vols. (Paris, 1840), i, no. i, pp.
49-50; ii, no. cxxx, p. 351.



to where),’ but a sizeable Christian population must have remained in the area, for it
was only with their help that Hugh the Great (d. 956) was able to seize the castrum of
the city in 943.° Both bishops Roger of Lisieux and Gerard of Evreux, who
reoccupied their sees sometime in the late tenth century, appear alongside other pre-
989 prelates at a translation of the relics of St. Ouen undertaken by Richard 1 (942-
996), but it remains unclear when this event took place, and when these two prelates
were elevated to their respective seats.'" A twelfth-century tradition states that the
inhabitants of the Ouche, in the south of the diocese of Lisieux, still did not fall under

episcopal authority even as late as 1020.%

The situation at Bayeux, the province’s second diocese, is only slightly better.
The most famous pre-989 occupant of the see is Heiric."> He appears twice in Dudo
de Saint-Quentin’s De moribus et actis primorum Normanniae ducum, and was
allegedly responsible for baptising the infant Richard 1.** Dudo describes him as ‘of
the very highest reverence’ (reverentissimo), while both he and various monastic
annals make reference to his holiness (omnium quippe praesulum sanctissimum).®
Little else is known of this prelate. The state of his cathedral church is unclear,
although given that William Longsword sent his son Richard to the city to be
educated in Danish customs and language, one must assume that the Scandinavian
impact had been great, and perhaps even destructive as far as the ecclesiastical
hierarchy was concerned.’® Henri Prentout suggested Heiric lived outside his see
among the Rouen clergy, although provided no other evidence than that the baptism

appears to have taken place at Fécamp, and that there were disturbances in other

° L. Musset, ‘Un millénaire oublié: la remise en ordre de la hiérarchie épiscopale en Normandie autour
de 990°, in Papauté, monachisme et théories politiques: études d’histoire médiévale offertes a Marcel
Pacaut, ed. P. Guichard et al., 2 vols. (Lyon, 1994), ii, pp. 563-573, at p. 565. It has recently been
suggested that if Gunhardus did leave his see, he gravitated towards the city of Tours, P. Bauduin, La
premiére Normandie (Xe-Xle siécles): sur les frontiéres de la haute Normandie (Caen, 2004), p. 165.

1% Flodoard of Reims, Les annales de Flodoard, ed. P. Lauer (Paris, 1905), p. 88.

1 “Translatio secunda corporis beati Audoeni’, AASS, Aug. IV, pp. 823-824, at p. 824. For discussion,
see below pp. 9-15.

2oV, ii, p. 26.

13 Elisabeth van Houts translated his name as Henry, despite the fact that William of Jumiéges uses the
same Latin form of his name as Dudo, i.e. Heiricus, GND, ii, p. 78.

 De moribus, pp. 191, 219. A set of annals composed at the cathedral of Rouen claims the baptism
took place in 938. For this text, which has been edited only once from a manuscript now lost, see
‘Chronicon Rotomagense’, in Novae bibliothecae manuscriptorum librorum, ed. P. Labbé, 2 vols.
(Paris, 1657), i, pp. 364-390, at p. 366.

> De moribus, pp. 191, 219; “Chronicon Rotomagense’, p. 366; Les annales de I’abbaye Saint-Pierre
de Jumieges: chronique universelle des origines au Xllle siecle, ed. J. Laporte (Rouen, 1954), p. 52.

18 De moribus, p. 221.



Norman sees at this time,'” while it is possible the bishop was a member of the
duchy’s new ruling family.*® Gallia Christiana names three other bishops of Bayeux
for the tenth century, and while one of these (Hugh II) can now be dismissed,'® the
appearance of a Ricardus Baiocensis episcopus at the translation of St. Ouen noted
above means the identity of the person to immediately succeed Heiric remains
unclear.” Maylis Bayl¢ also drew attention to the inscription ‘Ertmandus ep.’, which
was carved into the base of a column of the church of Evrecy in the diocese of
Bayeux.?! She dated the carving to the late tenth century, and associated it with a
consecration perhaps conducted by this bishop at Evrecy. David Spear concluded that
as long as Ertmundus is not a variation of the name Erchambertus, who was bishop of
Bayeux towards the end of the ninth century, then Ertmund could be a hitherto
unknown bishop of the early ducal period, although he did not include him among his

formal list of cathedral personnel.??

Finally, while a twelfth-century episcopal list preserved in a manuscript of
Jumiéges lists numerous prelates for the period, the diocese of Sées appears to have
lain vacant for most of the tenth century.?® Indeed, Gallia Christiana printed none of
the six names (Godegrannus, Robert, Hugh, Benedict, Ragenfridus and Rainaldus)
that appear in the Jumiéges manuscript between the two confirmed tenth-century
occupants of the see (Adalhelmus, d. c. 910 and Azo, c. 990-1015).* Louis Duchesne
was able to identify two of these with bishops who occupied the see prior to the tenth
century,®® yet another two (Robert and Benedict) remain in the list of bishops given
by Jacques Savary in his eighteenth-century pouillé of the diocese.?® Unfortunately,
neither name is accompanied by any biographical information. Adalhelmus, the last

occupant of the see before the vacancy, is perhaps most famous for a benedictionary

"' H. Prentout, Etude critique sur Dudon de Saint-Quentin et son histoire des premiers ducs normands
(Paris, 1916), p. 411.

8 E. Deniaux, C. Lorren, P. Bauduin and T. Jarry, La Normandie avant les Normands: de la conquéte
romaine a l’arrivée des Vikings (Rennes, 2002), p. 404.

9 RADN, p. 69.

% For discussion see below p. 15.

21 M. Bayl¢, ‘Sur quelques inscriptions lapidaires proches de I’an mil’, in La Normandie vers I’an mil:
études et documents, ed. F. de Beaurepaire and J.-P. Chaline (Rouen, 2000), pp. 45-59, at pp. 45-47.

22 Spear, The personnel, p. 31 n. 1. Spear does provisionally include a bishop Hubert, who witnessed a
charter (RADN, no. 7) on behalf of Saint-Wandrille.

2 BM (Rouen), ms. U 46 Omont 1333, fol. 37v-38r.

# GC, xi, col. 679.

. Duchesne, Fastes épiscopaux de I’ancienne Gaule, 3 vols. (Paris, 1907-1915), ii, pp. 231-235.

% pouillé de I’ancien diocése de Sées rédigé en 1763, par Jacques Savary, ed. Société historique et
archéologique de I’Orne, 2 vols. (Alengon, 1903-1908), i, p. 7.



which he composed for an archbishop Franco, usually associated with the archbishop
of Rouen by that name.?” Unfortunately, it seems unlikely that the benedictionary
was intended for use in Rouen (none of the later Norman benedictionaries contain the
formulas found in Adalhelmus’ work), while the existence of the work has long
caused problems for historians attempting to date the tenure of Archbishop Franco.?®

This will be discussed more fully below.

Of course, of the seven Norman sees, it is the metropolitan seat for which we have
the fullest information. Unlike its suffragan dioceses, it suffered no major disruption
in the archiepiscopal succession, and given the almost complete lack of evidence for
the other sees, we can consider the information we possess about the activities of its
occupants as detailed. Yet before we begin an analysis of the archdiocese of Rouen
and its prelates before 989, we must first examine an account of a translation of the
relics of St. Ouen already mentioned above, in which a number of the pre-989

episcopate are said to have been involved.
Richard | and the second translation of St. Ouen

Preserved in the Livre noir, an eleventh-century manuscript of the abbey of Saint-
Ouen de Rouen, is an account of a translation of the relics of St. Ouen undertaken by
Richard 1.” Probably written between 996 and 1001, no exact date is assigned to the
events which it records, and while there is a list of those in attendance at the
ceremony, their appearance alongside each other is chronologically problematic.
Nevertheless, Mathieu Arnoux has recently highlighted the importance to historians
of such sources in a period starved of narrative accounts,* and since the translatio is
an important witness to the ecclesiastical reconstitution of Normandy during the tenth
century, mentioning the names of more than two pre-989 bishops, we are justified in

reprinting a large portion of it here:

21 J. Laporte, ‘Bénédictions épiscopales a Paris (Xe s.)’, Ephemerides liturgicae, 71 (1957), pp. 145-
184,

% Laporte, ‘Bénédictions épiscopales’, p. 156.

% BM (Rouen), ms. Y 41 Omont 1406, fol. 211r-213v (one folio missing at end of the text). A
complete copy can be found in a thirteenth-century manuscript also of Saint-Ouen de Rouen, namely
BM (Rouen), ms. U 64 Omont 1411, fol. 97r-98v.

% M. Arnoux, ‘Before the Gesta Normannorum and beyond Dudo: some evidence on early Norman
historiography’, ANS, 22 (2000), pp. 29-48, at pp. 35-36.
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Quamobrem praedicto patri interminando praecepit, ut in eadem aecclesia tam die
guam nocte semper duo lucerent luminaria, unum scilicet coram altare beati Petri
apostoli, alterum vero ante aram beati AUDOENI pontificis, qui sunt duae olivae
et duo candelabra ante Dominum aeterna claritate micantia. Deputatis proinde
edituis, et custodibus idoneis qui ibidem excubias agerent, et apreciosas pignerum
gazas vel alia quaeque ornamenta diligenter seruarent, ipse princeps inclytus dedit
sancto AUDOENO villam sancti Martini nomine nuncupatam, et decimam villae
quae Ros dicitur. Deinde peritos accersiens aurifices, tradidit eis copiam auri et
gemmas preciosas ad deaurandum et decorandum sancti praesulis feretrum.
Consummato denique hoc opere, convocatis episcopis et abbatibus ac optimatibus
suis, fecit detegi sanctissimi antistitis menbra a quattuor monachis religiosis
eiusdem monasterii cum magno metu et reverentia. Inventum est itaque totum
corpus integrum cum capite et absque ulla imminutione, sicuti a venerabili
archiepiscopo Riculfo fuerat compositum. Tunc cum magnis laudum praeconiis
pallio valde precioso involutum, et sindone munda coopertum, sicuti repertum
fuerat integerrimum repositum est in scrinio, cum circulis ferreis quibus se vivens
constringendo afflixerat pro eius dulcissimo amore, qui nos in cruce propria
redemit passione. Ipsum vero scrinium, in feretro est reconditum, auro gemmisque
decoratum. Ibi ergo beati AUDOENI corpus sacratissimum, beatae resurrectionis
diem expectat, ut geminam incorruptionis stolam et perennem gloriae coronam a
Christo percipiat.

Affuerunt huic tam felici obsequio et digno spectaculo, dux ipse egregius
Ricardus, cum coniuge sua Albereda nomine, et filio Rotberto cognomine Dano,
qui defunctus sepultus est apud sanctum Petrum Carnoti, et cum aliis filiis et
filiabus ex eadem uxore. Affuerunti etiam domnus HUGO eiusdem sedis
archiepiscopus, Ricardus Baiocensis episcopus, Rogerius Lisiacensis episcopus,
Gerardus Ebroicensis episcopus, HILDEBERTUS abbas eiusdem monasterii,
Mainardus abbas sancti Michaelis de monte, Frotmundus abbas sancti Taurini
Ebroicensis, et alii multi venerabiles episcopi et abbates, convenit quoque
innumerabilis monachorum, clericorum, ac procerum totius regni, et alia plebs
copiosa. Quatuor vero monachi qui sanctissimum corpus ut praedictum est
detexerunt, occulta Dei dispositione ipso anno ad Dominum migrauerunt. Hec
iccirco dilectissimi compendiose digessimus, quemadmodum veridica a maioribus
nostris relatione comperimus, ut plane et absque ambiguitate sanctissimi patris
nostri Audoeni corpus integrum et ab omni membrorum parte imminutum haberi
apud nos ut praediximus credatur.*

Various authorities have attempted to date this event. The editors of Gallia
Christiana say no more than it took place in ‘medio seculo decimo’.*? Jean Hermant
dated it to 955, but the presence of Mainard, abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel (965-991)
militates against this.*® Lucien Musset and Marie Fauroux dated the donation of Saint-

Martin des Bois and Rots associated with the translation to 966 x 989.3* More

%1 BM (Rouen), ms. Y 41 Omont 1406, fol. 213r-v (last section missing); BM (Rouen), ms. U 64
Omont 1411, fol. 98r-v. For a full, though unsatisfactory edition, see AASS, Aug. IV, pp. 823-824. For
a French translation of the text, see M. Arnoux, ‘La conversion des normands de Neustrie et la
restauration de 1’église dans la province de Rouen’, in Le christianisme en Occident du début du VIlé
siécle au milieu du Xlé siecle: textes et documents, ed. F. Bougard (Paris, 1997), pp. 269-281, at pp.
275-278.

¥2.GC, xi, col. 352.

% J. Hermant, Histoire du diocése de Bayeux (Caen, 1705), p. 123.

¥ L. Musset, ‘La contribution de Fécamp 4 la reconquéte monastique de la Basse-Normandie (990-
1066)’, in L’abbaye bénédictine de Fécamp. Ouvrage scientifique du Xllle centenaire, 658-1958, 4
vols. (Fécamp, 1959), i, pp. 57-66, 341-343, at p. 58; RADN, p. 22.
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recently, Jean-Michel Bouvris argued the translation occurred between 985 and 989,*
while Pierre Bouet and Monique Dosdat stated it occurred in 988,% a conclusion that
has been followed elsewhere.®” More recently still, Mathieu Arnoux maintained that
the date could be none other than 989, for the author of the translatio appears to
closely relate the translation with the foundation of Fécamp in the following year.*
Of those in attendance at the translation, the following can be dated without doubt:
Richard I, duke of Normandy (942-996), Hugh, archbishop of Rouen (942-989), and
Mainard 1, abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel (965-991). The second of these provides us
with a broad terminus a quo and terminus ad quem. Of the others we know that
Hildebert, abbot of Saint-Ouen, died in 1006;* that Roger, bishop of Lisieux, died on
19 October 1022,*° and that Gerard, bishop of Evreux, passed away sometime after
1006,* while the only other datable appearance of Frotmundus, abbot of Saint-Taurin
of Evreux, is as a witness to the foundation charter of Conches in 1035.*> Of those for
whom we can provide no dates, one is an apparent member of the pre-989 episcopacy
(Ricardus Baiocensis episcopus), while the other is a member of the ducal family
(filio Roberto cognomine Dano). Both are problematic to the dates 985 x 989 and

988 suggested above.

Unfortunately, we know almost nothing of either individual. Robert Danus was
one of the five sons that Richard | had with his second wife Gunnor (Albereda).*?
The terminus a quo and terminus ad quem for his life are extremely difficult to
establish. According to Robert de Torigni, he was born, along with his siblings,
before the marriage of Richard | and Gunnor.** Dudo of Saint-Quentin, however,
suggests that the children were born after the union.”® The date of the marriage is

unknown, although a number of traditions survive. It certainly occurred after the

% J.-M. Bouvris, ‘Notes d’histoire bayeusaine au siécle de Guillaume le Conquérant’, Société des
sciences, arts et belles-lettres de Bayeux, 29 (1987), pp. 15-41, at p. 16.

% Bouet and Dosdat, ‘Les évéques normands’, p. 28.

% L. Musset, ‘Les translations de reliques en Normandie (IXe-Xlle siécles)’ in Les saints dans la
Normandie médiévale, ed. P. Bouet and F. Neveux (Caen, 2000), pp. 97-108, at p. 102.

® Arnoux, ‘Before the Gesta Normannorum’, p. 38. See also, V. Gazeau, Normannia monastica, 2
vols. (Caen, 2007), ii, p. 242.

% <Chronicon Rotomagense’, p. 366.

“% <Obitus domno Rogerii Lexoviensi episcopi’, BN, ms. n. a. lat. 1778, fol. 89v.

*L GC, xi, col. 570.

*2 e Grand Cartulaire de Conches et sa copie: transcription et analyse, ed. C. de Haas (Le Mesnil-
sur-1’Estrée, 2005), no. 406 (i). For his career see Gazeau, Normannia monastica, ii, p. 94.

** De moribus, p. 290; GND, ii, pp. 128-130.

“ GND, ii, p. 268.

** De moribus, p. 290.
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death of Richard’s first wife Emma, who disappears from the records in 966.% Dudo
of Saint-Quentin places his account in the years following a Northmen excursion to
Spain c¢. 966-c. 971. Having already fathered two illegitimate children with
mistresses, Richard became involved with Gunnor and ‘amicably allotted her to
himself in an alliance of forbidden union’. With the thoughts of his successor in mind,
the magnates of Rouen advised him to lawfully marry her.*’ Robert de Torigni
provides a different motive for the marriage. He indicates that the duke ‘wished his
son Robert [not Danus] to become archbishop of Rouen, [and] was told by certain
people that according to canon law this was impossible, because his mother [i.e.
Gunnor] had not been married’.*® Given that Hugh of Saint-Denis occupied the
archiepiscopal see until 989, this assertion must either refer either to a decision made
in the wake of the archbishop’s passing, or to an incredible act of ducal foresight. As
for the account of the translation of St. Ouen, it refers to Gunnor as Richard’s coniunx
and uxor, a clear indication that the two had been married when the translation took
place. Since the weight placed by modern scholars on Robert de Torigni’s account
has recently been reassessed in favour of Dudo, it would therefore seem likely that
Richard married Gunnor sometime in the late 960s.*° This is the new terminus a quo
for our translation. As for the terminus ad quem, we know that Robert Danus passed
away as a child, for he is recorded in the obituary of the abbey of Saint-Pére de
Chartres as such.>® Since the date of his passing has recently been given as before
985 x 989,”* the broad timeframe for the translation of St. Ouen must therefore be c.
967 x 985.

Determining the existence for the other individual is equally challenging.
Nowhere besides the translation of St. Ouen does a Richard, bishop of Bayeux, appear

during the tenth century. According to Gallia Christiana his immediate successor

“® She was present at the placitum of Gisors, which took place in June or July 966, and which is
referenced in a charter of Saint-Denis from 18 March 968, RADN, no. 3. This document claims Richard
I undertook the restitution of certain lands to Saint-Denis in this charter in memory of his grandfather
Robert (Rollo) and his father William, and ‘pro anime mee necnon coniugis’. The mention of Emma
alongside the duke’s dead relatives suggests that she was also dead by this point, although the
authenticity of this charter is doubted, GND, ii, p. 128 n. 1.

*" De moribus, p. 289.

*® GND, ii, pp. 266-268.

* E. Searle, ‘Fact and pattern in heroic history: Dudo of Saint-Quentin’, Viator, 15 (1984), pp. 119-
138, at pp. 133-136.

%0 <[ Augustus] II. idus. Robertus, puer, filius comitis Richardi’, Obituaires de la province de Sens, ed.
A. Molinier, 4 vols. (Paris, 1902-1923), p. 193.

L GND, ii, p. 130 n. 1.
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was Hugh II, but as has been noted above, the existence of this prelate is now
rejected.® The next name in the list is the bishop Rodulf, who was known as ‘of
Avranches’. A Breton by birth, his first bona fide appearance is alongside all the other
bishops of Normandy in the famous charter issued at the dedication of Fécamp on 15
June 990.>° Gallia Christiana claims that Rodulf witnessed a charter of the abbey of
Saint-Denis, which it dates to 967, but this document is not to be found.>* Until
evidence surfaces to demonstrate otherwise, the most likely explanation is that it was
Rodulf who was present at the St. Ouen translation, and that his name (Radulfus) was
mistranscribed for Richard (Ricardus). This means that the see of Bayeux apparently
lay vacant from between the end of the Heiric’s rule and c. 967 x before 985 x 989,
which itself provides evidence for Prentout’s suggestion that the see was so disrupted
that Heiric worked at Rouen. Frustratingly, the author of the translatio states that
other bishops were present at the translation, and while these could have been non-
Norman, perhaps this event, which may have taken place over a decade before the
dedication of Fécamp, is the first time at which the entire episcopate was present. It is
simply unfortunate that the scribe either did not know, or did not take the time, to

record their names.
The archbishops of Rouen

Although the quantity of information for the pre-989 occupants of the
archiepiscopal see is far greater than for their suffragan counterparts, its quality
remains a contentious issue. Officially, three pontiffs governed the province of Rouen
from the beginning of the tenth century until 989. These were archbishops Franco (c.
911-919), Gunhardus (920-942) and Hugh of Saint-Denis (942-989).>> Yet doubt has
long existed around the career of Archbishop Franco, whose deeds in the tenth

century were first recorded by the often unreliable Dudo of Saint-Quentin, and there is

%2 GC, xi, col. 352.

3 RADN, no. 4. For discussion of this charter, see D.C. Douglas, ‘The first ducal charter for Fécamp’,
in L’abbaye bénédictine de Fécamp, i, pp. 45-56, 323-339. Rodulf’s appearance in a charter issued for
the abbey of Saint-Wandrille on 29 or 30 May 996 x 1006 (RADN, no. 7) is open to doubt.

> GC, xi, col. 352. For a complete inventory of the diplomatic material of the abbey of Saint-Denis,
either original or otherwise, during this period see D. Songzoni, ‘Le chartrier de I’abbaye de Saint-
Denis en France au haut Moyen Age. Essai de reconstitution’, Pecia: Ressources en médiévistique, 3
(2003), pp. 9-211, esp. pp. 209-210.

% The two most important works on the episcopal lists of Rouen are Duchesne, Fastes épiscopau, ii,
pp. 200-212 and E.P. Sauvage, ‘Elenchi archiepiscoporum Rothomagensium’, Analecta Bollandiana, 8
(1891), pp. 406-428.
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considerable evidence to suggest that he was not archbishop at the beginning of the
tenth century, but rather at the end of the ninth. Similarly, while Archbishop
Gunhardus occupied the see for over two decades we know nothing of his career,
while the reputation of Hugh of Saint-Denis continues to suffer from the disdain of
later monastic chroniclers, despite a recent attempt at rehabilitation.®® Archbishop
Franco is of course most famous for his role, as described by Dudo of Saint-Quentin,
in the submission and conversion of Rollo, the first ‘duke’ of Normandy.”” The
baptism of the Northmen leader, which Dudo dates to 912 but which most likely took
place in the autumn of 911, is traditionally seen as one of two key events in the birth
of the early Norman state, the other being the Treaty of Saint-Clair-sur-Epte, which
ceded territory to Rollo for him to settle between the Epte and the Risle.>® Yet despite
the role of Franco being well entrenched in the popular imagination, too much
contradictory evidence exists for scholars to accept Dudo’s account wholeheau"tedly.60
Indeed, contemporary annals, narrative sources, episcopal lists and even a
benedictionary suggest that Franco was not even archbishop in 911. Two distinct
solutions to such inconsistencies can be proposed. Either Dudo’s dates are maintained
and the involvement of Franco abandoned, or the dates are abandoned and the

involvement of Franco maintained.

One of the central documents in the debate over Franco’s tenure as archbishop is
an episcopal list made at the abbey of Fécamp towards the end of the tenth century.®*
One of the oldest episcopal lists for Rouen, it is the only one from before the eleventh
century to have been drawn up in the ecclesiastical province itself,®* and since it was
compiled before Dudo of Saint-Quentin wrote his history of the early Norman dukes,

is free from his influence.”® Written under the title ‘Nomina episcoporum

% For discussion, see below pp. 19-27.

> De moribus, pp. 166-170.

% De moribus, p. 170; D.C. Douglas, ‘Rollo of Normandy’, EHR, 57 (1942), pp. 417-436, at pp. 427-
428.

% D. Bates, Normandy before 1066 (London, 1982), pp. 8-9.

% Jules Lair, the first modern editor of De moribus noted as much in the introduction to his edition, De
moribus, p. 62.

8 BN, ms. lat. 1805, fol. 45v. For discussion of the contents of the manuscript in which this list
appears, see F. Lifshitz, The Norman conquest of pious Neustria: historiographic discourse and saintly
relics, 684-1090 (Toronto, 1995), pp. 157-161.

82 Gesta sanctorum patrum Fontanellensis coenobii (Gesta abbatum Fontanellensium), ed. F. Lohier
and J. Laporte (Rouen, 1936), pp. xvii-xxii.

% The other lists come from Saint-Aubin d’Angers (BM (Angers), ms. 275 (266), fol. 110r), of the
ninth century, and the abbey of Saint-Bertin (BM (Saint-Omer), ms. 764, fol. 52r-52v), of the tenth.
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Rotomagensis ecclesiae’ it lists 41 prelates.®* These are arranged in threes and fours
across, and cover twelve lines in the bottom half of the second column of a bi-
columnar page. The last seven names read: Adalardus/ Riculfus/ lohannes/ Franco/
Gunhardus/ Uuigo/ Uuito. The only punctuation is three semi-colons: one after
‘ecclesiae’, another after Uuigo and another after Uuito. At first glance Franco
appears to be in his accepted position, i.e. just before Gunhardus. The problem comes
with the last two names, whose position in the list, as well as their identity, has been
open to various interpretations. The traditional identification, first suggested by
Eugeéne Sauvage, was that Uuigo was Hugh of Saint-Denis, archbishop from 942 to
989. This was based on a letter sent from a certain Gerard pater cenobitarum to a
Uuigo (later changed in the manuscript to Hugo) archbishop of Rouen.®® He also
argued that the semi-colons that appear ‘before and after’ (praepositum et
subjunctum) the name Uuito were designed to indicate that it should be placed
between lohannes and Franco, thus tallying with eleventh-century episcopal lists
which list an archbishop Wito (or Guy) between these two prelates.®® Both Duchesne

and Guillot accepted this reordering.®’

Felice Lifshitz was the first to reassess these conclusions.®® She argued that
Franco was in his correct position within the list, but that the Uuigo at the end was not
Hugh of Saint-Denis, but rather Archbishop Guy (Wito), whose first appearance can
be dated to c. 892.%° She noted that a list compiled at the abbey of Saint-Bertin (which
interestingly does not record Franco’s name at all), also ended in two similar names
(this time Uuigo and Uuinto). The compiler of the Fécamp list, whose work ultimately
derives from the Saint-Bertin tradition, had at first ended the list with Uuigo, but

% The list has been previously described by Felice Lifshitz, “The dossier of Romanus of Rouen: the
political uses of hagiographical texts’, Thesis, PhD (Columbia University, 1988), pp. 510-511. Her
findings are those that are followed here, except the assertion that the last name is written in different
ink.

% The letter was originally edited by Jean Mabillon (Veterum analectorum, 3 vols. (Paris, 1675-1682),
i, pp. 107-109 and Vetera analecta (Paris, 1723), p. 429), whose edition was republished by Jacques-
Paul Migne (Migne, PL, cxxxuviii, cols. 171-172) and by Joseph van Hecke (AASS, Oct. X, pp. 91-92).
The only critical edition (with a translation) is unpublished, Lifshitz, ‘Dossier of Romanus’, pp. 362-
366.

66 Sauvage, ‘Elenchi archiepiscoporum’, p. 411.

% Duchesne, Fastes épiscopaux, ii, p. 202; O. Guillot, ‘La conversion des normands peu aprés 911: des
reflets contemporains a [I’historiographie ultérieure (Xe-XIe siécles)’, Cahiers de civilisation
médiévale, 24 (1981), pp. 101-116, 181-219, at p. 200.

%8 Lifshitz, ‘Dossier of Romanus’, pp. 67-71, 510-511.

% He was present in July of this year at the plea held at Verberie concerning the cell of Alfa and the
monastery of Arremaro, RHGF, ix, p. 459.
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when the folia were proofed he had corrected Uuigo to Uuito.”® Accordingly, the
episcopal succession should not run John, Guy, Franco, Gunhardus, Hugh, but rather
John, Franco, Gunhardus, Guy, Hugh, and consequently, any reference to Franco
acting in 911 that comes from a source written after Dudo should be considered
corrupt. Lifshitz also noted (correctly) that while there were semi-colons after the
names Uuigo and Uuito in the Fécamp list, there was no mark to suggest that the latter
should be placed anywhere else in the list, including between lohannes and Franco as
suggested by Eugéne Sauvage.” As for the letter from Gerard pater cenobitarum to
the Uuigo/Hugo, archbishop of Rouen, she initially argued that this was also intended
for Guy (Wito), but later stated that the recipient was in fact Archbishop Hugh of
Saint-Denis, and that the sender was Gerard of Brogne (d. 959), the significance of

which is discussed below. "

The Fécamp episcopal list is not the only source to suggest Franco was not
archbishop when Dudo claims he was. Both Flodoard and Richer of Reims mention
Wito as archbishop during the first decades of the tenth century, while Richer even
claims that it was he who baptised the Normans.” The name is also found in the
proceedings of the councils of Reims (900) and Trosly (909),"* while Hervey,
archbishop of Reims (900-920), sent a letter to Wito, archbishop of Rouen, sometime
after 914 regarding the latter’s difficulty in converting the Normans.” In 906, Wito
was also involved in the efforts to translate the relics of St. Marculf from the diocese
of Coutances, which was racked by Northmen incursions, to Corbeny.”® Perhaps most
troubling to the traditional tenure of Franco is the dedication to him of a ninth-century
benedictionary by Adalhelmus, bishop of Sées.”” Adalhelmus, who occupied the
bishopric of Sées towards the end of the ninth century, was captured by the Northmen

and sold into slavery towards 885.” Styling himself captivus episcopus, he recounted

°BMm (Saint-Omer), ms. 764, fol. 52v; Lifshitz, ‘Dossier of Romanus’, p. 70.

™ Lifshitz, ‘Dossier of Romanus’, p. 84 n. 13.

"2 Lifshitz, ‘Dossier of Romanus’, pp. 71-72; Lifshitz, Norman conquest, pp. 161-163.

" Flodoard of Reims, Historia Remensis ecclesiae, ed. M. Stratmann, MGH: SS, 36 (Hanover, 1998),
p. 407; Richer of Reims, Historarium Libri IV, ed. H. Hoffmann, MGH: SS, 38 (Hanover, 2000), pp.
68-69.

™ RHGF, ix, p. 318.

™ Migne, PL, cxxxii, cols. 661-674.

® RHGF, ix, p. 501. Corbeny, Aisne, cant. Craonne.

" For details, see above p. 9 n. 27.

™ The last appearance of his predecessor (Hildebrand) comes in a letter of Lambert, bishop of Le
Mans, which was sent in 883 or 884, Migne, PL, cxxxii, col. 467.
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his capture and escape from the Northmen in a liber miraculorum of St. Opportuna,
which he wrote during the reign of Charles the Fat (885-887).”° Scholars have long
tried to reconcile this date (the only one known of his episcopate) with the accepted
archiepiscopate of Franco. Mabillon posited that the unfortunate Adalhelmus was
captured a second time towards 910 and wrote his collection of miracles soon after,
while Léopold Delisle argued that Adalhelmus was not a bishop of Sées but of Paris.
Jean Laporte contended that Adalhelmus occupied the see for over forty years (until
around 910) and wore his title captivus episcopus as a self-imposed sobriquet.®® Yet
if Franco was not bishop from 911-920, but from c. 876 (last mention of John) to c.
892 (first appearance of Guy), as is suggested by the Fécamp list, it is far easier to

reconcile his episcopacy with that of Adalhelmus.

Olivier Guillot was the first to offer a solution to these inconsistencies. He
suggested that Franco was never involved in the conversion of the Normans in the
early tenth century, and was only used by Dudo of Saint-Quentin as a symbol of the
privileged relationship enjoyed by Rollo with the Franks.®" Moreover, Felice Lifshitz
has argued that Franco (as archbishop in the 890s, not in the early tenth century) was
perhaps responsible for the marriage of Rollo and Popa, and that his name was simply
remembered by later members of the ducal house alongside other events of Rollo’s
reign, including those of 911.%? Lifshitz has recently extended her rejection of Dudo’s
chronology beyond the archiepiscopate of Franco to his entire account of the

8 \Whatever uncertainties surround the career of Franco

conversion of the Normans.
no such problems arise when examining the life of Hugh of Saint-Denis, archbishop
from 942 to 989. The first ‘Norman’ archbishop for whom we have detailed and
accurate information, according to the eleventh-century Acta archiepiscoporum
Rotomagensium he was chosen by William Longsword to become archbishop while

84

still a monk at Saint-Denis.”™ Although some have questioned if he ascended to the

see this early, there seems no good reason to doubt the Acta archiepiscoporum, unless

" <iber miraculorum Opportunae’, p. 68. For the date, Laporte, ‘Bénédictions épiscopales’, p. 155.

8 Laporte, ‘Bénédictions épiscopales’, pp. 155-156.

& Guillot, ‘Conversion des normands aprés 911°, pp. 101-116, 181-219, esp. pp. 200-202.

8 Lifshitz, ‘Dossier of Romanus’, pp. 72-73.

8 Lifshitz, ‘La Normandie carolingienne: essai sur la continuité¢, avec utilisation de sources
négligées’, AN, 48 (1998), pp. 505-524, at pp. 509-512.

8 <Acta archiepiscoporum’, pp. 222-226. For a new critical edition of this text with translation see R.
Allen, ‘The Acta archiepiscoporum Rotomagensium: study and edition’, Tabularia ‘Documents’
(forthcoming).
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we wish to insert a lengthy vacancy in the archiepiscopal succession.®®> Unfortunately,
his reputation among later chroniclers was not a good one. The Acta
archiepiscoporum states that he was noble in family but not in deeds, and unable to
resist temptations of the flesh he had many sons. It also criticises him for the
spoliation of cathedral property.®® Similarly, Orderic Vitalis records that ‘he received
no praise from any of the writers who have described him’ and that ‘he was a monk in
dress but not in deed.”® Finally, the heroic couplets written by the clergy of Rouen
cathedral on the forty-six pontiffs of that city also attest that Hugh was regarded as
anathema: ‘Hugh followed, violator of God’s law | Worthy enough by birth, but
blind to Christ’.®

If Hugh did arrive in Rouen in around 942 he would have probably encountered
utter chaos. William Longsword had been assassinated by Arnulf of Flanders (d. 965)
and had left his nine-year-old son Richard as his successor.®® Normans, foreign
princes from Brittany and Flanders, and even the king of France had all been enticed
by such a power vacuum in the duchy, and sought to remove from the young duke his
inheritance.”® Yet Richard | was to survive this period of instability.” By the end of
the tenth century he had cultivated in the city of Rouen a thriving cosmopolitan
centre, and had engineered a duchy based on the typical Carolingian model. There
was a vicomte who occupied himself with justice, the military service and the tolls in
each pagus.®? The legal practices and the use of scribes in Normandy were, as from
960 at the latest, Carolingian.®® Norman denarii of the tenth century were carefully
struck according to the strict rules of coining, and unlike other princes of Francia who
had lost their Carolingian rights to mint, the dynasty of Rollo maintained a monopoly

® 1 ifshitz, ‘Dossier of Romanus’, pp. 74-75. Given the possible revised order of the archiepiscopal
succession noted above, a vacancy may actually have occurred, unless we wish to assign Guy an
archiepiscopate of over fifty years.

8 The author claims that he alienated the land of Tosny to his brother Rodulf, ¢Acta archiepiscoporum’,
p. 224. For further discussion, L. Musset, ‘Aux origines d’une classe dirigeante: les Tosny, grands
barons normands du Xe au Xllle si¢cle’, Francia, 5 (1977), pp. 45-80, at pp. 48-49.

& 0v, iii, p. 82.

% v, iii, p. 80.

% De moribus, pp. 205-209.

% E_ Searle, Predatory kinship and the creation of Norman power, 840-1066 (Berkeley, CA, 1988), pp.
79-90.

° For what follows see Lifshitz, ‘La Normandie carolingienne’, pp. 513-520.

% Bates, Normandy before 1066, pp. 24-38, 147-188; J. Dunbabin, France in the making (Oxford,
1985), pp. 37-43, 89-92, 199-206; Lifshitz, ‘La Normandie carolingienne’, pp. 505-508.

% E.Z. Tabuteau, Transfers of property in eleventh-century Norman law (Chapel Hill, NC, 1988), pp.
5-6.
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over the practice.’® Value and weight of currency was stabilised, with the tenth
century currency of Rouen becoming the only currency struck by a prince of Francia
that circulated outside of the kingdom.* In 966, the duke, with the assistance of
Hugh, reformed the canons at Mont-Saint-Michel into a regular Benedictine
community, creating one of the great houses of northern France.*® Hugh was also
keen to reconstitute the library of his cathedral, acquiring a copy of the vita of St.
Romanus, the city’s primary saint, from Gerard of Brogne, as well as establishing
cults throughout the province.”” By the end of the tenth century the Norman capital
also supported a cadre of poets, among whom was Warner of Rouen, whose work is

discussed below.

That the archbishop played a prominent role in the stabilisation and growth of the
duchy is mostly clearly indicated by the rewards that he, his family and his former
monastery received from the duke.”® The properties of Hugh’s family in Tosny were
due to the donation and confirmation of gifts by the duke,®® and almost the first
surviving charter from the duchy donates several properties to the monastery of Saint-
Denis, with Hugh’s signum appearing at the head of the attestations.® The duke also

donated Saint-Vaast d’Equiqueville to the cathedral,*®

adding to the donations
already made by his father, while his half brother Rodulf, count of Ivry, gave land in
the Hiémois at Boulon and Laize-la-Ville."% Once assured his inheritance, Richard |
also gave to Hugh the right to strike money, an extremely rare privilege in Normandy,
where such rights were rigorously controlled (fig. 4).2%® The archbishop was also free
to distribute the goods of his church freely among members of his family, giving the

land of Douvrend to his brother-in-law Odo, and that of Tosny to his brother Rodulf,

% F. Dumas-Dubourg, Le trésor de Fécamp et le monnayage en France occidentale pendant le seconde
moitié du Xe siécle (Paris, 1971), pp. 17-18.

% Dumas-Dubourg, Le trésor de Fécamp, pp. 51-52, 58-59.

% Recueil des actes de Lothaire et de Louis V, rois de France (954-987), ed. L. Halphen and F. Lot
(Paris, 1908), no. xxiv.

%" He also helped promulgate the cults of St. L& of Coutances and St. Taurin of Evreux, Lifshitz, ‘La
Normandie carolingienne’, pp. 516-517; Lifshitz, Norman conquest, pp. 137-179.

% Lifshitz, ‘La Normandie carolingienne’, p. 514.

% For discussion see Musset, ‘Aux origines d’une classe dirigeante’, pp. 48-49; L. Musset, ‘Un lignage
de grands barons normands du Xe au Xlle siécles: les Tosny’, Revue historique du droit (1966), pp.
188-189.

% RADN, no. 3.

19! Saint-Vaast d’Equiqueville, Seine-Maritime, cant. Envermeu.

192 Bauduin, La premiére Normandie, Appendix Il, p. 376. Boulon, Calvados, cant. Bretteville-sur-
Laize and Laize-la-Ville, Calvados, cant. Bourguébus.

1% Dumas-Dubourg, Le trésor de Fécamp, pp. 91-97.
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son of Hugh de Calvacamp.'®* As Felice Lifshitz has noted, all this suggests a debt

recognised by Richard | towards Archbishop Hugh.®®

It was not just the archbishop’s involvement in the administration of the duchy
that helped preserve it. It has been suggested that Hugh was interested in promoting
works of literature, perhaps sponsoring Moriuht, the rival and victim of Warner of

Rouen.'%®

This hypothesis is based on the following line of Moriuht’s poetry quoted
by Warner in his poem: ‘Foribus en clausis moratur pontifex Hugo’."®” Though
precise dates are lacking, Moriuht was a resident of France at some point and it may
have been while he was here that he wrote the quoted verse. Warner mentions that,
because the verse was badly written, it provoked mirth among the French and brought
disgrace upon the pupils whom he taught, presumably also in France.*® If Moriuht
did work in Hugh’s archiepiscopal court and did compose a panegyric for him it does
provide a plausible explanation for the apparent animosity between him and
Warner.'® Warner’s scathing attack may have been aimed at dislodging an
established poet from archiepiscopal favour. Such rivalries were common, and
attacks against Irishmen (such as Moriuht) were frequent in the competitive world of
court politics. To demonstrate his own superiority as a poet Warner therefore wrote a
poem for Hugh’s successor, Archbishop Robert (989-1037), whose name occupies
honorific pride of place as the opening word of the poem, and which takes both his
rival’s character and his work and rubbishes them. Conversely, Lucien Musset
believed that the verse might convey a posthumous allusion to Hugh, included to

honour his family.™*°

There is, however, nothing in the evidence that makes it more or less likely that
Moriuht was French or Norman, or that he was patronised by Archbishop Hugh.'*!

That Moriuht should be supposed to be in Rouen is based only on the inference that

104 RADN, no. 10; ‘Acta archiepiscoporum’, p. 223.

1% 1 ifshitz, ‘La Normandie carolingienne’, p. 515.

1% H. Omont, ‘Satire de Garnier de Rouen contre le poéte Moriuth (Xe-Xle siécle)’, Annuaire-Bulletin
de la Société de I'histoire de France, 31 (1894), pp. 193-210, at p. 197.

197 Warner of Rouen, Moriuht. A Norman Latin poem from the early eleventh century, ed. and trans.
C.J. McDonough (Toronto, 1995), pp. 97, 103.

198 Warner of Rouen, Moriuht, p. 99.

199 For full discussion of the identity of this bishop and the career of Moriuht see McDonough,
Moriuht, pp. 40-45.

10 Musset, ‘Aux origines d’une classe dirigeante’, pp. 48-56.

1 McDonough, Moriuht, p. 44.
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Warner’s literary activity took place in that city. If it is a Norman archbishop that
Moriuht mentions then it is puzzling why he should say it is the French (Francus)
who reacted negatively to his verses, and given the fact that Warner stresses
Moriuht’s ignorance reflects badly on the French, if it were Hugh of Rouen in his
verse, then that dishonour would have fallen on Normandy instead. Such indirect
evidence is therefore not sufficient to identify ‘pontifex Hugo’ positively. Matters are
worsened by the fact that records indicate the election of nine bishops with the name
Hugh from 965.'

Of course, this does not mean that Archbishop Hugh was not involved in the
promotion of literature. It has been proposed that it is to him that we owe the

Planctus for William Longsword,**?

although the most recent scholar to translate the
text believes it was composed under the patronage of Longsword’s sister
Gerloc/Adela, countess of Aquitaine and Poitou.*™* Felice Lifshitz is also ready to
assign to Hugh an episcopal chancellery, the possible use of diocesan councils from
950, a potential role in the circulation of the written version of the Song of Roland,
and even a hand in ordering a poetic inscription on a tenth-century tombstone
discovered in the chapel of St. Nicholas in Rouen cathedral.'™> Yet the assertion that
Hugh might have had a possible role in the spread of the written version of the Song
of Roland is based on nothing more than Gérard Moignet’s speculation that by the
tenth century the Song was in Normandy.**® Similarly, Hugh’s probable role in the
tombstone inscription, which was first discussed by Eugéne Sauvage, is based simply
on the grounds that he was archbishop when it happened, even though neither
Sauvage nor Léopold Delisle make such a connection, the latter only remarking that
the discovery is ‘trés intéressante’.*” Finally, the possible convening of diocesan
synods by Hugh is based on a single manuscript from the monastery of Préaux printed

by Guillaume Bessin entitled ‘Concilium incerti loci et temporis in Normannia simul

12 McDonough, Moriuht, p. 45.

13 Lifshitz, ‘La Normandie carolingienne’, pp. 515. None of the current editions of the planctus are
considered definitive, though the best can be found in P.A. Becker, ‘Der Planctus auf den
Normannenherzog Wilhelm Langschwert (942)’, Zeitschrift fur franz6sishe Sprache und Literatur, 43
(1939), pp. 190-197, at pp. 193-195.

114 \/an Houts, Normans in Europe, p. 41.

Y51 ifshitz, ‘La Normandie carolingienne’, pp. 515-516.

116 | a Chanson de Roland: texte établi d'aprés le manuscrit d’Oxford, traduction, notes et
commentaires, ed. G. Moignet (Paris, 1989), pp. 18-19.

7 The inscription was found during excavations in the chapel of Saint-Nicholas in the cathedral of
Rouen, L. Delisle, ‘Inscription découverte a Rouen’, BEC, 50 (1889), p. 508.



24

Fig. 4 has been removed due to Copyright restrictions

Fig. 4 Coins minted by Hugh of Saint-Denis, archbishop of Rouen, for Richard
I, duke of Normandy

“ Coin set I: AR denier, 20mm, 1.15gr. Obverse: RICARDVS, central cross with four besants. Reverse:
ROTOMANAVS, central Carolingian inspired monogram, formed from G, T, H. Coin set II: AR
denier, 20mm, 1.07gr. Obverse: +RICHARDVS, central cross in a solid circle, besants in each
quadrant. The legend is stylised. Reverse: +ROTOMACIVS, central monogram. The primary
difference between the coins of Richard and those coins issued by Hugh in Richard's name is the fact
that Richard generally has a temple in the reverse field while Hugh has a Carolingian style monogram
in the reverse field. Images available on http://home.eckerd.edu/~oberhot/feud-normandy.htm
(accessed 26 October 2006).
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cum Armoricis Antistitibus celebratum’ and assigned to the year c¢. 950.*% The
synod’s twenty canons largely contain regulations on pastoral life, suggesting that a
bishop created them for his diocese. But the most recent editor of the text assigns no
particular bishop to the council because the manuscript from Préaux has not been
identified. It therefore remains unknown whether the designation of concilium is on

the original, or was added by Bessin.**®

In an era from which we have few, if any,
records of such activity, such uncertainties must surely weigh against Hugh having

convened such meetings.

Regardless, much of the evidence noted above presents an archbishop harshly
judged by later monastic chroniclers. Perhaps his involvement in the secular world
drew their ire, and the spoliation of cathedral property that of the author of the Acta
archiepiscoporum, but Hugh was not unusual in his actions, and prelates guilty of
equally poor practices occupied dioceses throughout northern France at this time.*?
Hugh had also come to Normandy at an extremely difficult time. The beginning of
his pontificate coincided with the arrival in the duchy of Louis IV d’Outremer (936-
954) who, under the pretext of organising the regency of the duchy due to the duke’s
minority, had entered Rouen, and placed the young prince under his supervision
before taking him to Laon. Members of the ducal entourage were isolated and control

entrusted to faithful men of the king.'*!

In Rouen, Louis granted powers of
administration to a certain Rodulf Torta, who was remembered as a predatory tax
collector.?® As archbishop of Rouen, Hugh was also titular abbot of the abbey of
Saint-Ouen de Rouen.'?® Unlike other Norman houses (such as Jumiéges), the abbey
fared well during the French occupation of the region.'** Interestingly, the only

known benefactor of Saint-Ouen during this period was the same Rodulf Torta, who

118 Concilia Rothomagensis provinciae, ed. G. Bessin (Rouen, 1717), pp. 36-38.

191, Schroder, Die westfrankischen Synoden von 888 bis 987 und ihre Uberlieferung (Munich, 1980),
pp. 347-348.

120 For the dioceses of Angers, Tours, Orléans, Le Mans and Chartres, all of which were occupied at
this time by bishops guilty of various ecclesiastical crimes, including simony, nicolaitanism, spoliation,
as well as violent behaviour more befitting secular lords, see J. Boussard, ‘Les évéques en Neustrie
avant la réforme Grégorienne (950-1050 environ)’, Journal des Savants (1970), pp. 161-196, esp. pp.
164-185.

121 For full discussion of the occupation, see P. Lauer, Le régne de Louis IV d’Outre-Mer (Paris, 1900),
pp. 87-143.

122 De moribus, pp. 248-249.

123 For discussion, see Lifshitz, Norman conquest, p. 188 n. 27.

124 For what follows, see J. Le Maho, ‘La production éditoriale a Jumiéges vers le milieu du Xe siécle’,
Tabularia ‘Etudes’, 1 (2001), pp. 11-32, esp. pp. 15-16.
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donated vast grounds to the abbey to the east of Rouen.*® It was also at this time that
the abbey was granted the right to mint coins, a privilege that Hugh would later enjoy
under his archiepiscopal authority, to which was possibly attached the right to

immunity.*?®

Indeed, a vast enclosed oval trench existed around the monastery of
Saint-Ouen before the twelfth century, perhaps marking, like that of the royal abbey
of Saint-Denis, the perimeter of the monastic borough under exemption.’”” By
granting gifts and privileges to the abbey, and as a consequence to the French-born

archbishop, the king secured an invaluable ally in the city,®

while Hugh was free to
try and transform Saint-Ouen de Rouen into a miniature replica of Saint-Denis, his

alma mater.

It was perhaps this support of the French that condemned the archbishop in the
eyes of later Norman chroniclers. Indeed, Jacques Le Maho has traced the
ramifications of the association of the abbey of Saint-Ouen with the French occupiers
to the tenth-century hagiographical production of Jumiéges, which is unusually cold
towards the patron saint of the rouennais house.”® For those writing at the cathedral
in the eleventh century the archbishop’s betrayal would have seemed especially bad.
Historiographical texts such as the Acta archiepiscoporum Rotomagensium and
Metrical chronicle of the archbishops were composed in the midst of a conflict
between the cathedral and the abbey of Saint-Ouen for control of the religious
heritage of the region.™*® Under the guidance of Abbot Nicholas (1042-1092), the

31 the abbey had quickly become one of the most important religious

duke’s cousin,
centres in the duchy. It had received a huge number of donations from the duke and

his most powerful magnates, making the restitutions made to the cathedral by the

1% RADN, no. 53.

126 Dumas-Dubourg, Le trésor de Fécamp, p. 100 n. 2. It is possible, however, that this right to mint
belonged to Hugh’s successor, J. Le Maho, ‘Recherches sur les origines de quelques églises de Rouen
(Vle-XIe siecles)’, Bulletin de la Commission départementale des Antiquités de la Seine-Maritime, 43
(1996), pp. 143-205, at pp. 156-157.

1271 e Maho, ‘La production éditoriale’, p. 15.

128 This was a tactic he employed in 943 with the archbishop of Tours at the time of the restoration of
the monastery of Saint-Julian, Recueil des Actes de Louis IV, roi de France (936-954), ed. P. Lauer
(Paris, 1914), no. xviii.

129 1 e Maho, ‘La production éditoriale’, pp. 28-29.

130 For discussion of this rivalry and its role in the composition of historiographical texts at the
cathedral of Rouen in the eleventh century, as well as its impact on various aspects of life in eleventh-
century Rouen, see R. Allen, ‘The Acta archiepiscoporum Rotomagensium and urban ecclesiastical
rivalry in eleventh-century Normandy’, in Cathedrals, communities and conflict, 1000-1300, ed. P.
Dalton (forthcoming).

B For his career, see Gazeau, Normannia monastica, ii, pp. 244-248.
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archbishops seem trivial in comparison.’** The abbey had also developed a
sophisticated scriptorium that produced numerous hagiographical texts in honour of
the saints whose relics it held, while these relics had themselves been involved in
some of the most important events of the duchy.*® For the cathedral authors, whose
works were undoubtedly used by later chroniclers,*** Hugh had not only tolerated the
French presence in Rouen, but by supporting them had also encouraged the growth in
prestige and power of the cathedral’s greatest ecclesiastical rival. It was a double

betrayal that was not to be forgiven.
Bishops without sees

The disruption caused to the ecclesiastical hierarchy of Normandy during the tenth
century is illustrated no more clearly than by the existence of three bishops to whom
we can attach no particular seat.*®* The existence of a tenth-century carving in a
church in the diocese of Bayeux that refers to an ‘Ertmandus episcopus’ has already

been discussed above.!®

A bishop Aillemundus is mentioned in a charter for Saint-
Denis, issued on 18 March 968, while two bishops, Hubert and Hervey, witnessed a
charter for Saint-Wandrille between 996 and 1006."3" None of the efforts to identify
these individuals has resolved anything conclusively. Lucien Musset believed that
Aillemundus might be a corruption of the name Algerundus, one of the tenth-century
bishops of Coutances who lived at Saint-L6 in Rouen, while Marie Fauroux thought
that Hervey could have been the bishop of Nantes (991/992-c.1004) by that name.'*
Hubert remains unknown. He might have been a bishop of Bayeux,'* although he
may have been an episcopi vagantes, a particular kind of bishop without any fixed
jurisdiction peculiar to the Scandinavian world.**® There is also the possibility that

the scribe confused Hubertus with Robertus, the archbishop of Rouen at the time, and

132 The number of authentic extant ducal charters is itself enormous, RADN, nos. 13, 19, 21, 24, 37, 39,
40, 41, 43, 44, 53, 78, 79, 103, 105, 107, 112, 158, 191, 193, 204, 204bis, 205, 210, 211, 212.

133 E.g. Duke William 11 swore to uphold the Truce of God on the relics of St. Ouen in October 1047,
‘Miracula sancti Audoeni’, AASS, August IV, pp. 825-837, at pp. 834-835.

134 1t appears that Orderic Vitalis used the Acta archiepiscoporum while writing certain sections of his
history, OV, i, p. 60 and ii, p. xxvi.

135 Musset, ‘Un millénaire oublié’, pp. 569-570.

136 Above, p. 8.

3" RADN, nos. 3 and 7.

138 Musset, ‘Un millénaire oublié’, p. 569; RADN, p. 77.

39 RADN, p. 77.

140 Musset cites the example of the Anglo-Scandinavian Osmund, who was present at Fécamp in 1017,
Musset, ‘Un millénaire oublié’, pp. 569-570.
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1

replaced archiepiscopus with episcopus,*** although this explanation is not very

probable.

YLRADN, p. 77 n. 4.
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Norgod, c. 990-1017 x c. 1022

We know almost nothing of this bishop of Avranches who re-established
episcopal authority after the vacancy of the ninth and tenth centuries.® The exact date
at which he came to the city remains unknown, but his first unequivocal appearance
as bishop is at the foundation of Fécamp on 15 June 990.° He then disappears
completely from the diplomatic record, only reappearing some twenty-five years later
in around 1015. In this year he witnessed two charters in favour of Mont-Saint-
Michel (the ecclesiastical powerhouse of his diocese), both of which simply granted
the monastery allods from the possessions of Robert, count of Mortain and Gunnor,
wife of Richard I.> The highpoint of his career came towards its end, when at some
point after 1017 he witnessed, along with every other member of the Norman
episcopate, a charter of William de Volpiano (d. 1031) concerning the privileges of
the monks of Fruttuaria.* If the signatures on this charter were all appended
simultaneously, Norgod would have rubbed shoulders with some of the heavyweights
of the eleventh-century church, including Odilo of Cluny (994-1049) and Fulbert of
Chartres (1006-1028), as well as Robert the Pious, king of France (996-1031). Yet he
removed himself from his duties to become a monk at Mont-Saint-Michel soon after.’
According to the necrology of the monastery he died there on 14 October,® while the
year is invariably given as either 1026 or 1036.” The summary of his career in the
most recent scholarship dedicated to the Norman episcopate adds nothing to this

cursory analysis.?

Scholars of earlier generations knew little else of this prelate. Jean-Jacques
Desroches posited that the bishop ‘parait étre de race danoise’, although he offered

' GC, xi, col. 474.

2RADN, no. 4.

* RADN, nos. 16, 17.

* N. Bulst, Untersuchungen zu den Klosterreformen Wilhelms von Dijon (962-1031) (Bonn, 1973), pp.
223-236, at pp. 235-236.

*GC, xi, col. 474.

® RHGF, xxiii, p. 580.

" For 1036 see BN, ms. fr. 18947, fol. 24v, ed. E. de Robillard de Beaurepaire, Histoire générale de
[’abbaye du Mont-St-Michel au péril de la mer par dom Jean Huynes, 2 vols. (Rouen, 1872-1873), i, p.
68; BN, ms. fr. 18950, pp. 112, 145; F. Feuardent, Histoire de la fondation de [’eglis e et abbaye du
Mont-St.-Michel (Avranches, 1827), p. 29; E.-A. Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, sa topograhpie, ses
origines, ses évéques, sa cathédrale, ses églises, ses comtes et ses chateaux, 2 vols. (Coutances, 1888),
ii, p. 328); for 1026 see J.-J. Desroches, Histoire du Mont-Saint-Michel et de ['ancien diocese
d’Avranches (Caen, 1838), p. 155.

8 Bouet and Dosdat, ‘Les évéques normands’, p. 22.
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no evidence to back up his claim.? Emile-Auber Pigeon thought he was perhaps from
Mortain, but could only tender the appearance of a Norgod, canon of Saint-Evroult of

£ The name is

Mortain,"* in three charters of the late eleventh century as proo
certainly unusual (the bishop and the canon of Saint-Evroult are two of only three
known examples from Normandy in the tenth and eleventh centuries), while its form
is far from uniform.*> Comprised of two components, the etymology of the first half
(Nor-) is linked to the word ‘north’, while the second half has various permutations (-
gotus, -godus, -jotus, -gaudus). The last of these has been interpreted as related to a
Gothic people, an unidentified Latin origin or the Norse word gautr (subtle,
penetrating).”® The appearance of etymons either directly or traditionally associated
with Norse elements certainly tempts concurrence with Desroches’ hypothesis,
although the name is not to be found in the most recent study of Scandinavian names

from the duchy during this period.*

Norgod’s ecclesiastical career is seemingly otherwise undistinguished. As local
diocesan it is possible he witnessed the marriage of Richard Il and Judith de Rennes,
which took place at Mont-Saint-Michel sometime between 996 and 1008, although no
source names him as present.™ It is also possible that during his episcopate Richard |1
restored certain possessions to his cathedral, though it is equally likely that the
impetus for these restitutions lay during his successor’s tenure.’® Despite a lengthy
pontificate it appears Norgod did not undertake any great architectural work on his
cathedral. The Carolingian building seems to have escaped unscathed from the ninth-

century Northmen raids that affected other metropolitan centres in Lower Normandy

° Desroches, Histoire du Mont-Saint-Michel, p. 143.

1% Mortain, Manche, chef-lieu.

1 pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 622. These three charters are edited in Regesta, nos. 205(1),
205(11), 215.

12 The other is an unidentified Norgoldus, who appears in a charter of Richard Il dating from 29 or 30
May 996 x 1006, RADN, no. 7. Marie-Thérese Morlet identified three other individuals with the name
Norgaudus (one from the eighth century, the others from the early eleventh) from other parts of France,
Les noms de personne sur le territoire de ’ancienne Gaule du Vie au Xlle siecle , ed. M.-T. Morlet, 3
vols. (Paris, 1968-1985), i, p. 174.

3 Morlet, Noms de personne, i, pp. 16, 173-174.

 The only bishop of Avranches from this period to have a Scandinavian name was Turgis. For the
etymology of this name, see J. Adigard des Gautries, Les noms de personnes Scandinaves en
Normandie de 911 a 1066 (Lund, 1954), pp. 321-322.

> GND, ii, p. 28. For discussion of the date, see D.C. Douglas, ‘Some problems of early Norman
chronology’, EHR, 65 (1950), pp. 289-303, at pp. 289-291.

18 The date for these restorations can be assigned no more accurately than the reign of Richard I,
namely 996 x 1026, Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 666. For a critical edition of the charter in
question see Appendix G.
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(Bayeux in 858, Saint-L6 in 890), but the discovery during the most recent
excavations of a greyish layer of moisture under a tenth-century sarcophagus, placed
within the north wall of the edifice, suggests that it had rained in the pit before the
coffin was lowered in place, indicating that this part of the building was open to the
sky. Daniel Levalet suggested that the large size of the tomb might indicate it was
that of an important figure, although the lack of any furnishings prevented him from
identifying the occupant as an ecclesiastical dignitary.'” Perhaps with parts of his
cathedral open to the elements Norgod was simply too overwhelmed by the
destruction to rectify the situation in any meaningful way. However, as we shall see
below, evidence from another source suggests that the vestiges of the Carolingian
buildings must have remained in a state of repair suitable for the conducting of at least

some liturgical business.

Norgod’s only other appearance in the historical record is in a miracle associated
with an appearance of the Archangel Michael at Mont-Saint-Michel. Although the
provenance of the story is unclear (an attempt will be made below to clarify this), and
its genre viewed with scepticism, the account contains some interesting information
regarding the prelate and his cathedral. The story survives in two main forms: one in
the vernacular, and the other in Latin. The Latin version forms part of a collection of
miracles composed towards the end of the eleventh century.’® That in the vernacular
is found in the Roman du Mont-Saint-Michel, which was written in around 1155 by
William of Saint-Pair, a monk of Mont-Saint-Michel.® Although slight variations
exist the two versions are essentially the same, and the story runs as follows. The
feast day of St. Michael was approaching.?’ Mainard I1, abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel
(991-1009), and Norgod, a ‘man of noble birth’ (generis nobilitate), had met the day
before at a place known only as Rupis. As night drew in the two men were forced to

leave their business unfinished. They bid each other farewell, and promised to return

''D. Levalet, ‘La cathédrale Saint-André et les origines chrétiennes d’Avranches’, Archéologie
médiévale, 12 (1982), pp. 107-153, at pp. 120-121.

'8 For recent critical editions, see Allen, ‘Un évéque et sa ville’, pp. 33-38; Chroniques latines du Mont
Saint-Michel (IXe-Xlle siécles), ed. P. Bouet and O. Desbordes (Caen, 2009), pp. 312-314.

9 William de Saint-Pair, Le Roman du Mont-Saint-Michel (Xlle siécle), ed. C. Bougy (Caen, 2009), pp.
252-258.

2 It is not clear which of the three feasts of St. Michael the miracle refers to. The monks of Mont-
Saint-Michel celebrated the anniversaries of the apparition of St. Michael at Monte Gargano (8 May)
and the dedication of Autbert’s church (16 October), as well as the feast day itself (29 September). For
discussion of all three, see K.A. Smith, ‘Footprints in stone: Saint Michael the Archangel as a medieval
saint, 1000-1500°, Thesis, PhD (New York University, 2004), pp. 268-283.



Date Document Beneficiary Location S
15 June 990 RADN, no. 4 Fécamp Fécamp
1015 RADN, no. 17 Mont-Saint-Michel X
c. 1015 RADN, no. 16 Mont-Saint-Michel X
1017 x c. 1022 Bulst, Wilhelms von Dijon, pp. 223-236 Fruttuaria X

Fig. 5 Appearances of Norgod, bishop of Avranches (c. 990-1017 x c. 1022), in the diplomatic record

Date Document Beneficiary Location S
c. 1022 x 1024 RADN, no. 44 Saint-Ouen de Rouen X
c. 1022 x 1025 RADN, no. 31 Fécamp X
c. 1022 x 1026 RADN, no. 47 Mont-Saint-Michel X
c. 1022 x 1026 RADN, no. 49 Mont-Saint-Michel X
c. 1025 x c. 1026 Cartulaire de Saint-Pére de Chartres, i, no. iv, pp. 115-116 | Saint-Pere de Chartres X
1025 x 1026 RADN, no. 52, version B Saint-Wandrille X
1025 RADN, no. 35 Fécamp Fécamp X
1025 RADN, no. 36 Jumiéges Fécamp X
August 1025 RADN, no. 34 Fécamp Fécamp X
c. 1025 RADN, no. 33 Sées cathedral

Fig. 6 Appearances of Maugis, bishop of Avranches (c. 1022-c. 1026), in the diplomatic record

ve



35

the next day to continue their business. Returning to his cathedral (ad sedem propriam
rediit) the bishop celebrated matins.”* Having finished, he headed to his bedchamber
(cubiculum), and in doing so, glanced out of the window and saw the whole of Mont-
Saint-Michel ablaze. Greatly disturbed, he called out to those around him and tried to
show them what he saw, but while some said they too could see the flames, others
said they could see nothing. Therefore, with great lamentations he called his canons
to him, and believing that some monks would have perished in the fire, he celebrated
the office of the dead. This completed, he jumped on his horse and rode to the abbey
where as a means of consolation he hoped to help bury those killed. Meanwhile,
Abbot Mainard had also just finished matins, and had gone with some of his monks to
prepare for the feast day Mass. Arriving at the abbey, the bishop found Mainard and
told him what he had seen, and then asked whether anything uncustomary had
happened at the abbey that night. The abbot answered that nothing unusual had
transpired, and the two men deduced that what the bishop had seen was the Archangel

Michael hovering over the abbey.

The value of this story should be obvious simply from this brief summary.
Indeed, it provides us with a piece of local toponymical information, and testifies to
the bishop’s noble background, the liturgical practices of the period, the presence of
cathedral dignitaries, the existence of a bishop’s residence, the state of the cathedral,
and relations between the abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel and bishop of Avranches.
While its form must be viewed with a degree of scepticism, we should remember that
Norgod had already witnessed one real fire at the abbey, and his hallucination may
have been based on real fears, rather than any religiosity.”> Moreover, there are
‘legends’ concerning other members of the pre-Conquest Norman episcopate.
Norgod’s contemporary and metropolitan, Archbishop Robert of Rouen (989-1037),
is himself the subject of a legend, as is Maurilius (1055-1067), one of Robert’s
successors in the archiepiscopal see. According to William of Jumiéges, it was

2! This is the service held at midnight, not to be confused with the morning Matins of the modern
liturgy, which in the Middle Ages was known as matutine laudes. The evening service consisted of a
hymn, twelve psalms under one antiphony with six Gloria Patri, three lessons and three responses.
John of Ivry, one of Norgod’s successors, followed this standard format in his liturgical treatise De
officiis ecclesiasticis. For discussion see Le ‘De officiis ecclesiasticis’ de Jean d’Avranches,
archevéque de Rouen (1067-1079), ed. R. Delamare (Paris, 1923), p. Ixxix.

22 For the Mont-Saint-Michel fire of 992, which destroyed the abbey’s library, see ‘Vita domni
Willelmi abbatis’, in Rodulfus Glaber, Opera, ed. and trans. N. Bulst, J. France and P. Reynolds
(Oxford, 1989), p. 110.
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Robert who was responsible for the conversion of St. Olaf in either 1013 or 1014,%
while William of Malmesbury claims that the dead Maurilius was brought back to life
to tell those who mourned him of a vision he had seen.”® Despite William of
Jumiéges being the only chronicler to mention Robert’s conversion of Olaf, and given
that it is only one of a handful of ecclesiastical acts in a career otherwise dominated
by involvement in the secular world,?® authorities of the Anglo-Norman world often
repeat the story as fact.”® Moreover, while Maurilius’ legend is more typical of the
miraculous stories that surrounded those prelates who were beatified almost
immediately after their deaths, and should not really be regarded as an actual event,
those scholars writing about the archbishop or the cathedral of Rouen do not hesitate

to mention it.?’

Similarly, Norgod’s miracle has been recounted in scholarship associated with the
great monastery of the Avranchin since the early seventeenth century.”® It has also
made an indelible impression on the popular imagination. The story can be found in
an abridged form on the Avranches website, and is often repeated by the town’s
resident historian, Cécile Paillard.?® The origin of the popular version, which dates
the events to the year 1007, seems to be Etienne Dupont, who even went so far as to
provide one of Norgod’s clerks with a name (Sigisbert).®* The source of the original
miracle is a little less obvious. It has been suggested that it might be based on a

similar legend from the church of Siponto.®* This church was in close proximity to

2 GND, ii, pp. 26-28. The story was repeated by Wace, The Roman de Rou, ed. and trans. G. Burgess
(St. Helier, 2002), part 111, lines 1823-1824.

# William of Malmesbury, GR, i, pp. 494-496.

% <« Acta archiepiscoporum’, p. 224; OV, iii, p. 84.

% D.C. Douglas, William the Conqueror: the Norman impact upon England (London, 1964), p. 161;
Bates, Normandy before 1066, p. 37.

2" For two recent examples see L. Shopkow, History and community: Norman historical writing in the
eleventh and twelfth centuries (Washington D.C., 1997), p. 242 and La cathédrale de Rouen, seize
siecles d’histoire, ed. J-P. Chaline (Rouen, 1996), p. 47.

% Feuardent, Histoire du Mont-St.-Michel, pp. 27-29; Desroches, Histoire du Mont-Saint-Michel, pp.
154-155; P. Gout, Le Mont-Saint-Michel: histoire de I'abbaye et de la ville, étude archéologique et
architecturale des monuments, 2 vols. (Paris, 1910), i, p. 112; J. Laporte, ‘L’ Abbaye du Mont Saint-
Michel aux Xe et Xle siécles’, in Millénaire monastique, i, pp. 53-80, at p. 68.

% http://www.ville-avranches.fr/histoire/pdfs/8.pdf (accessed 2 November 2006); C. Boudin, ‘Sur les
traces de 1’archange’, Ouest-France, mercredi 23 juillet 2003, Edition: Manche, Rubrique:
Départementale.

% E. Dupont, Légendes du Mont Saint-Michel: historiettes et anecdotes sur ’abbaye et les prisons
(Vannes, 1926), pp. 23-29, at p. 25. Other modern versions (see note above) prefer the year 1008, while
an eighteenth-century history of Mont-Saint-Michel gives the year as 993, BN, ms. fr. 18949, p. 320.

1 R. Herval, ‘Un moine jongleur au Mont Saint-Michel, Guillaume de Saint-Pair’, in Millénaire
monastique, ii, pp. 383-395, at p. 392 n. 14.
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Mount Gargon, which was an institution closely associated with both Mont-Saint-
Michel, and the tradition of the appearance of the Archangel Michael in the form of
fire.3 Unfortunately, the medieval history of Siponto is rather turbulent,®® while its
archives were completely destroyed when the Turks sacked the city in the early

seventeenth centu ry.

However, since Norgod became a monk at Mont-Saint-Michel it is not entirely
impossible that the oral tradition began with him. When the story was first committed
to parchment is slightly harder to determine. The collection of miracles in which it
appears seems to have been composed sometime in 1080 x 1095.** These were based
upon the recollections of four monks (Gatho, Osmund, Bernier and Frotmundus), who
cannot only be located at the monastery during the abbatiate of Mainard 11,* but who
were also sometimes accomplished scribes in their own right.*® It is possible that the
author of the collection was Rannulf de Bayeux, abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel
(1053/5-1084/5).>" Even if this were not the case, the collection was apparently
completed by the beginning of the twelfth century, since the author of the De
abbatibus montis sancti Michaelis associated a later fiery apparition above the
monastery with Norgod’s vision:

Anno M°C°11°. Visus est a nonnullis prope ac procul positis sanctus Michaelis, prout

credimus, in figura columne ignee nocte salorum sue ultime festivitatis penetrasse
basilicam istius Montis et simile accidit tempore sancti Mainardi abbatis huius loci

et Norgodi Abrincensis episcopi.38

% ‘Liber de apparitione s. Michaelis in Monte Gargano’, ed. G. Waitz, MGH: SS rer. Lang., 1
(Hanover, 1878), pp. 540-543. For the relations between this text and its Mont-Saint-Michel
equivalent, see S. Bettocchi, ‘Note su due tradizioni micaeliche altomedievali: il Gargano ¢ Mont
Saint-Michel’, Vetera Christianorum, 31 (1994), pp. 333-355.

% | am grateful to Graham Loud for his comments (pers. comm.) with regards to the church of Siponto.
For its history, see Italia Pontificia, ed. P.F. Kehr et al., 10 vols. (Berlin, 1961-1975), ix, pp. 230-267,
esp. pp. 230-241.

% Bouet and Desbordes, Chroniques, pp. 259-260.

% Their names are all listed among the living members of the community recorded in a manuscript of
Saint-Benoit-sur-Loire, which is transcribed in D. Gremont and L. Donnat, ‘Fleury, le Mont-Saint-
Michel et I’ Angleterre a la fin du Xe siécle et au début du Xle siécle: & propos du manuscrit d’Orléans
no. 127 (105)’, in Millénaire monastique, i, pp. 751-793, at p. 783.

% The following subscription is found in another eleventh-century manuscript of Mont-Saint-Michel:
‘Ipsa manus vivat, que tam bene scribere eurat. | Si quis sit scriptor quaeris cognoscere lector, | Hunc
studuit totum Frotmundus scribere librum; | Maxima conscripsit, quamplurima sancta peregit | Felix
Frotmundus, per secula frater amandus’, BM (Avranches) ms. 72, fol. 99r.

¥ M. Lelégard, ‘Saint Aubert’, in Millénaire monastique, i, pp. 29-52, at pp. 39-41.

% De abbatibus montis sancti Michaelis in periculo maris’, Migne, PL, ccii, col. 1326. It is unclear
when this anonymous annalistic work was written. The only known copy is in BM (Avranches) ms.
213, fol. 178r-183r, which is a fifteenth-century manuscript (the entry is on fol. 179r). However,
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The miracles were recopied (either in whole or in part) into a number of montois
manuscripts, and since the one concerning Norgod appears in the Roman du Mont-
Saint-Michel, it seems clear that William of Saint-Pair must have consulted them in
the mid-twelfth century.*

The provenance of the miracle story aside, its importance as an historical source
should not be overlooked.”> One of the more interesting details it contains is the
name of the place where Norgod is said to have met the abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel,
which is known only as Rupis (modern French, La Roche). Unfortunately, the
miracle gives no indication of where this La Roche might be, and candidates from La
Roche Torin, in the bay of Mont-Saint-Michel, to La Roche-qui-Boit, on the banks of
the Sélune, have been proposed.** The cartulary of Avranches cathedral contains
references to two places that bear this name. The first is found near Plomb (cant.
Avranches), and is mentioned in association with a number of donations made in the
mid-thirteenth century by a certain Rodulf Tesson, who claimed that his house was at
La Roche (domo mea sitam apud Ruccam), and that he was a knight there (Rad.
Tesson miles de Rocha).*? Although Plomb is close to Avranches (about 4.5km to the
northeast), scholars have invariably assumed that the Rupis of our story is halfway
between the cathedral and Mont-Saint-Michel.*® If this were true, and the story gives
no indication that it is, a more suitable candidate is the La Roche located about six

kilometres to the southwest of Avranches in the commune of Val-Saint-Pére (fig. 7).

Léopold Delisle believed Robert de Torigni was familiar with the work, Chronique de Robert de
Torigni, abbé du Mont Saint Michel, ed. L. Delisle, 2 vols. (Rouen, 1872-1873), ii, pp. Xvi-xvii.

% This connection is absent from the scholarship on William’s Latin sources, C. Bougy, ‘Le Roman du
Mont-Saint-Michel de Guillaume de Saint-Pair et ses sources latines’, in Culte et pelerinages a saint
Michel en Occident: les trois Monts dédiés a I’archange, ed. P. Bouet, G. Otranto and A. Vauchez
(Rome, 2003), pp. 481-506.

0 No scholar has scrutinised the historical value of the miracle story in full. Most simply describe the
events without further analysis, as in Smith, ‘Footprints in stone’, pp. 208-209.

*! For supporters of La Roche Torin see Vies des Saints du diocése de Coutances et Avranches, avec
des notions préliminaires et I'histoire des reliques de chaque Saint, ed. E.-A. Pigeon, 2 vols.
(Avranches, 1892-1898), ii, p. 318; N. Simmonet, ‘Saint-Aubert ou comment le Mont devint normand’,
Bulletin des amis du Mont-Saint-Michel, 107 (2002), pp. 31-35, at p. 34; P. Bouet, ‘Le Mont-Saint-
Michel entre Bretagne et Normandie de 960 a 1060, in Bretons et Normands au Moyen Age: rivalités,
malentendus, convergences, ed. J. Quaghebeur and B. Merdrignac (Rennes, 2008), pp. 165-200, at p.
192. The most recent identification is that of La Roche-qui-Boit (Manche, cant. Ducey), by Eric van
Torhoudt, ‘Centralité et marginalité en Neustrie et dans le duché de Normandie. Maitrise du territoire et
pouvoirs locaux dans 1’Avranchin, le Bessin et le Cotentin (VIe-Xle siécles)’, Thesis, PhD, 3 vols.
(Université de Paris-VII, 2008), i, p. 302. This seems quite unlikely, however, as it is some
considerable distance from Mont-Saint-Michel.

“2 BM (Avranches), ms. 206, fol. 27r and 41r-v.

3 E.g. Katherine Smith states that the bishop and abbot met ‘midway between the monastery and the
episcopal palace’, Smith, ‘Footprints in stone’, p. 208.
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This La Roche first appears in the cathedral records in the eleventh century under the

name Rupes Necata.**

The significance of this site as a meeting place remains unclear. Its unusual name
(‘the killed rock’) could suggest the presence of a dolmen (prehistoric monuments
thought to be tombs), since such structures certainly influence the toponymy
elsewhere in the region.* Unfortunately, no trace of such a monument has ever been
found, although there were Gaulish settlements in the area, such as Bouillé.*® Of
course, the explanation behind the name could be far less intriguing, and may simply
derive from the Celtic word roch, describing rocky land or earth,*” or from the
presence of a large natural stone that bore no other significance.*® Jean-Jacques
Desroches suggested that the road between Avranches and Mont-Saint-Michel ran
through La Roche, and while this would have undoubtedly been convenient, we must
assume that a significant structure existed there, since the meeting between abbot and

4!
.49

bishop is said to have lasted until nightfall.”™ Unfortunately, the first documentary

evidence of a structure dates from the thirteenth century, and only then it records the
presence of a mill.>® Nevertheless, it seems the land in this area was of great
significance to the cathedral. By the twelfth century a prebend had been created at La
Roche,* while such was the volume of cathedral possessions in this area that Edouard
le Héricher described the commune of Val-Saint-Pére as ‘une terre sacerdotale’.”
Moreover, a number of the transactions regarding this land concern vineyards, which

|.53

suggests particularly rich and valuable soil.> Daniel Levalet, however, suggests that

* Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, pp. 632, 666; RADN, p. 24.
**D. Levalet, ‘De la cité des Abrincates au diocése d’Avranches. Contribution a I’étude du peuplement
de la Normandie’, AN, 29 (1979), pp. 3-22, 259-300, at p. 8.
*® For Bouillé, see F. de Beaurepaire, ‘Toponymie et évolution du peuplement sur le pourtour de la baie
du Mont Saint-Michel’, in Millénaire monastique, ii, pp. 49-72, at p. 67. | am grateful to Daniel
Levalet for sharing his thoughts on the archaeological history of the area (pers. comm.), and for
confirming that nothing of significance has since been found there.

M.-J. Masselin, ‘Etudes sur les étymologies des noms de lieux et des noms de famille dans
I’ Avranchin: table de ces étymologies par ordre alphabétique’, Mémoires de la Société archéologique
d’Avranches, 12 (1894-1895), pp. 127-227, at p. 213.
*® R. Lepelley, Noms de lieux de Normandie et des fles anglo-normandes (Paris, 1999), p. 128.
%9 J.-J. Desroches, ‘Annales religieuses de I’Avranchin’, 3 pts., MSAN, 14 (1844), pp. 395-498; 17
(1850) pp. 11-90, 321-387, at pt. ii, p. 51.
*® The mill of La Roche was given to Mont-Saint-Michel in 1278, T. Le Roy, ‘Curieuses recherches du
Mont-Saint-Michel’, ed. E. de Robillard de Beaurepaire, MSAN, 29 (1875), p. 386.
>l BM (Avranches), ms. 208, fol. 15v.
52 E. Le Héricher, Avranchin monumental et historique, 3 vols. (Avranches, 1845-1865), i, p. 214.
%% There are eight charters in the cartulary of Avranches cathedral (the Livre vert) that concern land at
Val-Saint-Pére, BM (Avranches), ms. 206, fol. 31r-v, 35v, 38v, 39r-v, 40r and 42v.
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Fig. 7 La Roche (cne Val-Saint-Pere): carte topographique d’IGN Ref: 1215ET (scale 1:25,000) (detail)
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La Roche may have simply derived its name from a boulder, pillar or boundary stone
that marked the limit of the bishop’s authority along the right bank of the river Sée. It
is possible that this marker recalled the municipal area of the ancient city of
Avranches, which had been resurrected by Norgod in the eleventh century to mark the
limit of his authority.>* It is clear that this was not a border crossed lightly, for when
Mainard saw Norgod at the abbey he asked him why he had passed La Roche, where
meetings should be held.>® In fact, before the restitutions made to the cathedral by
Norgod’s successor Hugh,?® there is no evidence to indicate that episcopal authority
extended to the west of La Roche, while Mainard’s reaction suggests that in passing
this point, the bishop of Avranches had violated the territory subjected to the
authority of the abbey, many of whose possessions were located, during the early
years of the eleventh century, between the Sélune and the Couesnon.>” This in itself
confirms that the two men cannot have met at La Roche Torin, which was already
located in the heart of this ‘pays montois’. Instead, it seems that the meeting between
the abbot and bishop took place on the ‘border’ between their respective jurisdictions.
This feature not only recalls the gatherings of secular rulers, who often met at
geographical features that divided kingdoms,®® but the appearance of La Roche in the
miracle story provides us with invaluable evidence concerning the western boundaries
of the temporal of the cathedral of Avranches in the early eleventh-century, and the
ancient Roman infrastructure upon which Norgod based the restoration of his

authority within the region.

The miracle also provides us with an alternative picture of relations between the
abbey and cathedral at this time. There can be no doubt that as the bishops began to
restore their authority in the later eleventh century tensions between the two
institutions worsened. By the middle of the century the monks had made an open

attempt to remove themselves from episcopal jurisdiction, while a few years later the

> Daniel Levalet (pers. comm.).

% Both the eleventh-century miracle and the poem of William de Saint-Pair contain a passage
concerning the passing of La Roche: ‘Quem cum isdem abbas requisisset cur denominatum colloquii
locum preterisset’, Allen, ‘Un évéque et sa ville’, p. 36. ‘Il et si moine encontré unt | Norgot ’evesque,
qui veneit | Demandent lui que il quereit | Por quei la Roche aveit passee | Ou deveit estre I’assemblee’;
William of Saint-Pair, Roman, p. 257.

*® These are discussed below p. 55.

" Van Torhoudt, ‘Centralité et marginalité’, iii, p. 886, carte 36 and p. 941, carte 91; Bouet, ‘Le Mont-
Saint-Michel’, p. 183.

%8 The Norman principality was itself born at a meeting held along a geographical feature that divided
two regions, De moribus, p. 168.
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bishop of Avranches imposed on the abbey a convention that severely tempered its
power.”® Scholars have often sought to impose these conditions on the early eleventh
century.®® Our miracle, however, suggests that Norgod enjoyed a particularly good
relationship with the abbey. According to the story he gave it many gifts, including
fish, which he presented to the monks during their periods of fasting.®* The Latin
version of the miracle fondly remembers Norgod as a man of ‘upright ways’,%* while
William of Saint-Pair praised the bishop for being ‘bien letrez’.®® The personal
relationship between the abbot and bishop also seems to have been particularly close,
and it is possible they were at La Roche to discuss preparations for the feast of St.
Michael. Perhaps Norgod planned to participate in the celebrations. If so, this is
reminiscent of a similar arrangement later established in the Norman capital, where
the archbishop helped officiate the feast day mass of St. Ouen at the abbey of Saint-

Ouen de Rouen.®

The story also gives us some idea of the state of both Norgod’s cathedral and his
chapter. Although excavations have confirmed the poor state of the eleventh-century
cathedral, the miracle story makes it quite clear that Norgod was able to conduct
some liturgical business there.®® Moreover, the story confirms the existence of an
episcopal residence with a bedchamber (cubiculum), which seems to have been
distinct from the cathedral. Indeed, the author of the story draws a clear distinction
between the people to whom Norgod initially turns upon seeing the ‘fire’, calling
them ‘certain people who were present’, and the canons of his cathedral, whom he
summoned (evocans canonicos) to help him celebrate the office of the dead. The
presence of the canons is itself significant, and it has already been noted above how a
large late tenth-century sarcophagus excavated in the 1970s could have belonged to a

cathedral dignitary. It is even possible the fledgling chapter at Avranches supplied

% This is discussed below pp. 66-67.

% The cartulary of the abbey of Mont-Saint-Michel, ed. K.S.B. Keats-Rohan (Donington, 2006), pp.
17-18; Bouet, ‘Le Mont-Saint-Michel’, pp. 192-193.

61 <Xenia etiam sepissime immo pene assidue ipsis monachis dirigebat, precipueque hoc
quadragesimali tempore faciebat: pisces de suo emptos uice caritatis illis immittendo diebus quibus eos
ieiunaturos sciebat’, Allen, ‘Un évéque et sa ville’, p. 35.

62 < . presul Norgodus, tam generis nobilitate quam morum probitate conspicuus’, Allen, ‘Un évéque
et sa ville’, p. 35.

% William of Saint-Pair, Roman, p. 253.

 AD Seine-Maritime, 14 H 156. A critical edition of this charter can be found below in Appendix G.
The history of this ceremony is discussed by J.-F. Pommeraye, Histoire de [’abbaye royale de S. Ouen
de Rouen (Rouen, 1662), pp. 174-177.

% For discussion, see above pp. 32-33.
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another Norman diocese with its bishop, since Jean-Jacques Desroches claimed that
Rodulf of Avranches, bishop of Bayeux (c. 990-1006), was a cathedral dignitary in
the city before ascending to the episcopal see.®® Rodulf must have certainly had a
significant attachment to Avranches, since according to the editors of Gallia
Christiana he was born in Dol.%” This place would surely have taken precedence as
his toponym over Avranches had his association with the city not been great.
Unfortunately, Desroches provides no evidence to support his claim, and it is not
repeated in diocesan histories of Bayeux.®®

Norgod’s decision to retire to Mont-Saint-Michel perhaps says more than
anything, however, about the state of his diocese. If he was ‘well lettered’, as William
de Saint-Pair claimed, perhaps he sought at the abbey the intellectual stimulation that
would later attract such eminent scholars as Lanfranc and St. Anselm to the region.®
He must have certainly desired a stricter religious life than was possible at his
cathedral, for although later authors lamented the lax conditions at Mont-Saint-
Michel in the late tenth and early eleventh centuries, few scholars accept their
descriptions as historically accurate, and it is likely that the liturgical routine was still
gruelling.”” Of course, it is only because of Mont-Saint-Michel that Norgod’s
memory has been partly preserved. Two of the four charters in which he appears

concern the abbey,”

while it is thanks only to its necrology that we know the date of
his death, and the miracle story that we can gain some idea of the state of his diocese
in the early eleventh century. The bishop’s abandonment of his charge highlights the
lack of ducal influence in the western parts of the duchy at this time, but his lengthy

episcopate did mark the beginning of a course that would ultimately lead to the

% Desroches, ‘Annales religieuses’, i, p. 421.

®"GC, xi, col. 352.

% Only Honoré Fisquet attempts to explain Rodulf’s association with Avranches, by claiming that the
bishop had ‘étudié en cette ville’, La France pontificale (Gallia Christiana), ed. H. Fisquet, 22 vols.
(Paris, 1864-1873), ii, p. 20.

% For discussion, see below pp. 55-56.

"0 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, pp. 16-17.

™ Pigeon believed that Norgod continued to witness acts as a monk of Mont-Saint-Michel, citing his
appearance in two acts of Robert I, which he dated to 1030, on fol. 54r-55r and 75v-76v of the abbey’s
cartulary, Pigeon, Vies des saints, ii, pp. 320-321. The charters in fact date to around 1015, Cartulary
of Mont-Saint-Michel, nos. 31 and 60. Pigeon also claimed to have found Norgod’s tomb during
renovation work, which was carried out in 1873 on the court in front of the western facade. This work,
which revealed the span of the old nave, also unearthed three tombs. That identified as Norgod’s had
apparently been cut in two by the foundations of the western wall of the south tower erected towards
1060, Pigeon, Vies des saints, ii, p. 322. Cf. E. Corroyer, Description de [’abbaye du Mont Saint-
Michel et de ses abords précédée d’une notice historique (Paris, 1877), pp. 90-100.



44

reestablishment of both episcopal and ducal authority in the region. David Douglas
long ago noted how the resuscitation of ecclesiastical life in the duchy was due to
many agencies,’? and whatever judgements may be passed on Norgod’s episcopate, it
must certainly be reckoned more important than his occasional appearances in the

historical record suggest.

"2 Douglas, William the Conqueror, p. 124.
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Maugis, c. 1017 x c. 1022-c. 1026

It is unclear whether the seat of Avranches lay vacant for any length of time
following the departure of Norgod for Mont-Saint-Michel. His successor Maugis,
whose origins are otherwise unknown, does not appear in a document datable to a
single year until August 1025.> According to Julien Nicole, he performed the funeral
of Hildebert I, abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel, in 1017, although this seems unlikely.?
His appearances in the diplomatic record overwhelmingly concern institutions in
Upper Normandy, something which suggests that the state of his church was perhaps
still well beyond recovery. He was not uninvolved in matters in his diocese, however,
and witnessed two acts concerning Mont-Saint-Michel.® Yet even here, when the
monks remembered the bishop, it was his association with the abbey of Fécamp that
they chose to evoke.* Maugis’ only other appearance in an act concerning an
institution of Lower Normandy is in a charter for the canons of the cathedral of Sées,
which was issued in around 1025.° He was also witness to a charter of Robert,
archbishop of Rouen, concerning Saint-Pére de Chartres.® There is little remarkable
about any of these acts except their testimony to the growing coherence of the
Norman episcopate, and their important role in the elaboration of ducal acta.” Of the
eight documents, two are witnessed by all seven members of the episcopate, another

two by six, and the rest by four.®

The only other thing of note is Maugis’ position within the witness lists of a
number of these documents. Three times he is the first ecclesiastical witness to

append his signum, while on one occasion he is only second behind the duke in the

' RADN, nos. 35 and 36.

? “Histoire chronologique des évéques d’Avranches de maitre Julien Nicole’, ed. C. de Beaurepaire,
Société de [’histoire de Normandie, Mélanges, 4 (1898), pp. 1-109, at p. 44.

® Maugis was in Fécamp on a number of occasions towards the end of his episcopate and witnessed
charters for the abbey of that town, as well as one for Jumiéges, RADN, nos. 31, 34-36. He also
witnessed one charter for Saint-Ouen de Rouen, RADN, no. 44.

* “Richardo mortuo, Richardus dux filius omnia Fiscani datis litteris confirmavit, et a Richardo et
Roberto filiis, aliisque signari procuravit, inter quos Maugisus episcopus Abrincensis’, ‘De abbatibus
montis sancti Michaelis’, col. 1326.

° RADN, no. 33.

® Cartulaire de Saint-Pére de Chartres, i, no. iv, pp. 115-116. A critical edition of this act can be found
in Appendix G.

" D. Bates, ‘Le role des évéques dans 1’élaboration des actes ducaux et royaux entre 1066 et 1087’, in
Les évéques normands, pp. 103-115.

8 RADN, nos. 31 (4), 33 (7), 34 (4), 35 (7), 36 (4), 44 (4), 49 (6); Cartulaire de Saint-Pére de Chartres,
i, no. iv, pp. 115-116 (6).
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entire list.” While one of these acts (RADN, no. 49) concerns a monastery within his
diocese and his position is explicable as a result, the other two both concern
institutions of Upper Normandy (Jumieges and Fécamp). Although scholars have
recently tended to moderate the weight previously assigned to the testimony of
witness lists,” the appearance of Maugis, whose ecclesiastical career is otherwise
undistinguished, at the head of these attestations certainly demands comment.
Unfortunately, there is little to suggest why he should appear so prominently within
these witness lists. The donations in question do not concern lands in his diocese,
while his complete absence from the narrative record hinders any detailed

investigation.™

His name, which has a number of permutations (Maugisius, Mangisus,
Mauguisius), is certainly unusual for Normandy, and is only found on two other
occasions towards the beginning of the twelfth century (interestingly, in documents
concerning the Avranchin).* It can also be found in the names of two communes of
the Orne, which suggests it was not unknown in the region before the eleventh
century (Boissy-Maugis has existed since the beginning of the ninth century), and
continued to be popular long after (Maison-Maugis has existed since 1219).%
According to Ernest Negre, the modern form Maugis is derived from the ancient name
Amalgis,"* of which nothing remarkable can be said."> Geographically, while this
name is found in Normandy during this period,* it is primarily a Frankish name, and

is associated in particular with the church of Reims. Indeed, of the six occurrences of

® RADN, no. 36. He is fourth in the list overall in nos. 35 and 49.

19 For recent discussion, see D. Bates, ‘Charters and historians of Britain and Ireland: problems and
possibilities’, in Charters and charter scholarship in Britain and Ireland, ed. M.T. Flanagan and J.A.
Green (Basingstoke, 2005), pp. 1-14, at p. 10; S. Marritt, ‘King Stephen and the bishops’, ANS, 24
(2002), pp. 129-144, at pp. 132-137; D. Bates, ‘The prosopographical study of Anglo-Norman royal
charters’, in Family trees and the roots of politics: the prosopography of Britain and France from the
tenth to the twelfth century, ed. K.S.B. Keats-Rohan (Woodbridge, 1997), pp. 89-102.

1 In RADN, no. 36 all the donations but one are in the departments of Seine-Maritime, Calvados, Orne
and Eure, and the only one in Manche is in the diocese of Bayeux (La Luzerne), while in RADN, no. 35
the vast majority of the donations are in the Eure.

2 A certain Mangisius of Savigny witnessed a charter for the abbey of Savigny sometime between
1112 and 1133 (GC, xi, Instr., col. 110), while in 1099 a Mangisus, who was a monk of Mont-Saint-
Michel, was involved in a plea held before Hugh, vicomte of Chateaudun, Cartulary of Mont-Saint-
Michel, no. 103.

3 For the dates see, Toponymie générale de la France: étymologie de 35,000 noms de lieux, ed. E.
Neégre, 3 vols. (Geneva, 1990-1991), i, p. 335; iii, p. 1664. Boissy-Maugis, Orne, cant. Rémalard;
Maison-Maugis, Orne, cant. Rémalard.

4 Negre, Toponymie générale, iii, p. 1664.

15 Morlet, Noms de personne, i, p. 34.

16 Robert de Belléme had a messenger called Amalgis, OV, v, p. 254.
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the name in the Patrologia Latina series, half concern rémois events or documents.*’
Olivier Guillot has noted the significant role this church played in the conversion of
the Normans in the tenth century, and it is not impossible that our bishop was himself
linked to Reims, and that the deference shown to him by his position in the witness
lists is explicable as a result.'® Of course, there is always the possibility he was simply
a court favourite,® while the frequent occurrence of the name in the Blésois, the
Orlénais and Brittany has led at least one scholar to question whether the bishop was a
native of one of these regions.?’ Moreover, modern scholars occasionally render
Maugisus as Mauger,?* which was a name of the ducal family and is perhaps evidence

of a familial connection with the ruling line.??

Despite a rather unremarkable career, Maugis did make one great contribution to
his diocese, for in around 1025 he began the construction of his cathedral. Although
two different necrologies (both now lost) credit two different Norman dukes with the
foundation,® most modern authorities believe that it was during his episcopate that
building work began.?* Despite the detailed excavations carried out by Daniel Levalet,
and the existence of a number of drawings of the cathedral in a state of ruin, the
complete destruction of the cathedral during the nineteenth century means it remains
difficult to determine Maugis’ exact architectural contribution. Indeed, since there

was a second construction campaign during the episcopate of Turgis (1094-1134), it is

7 Flodoard of Reims, Historia Remensis, p. 359; Reolus Rhemensis, ‘Charta’, Migne, PL, Ixxxviii, col.
1215; “Karoli Il Conventus Attiniacensis’, Migne, PL, cxxxviii, col. 610. Of the other three
occurrences, one concerns Verdun, one Liége and the other Normandy.

'8 Guillot, ‘Conversion des normands aprés 9117, pp. 101-116, 181-219, esp. pp. 200-202; O. Guillot,
‘La conversion des normands a partir de 911°, in Histoire religieuse de la Normandie, ed. G.-M. Oury
(Chambray, 1981), pp. 23-53, esp. pp. 39-46.

% For popularity at court linked to witness lists of a later period, see T. Keefe, ‘The courting game:
rank order and witness clusters in the early charters of King Richard I, 1189-90°, Medieval
Prosopography, 18 (1997), pp. 93-108.

20 Van Torhoudt, ‘Centralité et marginalité’, iii, pp. 768-769.

2L B, Avril, ‘La décoration des manuscrits au Mont-Saint-Michel (Xle-XIle siécles)’, in Millénaire
monastique, ii, pp. 203-238, at p. 231; P. Chesnel, Le Cotentin et I’Avranchin (département de la
Manche) sous les ducs de Normandie (911-1204) (Caen, 1912), p. 176.

22 E g. Mauger, son of Richard I, and Mauger, archbishop of Rouen, son of Richard II.

% The necrology of the cathedral listed Richard Il as founder of the cathedral: <25 Augusti 1027 obiit
Ricardus Il dux Normannie fundator ecclesiae Abrincensis’, Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 679;
BM (Avranches), fonds Pigeon, ms. 45, p. 124. However, Jean-Jacques Desroches argued that a Mont-
Saint-Michel necrology deposited at Saint-L6 (destroyed) listed Robert | as ‘fundator ecclesie
Abrincensis’ (this is not in the Mont-Saint-Michel necrology edited in RHGF, xxiii, p. 579), and
claimed that construction began during the episcopate of Hugh, Desroches, ‘Annales religieuses’, p.
418. Emile-Auber Pigeon acknowledged the existence of this necrology, but called Robert | the
‘second fondateur’, Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 679.

2 Levalet, ‘La cathédrale Saint-André’, p- 121; M. Baylé, ‘Les évéques et I’architecture normande au
Xlessiécle’, in Les évéques normands, pp. 151-172, at p. 158.
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Fig. 8 has been removed due to Copyright restrictions

Fig. 8 The cathedral of Avranches in 1649 (copy of painting by N. Gravier)

Fig. 9 has been removed due to Copyright restrictions

Fig. 9 Ruins of the cathedral of Avranches in 1828 (by Lemaitre)’

“ Images from Baylé, ‘Les évéques et I’architecture’, p. 159. For discussion of the painting by Nicolas
Graver, see D. Nicolas-Méry, ‘Le tableau « Avranches en 1649 »: témoignage sur la cité médiévale’,
Revue de I’Avranchin et du pays de Granville, 83 (2006), pp. 1-25.
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possible that many of the architectural features evident in the drawings of Nicolas
Gravier and Lemaitre date from this time (figs. 8 and 9). The most striking feature is
the cathedral’s ambulatory, which may have been modelled on the one completed at
Mont-Saint-Michel two years earlier.”® According to Julien Nicole, Maugis had been
responsible for the consecration of the newly completed abbey church.?® Perhaps it
was at this event (for which there is no surviving record of Maugis’ involvement) that
the architectural plans for his cathedral were first formed. Regardless, Maugis must
have at least completed the western fagade of the cathedral, since he was buried (see

below) under its northern tower.

Unfortunately, Maugis was to die soon after construction began. According to
Thomas Le Roy, he was also gripped by the desire to become a monk at Mont-Saint-
Michel, and it was only due to the intervention of the abbot (either Hildebert 11 (1017-
1023), Theoderic, (1023-1027) or Almodus (1023/4-1032)) that he did not achieve his

goal.?’

An anonymous historian of Mont-Saint-Michel associated this event with
certain jurisdictional concessions made by the bishop to the abbey,?® but this
‘donation’, which was first mentioned by Thomas Le Roy,?® and later repeated by
others,®® seems to be an incredibly confused interpretation of a charter issued by
Richard 11,* which itself confirmed certain grants found in a forged papal bull of John
XI11.%2 According to the necrology of Mont-Saint-Michel, Maugis died on 17 August,
while that of Jumiéges commemorates the bishop on the following day.*® The year of
his passing is given in the annals of Robert de Torigni as 1027.>* The bishop was

buried in the cathedral he had begun under the north tower of the western facade,*

2 Baylé, ‘Les évéques et I’architecture’, p. 160.

% Nicole, “Histoire des évéques d’Avranches’, p. 44.

%" Desroches, ‘Annales religieuses’, i, p. 418. An anonymous eighteenth-century history of the abbey
claims the same thing, and names the abbot responsible for deterring the bishop as Mainard 11, BN, ms.
fr. 18949, p. 35.

% BN, ms. fr. 18949, p. 35.

Ple Roy, ‘Curieuses recherches’, p. 284.

%0 Desroches, ‘Annales religieuses’, i, p. 418; Le Héricher, Avranchin monumental, ii, p. 215.

L RADN, no. 49.

% The following marginal note is inserted in the copy of this charter in the anonymous eighteenth-
century history noted above. It is written next to the passage that begins ‘Omnes ad postremum...’:
‘Richard ler en 966 avoit accordé aux moines sa jurisdiction temporelle sur les moines du Mont St.
Michel. Maugis 18e eveque d’Avranches accorda la jurisdiction episcopalle qui est se y confirmée. 11
vivoit du temps de Richard, 2e du nom, duc de Normandie, cestadire vers I’an 966°, BN, ms. fr. 18949,
p. 405.

* RHGF, xxiii, pp. 421, 579.

* Robert de Torigni, Chronique, ii, p. 219.

% Levalet, ‘La cathédrale Saint-André’, p- 121.
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Fig 9 The tomb of Maugis, bishop of Avranches (photo R. Allen)’

“ Avranches, coll. musée municipale.
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while Robert Cénalis, a sixteenth-century bishop of Avranches, recorded a rather
crude distich that might have been inscribed on Maugis’ tomb.* Today, a
sarcophagus identified as Maugis’ forms part of the collection of the municipal
museum of Avranches (fig. 10).%

% <Quum gleba excelse sedeat fundamine turris | Non mihi Maugisus, sed bene gisus eris’, BN, ms. lat.

5201, fol. 37r.
%" The tomb is currently on display in the town’s new museum Scriptorial’, which is dedicated to the
manuscripts of Mont-Saint-Michel.
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Hugh, c. 1028-1055 x 1060

Little is known of the man who occupied the see of Avranches for almost thirty-
two years. His attestation can be found on several ducal charters, among which, as
one would expect, are numerous acts concerning Mont-Saint-Michel. In fact, six of
the eleven surviving ducal charters that Hugh witnessed benefited the monastery.
These include two charters of Robert I in which he confirmed the monastery’s ancient
rights, and granted half the island of Guernsey (including the ‘episcopal laws’), as
well as territory in Avranches and Bayeux, to the monastery,® while another three
concluded donations of land to the abbey given by those about to take up the habit
within its confines.? Nevertheless, Hugh was willing to partake in the ‘feast on
church property’® that had devastated many parts of Lower Normandy, securing from
Suppo, abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel (c. 1032-1048), a grant of property, and, in doing
so, revealing his willingness to act as predator as well as protector.* It is also possible
that Hugh had children, for the bishop only secured the aforementioned grant, which
included tithes on Guernsey, by promising to return the benefices to the abbey despite
any objections from ‘either my successor as bishop, a relation or an heir’.> The
stipulation is certainly not unusual for a ‘life-lease’ agreement such as this,® but if
Hugh did father offspring he would have hardly been unusual. Not only did the
archbishop under whom he first served have a wife and sons, but members of the
Norman episcopate continued to produce children well into the second half of the

eleventh century.

Hugh was also active in Upper Normandy, and here confirmed three ‘life-lease’

agreements involving the abbey of Fécamp. The first concerned an agreement

L RADN, nos. 65, 73; Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 115.

2 The three individuals were Adelelmus, a knight of Robert I, a priest named Neal (Niellus), and
William Pichenoht, RADN, nos. 110, 132, 133.

® Bates, Normandy before 1066, p. 100.

* Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 80.

® <., ut post excessum meum eam sancto Michaeli sibique famulantibus absque ullius successoris mei
episcopi vel parentis aut heredis contradictione restituerem’, Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 80.
Tabuteau suggested that the clause related only to Hugh’s episcopal successors, but given its
exactitude, and the fact that she cites only the charter’s anathema clause, which is not so precise, this
seems unlikely, Tabuteau, Transfers of property, p. 315 n. 249. Interestingly, an unidentified bishop
Hugh witnessed a charter of John of Ravenna, abbot of Fécamp, with his brother Turold and his son
Rodulf, BN, ms. coll. Moreau, vol. 21, fol. 25v. Given Hugh’s frequent involvement with this house
(see below), it is not impossible that this is the bishop of Avranches. It is more likely, however, the
bishop of Bayeux, Hugh of Ivry. See below p. 113.

® Tabuteau, Transfers of property, p. 76.



Date Document Beneficiary Location T S
c. 1028 x 1035 RADN, no. 72 Fécamp X
c. 1028 x 1035 RADN, no. 73 Mont-Saint-Michel X
c. 1028 x 1035 Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 667 Avranches cathedral
c. 1028 x 1033 RADN, no. 65 Mont-Saint-Michel X
12 Nov. 1032 RADN, no. 64 (probable) Cerisy-la-Forét Rouen X
c. 1032-1048 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 80 Mont-Saint-Michel X
13 Jan. 1035 RADN, no. 90 Montivilliers Fécamp X
1035 x 1040 RADN, no. 93 Fécamp X
1035 x 1048 RADN, no. 111 Mont-Saint-Michel X
1035 x 1060 Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 668 Avranches cathedral
1037 x 1046 RADN, no. 110 Mont-Saint-Michel X
1046 x 1060 RADN, no. 145 Fecamp X
1054 RADN, no. 132 Mont-Saint-Michel X
25 Dec. 1054 RADN, no. 133 Mont-Saint-Michel Rouen cathedral X

Fig. 11 Appearances of Hugh, bishop of Avranches (c. 1028-1055 x 1060), in the diplomatic record

Date Document Beneficiary Location T S
1060 x 1066 RADN, no. 220 Jumieges X
1061 x 1067 Cartulaire de I’abbaye de Redon, no. ccexxvi Saint-Sauveur de Redon
1061 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, Appendix I, no. 5 Mont-Saint-Michel
1061 Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 666 Avranches cathedral
1061 RADN, no. 148 Mont-Saint-Michel Rouen X
22 Sept. 1063 x 1066 RADN, no. 159 Marmoutier Domfront X
1066 RADN, no. 229 Avranches cathedral X
1066 (?) RADN, no. 227 Beaumont-lés-Tours Bayeux (in camera comitis) X
27 May x 16 July 1066 RADN, no. 232 Mont-Saint-Michel Bonneville-sur-Touques X
18 June 1066 RADN, no. 231 La Trinité, Caen Caen X
Sept. 1066 RADN, no. 228 Marmoutier Rouen X

Fig. 12 Appearances of John of Ivry, bishop of Avranches (1060-1067), in the diplomatic record

" Hugh may be the bishop by that name who witnessed RADN, no. 21, though the bishops of Bayeux, Coutances and Evreux were also called Hugh at this time. Hugh’s

signum is also interpolated in a charter dated 21 September 1014, RADN, no. 15 (version Abis).
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between John of Ravenna and a certain Gozelinus fitzHeddo over land that the abbey
had received from Rainaldus the vicomte.” The second was concluded at Brionne in
the presence of the duke and an important group of dignitaries.® The simultaneous
appearance of these men not only illustrates the evolution of the composition of the
ducal entourage over the course of the period up until 1066, but also suggests that
Hugh was perhaps a regular attendee of such gatherings, and that his role in affairs of
state was quite substantial.” Finally, Hugh concluded his own ‘life-lease’ agreement
with John of Ravenna that entitled him to the tithes of the town of Ryes and a manse
of ten acres in the grounds of Fécamp.’® Lucien Musset held that Hugh received these
goods for his role in the benediction of John of Ravenna as abbot of Fécamp,™ but not
only were these privileges small reward, they were also to return to the abbey upon
the bishop’s death. Moreover, none of Hugh’s successors were allowed to claim rights
over the goods contained in the charter.> Nevertheless, this agreement, and the
several appearances by Hugh in Fécamp documents, is the best evidence available for
the growing connection between the monastic schools and the early eleventh-century
episcopate, which Hugh seems to have fostered.*?

It was also during Hugh’s episcopate that the most important parts of the cathedral
were completed. It remains difficult to determine the exact role of the bishop in this
project, although recent scholarship has revisited the issue.** Of greatest interest are
the alternating chapels revealed in the drawings of the cathedral made in the early
nineteenth century by the painter Nicolas Gravier. Although such architectural details
can be found in the first half of the eleventh century throughout Normandy, they are
also present in the chapels of the cathedrals of Winchester and Worcester in

England.” Whether the latter were influenced by the former, or vice versa, remains a

"RADN, no. 72.

& Among those in attendance were William, count of Arques, Nigel vicomte of the Cotentin, Osbern the
Steward and Goscelin the vicomte, RADN, no. 93.

® For a discussion of this evolution and the meeting at Brionne see Bates, Normandy before 1066, pp.
158-159.

19 Ryes-en-Bessin, Calvados, chef-lieu.

! Musset, ‘La contribution de Fécamp’, p. 63.

12 <. quam prefatus episcopus condonate amitia in vita sua possidet, aliquis eius quomodo successor
post obitum illius ullam reclamationem faciat, vel monasterio, cui idem beneficium appendet, aliquam
molestiam inferat’, RADN, no. 145.

13 Bates, Normandy before 1066, p. 195.

4 Bayl¢, ‘Les évéques et I’architecture’, pp. 158-160.

15 For full discussion see E. Fernie, The architecture of Norman England (Oxford, 2000), pp. 117-118,
153-154.
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matter for debate, with neither side able to present overwhelming evidence to support
their cause.’® Emile-Auber Pigeon also remarked on the similarity between the two
apisidoles of Saint-Georges and Saint-Jean, which recall similar features built during
the pontificate of Geoffrey of Montbray in the cathedral of Coutances.'” Like his
predecessors, Hugh also took steps to reconstitute the holdings of his cathedral. At
the request of the bishop (prece et hortatu Hugonis venerabilis antistitis), Robert |
gave to the cathedral the church of Saint-Gervais in the suburbs of Avranches, the
churches of Esgen (either Sainte-Eugienne or Les Gens),® Céaux, Vessey, la Croix-
Avranchin, Villiers, Saint-Senier de Beuvron and Vains, as well as various parcels of
land with their attendant tithes, tolls and mills. Similarly, in 1035 x 1060, William |1
gave to the cathedral the churches of Saint-Senier-sous-Avranches, Appilly, Orceil,
Saint-Pierre-Langers, Chantorre and Frigabulgam, while at the petitioning (precatu)
of the bishop, he also donated to the cathedral all the land held in the region by
Warner, brother of Theoderic the hostiarius (fig. 13).X° Most interestingly, Robert |
gave to the cathedral ‘the tithe of the tonlieu of the pagus of Avranches’ (decimam
totius telonei Abrincensis pagi),”® which not only demonstrates that the Norman dukes
preserved Carolingian-style financial administration, but also the important

administrative role of the bishop in the region.*

Perhaps the most outstanding event of Hugh’s episcopacy remains the visit of
Lanfranc to the city of Avranches in around 1039-1040. His presence in the region
remains controversial, with scholars divided over his exact role. Lanfranc’s stay in
the city is based on one source, the Vita Lanfranci, which is attributed to Miles
Crispin, monk and cantor at Bec, and which was written sometime between 1140 and

1156.2 Nineteenth and early twentieth century scholars automatically understood

1 The chapels of Worcester are polygonal; those of Winchester are rectangular and finish at the
collaterals. They are different from those of Fécamp or Avranches, but could come from a tradition
from the Avranchin, where the polygonal ambulatory of Mont-Saint-Michel (c. 1023) could constitute
a stage in this architectural style, Baylé, ‘Les évéques et I’architecture’, p. 160 n. 23.

7 Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 681-682. An apsidiole is a small or secondary apse usually
found in the transept arms. Pigeon’s interpretation of the architectural configuration of the cathedral of
Coutances is open to question, however. For full discussion, see below, pp. 184-185.

'8 The latter is found in the commune of Saint-Quentin-sur-le-Homme, Manche, cant. Ducey.

19 Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, pp. 667-668.

2 Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 667.

2L 1. Musset, ‘Recherches sur le tonlieu en Normandie a I’époque ducale’, in Autour du pouvoir ducal
normand Xe-Xlle siécles, Cahier des Annales de Normandie, 17 (1985), pp. 61-76, at p. 67.

22 «\/ita Lanfranci’, ed. M. Gibson, in Lanfranco di Pavia e I’Europa del secolo XI nel IX centenario
della morte (1089-1989), ed. G. D’Onofrio (Rome, 1993), pp. 659-715, at p. 668. Translated in S.
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Lanfranc’s visit to mean that, at Avranches, he would have found a flourishing
intellectual centre both willing and able to accommodate him and his magni nominis
scholares.?® Allan Macdonald placed his stay in the city at the end of a period during
which Lanfranc, disillusioned over his stay in Chartres, and especially his encounter
with Berengar of Tours in ¢. 1035, had opened schools, which attracted students in the
different places through which he passed. Charles Lebréton suggested that it was only
with the permission of Bishop Hugh that Lanfranc was allowed to operate in the
city.?* The fact that Anselm (d. 1109) was also a visitor to the city in the late 1050s
has led some scholars to posit a continuous scholastic tradition in the city from

Lanfranc onwards.?

Most modern academics are more sceptical. The most vocal critic of late has been
Margaret Gibson, who argues that Avranches would have had neither the books nor
the scribes to accommodate Lanfranc and his entourage, let alone an audience ready
to listen to him.? Indeed, with previous bishops of Avranches keen themselves to
retreat to the monastery of the archangel it would be surprising if Lanfranc did not
also seek out all that this institution had to offer. Here he would have found a
monastic house with an exceptional zeal for the collection and illumination of
manuscripts, and, it is conjectured, a patron in his fellow countryman, the Italian,
Abbot Suppo of Fruttuaria.?’” Yet we must not ignore the evidence presented by
Hugh’s presence in the business of the abbey of Fécamp between 1027 and 1060. If
this reveals a growing connection between the monastic schools and the early
eleventh-century episcopate, as David Bates suggests it does, then surely it would be
understandable if Hugh had taken an active interest in the intellectual life of his own

Vaughn, The abbey of Bec and the Anglo-Norman state, 1034-1136 (Woodbridge, 1981), pp. 87-111, at
p. 88.

8 “Et pertransiens Franciam, quamplures magni nominis scholares secum habens, in Normanniam
pervenit, et in Abrincatensi civitate demoratus, per aliquod tempus docuit’, ‘Vita Lanfranci’, p. 668.

“ A.J. Macdonald, Lanfranc: a study of his life, work and writing (Oxford, 1926), p. 11; C. Lebréton,
‘L’école d’Avranches au Xle siécle sous Lanfranc et saint Anselme’, Mémoires de la Société
archéologique d’Avranches, 6 (1873), pp. 493-510, at p. 496.

 Lebréton, ‘L’école d’Avranches’, pp. 493-510.

% M. Gibson, Lanfranc of Bec (Oxford, 1978), pp. 20-21.

21 J.J.G. Alexander, Norman illumination at Mont St. Michel, 966-1100 (Oxford, 1970), pp. 35-37, 212-
213. Gibson also suggests that, even if Suppo did not fulfil a role as patron, he would undoubtedly have
been consulted before Lanfranc came to the region, Gibson, Lanfranc of Bec, p. 21. Lanfranc’s most
recent biographer, H.E.J. Cowdrey, suggests that if Lanfranc was in Avranches his academic activity
there was limited, and that his stay in the city more likely ‘offered the possibility of contact with the
abbey of Mont-Saint-Michel’, H.E.J. Cowdrey, Lanfranc: scholar, monk, and archbishop (Oxford,
2003), p. 10.



57

diocese, and had created a centre of learning in Avranches in which Lanfranc, and
later Anselm, could pursue serious scholarship.?® The discovery of non-Norman early
eleventh-century coins in Avranches certainly suggests the city was open to outside
influences,”® and although Hugh’s charter attestations speak of a man committed first
and foremost to his personal estates, rather than his diocese,® the illustrious names
associated with the city which he governed, as well as the existence of a scholasticus

31
I,

among the cathedral personnel,” continue to tempt scholars to associate the bishop

with more enlightened activities.*

Outside his diocese Hugh was involved in only three events of any significance
that we know of. Towards the beginning of his episcopate he was responsible for the
benediction of John of Ravenna as abbot of Fécamp.*® The choice of Hugh to perform
the ceremony, which allows for the beginning of his episcopate to be dated with some
precision,® is certainly noteworthy. Robert, archbishop of Rouen, who would
undoubtedly have performed this rite under normal circumstances, had recently been
besieged by the duke at Evreux, and had subsequently fled into exile.*> The
banishment of such a powerful figure not only significantly weakened the duchy,
but also sent a worrying message to other members of the episcopate, a humber of
whom were related to the archbishop.®” Perhaps the duke’s actions had alienated these
men, and temporarily unable to rely on their fidelity, he was forced to turn to the only
member of the episcopate not connected in some way with the exiled pontiff. It was
vital that the duke choose a man upon whom he could rely to perform the service,
since the abbot of Fécamp was the head of one of the most important abbeys in
Normandy, and the foundation itself lay at the heart of one of the traditional centres of

%8 Bates, Normandy before 1066, pp. 195 and 210-211.

? Levalet, ‘La cathédrale Saint-André’, p. 122.

% Bates, Normandy before 1066, p. 213.

#! This was Robert, who later became scholasticus at Le Mans in 1030 x 1040, Spear, The personnel, p.
14,

%2 Bouet and Dosdat, ‘Les évéques normands’, pp. 22-23.

%3 . Musset, ‘Notules fécampoises’, BSAN, 54 (1957), pp. 584-598, at pp. 595-596.

% John was blessed as abbot in 1028. For his career, see Gazeau, Normannia monastica, ii, pp. 105-
110.

* GND, ii, p. 48.

% For this period, see Douglas, William the Conqueror, pp. 32-33.

¥ Three out of the six remaining bishops were related to the ducal line. Robert, archbishop of Rouen,
was the son of Richard I; Hugh of lvry, bishop of Bayeux, was the cousin of Richard Il, while the
author of De libertate Beccensis claimed that Herbert, bishop of Lisieux, was a propinquus of the duke,
‘De libertate Beccensis monasterii’, in Three treatises from Bec on the nature of monastic life, ed. G.
Constable and trans. B. Smith (Toronto, 2008), pp. 136-167, at p. 138.
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ducal power. In a period described by David Douglas as ‘approaching a crisis’,*® the
consecration not only helped the duke consolidate his authority, but was also perhaps
the catalyst for the later relations between the abbey of Fécamp and the bishop of
Avranches noted above. Hugh also became the first bishop of Avranches to leave the
duchy, and in 1049 attended the famous papal council of Reims along with four of his
episcopal colleagues.®® Unlike some it appears he was not censured for uncanonical
behaviour, although whether the movement of reform had any impact on his later

activities is unknown.*

Although Hugh’s episcopate is traditionally dated until 1060, his last securely
datable appearance comes from a charter of 25 December 1054.** According to the
necrology of Mont-Saint-Michel, and a lost obituary of the cathedral, he died on 5
April.** The editors of Gallia Christiana claimed he was buried in the cathedral of
Avranches,*® while a ground plan of the cathedral, which was copied by Emile-Auber
Pigeon from drawings dating to 1786, show Hugh’s tomb next to those of the bishops
Maugis and Michael in the building’s west end (fig. 14).** The most recent scholar to
date his episcopate argues he could have passed away as early as 1055.*> We know
that his successor John became bishop in 1060, since he became archbishop of Rouen
in September 1067, and Orderic Vitalis says he served as bishop of Avranches for
seven years and three months before coming to the archiepiscopal see.*® Perhaps the
clearest evidence that the see was no longer occupied comes from an attempt made
between 1058 and 1060 by the monks of Mont-Saint-Michel to claim exemption from

episcopal control. Interpolating a charter of Richard I1, the monks declared that they

%8 Douglas, William the Conqueror, p. 32.

% The primary source for the council is the ‘Dedicatio ecclesiae sancti Remigii’, in Mansi, xix, cols.
727-745. A less accessible but critical edition (along with a French translation) can be found in
‘Anselme de Saint-Rémy: Histoire de la dédicace de Saint-Rémy’, ed. J. Hourlier, in Contribution a
’année Saint-Benoit (480-1980): la Champagne bénédictine (Reims, 1981), pp. 179-297, at p. 236.

0 According to an interpolation by Orderic Vitalis into the work of William of Jumiéges, Ivo of Sées
was censured by the pope over the destruction of his cathedral (GND, ii, pp. 116-118), while the
council proceedings record how Geoffrey of Coutances had to defend himself from accusations that his
brother had purchased his bishopric for him, ‘Dedicatio sancti Remigii’, col. 741; Anselme de Saint-
Rémy, ‘Histoire’, p. 248.

*1 RADN, no. 133. He is also thought to have been among the attendees of the reforming council of
1055 (Bessin, Concilia, p. 47), while it is also possible he was present at the dedication of Coutances
cathedral on 8 December 1056, ‘De statu’, col. 220; RADN, no. 214, p. 407.

*2 RHGF, xxiii, p. 579; GC, xi, col. 475.

* GC, xi, col. 475.

“ BM (Avranches), fonds Pigeon, ms. CP 9, fol. 105v.

%% Spear, The personnel, p. 3.

€ OV, ii, p. 200.



Fig. 14 has been removed due to Copyright restrictions

Fig. 14 The tombs of Maugis, Hugh and Michael, bishops of Avranches, marked (in yellow) in a plan of the cathedral, which was
copied by Emile-Auber Pigeon from ‘les dessins de M. Lefebvre, ingénieur en chef... de la généralité de Caen’ (dated to 1786)

“BM (Avranches), fonds Pigeon, ms. CP 9, fol. 105v.
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should have exemption from episcopal jurisdiction, that the right of correction over an
abbot was the prerogative of the duke, rather than the bishop, and that they had the
right to choose the bishop who would perform the ordination of the abbot, monks and
clerks.”” Had Hugh still been alive he would have undoubtedly resisted such a move,
but it was only with the arrival of his successor that the situation was eventually
resolved.®® Perhaps the monks, who had long opposed ducal initiatives to select
abbots for them, had hoped to take advantage of a see that had fallen vacant, and once
again reclaim some of the authority they had enjoyed in the diocese during the

vacancy of the tenth century.

*" The charter is RADN, no. 49. For discussion, see J.-F. Lemarignier, Etude sur les priviléges
d’exemption et de juridiction ecclésiastique des abbayes normandes depuis les origines jusqu’en 1140
(Paris, 1937), Appendix VI, pp. 264-266.

“8 For discussion, see below pp. 66-67.
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John of Ivry," 1060-1067

John is the first bishop of Avranches for whom we have truly detailed
information.? A member of one of the most prestigious families in the duchy, it was
during his pontificate that the temporal possessions of the cathedral were properly
recovered and organised. He led an attempt to regularise liturgical practices within
the province as a whole, authoring the liturgical treatise known as De officiis
ecclesiasticis, and was a trusted member of the ducal curia, who would later occupy
the archiepiscopal seat from 1067 to 1079. Despite this, very little is known of John’s
early life. His father was Rodulf, the uterine brother of Duke Richard I, and also the
count of Ivry.® The patriarch of an important and powerful marcher family, Rodulf
was ‘sans doute le principal artisan laic de la pacification du duché’.* At the
beginning of the reign of Richard Il he helped suppress a peasant rebellion that
ravaged Normandy, and soon thereafter he quelled an uprising lead by William 1,
count of Eu.°> He was actively involved in the religious revival of the late tenth
century, which accompanied the consolidation of secular power by the descendants of
Rollo, attending the foundation of the collegiate church at Fécamp in 990,° and acting
as a generous donor himself to the abbey of Saint-Ouen de Rouen.” He acted as an
informer to Dudo of Saint-Quentin, whose history of the early Norman dukes helped

define and confirm their permanent presence in the region,® a role that John himself

! A note on John’s toponym is necessary here. His contemporaries simply qualified him by reference to
his episcopal or archiepiscopal seat. In those charters in which he appears before he accepted his first
ecclesiastical post he is sometimes referred to as ‘lohannes de sancto Philiberto’, his toponym
originating from lands he held near the Risle (e.g. Le cartulaire de [’abbaye bénédictine de Saint-
Pierre-de-Préaux (1034-1227), ed. D. Rouet (Paris, 2005), no. Al, p. 8), or as ‘lohannes filius
Rodulfi’, which is self-explanatory. Modern historians have chosen various names. English historians
tend to prefer John of Avranches, while many of their French counterparts refer to him as Jean d’Ivry,
although they sometimes use ‘d’Avranches’ or ‘de Saint-Philbert’. It is in deference to them, and for
reasons of stylistic convenience, that | have chosen to refer to John as ‘of Ivry’. Unfortunately, some
scholars of the late nineteenth and early twentieth century confusingly refer to John as ‘of Bayeux’
(e.g. Catalogue général des manuscrits des bibliothéques publiques des départements, 7 vols. (Paris,
1849-1885), i, no. 304, p. 408), which originates from the incorrect identification by Orderic Vitalis of
John’s father, Rodulf, count of Ivry, as count of Bayeux. See D.C. Douglas, ‘The ancestors of William
fitz Osbern’, EHR, 59 (1944), pp. 62-79, at pp. 71-72.

% This chapter, and that on John’s career in Rouen, has recently been published as R. Allen, ““A proud
and headstrong man”: John of Ivry, bishop of Avranches and archbishop of Rouen, 1060-79°,
Historical Research (forthcoming; early view).

¥ GG, i. 56, p. 91; GND, ii, p. 173; OV, ii, p. 200.

* Bauduin, La premiére Normandie, pp. 191-215, esp. pp. 197-209.

®> GND, ii, pp. 8-10.

®RADN, no. 4.

"RADN, no. 13.

® Douglas, ‘The ancestors of William fitz Osbern’, pp. 69-71; Bauduin, La premiére Normandie, pp.
61-75.
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possibly later fulfilled with a major chronicler of his own time, William of Jumiéges.®
John’s mother was most likely Rodulf’s second wife Albereda, about whom nothing

of substance is known.°

His elder half-brother Hugh, the son of Rodulf and his first wife Eremberga, was
bishop of Bayeux from c. 1011 to 1049. His career is discussed in full below. Rodulf,
another brother, is known only from one subscription,"* but a sister Emma was
married to Osbern, the famous ducal steward, who was murdered in his bedchamber
while acting as guardian to the young Duke William Il. Their son was William
fitzOsbern, later earl of Hereford, and arguably one of the most important and
powerful men in the Anglo-Norman realm. Another son, Osbern, who would
eventually become bishop of Exeter (1072-1103), was a priest in the chapel of
Edward the Confessor.** Emma ended her days as abbess of Saint-Amand de Rouen,*®

14" John’s other

a house to which John, as archbishop, would later act as benefactor.
sister, whose name is lost to history, married Richard de Beaufou, whose own
daughter eventually married Hugh de Montfort.*> John was therefore part of one of
the more prestigious families of the duchy, the members of which dominated both

secular and ecclesiastical life.

In spite of his high status, little is known of John’s activities before he became
bishop of Avranches. Upon his father’s death it appears he inherited estates situated
on the Risle near Saint-Philbert,*® which although important, were small in

comparison with his brother Hugh’s patrimony.’” Like his contemporaries John was

® GND, i, pp. xliv-xIv.

1% David Douglas thought that Eremberga was the second wife of Rodulf and that it was with her that
he had John (Douglas, ‘The ancestors of William fitz Osbern’, p. 71, n. 6), but Elisabeth van Houts has
argued convincingly for Albereda, GND, ii, p. 175 n. 7.

"' RADN, no. 13.

2 GND, ii, p. 92; OV, v, p. 82; William of Malmesbury, GR, i, p. 316. For his career, see EEA, xi, pp.
XXXii-Xxxiii.

3 RADN, no. 116.

Y M.-J. Le Cacheux, Histoire de I’abbaye de Saint-Amand de Rouen, des origines & la fin du XVle
siécle (Caen, 1937), no. 12, p. 251.

> For more information on the Montforts, see H.E. Mayer, ‘Ein unedierter Originalbrief aus dem
Heiligen Land von 1164-5 und die Herren von Montfort-sur-Risle’, Deutsches Archiv, 46 (1990), pp.
481-505.

'® Saint-Philbert-sur-Risle, Eure, cant. Montfort-sur-Risle.

" RADN, no. 229. For discussion of this inheritance, see D. Bates, ‘Notes sur I’aristocratie normande. 1.
Hugues, évéque de Bayeux (1011 env.-1049). II. Herluin de Conteville et sa famille’, AN, 23 (1973),
pp. 7-38, at pp. 13-14; V. Gazeau, ‘Le patrimoine d’Hugues de Bayeux (c. 1011-1049)’, in Les évéques
normands, pp. 139-147; Bauduin, La premiére Normandie, pp. 207-208.
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actively involved in matters concerning his local religious institutions, acting as their
patron. Sometime in ¢.1040 x 1060 he sold the land of Saint-Benoit within the forest
of Viévre to Saint-Pierre de Préaux for fifteen livres,'® and at an undetermined date
Abbess Emma of Saint-Léger de Préaux bought ten tenements from John, although
the scribe neglected to record the name of the lands in question.'® He also donated the
church of Saint-Georges-du-Viévre to the abbey of Bec,? a gift that he appears to
have confirmed in 1065.%

It is also possible that John was at Fécamp in early 1035, when Duke Robert |
(1027-1035) organised the government of the duchy in preparation for his departure
on pilgrimage. Evidence for his presence at this important meeting, for which we only
know the name of one attendee, is to be found in an act by which Peter, a monk of
Fécamp, gave land to Saint-Pierre de Préaux before becoming a recluse, and which
was witnessed by Duke Robert and various other dignitaries, including John. Despite
corruptions contained in both the text of the act and the witness list that appear to
indicate otherwise, Marie Faroux dated the charter 1034 x 1035, a conclusion adhered
to by Cassandra Potts, who argued that the act is reflective of Humphrey of Vieilles’
attempts to establish ties between his fledgling house at Préaux and the important
monastery of Fécamp.?? Neither scholar posits a location for the act. A reassessment
of the charter by Dominique Rouet suggests, however, that the body of the text and
the witness list are actually unrelated. Instead, they are actually different parts of the
pancarte of foundation for this house, which appeared together in this form in an
older cartulary, now lost, which the scribe of the surviving thirteenth-century
cartulary simply copied.? The donation of the monk Peter is actually one of the

donations that was supposed to be listed in the pancarte and should in fact be dated

18 Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, A1[15].

19 Regesta, no. 217.

0 Regesta, no. 166.

2L BN, ms. lat. 12884, fol. 177v. For discussion, see A.-A. Porée, Histoire de I'abbaye du Bec, 2 vols.
(Evreux, 1901), i, p. 329 n. 3.

“2 RADN, no. 88. The text refers to William as rege Anglorum, and makes an allusion to the foundation
of Saint-Martin-du-Bosc, which did not occur until after 1059. The witness list is also corrupted with
the signa of two archbishops of Rouen (Robert (989-1037) and Mauger (1037-1054/5)), two bishops of
Lisieux (Herbert (c. 1026-c. 1046) and Hugh (1046 x 1047/8-1077)), who obviously could not have
witnessed the act at the same time, and Humphrey of Vieilles and his sons, which can only be said to
have been added sometime before 1050 and not after 1054. For discussion, C. Potts, Monastic revival
and regional identity in early Normandy (Woodbridge, 1997), pp. 126-127.

2 Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, pp. Ixxv-Ixxvii. The pancarte of foundation is numbered Al
in Rouet’s edition.
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16 March 1078-1079. The only act in the pancarte—indeed the whole cartulary—
which corresponds with the signa of Duke Robert is the second one in the text, by
which he donated land at Toutainville to Préaux.”* Rouet concludes that as Robert
was unlikely to travel to Préaux, the act was probably drawn up at the meeting of
magnates and prelates at Fécamp in January 1035, which is recorded by William of
Jumiéges.”® Of the signa attached to the donation, those who could have witnessed
were the young Conqueror, Robert, archbishop of Rouen, and Herbert, bishop of
Lisieux. The signa of Mauger of Rouen, Hugh of Lisieux, and Humphrey of Veilles
and his sons were all added later by different scribes,?® while John’s signum should be
associated with his donation of the land of Saint-Benoit within the forest of Viévre
which he gave to the abbey between c. 1040-1060, and which is listed in the

pancarte.?’

Since we lack an original of the pancarte, however, there is nothing to indicate
that John’s signum cannot be associated with the donation of Toutainville. With the
first and only mention of his mother coming from a charter of 1011, and his father’s
last known donation dating from 1015-1017, we have both a terminus a quo and
terminus ad quem for his birth.?® By 1035, therefore, John would have been a man
between eighteen and twenty-five years of age, and with his father dead, the major
local landowner (i.e. his estates on the Risle) closest to Préaux. His later donations to
the houses of Préaux illustrate his interest in these particular foundations, and the use
of his toponym in the donation of Saint-Benoit, which is not repeated in the signa
with which it could be associated, is an inconsistency that could point to its
association with the donation of Toutainville. Such evidence is slender, but his

presence at Fécamp certainly tallies with his later role as a trusted member of the

2 Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, A1[2].

% William of Jumiéges mentions the gathering of the prelates and barons of Normandy, which he
associates with the duke’s announcement concerning his intentions to go on pilgrimage, but he fails to
provide a location, GND, ii, p. 80. The meeting might have taken place at the Christmas court held at
Fécamp, or on 13 January 1035 when Robert’s desire to go to Jerusalem was included in a charter for
Montivilliers drawn up at Fécamp, RADN, no. 90. Dominique Rouet notes that the items the duke
received from Humphrey in return for the land of Toutainville, namely two hauberks and two horses of
great value, would have been ideal for a man about to embark on a voyage to the Holy Land,
Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, p. Ixxvii.

% Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, pp. Ixxviii- Ixxix.

2 D. Rouet, ‘Acte A6 dans Le cartulaire de I’abbaye bénédictine de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux (1034-
1227)’, pers. comm. (05.08.2005). For John’s donation of Saint-Benoit, see Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-
de-Préaux, A1[15].

% RADN, no. 13 (Albereda), no. 21 (Rodulf).
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ducal curia, whose duty it had become in 1035 to maintain order and protect the

young William during his father’s absence.

Little information survives about why John was chosen to fill the see of
Avranches. His family was typical of the new aristocracy whose power rose in close
association to the ducal line.”® Yet the lands that John had inherited from his father
were close to over ninety miles from Avranches, and it is doubtful that he had any
dealings with the city prior to his arrival there. Nothing suggests that he lived in the
region before becoming bishop. Scholars of the nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries posited that John was a disciple of Lanfranc during his stay in Avranches.*
Despite the two enjoying close relations in later life most modern scholars dismiss the
suggestion.** According to William of Poitiers, John did not take Holy Orders, but so
great was the admiration roused by the religious life he led that the bishops of
Normandy were anxious to have him as their colleague.®> Some have suggested,
however, that John was reluctant to accept a bishopric that was far away from the
decision-making centres, and which was eclipsed by Mont-Saint-Michel.** If he did
harbour such sentiments, and there is no evidence to suggest that he did, they were not
altogether misplaced. The influence of Mont-Saint-Michel over the region has been
demonstrated in the preceding chapters. Its power and quasi-independent nature was
one of the more serious problems facing Duke William in the years following his
minority as he attempted to exert greater control over Lower Normandy. Since the
late tenth century the monastery had been distinctly removed from Norman affairs,
and even with increased ducal intervention there in the early eleventh century—
donations, selection of abbots, etc.—the abbey continued to resist the centralising
authority of the duke, often looking towards Brittany and Rennes rather than

Normandy and Rouen for support.®* The first two Norman bishops of Avranches

2 For discussion see Douglas, William the Conqueror, pp. 89-90.

% [ ebréton, ‘L’école d’Avranches’, pp. 504, 506; Delamare, De officiis, p. ii.

%1 M. Dosdat, ‘Les évéques de la province de Rouen et la vie intellectuelle au Xle siécle’, in Les
évéques normands, pp. 223-252, at p. 236 n. 63. Dosdat is incorrect, however, in her assertion that
Charles Lebréton and René Delamare believed that a scholasticus named John, who appears in a
charter of Mont-Saint-Michel, which she dates to 1058, should be identified as John of Ivry. Neither
scholar makes this connection, while the charter actually comes from 1068, Cartulary of Mont-Saint-
Michel, no. 73.

¥ GG, i. 56, p. 91.

¥ GC, xi, col. 515; Dosdat, ‘Les évéques et la vie intellectuelle’, p. 237.

% Potts, Monastic revival, pp. 81-104; C. Potts, ‘Normandy or Brittany? A conflict of interests at Mont-
Saint-Michel, 966-1035°, ANS, 12 (1990), pp. 135-156; Bouet, ‘Le Mont-Saint-Michel’, pp. 165-200.
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seem to have been unable to impose themselves over the monastery, for as has been
noted, one abandoned his episcopal charge to become a monk there, and the other
unsuccessfully tried to do the same. While his predecessor appears to have been keen
to cement links between the monasteries of Upper Normandy and his diocese, even he
seems to have failed to control the abbey, for towards the end of his office it
attempted to assign the right of correction over an abbot to the duke, rather than the

bishop of Avranches.®

John dealt with this problem almost immediately upon arriving in the diocese. In
1061 he fashioned an agreement with the abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel that clearly
defined a relationship between bishop and abbey in which he was the dominant
partner.®® He made the abbot his archdeacon, granting him jurisdiction over non-
criminal cases, but reserving criminal cases and the degradation of the clergy for
himself. The definition and imposition of the archidiaconal post is itself significant,
for as we shall see below, John used the position regularly to help govern his diocese
and extend his own effective authority. Moreover, as in English cases, the imposition
of the archdeaconry on the abbot not only made him a useful ally, but also redefined
the abbey’s role in local and regional society, and emphasised cooperation between
cathedral and monastery.®” The arrangement also had some more tangible benefits.
The monastery was also to provide vestments and items for the bishop, including
three pounds of incense, the same of spice, six tablets of wax totalling nine pounds
and three candles for the Purification of the Virgin Mary. Such details seem to
suggest that the cathedral chapter was unable to produce such objects themselves, but
this may simply have been designed to reinforce the abbey’s new acquiescent
relationship to the cathedral. The agreement also stipulated that the abbot, two canons
and the priests must attend the episcopal synod twice a year, evidence that the diocese
was capable—or that John felt it should be—of holding such meetings regularly.
Moreover, on the fifth day of Pentecost the monks were to process to the cathedral

The monastery continued to exert an independent streak well into the twelfth century. For discussion
see A. Dufief, ‘La vie monastique au Mont Saint-Michel pendant le Xlle siécle (1085-1186)’, in
Millénaire monastique, i, pp. 81-101.

* This was interpolated into a charter of Richard 11, RADN, no. 49. For discussion, see Lemarignier,
Etude sur les priviléges d’exemption, Appendix VI, pp. 264-266.

% Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, Appendix I1, no. 5, pp. 195-196.

%" For examples of this in England, see J. Sayers, ‘Monastic archdeacons’, in Church and Government
in the Middle Ages: Essays Presented to C.R. Cheney, ed. C.N.L. Brooke, D.E. Luscombe, G.H. Martin
and D. Owen (Cambridge, 1976), pp. 177-203.
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carrying with them the head of St. Aubert. This ceremony not only sought to alleviate
tensions over the abbey’s possession of his relics, but also reminded the abbots of
Mont-Saint-Michel that their founder had been a bishop of Avranches. The bishop
also reserved the right to fill any canonries should they fall vacant. It is not known
whether the impetus for such an agreement lay with the duke or the bishop, but the
agreement is indicative of keen administrative skills, something which John would
display throughout his life. At least one scholar has argued that the agreement actually
gave more power to the abbot than the bishop,* but this seems unlikely, for both Odo
of Bayeux and William Bona Anima negotiated similar agreements with Saint-

Etienne de Caen and Bec, respectively.*

We can be certain, however, that John was not made bishop of Avranches simply
to solve what was essentially a local ecclesiastical problem. His appointment was
patently part of a much wider policy by which William attempted to consolidate his
power in Lower Normandy. This had begun ecclesiastically when, in 1049, William
gave the bishopric of Bayeux to his half-brother Odo, and that of Coutances to the
warlike Geoffrey of Montbray. Like Avranches, both dioceses had suffered during the
Northmen incursions, yet by the mid-1050s restructuring was being energetically
pursued as temporal possessions were regained, cathedrals constructed, and the
foundations laid for episcopal schools.* By the beginning of the 1060s, Duke
William had also begun to develop Caen as a centre of ducal power, and the founding
of the twin monasteries of Saint-Etienne and La Trinité, with Lanfranc as abbot of the
former, gave the town both political and ecclesiastical might. John’s appointment
therefore placed him at the head of one of a growing network of towns and cities
throughout Lower Normandy through which the duke was able to exert greater control
over the region. Having negotiated his settlement with Mont-Saint-Michel, John, like

the bishops of Bayeux and Coutances, began the restructuring of his diocese. He soon

%8 D. Spear, ‘The Norman episcopate under Henry I, king of England and duke of Normandy (1106-
1135)’, Thesis, PhD (University of California, Santa Barbara, 1982), p. 35. Sally Vaughn, in her study
of the abbey of Bec, also seems to suggest, although not quite as forcefully as Spear, that the agreement
did more to benefit the abbey than the bishop, Vaughn, The abbey of Bec, p. 38.

¥ GC, xi, Instr., cols. 17-18 (William) and Regesta, no. 52 (Odo). Critical editions of these charters can
be found below in Appendix G.

%0 J. Le Patourel, ‘Geoffrey of Mowbray, bishop of Coutances, 1049-1093°, EHR, 59 (1944), pp. 134-
143; D. Bates, ‘The character and career of Odo, bishop of Bayeux (1049/50-1097)°, Speculum, 50
(1975), pp. 1-20, at pp. 5-6. For further discussion, see the chapters on Odo and Geoffrey below, pp.
120-160 and 176-203.
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drew up a pancarte of the cathedral’s possessions,* a document that bears a striking
resemblance to the charter issued after 8 December 1056 to confirm the possessions
of the cathedral of Coutances.** He also contributed Saint-Philbert and Le Parc to the
network of episcopal castles and manors that crisscrossed the duchy, which
themselves helped manifest his power as much as that of the duke,*® while according
to his pancarte he secured diverse parcels of land along the banks of the Limon from
Baldwin, son of Gilbert count of Brionne, and a previously unidentified donation from
the duke of the tithes of the tonlieu of the Mayenne.** John’s experience as a member
of one of the most important frontier families of the duchy must surely have also
played a role in the duke’s decision to place him at the head of this frontier diocese,
which in turn helped to define the duchy’s western boundaries and bring added

coherence to the Norman political state.

John also contributed to cathedral holdings and made numerous donations from
his own honours on the Risle. The bishop presented half the land of Viévre to his
cathedral on condition that as long as he lived it should remain in his power.* This
condition was apparently observed, as John retired to Saint-Philbert (which was

within Viévre) two months before his death.”® The donation was not without its

1 Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, pp. 666-668. A critical edition of this charter can be found below
in Appendix G.

%2 e cartulaire du chapitre cathédral de Coutances. Etude et édition critique, ed. J. Fontanel (Saint-
L6, 2003), no. 340; J. Fontanel, ‘La réorganisation religieuse sous Guillaume le Conquérant: le cas de
I’église de Coutances’, Revue de ’Avranchin et du Pays de Granville, 77 (2000), pp. 189-208, at pp.
189-192.

* M. Casset, ‘Les stratégies d’implantation des chateaux et manoirs des évéques normands au Moyen
Age (Xle-XVe siécle)’, in Les lieux de pouvoir au Moyen Age en Normandie et sur ses marges, ed. A.-
M. Flambard-Hérichier (Caen, 2006), pp. 37-51, esp. pp. 48-50; M. Casset, Les évéques aux champs:
chateaux et manoirs des évéques normands au Moyen Age (Xle-XVe siécles) (Caen, 2008), pp. 335-
344, 451-462.

* Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 668. The Mayenne donation is previously unknown because
Pigeon printed the relevant section as follows: ‘Dedit etiam Guillelmus princeps decimam telonei et
meduanae et transitus et minagii prece loannis episcopi ecclesiae Abrincensis’. It should actually read
‘Dedit etiam Guillelmus princeps decimam telonei Meduanae et transitus...”. Pigeon’s mistake, which
was reprinted by Fauroux (RADN, p. 27 n. 37), is the result of interpreting a pen mark before the word
Meduanae as ‘et’, and not capitalising the word that follows it. Although Charles Guérin, the
seventeenth-century canon responsible for the only surviving manuscript copy of the pancarte, is often
an unreliable scribe, he is consistent in two respects. Firstly, he always abbreviates ‘et’ with an easily
distinguishable ‘&’, and secondly, he always distinguishes place and personal names from his
extremely untidy cursive hand by writing the names in a non-cursive script without capitalising the first
letter. Not only is the pen mark previously interpreted as ‘et’ not a clear ‘&’ (it looks more like the first
minim of an ‘m’ aborted halfway through), but the word Meduanae is also written in a non-cursive
script, BM (Avranches), fonds Pigeon, ms. 45, p. 453. A critical edition can be found in Appendix G.
See also, Allen, ‘Un évéque et sa ville’, pp. 3-5.

“*RADN, no. 229.

%6 < Acta archiepiscoporum’, p. 226.
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problems, however. The charter states that before the witnesses could put down their
signatures, John’s nephew, Robert de Beaufou, claimed that he had received the land

as his inheritance.*’

Robert’s claim was considered and only dropped once John had
offered a payment of ten livres and the service of five of his knights who, after his
death, would remain in Saint-Philbert, and hold their lands in fief (in fevio tenerent) of
the bishop of Avranches. The allusion to these knights is the first textual reference to
the five knights of the bishops of Avranches in the honour of Saint-Philbert, a servitia
debita that was still in existence when Henry 11 (1154-1189) conducted his famous
inquest of 1172.*® Part of the land of Viévre eventually end up with Robert who, at
the end of the eleventh century, or beginning of the twelfth, granted it to the abbey of

Bec.*

Furthermore, unable to pass on any patrimonial inheritance because of his
position as bishop, John was made to grant part of Viévre to a certain viscount called
Hugh, who would inherit the land after the bishop’s death. Véronique Gazeau has
identified this individual as none other than Robert de Beaufou’s brother-in-law,
Hugh de Montfort (d. 1088).° Despite these difficulties, his patrimonial donations
ensured his memory at the cathedral, for he was still honoured as the donor of Saint-

Philbert over a century-and-a-half later.*

The nature of John’s appearances in the diplomatic evidence also hints at a role
focused on advice and administration. In 1061, he joined William, Archbishop
Maurilius, Hugh, bishop of Lisieux, and various other dignitaries at Rouen in attesting

a charter that gave the mill at Vains to Mont-Saint-Michel,*?

and on a 22 September
between 1063 and 1066, he was once again with William, this time at the castle of

Domfront.>® Here he took part in a lawsuit in which the monks of Marmoutier and the

“"RADN, no. 229.

“8 Episcopus Abrincensis debet servicium v militum de Abrincensi, et de honore Sancti Philiberti v
milites’, ‘Scripta de feudis ad regem spectanibus et de militibus ad exercitum vocandis’, RHGF, xxiii,
col. 693; C. Haskins, Norman Institutions (Cambridge, MA, 1918), pp. 8, 18-19. The debate over the
establishment of knight service in England and Normandy is long and complex. The standard work is
J.H. Round, ‘The introduction of knight service into England’, EHR, 6 (1891), pp. 417-443, 625-645.
Recent revaluation of this study has been conducted by J. Gillingham, ‘The introduction of knight
service into England’, ANS, 4 (1982), pp. 53-64 and J. Holt, ‘The introduction of knight service into
England’, ANS, 6 (1984) pp. 89-106.

“'BN, ms. lat. 13905, fol. 83v.

*® Gazeau, ‘Le patrimoine d’Hugues de Bayeux’, pp. 144-145.

> “Ita que in anniversario felicis memorie lohannis quondam Abrincensi episcopi qui dedit manerium
sancti Philiberti ecclesie Abrincensi percipient xx solidos Turensis’, BM (Avranches) ms. 206, fol.
10v.

*2 RADN, no. 148.

% RADN, no. 159.
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monks of Saint-Pierre de la Couture disputed who rightfully owned a ‘borough’ near
the castle of Laval in Maine. Although we cannot state with any certainty what role
John may have played at this hearing, he was one of only two of the six Norman
suffragans present, the other being Odo of Bayeux. The dioceses of both bishops
bordered the county of Maine, although whether this necessitated their presence is
hard to say. At least one scholar believes they were present because ‘they could be
trusted to know local custom’,>* and we can certainly see John advising William on
matters in the county later in his career.® He was also involved in the affairs of the
other principality bordering his diocese, and along with Robert, count of Mortain, he
commanded and approved (imperante et concedente) the donation of the church of La
Bazoge™® to the abbey of Saint-Sauveur de Redon, in Brittany.>’ Sometime in 1066 he
was possibly at Bayeux, ‘in camera Guillelmi ducis’, to witness a donation to the
abbey of Beaumont-lés-Tours,”® while early in the same year he was summoned by
the duke, along with other laymen and ecclesiastics of the duchy, to discuss the
invasion of England.>® It was also in this year that he witnessed a charter granted in
Rouen by Robert Curthose.®

Although it appears John was not often in his diocese he remained an active
churchman. On 1 October 1063 he was present at the dedication of the newly
completed cathedral of Rouen;®* in 1064 he attended Archbishop Maurilius’ council
at Lisieux;®? on 18 June 1066 he was present at the dedication of Holy Trinity, Caen,®®
and one of his final public acts as bishop was attending the dedication of the abbey of

Jumiéges on 1 July 1067 with the king-duke William, Archbishop Maurilius and the

> R. Barton, Lordship in the county of Maine, c. 890-1160 (Woodbridge, 2004), p. 217. For further
discussion, see Tabuteau, Transfers of property, pp. 48 and n. 34, 149 n. 49, 199, 201, 215.

% ¢ Acta archiepiscoporum’, p. 225.

% |_a Bazoge, Manche, cant. Juvigny-le-Tertre.

¥ Cartulaire de I’abbaye de Redon en Bretagne, ed. A. de Courson (Paris, 1863), N0. CCCXXXVi.

% RADN, no. 227. John actually appears in the act as ‘loanne archiepiscopo’, but Marie Fauroux
speculated that the scribe, working after 1066, ‘peut-étre... changé son titre d’évéque en celui
d’archevéque’.

* 1t is Orderic who lists him as among those present, OV, ii, pp. 140-142. The monk of Saint-Evroult
was apparently working from William of Poitiers, but he does not mention John’s presence, GG, ii. 1,
p. 100.

% RADN, no. 228.

81 < Acta archiepiscoporum’, p. 224.

82 . Delisle, “‘Canons du concile tenu & Lisieux en 1064°, Journal de Savants (1901), pp. 516-521.
John is not named personally, although it is likely he was among the ‘ceteris suffraganeis episcopis’
present at the council.

3RADN, nos. 229, 231; Les actes de Guillaume le Conquérant et de la reine Mathilde pour les abbayes
caennaises, ed. L. Musset (Caen, 1967), no. 2; GC, xi, Instr., col. 59.



71

other suffragans of Normandy.®* The great anomaly of his episcopate is that, unlike
neighbouring bishops, he appears to have carried out no major building work on his
cathedral, despite his predecessors completing substantial parts of the edifice. Indeed,
building work was so slow that the cathedral was not consecrated until 17 September
1121,% although such a great length of time between foundation and consecration was

not unusual for the region.®

Of course, John’s most famous contribution as bishop was his liturgical treatise
De officiis ecclesiasticis, which he authored at an unknown date during his episcopate.
While some have seen this work as nothing more than an extension of John’s love for
the ostentation of his office,®’ according to the opening of the treatise he did hope that
it would first be used to reform the diocese of Rouen, and then for use on his own
church.®® Even the impact of the work, traditionally viewed as extremely limited,®
has recently been reassessed, and in a little acknowledged study a convincing
argument has been made for its influential place in the liturgical history of Normandy
and Europe.” The treatise itself was dedicated to Maurilius, the elderly archbishop of
Rouen.”™ As René Delamare showed, the model for the text was provided by the De
ecclesiasticis officiis and Eclogae de officio missae of Amalrius, one of the greatest
liturgists of the ninth century.”> Other sources included the Councils of Carthage,
Laodicea and Toledo, the decrees of many popes, and the writings of SS. Augustine
and Bede, Chrodegang and Isidore of Seville.”® With the consultation of such a large
number of works it would be tempting to suggest that John had perhaps established a

scriptorium, or at the very least a library, at his cathedral. But since there is no known

® GND, ii, p. 172; OV, ii, p. 198.

% GC, xi, col. 467.

% The abbey of Lessay, in the neighbouring diocese of Coutances, was founded in 1056 but not
consecrated until 1178, R. Herval, ‘L’ Abbaye de Lessay’, in La Normandie bénédictine au temps de
Guillaume le Conquérant (Xle siecle) (Lille, 1967), pp. 287-303, at p. 299.

67 Dosdat, ‘Les évéques et la vie intellectuelle’, p. 237.

% <Quod, si utile et ratum tua auctoritate censetur, postquam de metropolitan a sede distillare
viderimus, canonum statuta sequentes, nostrae propinare curabimus Ecclesiae’; Delamare, De officiis,
p. 4.

® Delamare, De officiis, p. xlvi; J. Jungmann, Missarum sollemnia eine genetishce Erklarung der
rémischen Messe, 2nd ed., 2 vols. (Vienna, 1949), i, p. 131.

™ For much of what follows see R.J. Zawilla, ‘The Sententia Ivonis Carnotensis episcopi de divinis
officiis, the ‘Norman School’, and liturgical scholarship: study and edition’, Mediaeval Studies, 49
(1987), pp. 124-151.

™ Delamare, De officiis, p. 3.

2 A comparison of the liturgies of John of Avranches and Amalarius can be found in Delamare, De
officiis, pp. xxxviii-xli.

" Delamare, De officiis, p. xliii.
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reference to a scholasticus for the chapter of Avranches between 1030 x 1040 and
1072," it is more likely that John used the library of Mont-Saint-Michel, which had

copies of many of the works in question.”

Nevertheless, while these texts were used extensively as templates, John’s treatise
contains original details of many local traditions, which makes the work an invaluable
guide to Norman practices as they were, or as he perceived they should be.” This in
itself often means the work is not completely in concordance with the concerns of
reform-minded Church leaders. John’s decision to include the celebration of the Feast
of the Trinity and All Souls Day, for example, was at that time not recognised by
Rome, and the celebration of many feasts with octaves, a practice that shocked
Roman liturgists, was accepted by John.”” The bishop also presaged Rome in his use
of hymns for feasts and fasts, a practice not condoned by the papacy until the
pontificate of Gregory VI1I (1073-1085), and in the use of the daily office of the dead,
which did not become an essential part of the office for many centuries.”® The work
also records details of many extinct practices: the kissing by the priest of the deacon
and sub-deacon after the confession; the kissing of the altar and Gospels during the
singing of the Kyrie; and the singing on feast days of the graduel or alleluia by the

cantors from the pulpit.”

Despite the obvious interest of the De officiis to modern scholars, the majority
have dismissed its overall importance and impact. Delamare believed that not only
was the treatise not detailed enough to be a really satisfactory textbook, requiring an
attempt by Archbishop Maurilius to improve upon it, but that all the evidence
suggests that John’s liturgy never became widely known in either Normandy or

Europe.*® He assumed that, given the scarcity of manuscripts of De officiis,® it was

" The last occupant of the post before John’s episcopate was Robert I, who later became scholasticus
at Le Mans, Spear, The personnel, p. 14.

™ For a catalogue of manuscripts at Mont-Saint-Michel, see Alexander, Norman illumination,
Appendix I, pp. 214-232.

"® Delamare, De officiis, p. 4.

" Delamare, De officiis, pp. 45, 47, 48.

"8 Delamare, De officiis, pp. 19, 20-21, 30-38, 47.

" Delamare, De officiis, pp. 9, 11, 14.

8 Extracts of Maurilius’ treatise, with commentary, can be found in Delamare, De officiis, pp. xlviii-
Ivii.

8 For discussion of the various manuscripts, lost and extant, of De officiis, see Delamare, De officiis,
PP XXXi-XXXViii.
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little known in the duchy and it had no impact outside its borders.> With Delamare
providing the only comprehensive analysis of the treatise, it is no surprise that many
scholars have followed his conclusions.?® However, an examination by Ronald
Zawilla of a text usually attributed to Ivo of Chartres (1090-1117), the Sententia
lvonis Carnotensis episcopi de divinis officiis,®* has shown that this liturgical
commentary is not an original work, but is in fact based on John’s De officiis and the
Liber de divinis officiis (LDO) of pseudo-Alcuin.®> Zawilla also identified an
anonymous epitome of the treatise, the Quia quatuor elementis, often attributed to
Odo of Soissons, which is to be found in nine manuscripts throughout Europe,
providing convincing evidence that De officiis was disseminated to a far greater extent
than originally thought.®® This, and the suggestion that it was perhaps John who,
using the criticisms he had received from Maurilius, revised his own work, has done a
great deal to improve both his and the treatise’s place within the history of liturgical

scholarship.®’

Whether his liturgical efforts commended him to his contemporaries is difficult to
ascertain.  Although he was the only Norman bishop of the eleventh century to
produce such a work, it apparently did little to influence Duke William’s choice for
archbishop when Rouen fell vacant in August 1067. The king-duke first asked
Lanfranc to fill the position, but he declined on the grounds of humility.®® The abbot
of Caen then recommended John as a worthy prelate, and with William consenting, he
was translated from his see to become the new archbishop.®® A translation of this sort
canonically required papal sanction. Lanfranc was promptly despatched to Rome to
gain the pontiff’s approval. He returned with a letter urging John to accept the

8 Delamare, De officiis, p. xlvi. It seems John gave a copy to the cathedral of Rouen, where he was
later archbishop, but unfortunately the manuscript is no longer extant. It is listed in a catalogue of the
cathedral library, which was drawn up during the early twelfth century during the episcopate of
Archbishop Geoffrey Brito (1111-1128) and inserted into the manuscript known as the Livre d’ivoire.
The manuscript is listed as ‘Brevarium lohannis archiepiscopi de communi servicio ecclesiae’, BM
(Rouen), ms. Y 27 Omont 1405, p. 128.

8 See, for example, Jungmann, Missarum sollemnia, i, p. 131; Dosdat, ‘Les évéques et la vie
intellectuelle’, p. 239.

8 Zawilla, ‘The Sententia Ivonis’, pp. 124-151.

& Migne, PL, ci, cols. 1173-1286.

8 Zawilla, “The Sententia Ivonis’, pp. 134-136.

8 Zawilla, “The Sententia Ivonis’, pp. 136-137.

8 0OV, ii, p. 200; *Vita Lanfranci’, p. 682. Lanfranc may have genuinely refused the appointment on
grounds of humility, but it is more likely an indication that William already intended him for
Canterbury, OV, ii, p. 200 n. 1; Cowdrey, Lanfranc: scholar, p. 38.

8oV, ii, p. 200.
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archiepiscopate,” and by December 1067 the bishop of Avranches had assumed his

new duties at Rouen.*

% OV, ii, p. 200; “Vita Lanfranci’, p. 682.
L E. Vacandard, ‘Un essai d’histoire des archevéques de Rouen au Xle siécle’, Revue catholique de
Normandie, 3 (1893), pp. 117-127, at p. 117 n. 1.
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Michael, c. 1068-1094

It is probable that Lanfranc also played a role in the nomination of Michael, who
became bishop of Avranches in around 1068.> An Italian by birth, he was one of a
number of churchmen from south of the Alps to make Normandy his home in the
eleventh century. Indeed, some of the most famous names in the duchy’s
ecclesiastical history were lItalian, including William of Volpiano, Lanfranc, John of
Ravenna, abbot of Fécamp, Suppo of Fruttuaria, abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel, and St.
Anselm. Unfortunately, despite a lengthy episcopate, we know very little of Michael.
Before ascending to the episcopal seat he was a chaplain of William I, although his
only known appearance in this capacity is in a diploma issued by William at
Winchester on 11 May 1068.2 While some have questioned the authenticity of this
document, and the complex dating clause suggests that the grant and charter were
made at different times, there seems little reason to doubt that Michael was present at
either one or both of these occasions.® As such, he is the first bishop of Avranches
who can be located outside northern France at any point during his life. His
appointment illustrates the duke’s desire to select men with adequate ecclesiastical
training for the episcopate,* rather than simply those with close relations to the ducal
line, while the choice of diocese suggests he must have had experience in Normandy,
and perhaps even with the city he was now to govern. Indeed, he may have been
attracted to the region—Iike his fellow Italians before him—by the abbey of Mont-
Saint-Michel and the intellectual centre it offered.” According to Orderic Vitalis he
was ‘a man of considerable learning and piety’ (eruditione litterarum imbutus) who
remained a model bishop throughout his pontificate. Interestingly, Orderic takes the
time to stress that his promotion to the seat was lawful, although the statement is
probably formulaic, rather than an indication that there had been some sort of a

problem with his investiture.®

! Bouet and Dosdat, ‘Les évéques normands’, p. 23.

2 Regesta, no. 181. For discussion of the ducal chaplaincy as a route to the episcopate, see L. Musset,
‘Une voie privilégiée d’acces a I’épiscopat dans le monde anglo-normand: la chapelle du duc-roi (v.
1050-v. 1150)’, in L’évéque dans [’histoire de I’Eglise: actes de la Septiéme Rencontre d'histoire
religieuse tenue a Fontevraud les 14 et 15 octobre 1983 (Angers, 1984), pp. 51-62.

® For discussion of this charter, see Regesta, no. 181, pp. 595-596.

* Bates, Normandy before 1066, p. 211.

> Desroches certainly makes such a connection, but without reference, Desroches, ‘Annales
religieuses’, 1, p. 421. For the ‘school’ of Avranches, see above pp. 55-56.

® 0V, ii, p. 200. Orderic does not, however, give any indication that Michael received a full canonical
election.
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Although Michael is almost absent from the narrative sources, he appears far more
frequently in the diplomatic record than both his predecessors and his successor.
Perhaps what is most striking about these occurrences is how few of them are
concerned with institutions within his diocese. Of the twenty-one acta in which he
appears seven concern foundations in Upper Normandy,’” eight those of Lower
Normandy,® of which only one is in his diocese,’ while six involve establishments
outside the duchy.™® Surprisingly, there are no charters for Mont-Saint-Michel, and of
the five acts in this abbey’s cartulary in which Michael’s name appears, only three
suggest the active involvement of the bishop in the donation.™* Of course, Michael
was not totally uninvolved with affairs in his diocese. In autumn 1082, he gave his
confirmation (confirmatione) to the foundation of the collegiate church of Saint-
Evroult de Mortain, and secured in return from Robert, count of Mortain (c. 1055-
1095), the protection of certain hunting and hawking tithes in the Forét de Lande-
Pourrie, as well as the right to take one stag there annually.*? While such tithes would
have brought important revenues to his cathedral and any bishop would have sought
to have them protected, their nature perhaps suggests that Michael was more like
many other Norman members of the episcopate, a number of whom enjoyed hunting,
and less like those of Italian origin, such as Lanfranc, with whom he is traditionally
compared.™ Indeed, as a former ducal chaplain, Michael would have been exposed
daily to the behaviour of his fellow chaplains, whose nicolaitan and nepotistic
practices led to the formation of ‘une sorte d’oligarchie cléricale’ within the Norman
Church.** In agreeing to the foundation, however, Michael looked also to
ecclesiastical matters, and secured the attendance at his diocesan synods of two
canons from the collegiate church, which suggests that his cathedral was now capable
of hosting such events, as well as the requirement that the chaplain of Saint-Evroult

take the chrism to Avranches.

" Regesta, nos. 30, 217, 230, 237, 261, 281 (I & I1), 284, 257.

® Regesta, nos. 49, 53, 54, 57,59 (1 & I1), 64 (1 & I1), 175 (1 & 1), 212.

° Regesta, no. 215.

10 Regesta, nos. 82, 199, 200, 201, 205 (I & I1), 252.

1 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, nos. 42 (name used as dating parameter), 50, 61 (name used as
dating parameter), 73, 90.

12 Regesta, no. 215. The Forét de Lande-Pourrie is to the east of Mortain.

13 Geoffrey of Montbray, bishop of Coutances, and Odo, bishop of Bayeux both reserved space outside
their cities for hunting. For discussion, F. Neveux, ‘Les évéques et les villes de Normandie’, in Les
évéques normands, pp. 205-220, at pp. 212-213.

Y L. Musset, ‘La formation d’un milieu social original: les chapelains normands du duc-roi au Xle et
au début du Xlle siécle’, in Aspects de la société et I’économie dans la Normandie médiévale, Xe-Xllle
siécles, Cahier des Annales de Normandie, 22 (1988), pp. 91-114, at p. 113.



Date Document Beneficiary Location S
1066 (?)" Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 73 Mont-Saint-Michel
1068 x 1076 Regesta, no. 212 Montivilliers X
1068 x 1077/78 or 1080 Regesta, no. 199 Marmoutier X
1068 x 1083 Regesta, no. 284 Troarn X
1070 or possibly 1068 x 1070 Regesta, no. 237 Saint-Amand
1070 x 1072 or 1070 x 1075 Regesta, no. 82 St. Augustine’s, Canterbury X
1071 x 1081 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 90 Mont-Saint-Michel
1071 Nouveau traité de diplomatique, i, pp. 375-376 Saint-Denis Rouen X
May 1074 Regesta, no. 261 Saint-Wandrille Rouen X
1077 x 1078 or 1080 x 1081 Regesta, no. 217 Préaux X
1078 x 1085 BN, ms. lat. 5201, fol. 60v Bec X
1079 x 1083 Regesta, no. 57 Saint-Etienne de Caen X
1080 Regesta, no. 257 Fécamp
2 June 1080 Regesta, no. 30 Bernay
14 July 1080 Regesta, no. 175 (1 & 1) Lessay Bonneville-sur-Touques X
27 December 1080 Regesta, no. 200 Marmoutier Cherbourg
27 December 1080 Regesta, no. 201 Marmoutier
1080 x 1082 Regesta, no. 281 (I & I1) Troarn X
1080/1 x 1083 Regesta, no. 53 Saint-Etienne de Caen
1081x 1082, but perh. 1081 x 1087 | Regesta, no. 49 Saint-Etienne de Caen X
1081 x 1087 Regesta, no. 54 Saint-Etienne de Caen X
1082 GC, xi, Instr., col. 107 Saint-Pierre-de-la-Couture Avranches
1082 Regesta, no. 215 Saint-Evroult of Mortain X
1082 Regesta, no. 59 (I & Il) La Trinité de Caen X
24 June 1082 Regesta, no. 205 (I & 1) Marmoutier Oissel X
April 1083 Regesta, no. 230 Rouen cathedral Fécamp
18 July 1083 Regesta, no. 64 (I & 1) La Trinité de Caen X
9 January 1084 Regesta, no. 252 Saint-Benoit-sur-Loire X
1085 x 1094 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 50 Mont-Saint-Michel
1086 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 42 Mont-Saint-Michel
20 July x 9 Sept. 1089 AD Calvados, 1 J 41, fol. 45r-v Saint-Etienne de Caen X
1090 Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, pp. 674-676 | Priory (Saint-James) de Sacey Sacey (in claustro)
1091 BN, ms. lat. 5201, fol. 57v Avranches cathedral Rouen
Jan. 1093 GC, xi, Instr., col. 223 Coutances cathedral (Coutances)

Fig. 17 Appearances of Michael, bishop of Avranches (c. 1068-1094), in the diplomatic record

" This charter is dated 1066, but the donation must have occurred after this date since it was made with Michael’s ‘council and encouragement’ (consilio et exhortatione),
Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 73. The bishop appears in two other charters that are dated outside his episcopate, RADN, no. 222 and Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel,
no. 61. The first is probably a later interpolation, the latter a scribal error.
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Michael was also involved in the foundation of three priories within his diocese.'
On 24 June 1082, he was present at Oissel when the church of Notre-Dame de
Mortain was given to the abbey of Marmoutier and subsequently turned into a
priory.’® Just under two years later, on 9 January 1084, the bishop gave his approval
‘legally and justly’ (iuste et legaliter consentit)*’ to the foundation of the priory of
Saint-Hilaire du Harcouét,® although it is unclear whether he was responsible for the
church’s dedication, as is sometimes stated.™® Finally, around a decade later, and
standing in the building’s cloister (in claustro s. Jacobi), Michael confirmed the
foundation of the priory of Saint-James de Sacey.?*® The bishop also looked to the
holdings and state of his cathedral. In 1091, he secured the land of Viévre (a donation

originally made by his predecessor) for his cathedral,?

paying William de Breteuil
100 livres in Rouen money for the donation,?? while it was with his ‘counsel and
encouragement’ (consilio et exhortatione) that William fitzWimund, a tenant of
Avranches cathedral, donated to Mont-Saint-Michel the whole tithes of all his
vavassors and himself at Le Luot sometime towards the beginning of Michael’s
episcopate.”® It was also during his pontificate that the cathedral chapter began to
have its first dignitaries. Although it has been noted above that personnel may have
existed at the cathedral since the early eleventh century, there is unfortunately no
record of their identity. The chapter was apparently starved of personnel even under
Bishop John, since in 1061 he made the abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel his archdeacon,
an act that sought to limit the monastery’s influence as much as solve an

administrative shortfall.?* Under Michael there were two archdeacons (Peter and

Gislebert), a scholasticus (John), a prepositus (Osbern),? and five canons (Bernard,

> For a brief history of these priories, see Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, i, pp. 142-144.

1 Regesta, no. 205. Mortain, Manche, cant. Mortain. For discussion, see Desroches, ‘Annales
religieuses’, iii, pp. 342-343, at p. 342.

17 Regesta, no. 252.

'8 Saint-Hilaire du Harcougét, Manche, chef-lieu.

9 The statement that Michael dedicated the church is that of Desroches (‘Annales religieuses’, iii, p.
349). He seems to have been working from the document that is now Regesta, no. 252, but this text
makes no mention of the dedication. Of course, it is not impossible that Desroches had access to other
documents concerning the prior that have since been lost.

2 pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, pp. 674-676, at p. 675. Sacey, Manche, cant. Pontorson.

21 For discussion of this donation by Bishop John of Ivry, see above pp. 68-69.

22 pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, pp. 661. A critical edition can be found in Appendix G.

% The act is dated 1066, but this must be a scribal error, considering Michael’s explicit involvement in
the donation, Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 73.

 For discussion of this agreement, see above pp. 66-67.

% This member of the bishop’s household was unknown to David Spear. He witnessed an agreement
made between Michael and Anselm, abbot of Bec, in 1078 x 1093, BN, ms. lat. 5201, fol. 60v. A
critical edition can be found in Appendix G.
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Ernesy of Verdun, Garner, Gauslin and Serlo). The bishop obviously did not struggle
to find men who were of a high quality and highly capable, for one of them (the canon

® Moreover, when the

Serlo) would later become abbot of St. Peter’s, Gloucester.”
archdeacon Gislebert confirmed the donation of the church of Vezins?’ to Saint-
Pierre-de-la-Couture in 1082, he gave his consent (assensu) to the act independently
of the bishop, which is the first evidence of a bishop of Avranches working closely

with one of his archdeacons.?®

Though if Michael was involved in the affairs of his diocese, he was equally
concerned with matters on a wider level. In 1071, he was among three Norman
bishops to witness a concordia between the abbot of Saint-Denis and John of Ivry,
archbishop of Rouen, which stated that the archbishop would hand over to the
monastery several churches in the Vexin.*® He was also frequently involved with
institutions in the archdiocese of Tours, witnessing four royal charters that concerned
the abbey of Marmoutier,* and giving his approval to the donation to Saint-Pierre-de-
la-Couture of the church of Vezins, noted above. Moreover, each of the three priories
that the bishop helped establish in his diocese belonged to an institution in the
archdiocese of Tours, with those of Saint-Marie du Rocher and Saint-James de Sacey
being dependants of Marmoutier, and that of Saint-Hilaire du Harcouét being a
dependant of Saint-Benoit-sur-Loire.®* Of course, there is little unusual in enriching
institutions in a neighbouring principality, and the dukes of Normandy had been
making donations to the abbey of Marmoutier since the early eleventh century.*
However, the frequency with which such acts were occurring by the second half of
the eleventh century illustrates the important role that Michael played in extending

%8 Spear, The personnel, pp. 6-28.

2" \/ezins, Manche, cant. Isigny-le-Buat.

% ‘Hanc etiam donationem a supradictis militibus sanctam [leg. factam] Michaél episcopus
Abrincensis, de assensu Gisleberti archidiaconi sui Abrincis in ecclesia beati Andreae anno ab
incarnatione mlxxxii approbavit, et auctoritate sua confirmavit’, GC, xi, Instr., col. 107. This statement
also suggests that Gislebert was responsible for what would later be the archdeaconry of Mortain.

% Nouveau traité de diplomatique, ed. C.-F. Toustain et al., 6 vols. (Paris, 1750-1765), pp. 375-376.
The other bishops were Hugh d’Eu, bishop of Lisieux, and Gilbert, son of Osbern, bishop of Evreux. A
critical edition of the act can be found in Appendix G.

% Regesta, nos. 199, 200, 201, 205 (I & I1).

3 Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, i, pp. 142-144,

% The first donation was made in 1013 x 1020 by Richard II, and conceded to the abbey certain
domains in the Cotentin, RADN, no. 23. William Il enjoyed a close relationship with Marmoutier,
which provided monks for his new abbey at Battle, as did his half-brother, Robert de Mortain, whose
own wife was buried with the assistance of a Marmoutier monk. For these, and further examples of
Norman interaction with the abbey, see Gazeau, Normannia monastica, i, pp. 221-222.
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Norman influence, while also further integrating the principality within the European

ecclesiastical network.

Michael was also involved in affairs of wider significance to the duchy. Indeed, he
appears to have even helped govern it alongside the duchess Mathilda during the
duke’s absence. He was present at Bayeux, for example, when an agreement was
made before the queen between the abbey of Mont-Saint-Michel and William Paynel,
and is the first person recorded as witness to the agreement.®* He was also with
Mathilda and Gilbert Maminot, bishop of Lisieux, at the royal residence in Cherbourg
on 27 December 1080, where he helped force Robert Bertran to recognise the customs
held by the abbey of Marmoutier at Héauville.** Interestingly, this is not the only
occasion when the bishops of Avranches and Lisieux are the only representatives of
the suffragan episcopate at an event. They also appear together in 1082 at the
foundation of the priory of Saint-Marie du Rocher, and again on 9 January 1084 at
that of the priory of Saint-Hilaire du Harcouét.®® The two men would have
undoubtedly known each other well, since both were former ducal chaplains, while
Michael had consecrated Gilbert as bishop of Lisieux sometime between 25 July and
22 October 1077.%® There is further evidence that Michael’s former role as ducal
chaplain perhaps kept him close to the royal court. In the early autumn of 1073, he
was called upon by the duke to help reconcile the same archbishop of Rouen with the
abbey of Saint-Ouen, the two having quarrelled and become involved in a tumult
during the feast day celebrations of St. Ouen (24 August).®” Perhaps the duke called
on Michael because he was a skilled negotiator who was adept at resolving conflicts
between disputing ecclesiastical factions. Perhaps it was because he was John’s
successor at Avranches, and knew the tempestuous archbishop better than anyone
else. Or perhaps it was because Michael was already in Rouen, and was helping to

administer matters for the duke, who, the account of the tumult informs us, was in Le

% Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 90.

% Regesta, no. 200. The duke is known to have been at Gloucester for the Christmas of 1080. Michael
and Gilbert, along with Geoffrey of Montbray, confirmed a second act concerning Marmoutier during
their stay at Cherbourg, Regesta, no. 201.

% Desroches, ‘Annales religieuses’, iii, pp. 342 and 349; Regesta, no. 252.

% 0V, iii, p. 20. Michael performed the service because John, archbishop of Rouen, had been
incapacitated by a stroke. Julien Nicole claimed that Michael also consecrated Robert, bishop of Sées,
in the presence of the archbishop (Nicole, ‘Histoire des évéques d’Avranches’, p. 54), but this seems
unlikely, since Robert became bishop seven years before John’s stroke. It is not impossible, however,
that John delegated the duty to Michael for other reasons.

%7 < Acta archiepiscoporum’, pp. 224-226.
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Mans.® Indeed, had Michael been in his diocese, it seems unlikely that the duke
would have summoned him all the way to Rouen to mediate what was essentially a
local ecclesiastical problem. Unhappily, no evidence corroborates his presence in the
capital, but it is intriguing to note that when he does surface in the historical record
during this period he is invariably at Rouen,* while he was also no stranger to events
attended by the duke.*

The final years of Michael’s episcopate were dominated by the transition of power
in Normandy between William 11 and his son Robert Curthose. Following the failed
rebellion of Odo, bishop of Bayeux and Robert, count of Mortain, in England in
March 1088, the duke, in a desperate bid to raise funds, granted the Cotentin and the
Avranchin, including the city of Avranches and the monastery of Mont-Saint-Michel,
to his brother Henry, in return for three thousand pounds.** Although the rationale
behind the move has recently been reassessed,*? it had dramatic consequences for the
region, which was essentially severed from the rest of the duchy. While Michael was
apparently acquiescent to the terms of the agreement, which gave Henry ducal control
over his bishopric, it clearly affected his relationship with Curthose.* In the years
following the bargain, the duke rarely concerned himself with western Normandy,**
and, as a result, the bishop disappears almost entirely from the ducal diplomatic

record.* The relationship between the bishop of Avranches and his new master is also

% < Acta archiepiscoporum’, p. 225. For discussion, see below p. 355 n. 76.

¥ Michael was present at the councils of Rouen in 1072 (OV, ii, p. 286) and 1074 (Mansi, xx, col. 397-
399, at col. 399), while in May 1074 he witnessed at Rouen a charter in favour of Saint-Wandrille
(Regesta, no. 261).

0 Michael participated in the Council of Lillebonne in 1080 (OV, iii, p. 24), and assisted in the
dedications of the cathedrals of Evreux and Bayeux (OV, iii, p. 12). He was not, however, present at the
dedication of the abbey of Bec as Orderic Vitalis contends (OV, iii, pp. 10-12), since he is not named
among the list of attendees preserved by the monks of Bec, Chronique du Bec et chronique de Francois
Carré, ed. A.-A. Porée (Rouen, 1883), p. 3. Julien Nicole claimed Michael officiated at the funeral of
Rannulf, abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel (1057/8-1083/5), although he cites no source to support his
claim, Nicole, ‘Histoire des évéques d’Avranches’, p. 54.

*! The details of this agreement, which are recorded by De statu (col. 221) and Orderic (OV, iv, pp.
118-120), are confirmed by diplomatic evidence. It has been followed by all modern authorities, C.
David, Robert Curthose, duke of Normandy (Cambridge, MA, 1920), pp. 48-49; F. Barlow, William
Rufus (London, 1983), pp. 69-70; C. Warren Hollister, Henry | (London, 2001), pp. 49-61; W. Aird,
Robert Curthose, duke of Normandy, c. 1050-1134 (Woodbridge, 2008), pp. 106-108.

*2 Aird, Robert Curthose, p. 107.

3 De statu’, col. 221.

* Barlow, William Rufus, pp. 268-273. For a rare exception, see J.-M. Bouvris, ‘Un bref inédit de
Robert Courte-Heuse, duc de Normandie, relative a I’abbaye de Montebourg au diocése de Coutances’,
in Actes du 105e congres national des sociétés savantes, 2 vols. (Paris, 1984), ii, pp. 125-150.

** Following the agreement, Michael appears only once more alongside the duke in 20 July x 9 Sept.
1089, AD Calvados, 1 J 41, fol. 45r-v.
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hard to determine. His agreement to the transferral might suggest that he was close to
Henry, and one scholar has even suggested that the bishop was a ‘trusted supporter’ of
the young count.*® On the other hand, it is possible the decision was made for more
pragmatic reasons. The neighbouring bishop of Coutances suffered attacks from local
magnates for his refusal to recognize Henry as his overlord, which he resisted
successfully.*’ It is unlikely that Michael, famed as a man of learning rather than of
war, would have been able to act similarly. Whatever the reasons behind his decision,
the bishop had chosen to be governed by a man whose power over him was enough to
alienate him from the ducal court, but apparently not enough to act as its

replacement.*®

The awkward situation in which Michael now found himself is perhaps no better
illustrated than by a judgment he secured in 1091, which concerned a possession of
his cathedral. The land in question was that of the forest of Viévre, which had been
given to the cathedral of Avranches by Duke William in 1066.*° An extremely
valuable possession that lay well outside the bishop’s sphere of influence, the
cathedral’s ownership of Vievre had been challenged by William de Breteuil, the
nephew of Michael’s predecessor, John of Ivry, who had first granted the land to
Duke William.>® Rather than gain confirmation from Curthose of a grant made by his
father, as other institutions in this period chose to do,>* Michael secured possession of
Vievre not in the ducal court, nor in that of his overlord Henry, but in the court of the

archbishop of Rouen.®® That the case was heard in the Norman capital at the same

“® Hollister, Henry 1, p. 61.

4" De statw’, col. 221.

*® Henry’s authority as comte of the Cotentin is discussed in Hollister, Henry 1, pp. 53-61; E. van
Torhoudt, ‘Henri Beauclerc, comte du Cotentin reconsidéré (1088-1101)’, in Tinchebray, 1106-2006,
ed. V. Gazeau and J. Green (Flers, 2009), pp. 101-121.

“*RADN, no. 229.

% william de Breteuil, who was one of Curthose’s closest supporters, was given the castle of Ivry,
which was the seat of power of Rodulf, count of lvry, who was Bishop John’s father, by the duke, OV,
iv, p. 114.

*! Robert Curthose confirmed the donation made by his father of the manor of Vains to Saint-Etienne
de Caen (‘Ego Rotbertus dux Normannorum et princepts Cenomannorum, concedo... donum de
manerio de Vedun quod idem pater meus in infirmitate qua defunctus est eidem ecclesie fecit’, AD
Calvados, 1 J 41, fol. 46r), and that of the church of Emendreville (now Saint-Sever) to the abbey of
Bec: ‘... ego Rodbertus gratia Dei princeps Normannorum... concessi monasterio Beccensi...
gcclesiam quam pater meus et mater mea in honorem eiusdem gloriosg virginis, iuxta Ermentrudis villa
propre urbem Rotomagi Sequana intercurrente coeperunt aedificare...’, AD Seine-Maritime, 20 HP 5.
The first act is dated 1087 x 1091, the second Feb. 1092.

52 <. in camera Willelmi archiepiscopi placitum’, BN, ms. lat. 5201, fol. 57v. For a critical edition, see
Appendix G and Allen, ‘Un évéque et sa ville’, pp 44-47.
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time as the council convened in 1091 to elect a new bishop of Sées,*® an event at
which Curthose was present,> contributes even more strongly to the sense that
Michael had turned to the archbishop as the only authority left open to him. These
circumstances arose directly as a result of the decision made by the duke three years
earlier, which had not only ceded control of around a third of his duchy to his brother,
but had robbed him of the cooperation of an important member of his father’s

entourage.™

Whether Michael regretted his decision to support the transferral of power to
Henry is impossible to know. Perhaps, after twenty years of service in the ducal court
he sought a quieter life. There is evidence, however, that suggests Michael’s decision
had alienated him from both the duke and Henry. Indeed, both his last known acts
took place during years when Henry was away from the region: one in 1090, when he
was occupied with the rebellion of Conan in Rouen, and the other in 1091, after the
count’s expulsion from the region, and his impoverished wanderings in the Vexin
francais.”® Michael also associated with men who had defied Henry, and his last
known public appearance was at the funeral of Geoffrey de Montbray in February
1093. The bishop of Avranches, along with the bishops of Bayeux and Durham, as
well as a number of abbots, had come to comfort the bishop of Coutances on his
deathbed. There, and once again at the funeral, they confirmed the rights of the
church of Coutances, which Geoffrey had drawn up in a charter, and, along with all
the people and clerks present, they publicly confirmed the anathema ‘Amen’.>” The
bishop of Avranches died himself less than a year later on 26 January 1094.°® He was

%3 Among the witnesses to Michael’s act are the archbishop of Rouen, Gilbert, bishop of Evreux, Fulk,
abbot of Saint-Pierre-sur-Dives and Gerald, abbot of Saint-Wandrille (Allen, ‘Un évéque et sa ville’, p.
46), all of whom witnessed a charter (BN, ms. lat. 12884, fols. 68v-69v; BN, ms. lat. 13905, fol. 52r;
for a critical edition, see Appendix G) traditionally associated with the council held shortly after 1 June
1091, Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, ‘Errata and addenda to Volume 1°, no. 317b.

0V, iv, p. 252.

% The withdrawal of Michael from life at court is perhaps most neatly illustrated by a charter issued in
favour of the abbey of Jumieges, which was confirmed by Robert Curthose at Lisieux in the presence
of five members of the episcopate, but not the bishop of Avranches, Haskins, Norman Institutions,
Appendix E, no. 7. The act is dated 1091 x 1095. The absence of Geoffrey de Montbray might suggest
that the donation was confirmed towards 1092 or early 1093, when the bishop of Coutances had retired
to his diocese due to illness.

*® For Henry after his expulsion from Mont-Saint-Michel, see OV, iv, p. 252.

> De statu’, col. 224. For a full discussion of the pronouncement of anathemas during donations, see
Tabuteau, Transfers of property, pp. 206-207. A critical edition of this act can be found in Appendix
G.

% The day and month is given by the Mont-Saint-Michel obituary (RHGF, xxiii, p. 576), and the year
by GC, xi, col. 477.
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buried in the cathedral under the north tower of the western facade alongside his

predecessor Maugis.>®

% Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 679. Robert Cénalis provided the following additional details:
‘Sepultus Michael quiescit in ecclesia Abrincensis eregione eiusdem altaris occidentem versus’, BN,
ms. lat. 5201, fol. 57v.
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Turgis, 1094-1134

Turgis’ origins are as obscure as those of many of his predecessors. His name,
which derives from the Scandinavian porgisl, was extremely common in Normandy
during the Middle Ages, and endured in the region until the fifteenth century.®
Although it can be found occurring throughout the duchy, it appears most frequently
in the region of Caen and the Cotentin, and persists to the present day in a number of
Norman place names in this area.” An anonymous contributor to the Revue de
[’Avranchin speculated that Turgis was from the Avranchin, and that he was perhaps a
relative of the counts of Avranches, and of those of Saint-Hilaire du Harcouét, but
there is no evidence to justify this.> Whether the bishop had any previous
ecclesiastical experience before ascending to the see is also unclear. H.W.C. Davis
identified a Turgis capellanus who appears in a royal charter issued by William Rufus
at Dover on 27 January 1091 as the future bishop of Avranches,* while Charles
Homer Haskins dated a charter issued by Ivo Taillebois to 1094, because he believed
that the Turgis capellanus regis who witnessed this act was the same man.® Although
the prevalence of the name noted above means such conclusions are slender, the fact
that Turgis was both preceded and succeeded in his see by royal chaplains certainly
tempts such a connection. Elsewhere, Orderic Vitalis mentions a Turgis who was
chanter of Lisieux in 1077, but it seems unlikely that this is our bishop.® Although the
Norman church suffered during the reign of Robert Curthose, the standard of the
episcopate remained high, and such a transgression would have undoubtedly hindered
Turgis from holding such an exalted position. Moreover, it is probable that Turgis the
chanter was dead by 1113, since his name is found in the mortuary roll of Mathilda,
abbess of La Trinité de Caen.’

The first decade of Turgis’ episcopate was dominated by the troubles of the reign

of Robert Curthose. His predecessor’s acquiescence to Henry’s requisition of the

! Adigard des Gautries, Noms de personnes Scandinaves, pp. 159-160, 321-322.

2 For further examples, see Noms de personnes Scandinaves, pp. 159-160 and n. 66-67, 69.

3 L.C., ‘Turgis, évéque d’Avranches (1094-1134)’, Revue de I’Avranchin et du pays de Granville, 49
(1972), pp. 71-73, at p. 71.

* Cf. Regesta (Davis), i, no. 315. For the identification, see the ‘Index of Persons’, p. 152.

® Haskins, Norman institutions, p. 74 n. 29. For the charter text, see Cartulaire de I'abbaye cardinale
de la Trinité de Vendéme, ed. C. Métais, 5 vols. (Paris, 1893-1904), ii, no. cccli.

® OV, iii, p. 20. Cf. Spear, The personnel, p. 181.

" Rouleaux des morts du IXe au XVe siécle, ed. L. Delisle (Paris, 1866), p. 205. Cf. Spear, The
personnel, p. 181.
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Avranchin had effectively severed the bishopric from the rest of the duchy.®
Elsewhere, the disruption to ecclesiastical affairs throughout Normandy was
profound, and contemporary narratives speak of private war, pillage, rapine and the
wanton destruction of ecclesiastical property.® The dreary picture painted here is
verified by the diplomatic record. Duke Robert issued no ducal charter for the
cathedral of Avranches throughout his entire reign (his name appears alongside that of
the bishop in only one transaction),™ and even under the more organised governorship
of William Rufus, the cathedral and bishop (with one exception) are conspicuous by
their absence from the corpus of extant royal charters.™* Frank Barlow includes Turgis
among a group of ‘courtiers” who accompanied Rufus back to England in 1097 after
his successful acquisition of Normandy the year before, yet any such intimacy was
apparently short lived, since the bishop is never again found in the presence of the
king.® While Turgis appears in three charters broadly dated during the opening years
of his episcopate, there is no surviving document dated to a single year until after
Henry’s victory at Tinchebray.’® Of course, the situation under Henry | improved
considerably, and while Turgis seems not to have been an intimate of the king, only
venturing out of the Avranchin when required, he was a prelate actively involved in
the religious life of both his diocese, and Europe as a whole. He is certainly

. . . 14
undeserving of his reputation as ‘obscure’.

The other great event that coincided with Turgis’ investiture was, of course, the
beginning of the First Crusade. Three Norman bishops joined Urban 11 (1088-1099)
at Clermont in November 1095, while those who could not attend (including Turgis)
sent envoys (legati) with letters of excuse.™ Whether these envoys were supplied by

the duke, or came from amongst cathedral personnel, is unknown, but given the

& See above, pp. 82-84.

® The fullest account is that of Orderic Vitalis, OV, iv, p. 112, 146-148, 226-228; iv, p. 26, 300-302; vi,
pp. 32-36.

% For a list of charters issued by Robert between 1087 and 1104, see Haskins, Norman Institutions, pp.
66-70. For the sole document that mentions both the duke (his name simply appears as a dating clause)
and Turgis, see Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. A122.

1 For a list of charters issued by William Rufus in Normandy, see Haskins, Norman Institutions, pp.
80-81. The exception is Musset, Abbayes caennaises, no. 24.

12 Barlow, William Rufus, p. 372.

13 Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 792. For the text, see Haskins, Norman Institutions, Appendix
F, no. 1, p. 293.

Y D. Spear, ‘Geoffrey Brito, archbishop of Rouen (1111-1128)’, HSJ, 2 (1990), pp. 123-137, at p.
133.

Bov,v,p. 18.



Date Document Beneficiary Location T M
1094 x 1133 BN, ms. lat. 5441 (ii), pp. 161-162 Marmoutier X X
1094 x 1113 BM (Avranches) ms. 206, fol. 8v-9 and 33v-34v Avranches cathedral X
Jan. 1094 x Sept. 1106 Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. A122 Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux X
Apr. x Nov. 1097 Musset, Abbayes caennaises, no. 24 Saint-Etienne, Caen
1106 (aft. 28 Sept.) x 1107 Haskins, Norman Institutions, Appendix F, no. 1 Bec Rouen X
June? 1107 Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. Xxxviii Bayeux cathedral Cirencester X
1110 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, Appendix Il, no. 7 | Mont-Saint-Michel Avranches X X
1112 Moolenbroek, Vital ’ermite, no. 10 Savigny X
25 Jan. 1113 Moolenbroek, Vital I’ermite, no. 2 Savigny Savigny X
2 Mar. 1113 Moolenbroek, Vital I’ermite, no. 3 Savigny Avranches X
2 Mar. 1113 Moolenbroek, Vital [’ermite, no. 11 Savigny X X
1113 x 1134 Arch. nat., L 978, no. 1342" Savigny X
€. 1113 x 1134 Regesta, no. 215 Saint-Evroult de Mortain X
1118 Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 1183 Savigny Arganchy X
1120 x 1134 Arch. nat., L 978, no. 1352a Savigny
1120 GC, xi, Instr., col. 112 Marmoutier X
21 Nov. 1120 Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 1233 Cerisy-la-Forét Barfleur X
1121 x 1125 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 16 Mont-Saint-Michel Argentan X
Oct.? 1125 Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 1427 Reading abbey Rouen?
Sept.? 1127 Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 1547 Bec Rouen X
1128 Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 1553 Saint-Evroult Rouen X
1128 x 1129 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 76 Mont-Saint-Michel Mont-Saint-Michel X
1129? Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 1588 Savigny
1129 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 72 Mont-Saint-Michel X X
1129 x 1131 Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 1702 Saint-Etienne, Caen
1131 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 98 Mont-Saint-Michel X

Fig. 18 Appearances of Turgis, bishop of Avranches (1094-1134), in the diplomatic record”

“ This charter also appeared in the cartulary of Savigny, which was destroyed in 1944 (AD Manche, H non coté, fol. 52v). Fortunately, this page was one of ten

photographed for Victor Hunger, and can be found today in AD Calvados, F 5690, no. 159.

“ A collection by Dom Le Michel concerning the abbey of Marmoutier also contains a description of a lost charter of Stephen, count of Mortain, concerning the
church of Romagny, which is dated 1128: ‘At anno 1128 in curia suae [Stephanus comes Moritoni] ubi ipse persedebat et cum eo Turgisus Abrincensis episcopus,
Henricus Fulgerarius dominus et de baronibus comitis Ranulfus Avenello, Adam de Malaherba, Richardus de Toschet, Arnulfus vicecomes, Robertus de s. Georgio,
Wilelmus de Heuton, Eudo de Bailloio, Gervasius de Chanceo et Stephanus vicecomes ecclesiam de Romamiaco quam olim Hamelinus de Isinniaco et heredes eius
s. Mariae de Moritonio concesserant ab aliquibus repetitam monachis eiusdem loci publico iudicio ascripsit praesentationem presbyteri quo in iudicio praesentes
fuisse simul cum illis quos dyo...nus Odo abbas Maiorismon(asterii), Frotmundus abbas s. Faronis, Guilelmus prior Moretonii, Gaufredus abbas Saviniaci iam tunc

erat ord. Cistercensis, etc. >, BN, ms. lat. 12875, fol. 359r.

L8
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growth of the cathedral chapter under Turgis’ predecessor, it is entirely possible that it
was a representative of Avranches cathedral who was sent to represent his bishop at
the council. Regardless, those bishops who did attend returned with synodal letters
for their fellow bishops, and in the following year, William Bona Anima, archbishop
of Rouen, convened a council where the canons of Clermont were promulgated,
which Turgis attended.’® The council also issued its own canons, the details of which

are discussed below.’

Turgis’ reaction to the decrees of Clermont is unknown. At
least one modern authority has declared that he preached their message with
eloquence and force to the men of his diocese, and, as a result, many enthusiastically
took the cross and left for the Holy Land.'® There is, unfortunately, no evidence to

justify such assertions.*

Turgis’ activities after the council of Rouen are ill-recorded. Sometime before
September 1106, a certain Arnulf Pinel donated the land which he held at Malmuncel
to the abbey of Saint-Pierre de Préaux. The donation was given with Turgis’ assent
(annuente domino suo Turgiso episcopo Abrincensi), for which he received 10 livres
from Arnulf.?*® Henry 11 later confirmed the donation.?! The location of Malmuncel is
unclear. Dominique Rouet argued it could be Le Moussel, which is situated to the
northeast of Lieurey, in the region of Viévre.?? John of Ivry, Turgis’ predecessor, had
made a number of donations from his inheritance in this region. Sometime c. 1040 x
1060 he sold the land of Saint-Benoit within the forest of Viévre to Saint-Pierre de
Préaux for fifteen livres,”® and at an unknown date before 1060 he donated the church

of Saint-Georges-du-Viévre to the abbey of Bec.?* He also presented half the forest

* oV, v, pp. 18-24.

17 See pp. 382-383.

B 1L.C., ‘Turgis, évéque d’Avranches’, p. 71.

Y1t is clear simply from a glance at the names of local lords given by the anonymous contributor to the
Revue de I’Avranchin (L.C., ‘Turgis, évéque d’Avranches’, p. 71) that the list is an heraldic fiction.
Although a source is not given, it appears the names have simply been taken from the list of crusaders
found in a work similar to that of Paul Roger, who cites an unidentified manuscript of the Bibliothéque
nationale as his source, P. Roger, La noblesse de France aux croisades (Paris, 1845), pp. 165-192, at
pp. 167 (Ralph and William d’Argouges), 168 (Fraslin Avenel), 173 (Alan de Clinchamp), 179
(Thomas de la Luzerne), 182 (William and Frasnil de Malemains), 186 (the lord of Ponts), 188 (John
de Saint-Germain) and 191 (Roland de Verdun).

20 Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. A122.

2 Recueil des actes de Henri II, roi d’Angleterre et duc de Normandie, ed. L. Delisle and E. Berger, 4
vols. (Paris, 1916-1927), ii, no. dclxxv, p. 181; Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. B72.

22 Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. A122, p. 115. Le Moussel, Eure, cant. Saint-Georges-du-
Viévre.

2 Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, A1[15].

% Regesta, no. 166.
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of Viévre to his cathedral on condition that as long as he lived it should remain in his
power.”> His other great holding in this region was the honour of Saint-Philbert,
which, it has been noted above, had owed a servitia debita of five knights since
1066.%°

Arnulf Pinel was the son of Rodulf Pinel. Rodulf appears in Little Domesday
holding lands in the hundred of Tendring (Essex), and giving service for this land to
Geoffrey de Mandeville (d. c. 1100).%” He is also often found among the more fanciful
lists of the ‘Conqueror’s Companions’,?® but has since been removed.”® Arnulf was
present in 1066 when the servitia debita of the five knights of Saint-Philbert was
created, and was one of four men (including his brother Rodulf) to confirm the act.*
Afterwards he seems to have become a man of John, bishop of Avranches, and was
still associated with him when he became archbishop of Rouen, since he witnessed an
important act on his behalf in Rouen cathedral in late 1075 or early 1076.3* The
continued association of these men with John, as well as their later involvement in
affairs concerning the land at Saint-Philbert, suggests that Arnulf was perhaps one of
the knights of Saint-Philbert.** Indeed, his donation to Préaux was made before
retirement into the monastery, an act typical of a knight who had chosen to end his
days in the cloister.®®* Moreover, his cognomen is the Anglo-Norman for ‘shaft’,
which is perhaps a reference to the lance,® while the description of Turgis as Arnulf’s

‘lord” suggests a relationship based upon fealty, and echoes the stipulation of the

 RADN, no. 229.

% See above, pp. 68-69.

7 DB, fol. 97v. Ralph also held lands in Suffolk (fol. 424r).

% See, for example, the Dives list compiled in 1866 by a committee of French scholars, in C.L.
Cleveland, The Battle Abbey roll: with some account of the Norman lineages, 3 vols. (London, 1889), i,
pp. Xxxi-xxxvi, at p. xxxiv. For the Pinel family, see The Battle Abbey roll, iii, p. 35.

 The standard list currently stands in the thirties, D.C. Douglas, ‘Companions of the Conqueror’,
History, 28 (1943), pp. 130-147.

% <post hec vero idem Robertus, prefate terre primitus calumpniator, novissime fautor et fidelissimus
assertor existans, hanc eandem cartam hoc signo, presentibus Osberno filio Walonis, et duobus filiis
Rodulphi Pinelli, scilicet Arnulpho atque Rodulpho, et Boldino Odonis prepositi filio, ceterisque
compluribus gratanter confirmavit’, RADN, no. 229.

81 <. ex parte vero archiepiscopi, Benedicti archidiacono, Arnulfo Pinello...", Regesta, no. 229. For
discussion of this act, see below Appendix G.

% 1n 1078 x 1093, both Arnulf and his father witnessed an agreement between Michael, bishop of
Avranches, and the abbot of Bec concerning a bridge at Fontainecourt (Eure, cant. Montfort-sur-Risle,
c. Glos-sur-Risle), BN, ms. lat. 5201, fol. 60v. This charter is edited below in Appendix G.

% <|pse autem Arnulfus factus monachus ibidem vitam finivit’, Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux,
no. Al22.

* The association of the word made by the editors of the Anglo-Norman dictionary is, unfortunately,
far more mundane, Anglo-Norman dictionary, ed. L.W. Stone and W. Rothwell (London, 1977-1992),
p. 525.
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original agreement that the knights hold their lands in fief (in fevio tenerent) of the
bishop.*® Had the details of Henry II’s famous inquest of 1172 not survived, this brief
document would be invaluable in confirming that the terms of the servitia debita were
still being obeyed fifty years after its creation. Turgis’ only other appearance in the
historical record at this time comes from April x November 1097, when it appears he
returned with William Rufus to England after the king’s acquisition of Normandy.

The significance of this has been noted above.*

The death of William Rufus on 2 August 1100, and the coronation of his younger
brother Henry three days later, dramatically altered the makeup of the Anglo-Norman
realm. Few escaped the consequences of these events, but if it had any direct impact
on Turgis we do not know it. Throughout all the dramatic events that followed, the
bishop of Avranches is conspicuous by his absence, and there is a full nine years
between Turgis’ appearance alongside Rufus in England, and his reappearance beside
the new king-duke at Rouen in 1106.%” Even for the bishopric of Avranches, which is
often dismissed as a remote backwater, this lengthy gap is unusual, and was unknown
since the end of the tenth century.®® The cause of such a lengthy absence is unclear.
Given the bishop’s later activities during Henry’s reign it seems unlikely that he had
somehow displeased him. It is to this period that a second building campaign on the
cathedral has been located, but common sense alone suggests that this cannot have
occupied the bishop to such an extent that he was unable to participate in other
matters.®® Interestingly, the other bishop of western Normandy (Rodulf, bishop of
Coutances) is equally absent from the diplomatic and narrative sources.“’ The political
circumstances in the region were certainly chaotic enough to be disruptive, but the
most influential magnate in the region (William, count of Mortain, (1091-1106)) only
became truly problematic when he defected to Robert Curthose in 1104.*" Whatever

the cause, Henry’s victory at Tinchebray on 28 September 1106 seems to have

%> RADN, no. 229.

% Musset, Abbayes caennaises, no. 24. The association of this act with Rufus’ return to England at this
time is made by Frank Barlow, William Rufus, p. 372.

%7 Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 792.

* The next longest absence from the historical record by a bishop of Avranches is six years, and comes
from the episcopate of Hugh. However, if one believes that Hugh died in around 1055 (rather than the
traditional date of ¢. 1060), the gap was due to a vacancy in the see, not a withdrawal of the bishop
from affairs. For Hugh’s death, see above pp. 58-60.

%9 Baylé, ‘Les évéques et Iarchitecture’, p. 160.

OV, iv, pp. 264-266; v, p. 24.

*! Hollister, Henry I, p. 144; Aird, Robert Curthose, p. 226.
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resolved it. Within just over a month, Turgis was at Rouen along with Turold, bishop
of Bayeux, where he witnessed a charter in favour of the monks of Bec.** The
following summer he was back in England, where at Cirencester he witnessed, along
with the bishops of Lisieux and Sees, a writ addressed to Turold’s successor,
Richard.®?

Turgis’ activities in the remaining twenty-eight years of his episcopate
overwhelmingly concern his diocese. In 1110, he was involved for the first time with
a donation concerning the abbey of Mont-Saint-Michel, and gave his consent to
William de Tracy’s grant of land at Montpingon, La Luzerne, Champrepus, Saint-
Vigor-des-Monts and Argouges.** Two years later, the diocese of Avranches was
blessed with another monastic foundation that would soon come to rival Mont-Saint-
Michel in prestige. The abbey of Savigny, which was founded by Vitalis of Mortain in
the heavily forested area that connected Normandy, Brittany and Maine, came to
characterise the revival of religious fervour that gripped Europe at the end of the
eleventh and beginning of the twelfth century. Unfortunately, the records of this
abbey were decimated when the departmental archives of la Manche were destroyed
during the bombardment of Saint-L& on 6 June 1944.”> Nevertheless, enough
evidence survives to indicate that Turgis was actively involved in this foundation, and
was an important patron. He confirmed Rodulf de Fougeres’ initial grant of the forest
of Savigny to Vitalis in 1112, and later threatened all those who would dare to
encroach upon the property of the new abbey with excommunication.*” The king then
confirmed the donation while at Avranches on 2 March 1113, at which point the

bishop of Avranches freed the abbey from certain episcopal customs.”® Gallia

*2 Haskins, Norman Institutions, Appendix F, no. 1.

** Antiquus cartularius ecclesiae Baiocensis (livre noir), ed. V. Bourrienne, 2 vols. (Rouen, 1902-
1903), no. xxxviii.

* Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, Appendix II, no. 7. These are all in the Manche in the cantons of
Cerisy-la-Salle, La Haye-Pesnel, Villedieu-les-Poéles, Tessy-sur-Vire and Saint-James-de-Beuvron.

“ Cf. B. Poulle, ‘Les sources de I’histoire de 1’abbaye cistercienne de Savigny au diocése
d’Avranches’, Revue Mabillon, 7 (1996), pp. 105-125, esp. pp. 123-125.

*® A transcript of this charter from the since destroyed cartulary can be found in J. Buhot, ‘L’abbaye
normande de Savigny, chef d’ordre et fille de Citeaux’, Le Moyen Age, 46 (1936), pp. 1-19, 104-121,
178-190 and 249-272, at p. 9. See also J. van Moolenbroek, Vital I’ermite, prédicateur itinérant,
fondateur de I’abbaye normande de Savigny, trans. A.-M. Nambot (Assen, 1990), no. 10.

4" Buhot, ‘L’abbaye normande de Savigny’, p. 10; Moolenbroek, Vital I’ermite, no. 11. A critical
edition can be found in Appendix G.

8 Moolenbroek, Vital I'ermite, no. 3. The dating of Savigny’s earliest charters have long caused
problems for historians, with many dated ‘1112 or 1113’. For a full discussion of these problems, and
arguments in favour of both years, see Haskins, Norman Institutions, p. 311; Regesta (Johnson and
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Christiana states that Turgis wished to give the monks exemption from all episcopal
customs,* but recent scholarship has suggested that the relevant clause in the charter
might simply relate to the question of Savigny’s feudal immunity, and not to its

ecclesiastical exemption.>

The details of a number of donations made by Turgis to Savigny also survive in
two charters of Henry 11 (1154-1189). In the opening years of his reign, Henry
confirmed Savigny’s possessions. Among these was Turgis’ donation of the church
of Lapenty (cant. Saint-Hilaire du Harcouét), which included its cemetery, the alms
land of the church, and the tithe of the parish.>* This donation was confirmed again at
some time between 1177 and 1182, along with the bishop’s other donations of the
churches of Virey (cant. Saint-Hilaire du Harcouét), the church of Sainte-Martin de
Brécey (cant. Brécey), and the church of Moulines (cant. Saint-Hilaire du Harcouét).
These donations had been confirmed by Turgis’ successors Richard, Herbert and
Achard, and were done with the consent of Rannulf de Virey, and his brothers
William and Roger.®® The surviving charters of Savigny confirm that Turgis also
donated the churches of Moidrey (cant. Pontorson) and Saint-Hilaire du Neufbourg
(cant. Mortain), as well as Saint-Georges de Rennes,> while he also witnessed two
donations made by important local magnates.>* On 9 September 1119, Turgis was also
the recipient of a papal bull (along with the bishop of Le Mans) informing him that
the pope had placed Savigny’s possessions under apostolic protection.”® Finally, on 1
July 1124, Turgis helped dedicated the newly completed abbey church along with
Richard of Brix, bishop of Coutances (1124-1131), Richard of Dover, bishop of

Cronne), ii, no. 1015; Buhot, ‘L’abbaye normande de Savigny’, p. 5; Moolenbroek, Vital [’ermite, pp.
91-101.

* “Turgisus vero Abrincensis episcopus monachorum quieti consuleret, hos ab omni consuetudinum
episcopalium exactione immunes esse voluit’, GC, xi, col. 541.

%0 F. Swietek and T. Deneen, ‘The episcopal exemption of Savigny, 1112-1184°, Church History, 52
(1983), pp. 285-298, at pp. 288-289 and n. 13.

*! Recueil des actes de Henri I1, i, no. Ixxx.

%2 Recueil des actes de Henri 11, ii, no. dxci.

%% Details of these donations, and those above, are preserved in the confirmations of a number of
Turgis’ successors, Arch. nat., L 978, no. 1353 (confirmation of Bishop Herbert); Arch. nat., L 978, no.
1357 (confirmation of Bishop Achard); Arch. nat., L 967, no. 103 (confirmation of Bishop Richard
I11). Copies in BN, ms. n. a. lat. 2500, p. 18 (no. viii), p. 24 (no. xiv); BN, ms. n. a. lat. 1022, pp. 6-7
(no. 8) (extract from BN, ms. n. a. lat. 2500, p. 18 (no. viii); Caen, Musée des Beaux-Arts, coll.
Mancel, ms. 298, fol. 4v (no. viii); fol. 5v (no. xiv); fol. 6r (no. xvi); fol. 17v-18v (no. Ix); BM (Flers),
ms. 22, pp. 15-16 (no. 8); pp. 20-22 (no. 14); pp. 23-24; pp. 89-96 (no. 60); AD Calvados, F 5276. Cf.
the calendar of episcopal acta in Appendix G.

> Arch. nat., L 978, nos. 1342 and 1352.

% RHGF, xv, pp. 231-232.
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Bayeux, John, bishop of Sées (1124-1143), and Hildebert, bishop of Le Mans (1097-
1125).%

The monastic houses of the diocese were not the only institutions to expand
during Turgis’ episcopate. The cathedral of Avranches benefited greatly during his
tenure, and for the first time since the refoundation of the late tenth century it had a
fully functioning cathedral chapter. One of the key new positions to be created by
Turgis was the deanship.”” The position included a prebend, which comprised the
church of Saint-Pierre de Vains with its cemetery, the tithes of three vavassors, the
tithes of the vineyards of campo Botri, and various revenues from the manor at Saint-
Philbert.®® The details of this act were confirmed by one of his successors, Richard de
Subligny (1142-1153), who was himself a former dean appointed by Turgis.® By
1120, we have the first evidence of a simultaneous gathering of a large number of
various personnel, including two archdeacons (Robert and Fulcher), the bishop’s
chaplain (Roger de Lingévres), the cathedral treasurer (Hervey), and a magister
scholarum (Alexander).®® This document also contains the first known reference to
the seal of the bishop of Avranches (sigilli nostri), although unfortunately no
examples have survived.”" During Turgis’ episcopate a total of fifteen men were, at
various times, members of the cathedral chapter, among whom two were deans, four
archdeacons, two scholastici (one of whom began his career under Michael), and
three treasurers. Surprisingly, only four canons can be located during Turgis’ reign,
although the number is identical to that under his predecessor if one trusts the

somewhat unreliable Julien Nicole, who holds that Rolland 11, archbishop of Dol (c.

*® Robert de Torigni, Chronique, ii, p. 160.

> For full discussion, see Allen, ‘Five charters’, pp. 1-33.

*8 Both Jean-Jacques Desroches (J.-J. Desroches, “Sur les paroisses du Mont-Saint-Michel’, MSAN, 14
(1844), pp. 37-128, at p. 49; Desroches, ‘Annales religicuses’, i, pp. 428-429) and Edouard Le Héricher
make reference to this donation (Le Héricher, Avranchin monumental, i, pp. 178-179), which Spear
was unable to locate (Spear, The personnel, p. 6). Fortunately, Le Héricher (of whose citation Spear
was apparently unaware) provides a complete (although slightly inaccurate) reference, as well as a
partial transcription, of what he claims is this act. It is in fact the text of one of two confirmations in
the cathedral cartulary (BM (Avranches), ms 206, fol. 8v-9r and 34r-v) issued by Hugh of Amiens,
archbishop of Rouen (1130-1164). For a critical editions, see Allen, ‘Five charters’, nos. 1 and 3, pp.
27-29, 30-31.

 BM (Avranches), ms. 206, fol. 33v-34. This charter is edited and discussed in Allen, ‘Five charters’,
no. 2, pp. 29-30.

8 GC, xi, Instr., col. 112. This is the same document that is partially reprinted in Desroches, ‘Annales
religieuses’, iii, p. 345.

% The earliest surviving seals for Avranches comes from the episcopates of Achard (1161-1170) and
Richard 111 (1170-1182), Arch. nat., L 978, no. 1357 (Achard); L 968, no. 280 (Richard); L 970, no.
552 (Richard).
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1093-1100 x 1107), was a former canon of Avranches, and that he asked to be

consecrated by Turgis.®

It was also during Turgis’ episcopate that a second phase of building was begun
on the cathedral.®® A seventeenth-century painting by Nicolas Gravier informs us
about the aspect of the cathedral in its final stage, and shows a church with three
naves without transepts, and a massive western fagade with two towers. These towers
existed in the time of Bishop Maugis, but it is unclear to what architectural tradition
they belonged. The only surviving image of the western facade comes from a
seventeenth-century map,® but this is too indistinct to draw an definitive conclusions
(fig. 19).%> At the cathedral’s eastern end there was an ambulatory with radiating
chapels that were alternately semi-circular and square. Nineteenth-century drawings
show the interior of the nave with vaulted galleries running through the walls above
the columns. Edouard Le Héricher claimed that Hugh 1, earl of Chester, and his son
Richard, helped finance this period of reconstruction.®® Pigeon believed that Hugh
gave benefices located at Portchester (Hampshire) to the cathedral in around 1097,
whose revenue would have undoubtedly been useful in funding any construction,®’
but the most recent scholar of this donation suggests that this endowment was actually

made by Henry 1.

Turgis dedicated the cathedral on 17 September 1121.%° Citing the work of Robert
Cénalis, a sixteenth-century bishop of Avranches, Edouard Le Héricher held that the

cathedral was consecrated on 15 October 1122,” but the day and month seem to be a

%2 Nicole, ‘Histoire des évéques d’Avranches’, p. 57. Rolland does not appear in the fasti of David
Spear, while if he was associated with Avranches, historians of Dol were unaware of it, GC, xiv, cols.
1047-1048; F.-M. Duine, La métropole de Bretagne: Chronique de Dol, composée au Xle siecle (Paris,
1916), pp. 116-117. It seems likely, therefore, that Nicole has confused Rolland 1l with Rolland 1lI
(1177-1188), who was a dean at Avranches before becoming archbishop of Dol. Cf. Robert de Torigni,
Chronique, ii, p. 72; Spear, The personnel, p. 7.

% For what follows, see Baylé, ‘Les évéques et I’architecture’, pp. 158-161.

* AD Calvados, Fi C 4147.

% For discussion of the history of this somewhat enigmatic map, which figures both Avranches and
Mont-Saint-Michel, see E. Poulle, ‘Vue d’Avranches au XVlle siécle’, Revue de [’Avranchin et du
pays de Granville, 79 (2002), pp. 179-180.

% | e Héricher, Avranchin monumental, i, p. 14.

67 Pigeon, Le diocése d’Avranches, ii, p. 329.

%8 J. Peltzer, ‘Portchester, les évéques d’Avranches et les Hommet (1100-1230)°, AN, 56 (2006), p. 463-
482, at p. 465.

® GC, xi, col. 467.

" Héricher, Avranchin monumental, i, p. 14.
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Fig. 19 has been removed due to Copyright restrictions

Fig. 19 Seventeenth-century view of Avranches showing the western facade
of the cathedral (detail)

“ AD Calvados, Fi C 4147.
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misreading of calendarum octobris 15.”* The significance of the actual date chosen is
unknown. The cathedral was dedicated in honour of St. Andrew, but his feast day is
30 November. We know that other Norman bishops chose dates important to the local
community on which to consecrate their churches,’® yet the only saint whose feast
was celebrated in Normandy on September 17 was St. Floscellus (a second-century
martyr), and even then he was only honoured in Bayeux on September 25.”°
Interestingly, September 18 (xiv calendas Octobris) was the feast day of St. Senerius,
a former bishop of Avranches, yet while his cult was certainly important in the city,”*
none of the inventories of the cathedral’s relics record the presence of any of his
relics.” According to a seventeenth-century manuscript, the dedication was attended
by Henry I, along with the bishops of Bayeux, Coutances, Sées and Le Mans.”
Unfortunately, this document misidentifies three of the five participants,”’ although a
marginal note in a sixteenth-century manuscript does suggest that information
concerning the consecration was once found in the lost Avranches cartulary known as

the Livre blanc.”®

If Turgis did leave his diocese it was usually for significant events. He was
present at a council of bishops and barons convoked by the king at Barfleur on 21
November 1120 following his first victory over William Clito (1102-1128), and he
was presumably still in the region when the White Ship set sail a few days later.” In
October 1125 he witnessed the charter which established Henry’s great foundation at

Reading.*° He also attended important councils at Rouen in 1118 and 1128, while

" BN, ms. lat. 5201, fol. 65v (marginalia).

"2 For discussion, see below, pp. 147, 332.

™ Taschenbuch der Zeitrechnung des Deutschen Mittelalters und der Neuzeit, 13th ed., ed. H.
Grotefend (Hanover, 1991), p. 55.

" Taschenbuch der Zeitrechnung, p. 98

" BM (Avranches), ms. 206, fol. 5r (s. xiii); BN, ms. lat. 5201, fol. 15r-16v (s. xvi); BM (Avranches),
fonds Pigeon, ms. 45, p. 135 (s. xvii).

’® Nicolas-Joseph Foucault, ‘Eslection d’ Avranches’, in L ’intendance de Caen en 1700: édition critique
des mémoires rédigés sous la dir. de Nicolas-Joseph Foucault, ed. P. Gouhier (Paris, 1998), p. 486.

" Foucault identifies Henry | as Henry II; Roger, bishop of Coutances, as Richard, and Serlo, bishop of
Sées as John.

"8 Ecclesia siquidem Abrincensis uti (ex chartulario colligi fur) fuit dedicata et consecrata in nomine
Domini, et beatissimi Andreae ipsius apostoli, fratris Simonis Petri, prout reperitur in antiquis scriptis
de anno domini millesimo centesimo vigesimo primo, calendarum octobris 15°, BN, ms lat. 5201, fol.
65v. The surviving cathedral cartulary, the Livre vert, only makes reference to the dedication without
specifics, BM (Avranches), ms 206, fol. 8r.

" Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 1233.

8 Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 1427.

8.0V, vi, pp. 202, 388.
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Fig 20 Model of the cathedral of Avranches (photo R. Allen)

“ Avranches, coll. musée municipale. These models, of which around six survive, were made by
inmates imprisoned on Mont-Saint-Michel from the beginning of the French Revolution to 1863.
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Julien Nicole claimed he attended the council held by Pope Calixtus Il at Reims in
1119.% Geoffrey Brito, archbishop of Rouen, was present at this council (one of
thirteen archbishops), as were over two hundred bishops, but Turgis’ name is not
mentioned either in Orderic Vitalis’ account of the council, or in the other records
preserved by Mansi.®® The assumption that Turgis was present may be based on the
fact that Orderic mentions that the archbishops were at the council ‘cum suffraganeis
suis’, but his account also goes on to mention that some absent bishops had sent
envoys.*  Regardless, Turgis would have undoubtedly been familiar with the
council’s edicts since John, a monk of Saint-Ouen de Rouen, recorded the canons,
while upon his return from Reims, the archbishop of Rouen convened a synod in his
cathedral at which he hoped to use their example ‘to reform the priests of his
diocese’.® Unfortunately for Geoffrey his decrees were so unpopular that a riot broke
out. Orderic does not mention the presence of other bishops (representatives from the
abbey of Saint-Evroult (i.e. outwith the diocese of Rouen) were certainly there), but it
seems unlikely that had Turgis been absent news of such events would not have
reached his ears.

Such violence was perhaps the reason that the next council (1128) was a full
diocesan assembly presided over by the king.?® Also in attendance was the papal
legate, Matthew, bishop of Albano (c. 1085-1135),%" who was legate in France and
England in 1128-1129. His presence was certainly significant, since it was the first
time in Norman history that a papal legate held a council in the duchy.® Turgis
himself was no stranger to papal influence within the region. In 1119 he received a
papal bull seeking his assistance in protecting the abbey of Savigny (see above), while
in October of the same year he received a second letter entreating him to help the
monks of Mont-Saint-Michel regain certain lands that had been usurped from them.®®

Yet the transition of the Norman episcopate to within the papal ambit was not without

82 Nicole, ‘Histoire des évéques d’Avranches’, p. 56.

8 ov, vi, pp. 252-276; Mansi, xxi, cols. 233-256. Nicole’s claim was repeated by L.C., ‘Turgis, évéque
d’Avranches’, p. 72.

¥ 0V, vi, p. 254.

& OV, vi, p. 274, 290-294.

& OV, vi, pp. 388-390.

8" His career is examined in U. Berliére, ‘Le cardinal Matthieu d’Albano’, Revue Bénédictine, 18
(1901), pp. 113-140 and 280-303, and U. Berliére, ‘Le cardinal Matthieu d’Albano (c. 1085-1135),
Mélanges d’histoire bénédictine, 4 (1902), pp. 1-51.

8 The council is discussed in Spear, ‘The Norman episcopate’, pp. 74-76 and 149-150.

8 Regesta pontificum Romanorum, ed. P. Jaffé, 2 vols. (Liepzig, 1885-1888), i, no. 6772.



99

its problems,” and a letter from Ivo, bishop of Chartres (1089-1116), to Turgis
provides a neat insight into these difficulties. In his initial letter, which has
unfortunately not survived, the bishop of Avranches had apparently asked Ivo whether
he should obey an unnamed papal legate. Although the bishop of Chartres noted the
problems Turgis was facing (‘the legate of the apostolic seat compels you to obey its
commands; the king urges you to resist’),”* he responded forcefully that it would be
wise to obey apostolic decrees, for ‘it is better to fall into the hands of man than to
abandon the law of God’.*> He also advised that Turgis send substitutes (vicarios) to
Rome in order that they might plead his case there, and ‘restore the blessing of the

apostolic seat to you’.93

The circumstances surrounding this letter are unclear. It seems to relate to the
papal legate Cono, bishop of Palestrina, and the failure of the Norman episcopate to
attend the councils excommunicating the Holy Roman Emperor Henry V (1111-
1125). The Norman bishops had themselves been excommunicated by the legate for
their absence,” and Ivo advised Turgis that obedience was the only way he could
‘break the chain of anathema’.®® Although correspondence with such an eminent
figure speaks highly of Turgis, the letter also reveals his limited standing within the
wider ecclesiastical community. Ivo had been contacted by another member of the
Norman episcopate (Richard of Dover, bishop of Bayeux) concerning the same issue,
and had written to the papal legate in his defence.®® His only arguments in support of
an exemption for the bishop of Bayeux (which one might expect to hinge on a subtle
interpretation of canon law) were that he constantly complained of his inability to act

independently of the king (a grievance strikingly similar to Turgis’),”’ and that

% For discussion see Spear, ‘The Norman episcopate’, pp. 61-88.

°1 <Cogit enim vos ex una parte legatio apostolicae sedis, ut praeceptis ejus obediatis; urget vos ex
altera regia potestas, ut resistatis’, Ivo of Chartres, ‘Epistolae’, no. cclxx, Migne, PL, clxii, cols. 273-
274, at col. 273.

% “Melius est mihi incidere in manu hominum quam derelinquere legem Dei mei’, Ivo of Chartres,
‘Epistolae’, no. cclxx, col. 273. Cf. ‘sed melius est mihi absque opere incidere in manus vestras quam
peccare in conspectu Domini’, Daniel, 13:23.

%8 < et gratiam sedis apostolicae vobis restituant’, Ivo of Chartres, ‘Epistolae’, no. cclxx, col. 273.

% A number of different chroniclers record that Cono excommunicated the Norman bishops, although
Turgis is not named personally, William of Malmesbury, GR, i, p. 206; John of Worcester, The
chronicle of John of Worcester, ed. and trans. R.R. Darlington, P. McGurk and J. Bray, 3 vols. (Oxford,
1995-1998), iii, p. 136.

%« anathematis vinculum rumpere potestis’, Ivo of Chartres, ‘Epistolae’, no. cclxx, col. 273.

% Ivo of Chartres, ‘Epistolae’, no. cclxxiii, cols. 275-276.

" <Sub alieno enim iure tanquam sub torculari positus dolet et gemit se nihil plus posse quam
permittitur’, Ivo of Chartres, ‘Epistolae’, no. cclxxiii, col. 276.
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Richard was his dear friend.”® This stands in stark contrast to the advice given to
Turgis, which is not only prescribed, but also unworkable (it is doubtful the bishop
had the resources to fund a trip to Rome). Of course, Richard of Dover was a member
of one of the most talented Anglo-Norman ecclesiastical families of the era, and his
academic prowess earned him the esteem of men like Adelard of Bath.*® For all his
intellectual achievements, however, the bishop of Bayeux was unable to defend the
holdings of his diocese, and in this sense he was a lesser bishop than Turgis.'®
Nevertheless, Ivo’s curt response reveals that regional success rarely earned plaudits
outside the locality concerned, and that an ability to achieve (and receive) greater
things involved participating in a wider community. This is something Turgis clearly

could not (or perhaps would not) do.

Though if increased papal involvement in the duchy could be troublesome, it also
had its advantages. In 1128, Henry’s daughter Mathilda was married to Geoffrey V,
count of Anjou (1113-1151). Although they shared the same consanguinity that Henry
| had used to win papal dissolution of the marriage of William Clito and Sibylla of
Anjou (d. 1165), the papacy remained silent about their union.’®* Turgis was at the
centre of this momentous event, and according to Orderic, it was he (by now an old
man) who performed the marriage ceremony.*®® Unfortunately, it is unclear to what
service Orderic is referring. The marriage took place at Le Mans on 17 June 1128,
but Angevin sources state that Guy of Ploérmel, bishop of Le Mans (1126-1135), and
John, bishop of Sées (1124-1143), performed the act.'®® Joséphe Chartrou suggested
that Turgis presided over the betrothal, which took place at Rouen sometime between
22 May and the end of August 1128, although why Henry turned to the bishop of
Avranches is unclear.’®® The archbishop of Rouen, who would have undoubtedly
performed such a service were he able, was probably very ill (he was dead by

November), while the decision not to call on the bishop of Bayeux, who was first

% Ivo calls Richard his ‘amicus et familiaris’ and ‘Baiocensi episcopo... amicissimo’, Ivo of Chartres,
‘Epistolae’, no. cclxxiii, cols. 275-276.

% SE. Gleason, An ecclesiastical barony of the middle ages: the bishopric of Bayeux, 1066-1204
(Cambridge, MA, 1936), pp. 23-24; Bouet and Dosdat, ‘Les évéques normands’, p. 25.

1% Gleason, An ecclesiastical barony, p. 24.

191 Spear suggests that the legatine council of the same year helped silence any papal objections, Spear,
‘The Norman episcopate’, p. 41.

1920V, vi, p. 390 and n. 2.

193 3. Chartrou, L Anjou de 1109 a 1151: Foulque de Jérusalem et Geoffroi Plantegenét (Paris, 1928),
pp. 22-23.

104 Chartrou, L’Anjou de 1109 a 1151, pp. 21-22 and nn.
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suffragan of the province, is noteworthy. Interestingly, Richard of Dover is absent

from the royal diplomatic record during 1128.1%°

Perhaps Henry had become
increasingly frustrated with the bishop’s inability to maintain the holdings of his
bishopric (the king would conduct the famous inquest of the diocese immediately
after the bishop’s passing), and instead turned to Turgis, who was not only the longest
serving member of the episcopate, but also, as bishop of Avranches, the dean of the

Norman suffragans.

The following year Turgis was back in his diocese. He was soon involved again
with the affairs of Mont-Saint-Michel, and at some time in 1129 gave his consent,
along with his cathedral chapter, to the grant by Robert of Avranches of tithes of land
in Ponts.’®® David Spear claimed incorrectly that Turgis was the only Norman bishop
to appear by name in the famous Pipe Roll of 1130,%" but the Turgis de Abrincensis
here is Turgis of Avranches, a onetime familiaris of Stephen of Blois who would later
rebel against the king.!® Turgis the bishop’s last two known acts date to 1131. In
this year he consented to a donation in favour of Mont-Saint-Michel by John
firzGarner de Huisnes, and also blessed Bernard, a former prior of Bec, as abbot of
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this same house.”™™ Turgis’ involvement in this event is significant, for it is the first

known reference to a bishop of Avranches investing an abbot of Mont-Saint-Michel.

According to Gallia Christiana the bishop died two years later, although no
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contemporary source confirms this date. A necrology of Mont-Saint-Michel

records the day as 7 January, while Julien Nicole claimed Turgis passed away on ‘le

jour des Roys® (i.e. Epiphany, 6 January) in 1134.'!

Turgis was buried in the
cathedral he had helped rebuild, and was laid to rest in the north (sepultus ad

septentrionem) of the chapel of Notre-Dame.**? His remarkably long episcopate had

1% Richard last appears beside the king in September 1127 (Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no.
1546) and reappears in 1129 (Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 1575).

1% cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 72.

197 Spear, ‘The Norman episcopate’, p. 36.

198 Magnum rotulum Scaccarii, vel Magnum rotulum pipae de anno tricesimo primo regni Henrici
primi, ed. J. Hunter (London, 1833), p. 67. This Turgis appears in a number of royal charters, Regesta
(Cronne and Davis) iii, nos. 109, 162, 163, 194, 276, 406, 655, 855, 858.

199 Cartulary of Mont-Saint-Michel, no. 98 and Appendix I1, no. 9.

"0 GC, xi, col. 477,

11 RHGF, xxiii, p. 576; Nicole, ‘Histoire des évéques d’Avranches’, p. 57. Nicole was presumably
working from the obituary of the abbey of La Lucerne, which lists Turgis’ death under 8th ides
January, A. du Monstier, Neustria pia (Rouen, 1663), p. 797.

12 GC, xi, col. 477. It is Julien Nicole and Robert Cénalis who provide the more exact locations of
Turgis’ tomb, Nicole, ‘Histoire des évéques d’Avranches’, p. 57; BN, ms. lat. 5201, fol. 65r.
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spanned a momentous period in Norman history, and his contributions to his church
had finally helped it regain its pre-ninth century standing. His efforts were clearly
greatly appreciated by the chapter itself, who remembered him fondly as an illustrious
and pious bishop, while one of his successors even accorded him the honour of

saintliness.**3

3 E.g. a confirmation of Richard de Subligny refers to Turgis as ‘illustri et sancte... episcopo
Turgisio’, BM (Avranches), ms. 206, fol. 33v.
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Rodulf, c. 990-c. 1006

The disruption to the see of Bayeux during the tenth century was acute. It is
possible that as many as three bishops (Richard, Hubert and Ertmandus) occupied the
see before Rodulf, although the evidence is so fragmentary that nothing can be
determined precisely. According to the editors of Gallia Christiana, Rodulf was
originally from Dol in Brittany," while Jean-Jacques Desroches suggested that the
bishop, who was also known as ‘of Avranches’, was perhaps a cathedral dignitary in
this city before ascending to the episcopate.” The dates of his tenure at Bayeux are
often given as 986-1006, but his first appearance is in the famous charter issued by
Richard | at the foundation of Fécamp on 15 June 990.* No documentation exists to
confirm the assertion that he witnessed a charter of Saint-Denis in 967,> while he
appears in no other extant piece of diplomatic. He is also completely absent from the
narrative sources. A bishop of Bayeux called Richard is listed among the attendees at
the translation of St. Ouen undertaken by Richard | sometime before 985 x 989, yet it
is possible that this is actually a confused reference to Rodulf. Indeed, not only is the
existence of a tenth-century bishop called Richard not corroborated elsewhere, but
also the author of the translatio, who was writing in the early twelfth century, may
have accidentally written Richardus for Radulfus, since one of the early twelfth-
century bishops of Bayeux was Richard of Dover (1107-1133).° Despite this state of
affairs, it is possible that a rudimentary level of diocesan organisation existed during
Rodulf’s episcopate, for an inscription within the church of Mondrainville (in the
diocese of Bayeux) records the existence of a ‘Mundradus sacerdos vel
archidiaconus’.” Maylis Baylé reluctantly dated the engraving to the decades around
the year 1000,® yet this was enough for David Spear to include Mundradus among his

' GC, xi, col. 352.

% Desroches, ‘Annales religieuses’, i, p. 421. Desroches claims that ‘les vieilles chroniques de
Normandie’ make reference to Rodulf as ‘of Avranches’. This seems to be a rather confusing
translation of the entry in Gallia Christiana, which states ‘De Abrincis dictus Radulfus in
Antiquitatibus Normanniae...’, GC, xi, col. 352.

® Bouet and Dosdat, ‘Les évéques normands’, p. 24.

“ RADN, no. 4.

® GG, xi, col. 352. Cf. Songzoni, ‘Le chartrier de Saint-Denis’, pp. 209-210.

® For bibliographical details on the manuscripts of the translatio, see p. 9 n. 29.

" Mondrainville, Calvados, cant. Tilly-sur-Seulles. Albert Dauzat claimed that this place name perhaps
comes from the German name Montrannus (Dictionnaire étymologique des noms de lieux en France,
ed. A. Dauzat (Paris, 1963), p. 464), although Ernest Negre claims the form is Mundricus, Négre,
Toponymie générale, ii, p. 944. For this name, of which only one example can be found from the Paris
basin, see Morlet, Noms de personne, i, p. 170.

8 Baylé, ‘Sur quelques inscriptions’, pp. 54-55.
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fasti of cathedral personnel.” It is possible, of course, that Mundradus was a member
of the episcopal household during the episcopate of Rodulf’s successor, Hugh, though

the evidence remains slim.

It is unclear when Rodulf left his charge. His last known appearance is usually
dated to 1006, and is invariably associated with a document issued for the abbey of
Fécamp.’® David Spear claimed that these facts were only known from Gallia
Christiana,’* but their source seems to have been the Libellus de revelatione,
edificatione et auctoritate Fiscannensis monasterii,*> which was composed c. 1090 x
1094.2 The text itself recounts the early history of Fécamp, a number of miracles,
and details certain privileges, which it claims were bestowed upon the abbey by
Richard Il. According to the Libellus, at some time after monks had been installed in
the abbey (i.e. after 1001), the duke summoned all the nobles and bishops of
Normandy to Fécamp (totius Northmanniae episcopos, et viros nobiles, festinus
Fiscannum convocavit), and decided to free the abbey from all episcopal customs. A
charter was drawn up, which was signed and confirmed by the archbishop of Rouen
and all the bishops, as well as many magnates.* Interestingly, there is a surviving
authentic charter issued by Richard Il for Fécamp that deals with its privileges, and
which dates to 30 May 1006.> This seems to be the document the editors of Gallia
Christiana associated with the account of Libellus de revelatione. Unfortunately, not
only do its contents not tally with the description in the Libellus (it seems the author is
mistakenly—perhaps deliberately—referring to details in the document issued by
Richard I on 15 June 990), but also the great number of witnesses that are said to have
signed and confirmed the charter are not to be found.!®* The editors of Gallia

° Spear, The personnel, p. 37.

2 GC, xi, col. 353.

1 Spear, The personnel, p. 31.

2 The text and its editions are discussed in Lemarignier, Etude sur les priviléges d’exemption,
Appendix V, pp. 259-262. For emendations based on a new manuscript, see M. Arnoux, ‘La fortune du
Libellus de revelatione, edificatione et auctoritate Fiscannensis monasterii: note sur la production
historiographique d’une abbaye bénédictine normande’, Revue d’histoire des textes, 21 (1991), pp.
135-158. See also M. Arnoux, ‘Les premiéres chroniques de Fécamp: de I’hagiographie a I’histoire’, in
Les saints dans la Normandie médiévale, pp. 71-82.

3 Lemarignier, Etude sur les priviléges d’exemption, p. 58. For discussion of Lemarignier’s dating, see
Douglas, ‘The first ducal charter’, pp. 48-51.

4« .. donatae libertatis chartam archiepiscopus, aliique episcopi, signo et consensu corroboraverunt’,
‘Libellus de revelatione, edificatione et auctoritate Fiscannensis monasterii’, ch. xx, Migne, PL, cli, col.
722.

> RADN, no. 9.

18 Lemarignier, Etude sur les priviléges d’exemption, pp. 58-61.
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Christiana did have access to a twelfth-century Fécamp cartulary that has since been
lost, but had this contained either a different version of the charter of 30 May 1006, or
another different document, it seems strange that they make no reference to it.’
Regardless, it seems there was another vacancy at Bayeux following Rodulf’s death
or departure. Fortunately, his successor proved more than capable in resurrecting the

city’s fortunes.

7' Ge, xi, col. 203.
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Hugh of Ivry, c. 1011-1049

There could not be a greater contrast between Hugh’s episcopate and that of his
predecessor. While Rodulf’s origins are unknown, Hugh was the son of Rodulf, count
of Ivry, the uterine brother of Richard I, and Rodulf’s first wife Eremberga (d.
c.1011). He therefore shared the same important familial connections as John of Ivry,
bishop of Avranches and archbishop of Rouen, the details of which are discussed
above.! Moreover, while Rodulf’s episcopate is defined by a lone appearance in the
diplomatic record, Hugh appears in over thirty charters, and is often described there as
a fidelis of Richard Il. It was also during his episcopate that the diocese was
energetically reorganised. Using his personal influence he helped restore the temporal
possessions of his cathedral, and by the beginning of the second decade of his tenure
he issued a charter in his own name through which he sought to safeguard the wealth
of his bishopric.> He also began work on a new basilica, to which the relics of SS.
Ravennus and Rasiphus were later translated.® Unfortunately, the names of only two
members of the cathedral chapter survive from this period, and it seems that Hugh
was unable to fully reconstitute his cathedral personnel.* His lax moral behaviour
also earned the ire of later monastic chroniclers. Indeed, he was able to muster
military might equivalent to that of a secular lord, and also had at least one child (a
daughter, Albereda).” Nevertheless, his career, which neatly encompasses the period
before the beginning of the movement of reform, has long attracted the attention of
modern scholars,® while the details of his landed possessions continue to be a focal

point for debate.’

Hugh was invested in his bishopric sometime around 1011.® No information

survives regarding the nature of his elevation, or the exact date and location of his

! For discussion, see pp. 61-62 and fig. 15.

% Chartes de I’abbaye de Jumiéges (v. 825-1204) conservées aux archives de la Seine-Inférieure, ed. J.-
J. Vernier, 2 vols. (Rouen, 1916), i, no. viii. A critical edition of this charter is in Appendix G.

® “Historia translationis SS. Ravenni et Rasiphi’, AASS, July V, p. 393.

* The possible existence of an archdeacon called Mundradus has been discussed above (pp. 104-105),
while a chaplain of the bishop called Tedoldus appears in charter of Jumiéges, which is discussed
below; Chartes de [’abbaye de Jumiéges, i, no. viii. For further discussion, Spear, The personnel, pp.
37 and 54.

> GND, vi. 5, p. 52; OV, iii, p. 244. For discussion of a possible son, see below, p. 113.

® Bates, ‘Notes sur Iaristocratie normande’, pp. 7-21.

" Gazeau, ‘Le patrimoine d’Hugues de Bayeux’, pp. 139-147; Bauduin, La premiére Normandie, pp.
207-208.

8 Bates, ‘Notes sur I’aristocratie normande’, pp. 8-9.
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consecration. His first known act as bishop was very much a family affair. On 15
September 1011, he witnessed a charter at Rouen in which Richard Il (his cousin)
confirmed numerous donations that his father had made to the abbey of Saint-Ouen de
Rouen.? Although his signature is one of a number written in a different hand from
the main body of text, and was originally thought to be a later interpolation, scholars
now believe that Hugh witnessed the act.® The abbey of Saint-Ouen was one of the
institutions most favoured by the early Norman dukes and their followers,™* and was a
particular favourite of Hugh’s father Rodulf, who had a pitance founded there in his
memory.'? The count may have issued his charter during the weekend of his son’s
consecration, for although 15 September was a Saturday, it is possible that the newly
ordained bishop appended his signum the following day, which would explain why it

is written in a different hand.*®

The death of Hugh’s father shortly after this meeting soon saw the bishop’s
ecclesiastical power further reinforced with that of a secular lord.™* The exact extent
of the properties that passed to Hugh, in particular the honour of Breteuil, has long
been a matter for debate,™ although there is little doubt that his inheritance was
extensive.’® He was by no means unusual, however, and two of his contemporaries,
Robert, archbishop of Rouen, and Ivo, bishop of Sées, also commanded great secular
power as the comte of Evreux and lord of Belléme, respectively. This arrangement
undoubtedly brought benefits to the communities of the dioceses with which these
men had been charged, for their great material wealth could be relied upon to

reinvigorate the physical and spiritual infrastructure of their sees.*” Hugh was no

° RADN, no. 13.

1% Bates argued that although the charter existed in two different versions, both with different witness
lists, these both contained Hugh’s signum. Moreover, one of the charters was written in part by Dudo
of Saint-Quentin, a man who was closely linked with the family of Ivry, Bates, ‘Notes sur 1’aristocratie
normande’, pp. 8-9; Gazeau, ‘Le patrimoine d’Hugues de Bayeux’, p. 139.

1 More ducal charters survive for the abbey of Saint-Ouen than any other Norman house between 911
and 1066, RADN, pp. 35-36.

12 <Directorium S. Audoeni Rothomagensis’, RHGF, xxiii, p. 380.

3 Of those bishops for whom an exact date of consecration is known (Geoffrey de Montbray, his
successor Rodulf and Serlo, bishop of Sées), all were consecrated on a Sunday. All three men were also
consecrated in Rouen by the archbishop. For the exact dates, and further discussion, see below, pp.
180, 204, 435.

 Rodulf’s last appearances in the historical record dates from 1015 x 1017, RADN, nos. 18, 21.

1> Bates, ‘Notes sur I’aristocratie normande’, pp. 10-15; Gazeau, ‘Le patrimoine d’Hugues de Bayeux’,
pp. 139-147.

'8 For full discussion see Bauduin, La premiére Normandie, pp. 201-210.

7 The best known example of a specific injection of personal wealth into an episcopal city comes from
Coutances during the reign of Geoffrey de Montbray. See below pp. 176-203 for discussion.
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different, and it is perhaps no coincidence that the relics of SS. Ravennus and
Rasiphus, which were translated to the cathedral of Bayeux by Hugh, were said to
have been found in the church of Saint-Vaast-sur-Seulles.'® This edifice not only lay
in a region close to properties inherited by Hugh from his father,*® but also belonged
to a powerful local lord, Rodulf Taisson, to whom it is possible the bishop, either in
his ecclesiastical or secular capacity, had ordered it to be subinfeudated.?’ The bishop
may have exploited similar networks to secure a relic of St. Quentin, for although the
oldest inventory of the cathedral’s relics does not comment on its provenance,? it is
possible Hugh received the saint’s arm from Dudo of Saint-Quentin,?* with whom his
father had been so close.?® The liberality allowed by such connections guaranteed that
Hugh was remembered as ‘a good and blessed bishop’ (episcopus pius et bonus),?
although as we shall see, the manipulation of such immense secular power was not

without its problems.

The opening years of Hugh’s episcopate passed, however, without dramatic
incident. The bishop disappears from the historical record for four years following his
appearance at Rouen, before reappearing, along with six of his episcopal colleagues,
to witness a charter for Mont-Saint-Michel in 1015.”> This charter, which was clearly
issued at an important meeting of the court, was perhaps delivered at the same time as
another charter for the chapter of Saint-Quentin, which was witnessed by many of the

same people at Rouen on 8 September 1015.%° As with the act of Saint-Ouen almost

18 Saint-Vaast-sur-Seulles, Calvados, cant. Tilly-sur-Seulles. For the tradition that a nun living at
Bayeux was made aware of the presence of the relics in a vision, and then subsequently went to tell the
bishop, see ‘Historia Ravenni et Rasiphi’, p. 393; ‘Appendix ex hodierno Bajocensi Breviario’, AASS,
July V, pp. 393-394.

¥ Rodulf possessed properties in the Hiémois, to the southeast of Saint-Vaast, Bauduin, La premiére
Normandie, p. 204.

2 For this suggestion, which would make the subinfeudation an act of reward for Rodulf’s participation
at Val-és-Dunes on the side of the duke, and would confirm the tradition that the translation occurred
towards the end of Hugh’s reign, see J. Decaens, ‘Les origines du village et du chateau de Saint-Vaast-
sur-Seulles (Calvados)’, ANS, 10 (1988), pp. 83-100, at pp. 91-92.

2! ‘Inventaire du Trésor de la cathédrale de Bayeux (1476)’, ed. E. Deslandes in ‘Le trésor de ’église
Notre-Dame de Bayeux’, Bulletin archéologique du Comité des travaux historiques et scientifiques
(1896), pp. 341-450, at p. 367.

2 F. Neveux, ‘Les reliques de la cathédrale de Bayeux’, in Les saints dans la Normandie médiévale,
pp. 109-133, at p. 114.

“ Rodulf, count of Ivry, was one of Dudo’s principal informers, while Hugh is known to have met the
canon, since the charter of Saint-Ouen discussed above was written in part by him: ‘Dudo capellanus
Richardi Northmannorum ducis et marchionis hanc cartam composuit et scripsit’, RADN, no. 13, p. 89.
24 “Historia Ravenni et Rasiphi’, p. 393.

» RADN, no. 17.

% RADN, no. 18.



Date Document Beneficiary Location S M

15 June 990 RADN, no. 4 Fécamp Fécamp X
Fig. 21 Appearances of Rodulf, bishop of Bayeux (c. 990-c. 1006), in the diplomatic record

Date Document Beneficiary Location S M
15 Sept. 1011 RADN, no. 13 Saint-Ouen de Rouen Rouen X
21 Sept. 1014 RADN, no. 15 (doubtful) Chartres cathedral Rouen X
1015 RADN, no. 17 Mont-Saint-Michel X
8 Sept. 1015 RADN, no. 18 Saint-Quentin Rouen X
1015 x 1026 RADN, no. 43 Saint-Ouen de Rouen X
1017 x c. 1022 Bulst, Wilhelms von Dijon, pp. 223-236 Fruttuaria X
1017 x 1023 RADN, no. 24 Saint-Ouen de Rouen
1017x ¢.1025 RADN, no. 30 Saint-Wandrille X
1017x 1025 RADN, no. 31 Fécamp X
1017 x 1026 RADN, no. 47 Mont-Saint-Michel X
1020 x 1030 Chartes de ’abbaye de Jumiéges, i, no. Viii Jumieges X X
€.1025 RADN, no. 33 Sées cathedral
1025 RADN, no. 35 Fécamp Fécamp X
Aug. 1025 RADN, no. 34 Fécamp Fécamp X
Aug. 1025 RADN, no. 36 Jumiéges Fécamp X X
€.1025 x 1026 RADN, no. 53 Saint-Ouen de Rouen X
1025 x 1026 RADN, no. 55 Saint-Wandrille X
1027 x 1033 RADN, no. 65 Mont-Saint-Michel X
1027 x 1035 RADN, no. 73 (doubtful) Mont-Saint-Michel X
1028 x 1040 BN, ms. coll. Moreau, vol. 21, fol. 25r-v Fécamp X
1028 x 1033 RADN, no. 67 Rouen cathedral
€.1030 RADN, no. 61 (doubtful) Trinité-du-Mont de Rouen Rouen X
c.1031 x 1034 RADN, no. 70 Fécamp X
12 Nov. 1032 RADN, no. 64 Cerisy-la-Forét X
13 April x 30 April 1033 | RADN, no. 69 Saint-Wandrille X
c. 1033 x 1049 Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. A1[7] Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux Préaux X
11 April 1034 RADN, no. 71 Fécamp Fécamp X
1035 Grand Cartulaire de Conches, no. 406 (i) Conches X
1035 x 1037 Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. xxi Bayeux cathedral X
1035 x ¢.1043 RADN, no. 100 Jumiéges X
€.1035 x 1049 Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. A1[14] Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux X
€.1042 x 1049 RADN, no. 116 Saint-Amand de Rouen X X
€.1042 x 1049 Le Cacheux, Histoire de Saint-Amand, no. 2, p. 246 Saint-Amand de Rouen X
1046 x 1049 Grand Cartulaire de Conches, no. 406 (xv) Conches X
1047 x 1049 Regesta, no. 149 Fontenay X

Fig.

“ Hugh may be the bishop by that name who witnessed RADN, nos. 21, 52 version B.

22 Appearances of Hugh of Ivry, bishop of Bayeux (c. 1011-1049), in the diplomatic record’

01T
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four years earlier, the bishop’s father played a prominent role in this donation. Indeed,
such was the count’s influence that his son’s signum was appended as that of ‘Hugh
the bishop, son of Rodulf’.?” Hugh had chosen—or had been required—to style
himself similarly in the act of Saint-Ouen.”® These two examples are unusual among
contemporary episcopal attestations, where bishops are normally identified by nothing
more than their office, sometimes with the diocese, sometimes without.?® This
suggests that either Hugh continued to live very much in his father’s shadow while he
remained alive, or that, given the impoverished state of the diocese with which he was
charged, it was still more prestigious to be seen as also the son of the count of Ivry

rather than just the bishop of Bayeux.

The next decade saw the bishop attend at least one other great meeting of court,
where he witnessed a charter for the abbey of Fruttuaria,*® while he also appended his
signature to various acts for the abbeys of Mont-Saint-Michel, Saint-Wandrille, Saint-
Ouen and Fécamp, none of which can be dated precisely.® It was also during this
period that the bishop began producing his own charters, and at sometime after 1020,
he issued an act for the abbey of Jumiéges in which he gave the abbey the land of
Rouvray,* and allowed the monks free passage along the Eure from here until the
village of Fontaine-sous-Jouy.** Hugh is once again qualified in the act by both his
episcopal office and his relationship to his father, though it is clear Rodulf was no
longer alive, for the bishop is described as ‘the former son of the count’ (quondam
comitis filius).3* The charter is interesting, therefore, not only because it is the oldest
known surviving original episcopal act for the entire ecclesiastical province, but also
because it shows Hugh discharging the responsibilities of his newly acquired secular
position. The donation was made at the request of Hugh’s knight, a certain Rodulf,

whom the bishop described as being ‘exceedingly dear to me’ (meus miles

27 <3, Hugonis episcopi, Rodulfi filii’, RADN, nos. 18, p. 102.

%8 <Signum Hugonis episcopi filii Rodulfi comitis’, RADN, no. 13, p. 89.

2 Exceptions to this rule include Robert, archbishop of Rouen, who is referred to as a relation (either
son or brother) of one of the dukes (e.g. RADN, no. 24); Odo, bishop of Bayeux, who after 1066 is
often referred to as earl of Kent (e.g. Regesta, no. 71), though not in Norman documents, and Hugh’s
brother John, bishop of Avranches, who is also referred to as Rodulf’s son, even though the count had
been dead for almost fifty years, RADN, no. 229.

% Bulst, Wilhelms von Dijon, pp. 223-236. Hugh witnessed this act along with all the other bishops of
Normandy in 1017 x ¢. 1022.

L RADN, nos. 24, 30-31, 43, 47.

% Rouvray, Eure, cant. Vernon-Sud.

% Fontaine-sous-Jouy, Eure, cant. Evreux-Est.

% AD Seine-Maritime, 9 H 27. A critical edition of this charter can be found in Appendix G.
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uehementer michi carissimus), and who was about to become a monk at Jumiéges.
Rodulf held the land of Rouvray from the bishop ‘ex meo iure hereditario’, which
clearly refers to his paternal inheritance, while the affection that Hugh felt for Rodulf
suggests he was perhaps a former tutor or guardian of some kind. The act was also
witnessed by Hugh’s chaplain, and although he has been included among lists of

|’35

cathedral personnel,” it seems more likely that this was an individual inherited by the

bishop from his father.*

The charter was the first of a series in which Hugh made donations to institutions

and individuals throughout the duchy.’

Despite the bishop’s evident liberality,
modern scholars have not always viewed his activities sympathetically, and have
portrayed Hugh as an individual whose primary concerns lay with his landed estates,
rather than his diocese, and who often acted to the detriment of other religious
institutions.®® This is especially true of the abbey of Fécamp, which Lucien Musset
believed had ‘souffrit beaucoup’®® following an exchange in which the bishop
received the domain of Argences.*® Though as Cassandra Potts has noted, although

I,* the trade seems to have been

the act states the monks initially balked at the proposa
made in their favour, allowing them to administer their estates more efficiently.* It is
possible that Hugh was also involved in negotiating a ‘life-lease’ agreement for the
abbey concerning the land of Beaunay in the Pays de Caux.*® This act was witnessed
by a ‘Hugo episcopus’,** and although other Norman bishops named Hugh were
involved with Fécamp at this time, sometimes negotiating their own ‘life-lease’

agreements,* it seems most likely that the individual in this instance was the bishop

% Spear, The personnel, p. 54.

% |f the chaplain did serve Hugh as bishop, rather than count, then it is the only known example of this
position at Bayeux in the eleventh century. The next individual identified in this post does not appear
for another hundred years, Spear, The personnel, pp. 53-54.

%7 Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. A1[7] & [14]; Le Cacheux, Histoire de Saint-Amand, no.
3, p. 247; Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. xxi; RADN, nos. 36, 53, 100, 144, 234;
OV, iii, p. 122. Critical editions of all these acts can be found in Appendix G.

% Bates, ‘Notes sur ’aristocratie normande’, p. 9; Bates, Normandy before 1066, p. 213.

%9 Musset, ‘La contribution de Fécamp’, p. 62.

“ Argences, Calvados, cant. Troarn.

1 ‘Quod post multas eorum excusationes tandem obtinui’, RADN, no. 71, p. 208. Dated 11 April 1034
at Fécamp.

*2 Potts, Monastic revival, pp. 127-130.

*® Beaunay, Seine-Maritime, cant. Totes.

* BN, coll. Moreau, vol. 21, fol. 25r-v. Dated 1028 x 1040. For a full list of episcopal children, see
below, Appendix D.

% This is Hugh, bishop of Avranches. For details of his various dealings with Fécamp, see above pp.
53-54.
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of Bayeux. As inheritor of the honour of Breteuil,*

which included fees in the Pays
de Caux,”” Hugh would have had an active interest in overseeing such an
arrangement, while he was joined in witnessing the act by various members of his
family, including his brother-in-law Osbern, and two previously unknown relatives,
his brother Turold, and his son Rodulf.*® Given that Hugh is known to have fathered
at least one other child,*® and that his son is named in his father’s honour, a practice

evident among his sister’s children,

it not only confirms his participation in this
particular agreement, but also provides interesting information regarding his own
family. Moreover, Hugh’s involvement reinforces the arguments of Cassandra Potts,
since these ‘life-lease’ contracts often helped develop and augment the lands of the

abbey involved.*

The generous donations made by the bishop to monastic institutions throughout
the duchy does much to reinforce his image as a man concerned for their wellbeing,
while the style of the charters through which he made these grants reveals some of his
less recognised qualities. Among the more notable features of these acts are their
arengae, a pious or portentous preamble, through which Hugh explains the wider
considerations behind his actions. These elaborate clauses expound the spiritual need
for and reward of such ventures, while their message is reinforced by Scriptural
allusions from both the Old and New Testaments.>> Moreover, Hugh not only granted
property to certain abbeys, he also consented to their foundation. He played a leading
role, for example, in the establishment of the abbeys of Cerisy-la-Forét, Conches,

Préaux and Saint-Etienne de Fontenay,>® and not only agreed to their foundation, but

“® Bates, ‘Notes sur ’aristocratie normande’, pp. 10-12.

*" The fees in the Pays de Caux of the honour of Breteuil are analysed in J. Le Maho, ‘L’apparition des
seigneuries chatelaines dans le Grand-Caux a 1’époque ducale’, Archéologie médiévale, 6 (1976), pp. 5-
148, at pp. 46-47. Hugh also donated land located in this region to the abbey of Saint-Wandrille,
RADN, no. 234. It is possible that one of these properties (Brunetot), identified by Marie Fauroux as
Bennetot (Seine-Maritime, cant. Yerville), is actually Benetot, located about 3km to the east of
Beaunay. Hugh’s mother was also from the Pays de Caux, GND, ii, p. 174.

8 < .. testes affuit Hugo episcopus, Turoldus frater eius, Osbernus filius Arfast, Radulfus filius
episcopi...’, BN, ms. coll. Moreau, vol. 21, fol. 25r-v, at fol. 25v.

* This is his daughter, Aubrée, GND, vi. 5, p. 52; OV, iii, p. 244.

% We know that Emma named at least two of her children Rodulf, Bauduin, La premiére Normandie,
p. 198.

>! potts analyses the specific contract discussed here, but does not mention the involvement of the
bishop of Bayeux, Potts, Monastic revival, p. 56.

%2 Chartes de I'abbaye de Jumiéges, i, no. viii; Le Cacheux, Histoire de Saint-Amand, no. 3, p. 247.
Critical editions of these acts can be found in Appendix G.

%3 RADN, no. 64; Regesta, no. 149; Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. Al; Grand Cartulaire de
Conches, no. 406 (i).
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also provided some of them with exemption from certain episcopal customs.>* Hugh
showed similar commitment to preserving and extending the possessions of his own
cathedral, and expressed how he had grieved (dolui) over the loss of church benefices
following the death of Robert I, which he was apparently powerless to stop in the face
of ‘certain robbers’ (quosdam raptores).”® Calling upon his half-cousin, the
archbishop of Rouen, and certain other laymen, he was able to demonstrate the
cathedral’s rightful possession of these benefices, and promptly had them restored and
confirmed (fig. 23).>°

This charter is interesting not only for the snapshot it provides of cathedral
possessions at this time, but also the light it sheds on the difficulties that men, even
those of the highest stature, could face in protecting their property during periods of
iure tirannico. Hugh had ascended to the episcopate during a period when ducal
authority was particularly strong, and it is possible that throughout these years the
duke’s influence was enough to guarantee possessions located far from Hugh’s own
sphere of influence, which was concentrated overwhelmingly in the east of the
duchy.® It is difficult, in fact, to locate Hugh in his diocese throughout his entire
reign,®® and when his precise location can be determined, he is to be found either in
places of ducal authority (Rouen, Fécamp),>® or those near his landed possessions
(Préaux).? It is possible, therefore, that following the collapse of ducal authority in
the opening years of the reign of Robert I, the bishop of Bayeux found the possessions
of his church, located well outside his ambit of power, difficult to protect from local

barons over whom he had little control. It has been proposed that the cause of the

> For a map of the episcopal customs held in fee from the bishop by Rodulf Taisson, which were
subsequently given by him to his foundation at Fontenay, see Bauduin, La premiere Normandie, p.
203.

% Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. xxi. A critical edition of this charter can be found
in Appendix G.

% < .. sed Roberto archiepiscopo, et comiti, et vicecomiti Niello, ceterisque senioribus regni iusticiam
gerentibus facere clamorem necessarium duxi. Quo vero clamore prolato in medio; invenerunt
Robertus scilicet archiepiscopus, Odo comes, et Niellus vicecomes, aliique seniores iusticiam regni
obtinentes, quod illas terras quarum clamorem facerem; sub episcopali sacramento sancte Marie in
perpetuum, adquirere deberem, quod et feci, terrarumque nomina; tali notatione in hac cartula
subscripsi’, Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. xxi, p. 28.

> Bates, ‘Notes sur ’aristocratie normande’, pp. 10-12.

%8 The description of the discovery of the relics of SS. Ravennus and Rasiphus claims that when the
nun was told the relics were in the church of Saint-Vaast-sur-Seulles, she ‘went to Hugh’, who was
presumably also in Bayeux: ‘... mulier, Hugonem adit, narratque ex ordine quaecumque viderat’,
‘Appendix Bajocensi Breviario’, p. 394.

% RADN, nos. 13, 18, 61 (Rouen) and 34-36 (Fécamp).

% Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. A1[7].
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quarrel between the duke and the bishop, which led to Hugh fortifying his castle at
Ivry and his subsequent exile in France,®* was caused by the bishop’s dissatisfaction
with the duke’s misuse of ecclesiastical property.®* If Hugh recognised the need to
bolster his authority in his diocese, then it is perhaps little surprise that it was upon his
return from France that he approached the duke at Fécamp, and asked that he
countenance his proposal regarding the domain of Argences, which would allow him
to exchange lands in the extreme northeast of the duchy for a much needed foothold

in his diocese.®®

That the majority of the bishop’s contributions to his city date from the end of his
episcopate seems to confirm the suggestion that he was not much involved there until
after 1035. Moreover, the exact nature of Hugh’s role in the growth of Bayeux is a
matter of debate, with much of the evidence coming from late and unreliable sources.
The city was certainly home, by no later than 1026, to a thriving cult dedicated to
Mary Magdalene,®* and although it seems Bayeux was at the heart of spreading this
particular devotion in the West,* it cannot be said that its bishop played any specific
part in its dissemination. In fact, it is entirely possible that the cult, like that of St.
George, another cult of eastern origin active in the city during Hugh’s episcopate, had
been established in the region well before the eleventh century.®® The most
contentious source regarding the early eleventh-century history of Bayeux remains,
however, the vita of Geoffrey, second abbot of Savigny.®” The criticisms of this text,

which was written towards the end of twelfth century, are well enough known that

1 GND, ii, p. 52.

%2 potts, Monastic revival, p. 130.

% RADN, no. 71.

% The evidence comes from Hugh of Flavigny, who, during his account of a pilgrimage to Jerusalem
undertaken by Richard de Saint-Vanne, records the existence of ‘monasterium sanctac Mariae
Magdalenae in eadem Baiocensium civitate situm’, Hugh of Flavigny, Chronicon, ed. G.H. Pertz,
MGH: SS, 8 (Hanover, 1848), p. 393.

% For discussion of the cult of Mary Magdalene in Bayeux, see V. Saxer, Le culte de Marie Madeleine
en Occident des origines a la fin du moyen age, 2 vols. (Auxerre, 1959), i, pp. 62, 73, 84, 88, 128, 144,
163, 176; ii, pp. 202, 255, 269, 290-291, 298, 300, 320-321; L. Musset, ‘Observations sur le culte de
sainte Marie-Madeleine en Normandie et notamment a Bayeux’, BSAN, 56 (1961-1962), pp. 667-670;
J. Fournée, Le culte populaire et I'iconographie des saints en Normandie (Paris, 1973), p. 53; Bouvris,
‘Notes d’histoire bayeusaine’, pp. 16-18.

% For the cult of St. George, and the church dedicated in Bayeux in his honour, see Bouvris, ‘Notes
d’histoire bayeusaine’, pp. 18-20. Saint-Georges de Bayeux was one of the churches granted to the
abbey of Cerisy-la-Forét at the moment of its foundation in Nov. 1032, which Hugh freed from
episcopal customs, RADN, no. 64.

% “Vita s. Gaufridi, secundi abbatis Saviniacensis’, in ‘Vitae BB. Vitalis et Gaufridi, primi et secundi
abbatum Saviniacensium’, ed. E.P. Sauvage, Analecta Bollandiana, 1 (1882), pp. 355-410, at pp. 390-
410.
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they need not be rehearsed here.®® It seems, nevertheless, that Hugh did play some
role in beginning construction on the cathedral,*® which was far enough advanced to
welcome the relics of SS. Ravennus and Rasiphus, while the fire mentioned in the vita
of Geoffrey, which is supposed to have destroyed a large part of the edifice,” is still
repeated as fact by modern historians of the city,”* and is sometimes dated as

precisely as 1046."

Hugh also played an important role in developing some of the other institutions
necessary to the cohesion of any medieval bishopric. The charter confirming the
cathedral’s possessions includes ‘the land where the park of the bishop was at
Bayeux’,”® and allods at Douvres-la-Délivrande,”* which are the earliest references to
two of the episcopal manors established throughout the diocese, which allowed the

bishop to exercise his authority throughout the see.”

Hugh’s most important
contribution in this regard, however, was the parcel of possessions secured in the west
of his diocese that would later comprise the domain of Neuilly.”® These holdings
helped secure an important frontier location, while the site was later home to an
episcopal residence that included a stone castle.”” It seems Hugh also took the first
steps to establish the personnel who would administer these sites in his absence. The
famous Bayeux Inquest of 1133 reveals some of the land subinfeudated by the bishop
before 1047,”® while families like the Suhart,” whose land is mentioned in the charter
of cathedral restitutions,?® continued to serve Hugh’s successors, and held positions

within the cathedral chapter.®* Similarly, families such as those centred around

% Bates, ‘Notes sur I’aristocratie normande’, pp. 18-20. Bates’ criticisms have been followed by certain
Savignac scholars, including Moolenbroek, Vital I’ermite, pp. 80-81.

% Bayl¢, ‘Les évéques et I’architecture’, p. 167.

"0 <Contigit... civitatem Baiocensem, cum cathedrali ecclesia et aliis ecclesiis parochialibus. .. inopinati
incendii infortunio concremari’, ‘Vita s. Gaufridi’, § II, p. 392.

™ Bouvris, ‘Notes d’histoire bayeusaine’, p. 28.

2 F. Neveux, Bayeux et Lisieux: villes épiscopales de Normandie a la fin du Moyen Age (Caen, 1996),
pp. 42, 51.

3 <. terram ubi parcus episcopi fuit in Baiocis’, Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no.
xxi, p. 29.

™ Douvres-la-Délivrande, Calvados, chef-lieu.

" For these manors, see Casset, Les évéques aux champs, pp. 60-61, 280-281.

"® For the possessions that made up this domain, see Casset, Les évéques aux champs, p. 367.

" Casset, Les évéques aux champs, pp. 367-371.

"® Haskins, Norman Institutions, pp. 16-17.

" The Suhart are discussed in Bates, ‘Notes sur ’aristocratie normande’, pp. 16-17.

8 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. xxi, p. 29. This land may have been located
around Neuilly, Casset, Les évéques aux champs, p. 367.

8 Spear, The personnel, pp. 73, 78.
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Feuguerolles and Cottun,®* whose land also formed part of the cathedral possessions
restored by Hugh,® not only went on to hold various positions within the cathedral
chapter, but also established prebends that would eventually come under the control
of the Suhart.®*

What control Hugh actually retained over these men is, however, unclear. The
rebellious army that marched against the duke in 1047 was comprised of some of the
leading men of the Bessin, including those from Bayeux itself,®> while the famous
battle that saw the rebel army defeated at Val-és-Dunes was fought in the heart of
Hugh’s diocese. Those who recorded the events surrounding the revolt are silent as to
any role played by the bishop in support of either the duke or the rebels,®® though this
has not prevented some from falsely accusing Hugh of having some role in the
uprising.®’ Interestingly, Wace, who is a surprisingly reliable source for the battle
records that in the days before the mélée, Rodulf Taisson had sworn on the relics at
Bayeux that he would strike the duke ‘wherever he might find him’.%® Unfortunately,
the identity of these relics is not specified, but since the relics of SS. Ravennus and
Rasiphus were located, before their translation to Bayeux, at Saint-Vaast-sur-
Seulles,”® which may have already been in Rodulf’s possession at this time, it is
entirely possible that these are the ossements in question. Moreover, such a ceremony
would have undoubtedly involved the participation of a local ecclesiastic, and if this
was not Hugh, then it was, at the very least, someone under his charge.”* On the other
hand, it is possible that Hugh played a leading role in the defection of Rodulf Taisson,

who joined the duke’s side before battle commenced,” rewarding him with the

8 Feuguerolles-Bully, Calvados, cant. Evrecy; Cottun, Calvados, cant. Bayeux.

8 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. xxi, p. 29.

8 Spear, The personnel, pp. 61, 67, 73.

8 Wace records that a certain man by the name of Hardret, ‘who was born and raised in Bayeux’, was

killed by Duke William, Wace, Roman de Rou, part 111, Il. 4061-62.
% GG, i. 8, p. 10; GND, ii, pp. 120-122; OV, iv, p. 84; William of Malmesbury, GR, i, p. 428; Wace,
Roman de Rou, part 111, 1l. 3761-4162.

8 H. Navel, ‘Monographie de Feuguerolles-sur-Orne (Calvados) des origines & la Révolution’, MSAN,
38 (1930), pp. 141-459, at p. 228. Navel does not state his source, though it is probably the thirteenth-
century ‘Chronique de Normandie’, which lists a ‘Sansson I’Evesque de Bayeux’ among the
conspirators, RHGF, xi, p. 333.

8 E.M.C. van Houts, ‘Wace as historian’, in Family trees and the roots of politics, pp. 103-132, at p.
107.

8 Wace, Roman de Rou, part I11, line 3884.

% <Historia Ravenni et Rasiphi’, p. 393.

! The presence of an ecclesiastic was not always necessary at such ceremonies, however. See L.
Musset, The Bayeux Tapestry, trans. R. Rex (Woodbridge, 2005), Scene 23, pp. 148-149.

% Wace, Roman de Rou, part 11, Il. 3873-3913.
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possession of Saint-Vaast, and the episcopal customs of twelve churches in the region,
which he held in fief from the bishop.”® Moreover, it is perhaps no coincidence that
William set off to confront the rebels from Argences, which had been in Hugh’s

possession since 1034.%*

The entire episode must, however, have proved somewhat embarrassing for the
bishop. Men like Grimoult Le Plessis, who served the cathedral of Bayeux for his
lands, was one of the principal conspirators of 1047.% His possessions were promptly
confiscated by the duke, and were only returned to the cathedral in 1074.% This not
only robbed the community at Bayeux of an important estate, but perhaps indicates
that the duke had, to some extent, begun to doubt Hugh’s ability to administer that
with which he was charged. The diplomatic evidence reveals that the bishop was
primarily interested in institutions located to the east of the Risle at this time, where
he was particularly involved in the abbey of Saint-Amand de Rouen, of which his
sister, Emma, had just been made abbess.®” It is possible that Hugh played some role
in the establishment of the Truce of God,* which was promulgated at a council held
in his diocese shortly after Val-es-Dunes, but the fact that he chose, in the same year
as this meeting, to invade lands belonging to the abbey of Préaux,*® has rightly been
held up as evidence that the bishop would probably have been less than enthusiastic
about such measures.'® It is possible, however, that the move was intended to benefit
his cathedral, rather than the bishop himself, for Hugh secured plate (candelabras and

a chalice) from the abbey in return for the lands he had seized,'®

which may have
been intended to replace those items lost during the fire that had ravaged the city in

around 1046. The bishop had, however, already shown himself unprepared to become

% These are the churches later granted to the abbey of Fontenay, Regesta, no. 149.

% Wace, Roman de Rou, part 11, line 3841.

% H. Navel, ‘L’enquéte de 1133 sur les fiefs de I’évéché de Bayeux’, BSAN, 42 (1934), pp. 5-81, at pp.
15-16; Wace, Roman de Rou, part 11, 1l. 4203-4226.

% Regesta, no. 27.

" RADN, no. 116 (a critical edition of this act can be found in Appendix G); Le Cacheux, Histoire de
Saint-Amand, no. 2, p. 246.

% David Douglas felt that the synod was held ‘at the instigation of Hugh’, Douglas, ‘The Norman
episcopate’, p. 114.

% Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no. A1[14]. A critical edition of this act can be found in
Appendix G.

199°M. de Boiiard, “Sur les origines de la Tréve de Dieu en Normandie’, AN, 9 (1959), pp. 169-189, at p.
175.
101 < . tria argentea candelabra, videlicet, duo ex puro argento, et tercium ex auro et argento, vel
nigello pulchre compositum, et unum calicem deauratum’, Cartulaire de Saint-Pierre-de-Préaux, no.
Al[14], p. 7.
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actively involved in promoting reform ideas in the duchy, and did not attend the
council convened by the archbishop of Rouen in around 1045 to discuss such

matters.%

It is somewhat unusual, therefore, that Hugh, in his last known act as bishop,
should have participated in the papal council held at Reims in October 1049.1% It is
possible that, like the archbishop under whom he had first served, Hugh had chosen to
amend his ways, and now sought to dedicate himself to upholding principles that he
had once shunned.'® It is more likely, however, that he was sent along with four of
his colleagues in part to negotiate the marriage of the duke to Mathilda of Flanders, a
union that had been conceived in the year following Val-&s-Dunes.’® The marriage
would ultimately be condemned by the pope, though the record of council

106

proceedings gives no exact reason why.”> What Hugh made of the meeting is

unknown. Bates suggested he would have been ‘stupéfait’,'*” and there seems little
reason to doubt that a man who had fathered at least two children, commanded great
secular power and exerted his influence militarily would have found many of the
council’s decrees unpalatable.'® Hugh’s participation in the council is, however, one
of the many contradictions that define his episcopate. He undoubtedly played an
important role in revitalising his diocese, but many of the most important institutions
remained only half restored, a failing revealed all too painfully by the revolt of 1047.
But above all, Hugh’s episcopate had illustrated how great secular power alone was
not enough to guarantee the successful administration of a diocese, and although the

bishop chose to be buried at Bayeux,'®

it is perhaps no coincidence that the man the
duke chose to succeed him was not simply his half-brother, but was part of a family

already well implanted in the region.

192 The council was only attended by two of the Norman bishops, namely those of Coutances and
Evreux, Bessin, Concilia, p. 40.

103 <Dedicatio sancti Remigii’, col. 737; Anselme de Saint-Rémy, “Histoire’, p. 236.

104 For the repentance of Robert, archbishop of Rouen, see “Acta archiepiscoporum’, p. 224.

1% Douglas, William the Conqueror, p. 76; GND, ii, p. 129 n. 5.

1% <Dedicatio sancti Remigii’, col. 742; Anselme de Saint-Rémy, ‘Histoire’, p. 252.

lo7 Bates, ‘Notes sur I’aristocratie normande’, p. 8.

1% Unlike the bishops of Sées and Coutances, however, he was not admonished for his misdeeds at the
council, ‘Dedicatio sancti Remigii’, col. 741; Anselme de Saint-Rémy, ‘Histoire’, p. 248; GND, ii, pp.
116-118.

19 Hugh was apparently buried next to the tower: ‘... sepultus est iuxta pyramidem a parte
septentrionis’, GC, xi, col. 353. The source for this information is unclear, although it is repeated in an
eighteenth-century history of the bishops, which adds that Hugh was interred ‘sous un tombeau de
marbre’, Bib. du chap. de Bayeux, ms. 7 (now AD Calvados, ms. 6 G 7), fol. 76v. This monument,
along with its inscription, was destroyed by the Huguenots in 1562.
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Odo, c. 1049-1097

Few Anglo-Norman personalities are quite so well known as Odo, bishop of
Bayeux. With activities well documented on both sides of the Channel, his career has
been the subject of scholarly endeavours in both England and France since the turn of
the eighteenth century.* Odo’s most recent biographer, David Bates, has done much to
correct the mistakes of these earlier authors, and although many resources have since
become available for the study of Odo’s career, that which follows is, necessarily, still
heavily indebted to this work.? Moreover, in an effort to reduce unnecessary
repetition, and to ensure that it is Odo’s contributions as a member of the Norman
episcopate, rather than the English nobility, that are documented, the reassessments
offered herein will primarily concern his continental activities. There is little need to
discuss the beginnings of these deeds in any great detail, for Odo is well known to be
the son of the Conqueror’s mother, Herleva, and her husband Herluin de Conteville,?
whose influence spread throughout the duchy, including the diocese of Bayeux.’
Odo’s exact date of birth has proved impossible to determine, though it should
probably be located around 1032 to 1033.° Despite this uncertainty, there is little
doubt that when Odo finally received the see of Bayeux he was well under the
canonical age of thirty, a fact noted by certain near contemporary chroniclers.® He did
not ascend to the episcopate completely unschooled in ecclesiastical affairs, however,
for at some point before his election he was ordained a deacon at Fécamp by his first

! Hermant, Histoire du diocése de Bayeux, pp. 130-150; Bib. du chap. de Bayeux, ms. 6 (now AD
Calvados, ms. 6 G 6), fol. 33v-36r; Bib. du chap. de Bayeux, ms. 7 (how AD Calvados, ms. 6 G 7), fol.
13r-14r, 76v-78v; E.A. Freeman, The history of the Norman Conquest of England, its causes and its
results, 6 vols. (Oxford, 1867-1879), vi, pp. 180-181 (index of Odo’s appearances); M. Beziers,
Mémoires pour servir a l’état historique et géographique du diocése de Bayeux, ed. G. le Hardy, 3
vols. (Rouen, 1894-1896), i, pp. 287-294; V. Bourrienne, ‘Odon de Conteville, évéque de Bayeux. Son
role au début de la premiére Croisade’, Revue catholique de Normandie, 7 (1897), pp. 389-405; 8
(1898), pp. 20-41; 9 (1899), pp. 420-440, 530-542; 10 (1900), pp. 266-289 (also published as a single
volume); Gleason, An ecclesiastical barony, pp. 8-17; P.L. Hull, “The Norman episcopate during the
reign of William the Conqueror’, Dissertation, MA, 2 vols. (University of Bristol, 1955), ii, pp. 236-
297 and pp. 298-365.

2 D. Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux, 1049-1097°, Thesis, PhD (University of Exeter, 1970), 344 p.;
Bates, ‘The character and career’, pp. 1-20. The article of Lucien Musset adds little to this work, L.
Musset, ‘Un prélate du XlIe siécle, Odon de Bayeux’, Art de Basse-Normandie, 76 (1978-1979), pp. 12-
18.

® GND, ii, p. 96; OV, iv, p. 98.

* For a detailed discussion of this family, see Bates, ‘Notes sur ’aristocratie normande’, pp. 21-38; D.
Bates and V. Gazeau, ‘L’abbaye de Grestain et la famille d’Herluin de Conteville’, AN, 40 (1990), pp.
5-30.

® Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 3; Bates, “The character and career’, p. 2. Musset dated Odo’s
birth ‘vers 1036°, Musset, ‘Un prélate du Xle siécle’, p. 13.

GG, i. 39, p. 166; OV, iv, p. 116.
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cousin, once removed, Hugh d’Eu, bishop of Lisieux.” The ordination may have taken
place shortly before Odo’s appointment as bishop,® and therefore paid little more than
lip service to canonical regulations,’ but given the redating of the episcopate of Hugh
d’Eu discussed below, this event may have taken place anytime between 1046 and
1049.% 1t is entirely possible, therefore, that Odo spent some time at Fécamp, where
he may have received instruction from one of the duchy’s most eminent ecclesiastics,

John of Ravenna.t*

Unfortunately, it is unknown exactly when Odo became bishop, or where, and by
whom, he was consecrated. A charter of Robert Curthose, which was issued on 24
April 1089, in ‘the fortieth year since the ordination of bishop Odo’, suggests he had
been consecrated at some point before 23 April 1050, although Odo’s first datable
appearance is found in a charter of Saint-Evroult, certain redactions of which claim it
was issued on 25 September of the same year.™ Since all the other known episcopal
ordinations of the eleventh century took place at Rouen,* it is possible that Odo’s
consecration coincided with the duke’s re-entry into the ducal capital following an
uprising by its citizenry."> However, since Odo’s election was clearly part of a
deliberate policy that sought to extend ducal influence in the west of the duchy,® it is
entirely possible that the duke ordered the consecration take place in Bayeux itself.
The city was, after all, home to a cathedral that had been partly completed by Odo’s
predecessor, and even if this edifice had been destroyed by the fire mentioned in the
vita of Geoffrey, abbot of Savigny, there was still a thriving religious community
centred around as many as ten parish churches.!” Bayeux also had a reputation as a
strong centre of Scandinavian culture, where dukes sent their children to be educated

" Musset, ‘Notules fécampoises’, p. 596.

8 Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 3; Musset, ‘Un prélate du Xle siécle’, p. 13.

® See, for example, the ninth canon of the council convened at Rouen in 1072, OV, ii, p. 288.

19 For discussion of this redating, see below pp. 257-259.

1 For John of Ravenna, see Gazeau, Normannia monastica, ii, pp. 105-110.

12 < . ordinationis Odonis eiusdem ecclesiae episcopi anno quadragesimo’, Bourrienne, Antiquus
cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. iv. The Liber depositionum of Saint-Bénigne de Dijon claims Odo
governed his diocese for 48 years, which would place his ordination in late 1049, Chartes et documents
de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon : prieurés et dependances des origines a 1300, ed. G. Chevrier and M.
Chaume, 2 vols. (Dijon, 1943-1986), ii, no. 390, p. 167.

" RADN, no. 122 versions CDE.

“ William Bona Anima, Geoffrey de Montbray, Rodulf, bishop of Coutances, Gilbert Maminot, bishop
of Lisieux and Serlo, bishop of Sées were all consecrated at Rouen.

GG, i. 10, p. 12. The duke re-entered the city in early 1050.

16 Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 9; Bates, ‘The character and career’, p. 5.

" Bouvris, ‘Notes d’histoire bayeusaine’, pp. 15-30; Neveux, Bayeux et Lisieux, pp. 52-53.
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in Danish customs in the days of Dudo of Saint-Quentin,*® while men from the city
had participated in the revolt of 1047.'° There would have been little better place,
therefore, to perform the consecration, an event that would have heralded the process
by which the dichotomy between Upper and Lower Normandy would begin to be

mitigated.?°

Following his election, Odo wasted little time in becoming a regular participant in
the daily life of the court. His activities at this time are, however, no different from
those of his episcopal colleagues, and primarily involve the attestation of ducal acts
for the duchy’s ecclesiastical institutions.”> These charters sometimes involved
donations of land located within Odo’s diocese,?? or concerned gifts made to a local
monastery such as Cerisy,? but the vast majority seem to have been subscribed by the
bishop simply because they were issued at a meeting of the court at which he was
present. In 1051, for example, Odo attested two charters for the abbey of Saint-
Wandrille, which were witnessed by an impressive gathering of ecclesiastics and
laymen.?* The presence among the witnesses of the young Robert Curthose, who
cannot have been more than a year old,”® suggests the charters had perhaps been
drawn up in the immediate aftermath of an event such as his baptism, which had been
officiated by the archbishop of Rouen, who was also present, with Odo and the
bishops of Evreux and Lisieux assisting.?® Similarly, it is possible that another
attestation, this time on a charter concerning a dispute between the abbeys of
Marmoutier and Saint-Pierre de la Couture,?’ conceals Odo’s participation in another

event of wider significance. Indeed, although it has been most recently suggested that

'8 De moribus, p. 221.

9 Wace, Roman de Rou, part 111, Il. 4061-62.

% Douglas, William the Conqueror, p. 55.

21 RADN, nos. 122 (versions CDE), 124, 126, 132, 141, 159 (version B and C), 190, 195, 227, 229,
231.

22 RADN, no. 190.

> RADN, no. 195.

<4 Signum Roberti iuvenis comitis’, RADN, nos. 124, 126.

% Both acts survive as originals (AD Seine-Maritime, 16 H 27 and BN, ms. lat. 16738, planche 5), and
although Ferdinand Lot believed the signum of the young Curthose was a later interpolation (F. Lot,
Etudes critiques sur [’abbaye de Saint-Wandrille (Paris, 1913), no. 30, p. 76 n. 1), it is generally
accepted as genuine by modern authorities (RADN, no. 124, p. 294). Not all have been convinced,
however, and Curthose’s most recent biographer has suggested that while the young Robert may have
been present, the signatures were probably added later, Aird, Robert Curthose, p. 26 n. 21.

% That the acts were witnessed by such figures, as well as by both parents and an impressive gathering
of laymen would certainly suggest such an event. Curthose’s most recent biographer does not comment
on the matter, Aird, Robert Curthose, p. 26.

" RADN, no. 159.



Date Document Beneficiary Location T S M
c. 1049 x 1066 RADN, no. 190 Saint-Wandrille X X
1050 (25 Sept.?) RADN, no. 122 (versions CDE) Saint-Evroult Lyons-la-Forét X
c. 1050 x 1066 RADN, no. 195 Cerisy-la-Forét X
1051 RADN, no. 124 Saint-Wandrille X
1051 RADN, no. 126 Saint-Wandrille X
c. 1052 x 1058 RADN, no. 141 Marmoutier X
1055 RADN, no. 132 Mont-Saint-Michel X
c. 1060 x 1066 RADN, no. 219 Bayeux cathedral X
22 Sept. 1063 x 1066 RADN, no. 159 Marmoutier Domfront X
1063 RADN, no. 156 (versions B and C) Saint-Julien de Tours Bonneville-sur-Touques X X
1066 (?) RADN, no. 227 Beaumont-les-Tours Bayeux (in camera comitis) X X
1066 RADN, no. 229 Avranches cathedral X X
18 June 1066 RADN, no. 231 La Trinité de Caen Caen X X
1066 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 90 Cerisy-la-Forét X
1066 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 91 Cerisy-la-Forét X X
1066 x 1079 Regesta, no. 89 Cerisy-la-Forét X X
1066 x 1077 Regesta, no. 45 Saint-Etienne de Caen X
1066 x 1076 Regesta, no. 211 Montivilliers X
1068 x 1077/8 Regesta, no. 199 Marmoutier X
1068 x 1076 Regesta, no. 212 Montivilliers X
1068 x 1070 BN, ms. lat. 10086, fol. 52r Troarn X X X
1068 Regesta, no. 280 Troarn X X
1068 Regesta, no. 345(1 & 1) Worcester cathedral X
May 1068 Regesta, no. 286 Wells cathedral (Westminster) X
13 April 1069 Regesta, no. 254 Saint-Denis Winchester X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 70 Canterbury cathedral X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 71 Canterbury cathedral X X X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 72 Canterbury cathedral X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 73 Canterbury cathedral X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 74 Canterbury cathedral X X X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 75 Canterbury cathedral X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 76 Canterbury cathedral X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 85 St. Augustine’s, Canterbury X X X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 86 St. Augustine’s, Canterbury X X X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 87 St. Augustine’s, Canterbury X X
1070 x 1079 Regesta, no. 149 Fontenay X X
c. 1070 x 1077/8 Regesta, no. 141 (A) Fécamp X
1071 x 1079 Regesta, no. 198 Marmoutier X

ecl



25 Mar. x 28 Aug. 1072
27 May 1072
1074

May 1074

30 Nov. 1074
1075 x 1082/3"
1075/6 x 1081/2
1076 x 1082/3
1076 x 1082/3
1077/8 x 1082/3
1077

14 July 1077
13 Sept. 1077
1078 x 1082/3
1078 x 1082/3
1078 x 1082/3
1079 x 1082/3
1079 x 1082/3
1079 x 1082/3
1079 x 1082/3
1080/1 x 1083
1080 x 1082/3
1080 x 1082
1080

7 Jan. 1080

31 Jan. 1080

2 June 1080

14 July 1080
1081 x 1087
1081/2 x 1086
1081 x 1082
Feb. 1081

31 May 1081
1082

1082

Autumn 1082
1082 (late)
1087 x 1096

Regesta, no. 69 (I, Ib and I1)
Regesta, no. 68
Regesta, no. 27
Regesta, no. 261
Regesta, no. 26
Regesta, no. 186
Regesta, no. 118
Regesta, no. 307
Regesta, no. 313
Regesta, no. 102
Regesta, no. 166
Regesta, no. 83
Regesta, no. 46
Regesta, no. 134
Regesta, no. 135
Regesta, no. 155
Regesta, no. 52
Regesta, no. 57
Regesta, no. 282
Regesta, no. 283
Regesta, no. 53
Regesta, no. 221
Regesta, no. 281 (1,11 & 111)
Regesta, no. 153
Regesta, no. 267 (1)
Regesta, no. 266 (I1)
Regesta, no. 30
Regesta, no. 175 (1&I1)
Regesta, no. 54
Regesta, no. 121
Regesta, no. 49
Regesta, no. 193
Regesta, no. 39
Regesta, no. 59 (1&I1)
Regesta, no. 215
Regesta, no. 158
Regesta, no. 253
Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. Ixxvi

Canterbury cathedral
Canterbury cathedral
Bayeux cathedral
Saint-Wandrille

Bayeux cathedral
London, St. Paul’s

St. Etheldreda’s, Ely
Westminster abbey
Westminster abbey
Cluny

Bec

St. Augustine’s, Canterbury
Saint-Etienne de Caen
Evesham

Evesham

St. Peter’s, Gloucester
Saint-Etienne de Caen
Saint-Etienne de Caen
Troarn

Troarn

Saint-Etienne de Caen
Ramsey abbey

Troarn

St. Peter’s, Gloucester
Saint-Florent de Saumur
Saint-Florent de Saumur
Bernay

Lessay

Saint-Etienne de Caen
St. Etheldreda’s, Ely
Saint-Etienne de Caen
Malmesbury abbey
Bury St. Edmunds

La Trinité de Caen
Saint-Evroult de Mortain
Grestain

Saint-Calais

The bishops of Bayeux

Windsor

Rouen
Rouen

Bayeux
Caen (at the abbey)

Berkeley
Caen
Saint-Georges de Boscherville

Bonneville-sur-Tougques

London
Winchester

Downton (Wilts)
Bayeux (in domo episcopi)

X X

X X X X

x

x

X X X X

x

X X X X X

X X X X

x

“ This charter may also be dated 1087 x 1088.

144"



1087 x 1094 Regesta (Davis), i, no. 355 Rochester cathedral Brigstock (Northants) X
1087 x 1088 Regesta (Davis), i, no. 304 St. Augustine’s, Canterbury X
1088 x 1091 AD Calvados, 1J 41, fol. 45v-46v Saint-Etienne de Caen
1088 x 1096 BN, ms. lat. 10086, fol. 158v-159r Troarn Caen (in hospicio episcopi) X
c. 1088 x Feb. 1092 AD Seine-Maritime, 14 H 160 Saint-Ouen de Rouen X X
24 April 1089 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. iv Bayeux cathedral Vernon X
20 July x 9 Sept. 1089 AD Calvados, 1 J 41, fol. 45r-v Saint-Etienne de Caen X
1089 (July) Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. vi Saint-Vigor-le-Grand Eu (during siege) X
20 July 1089 AD Calvados, 1 J 41, fol. 46v-47r Saint-Etienne de Caen Eu (during siege)
1091 x 1095 Haskins, Norman Institutions, Appendix E, no. 7 Jumieges Lisieux X
1 June 1091 x 28 Feb. 1092 BN, ms. lat. 13905, fol. 52r Bec (Rouen) X
7 May 1092 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, n0. Xxii Bayeux cathedral Bayeux (in capitulo) X X
1093 x 1094 Regesta, no. 267(I1) Saint-Florent de Saumur Bonneville-sur-Touques
1093 Regesta (Davis), i, no. 340 St. Saviour at Bermondsey X
Jan. 1093 GC, xi, Instr., col. 223 Coutances cathedral (Coutances)
Sept. 1093 Regesta (Davis), i, no. 336 Anselm, abp of Canterbury X
25 Sept. 1093 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. xxiii Bayeux cathedral Bayeux (in capitulo) X X
1094 Cartulaire de Vendbme, ii, no. cccli La Trinité de Venddme Venddme
1094 Cartulaire de Vendbme, ii, no. ccclii La Trinité de Venddme Venddme X
24 May 1096 Chartes de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, ii, nos. 385, 391 Saint-Bénigne de Dijon Bayeux X X
24 May 1096 Chartes de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, ii, no. 386 Saint-Bénigne de Dijon Bayeux X X
1096, summer Bauduin, La premiere Normandie, Appendix II, no. 10 Rouen cathedral X
Fig. 24 Appearances of Odo, bishop of Bayeux (c. 1049-1097), in the diplomatic record

Date Document Beneficiary Location S M
1097/9 x 1106 BN, ms. lat. 10058, pp. 1-2 Bec X X
1097/9 x 1106 BN, ms. lat. 10058, p. 3 Bec X
1097/9 x 1106 BN, ms. lat. 10058, p. 4 Bec
1101 x 1105 Haskins, Norman Institutions, Appendix E, no. 3 Saint-Etienne de Caen X

1106 (aft. 28 Sept.) x 1107
7 Nov. 1106

Haskins, Norman Institutions, Appendix F, no. 1
GC, xi, Instr., cols. 127-128

Bec
Fécamp

Rouen
Rouen

Fig. 25 Appearances of Turold d’Envermeu, bishop of Bayeux (1097 x 1099-1107), in the diplomatic record

“ Odo also appears in forged charters for the abbeys of Coventry, Evesham, Gent, Malmesbury, Ramsey, Saint-Ouen de Rouen, Selby and Westminster, and the
cathedral of Durham (Regesta, nos. 104, 109, 110, 111, 114, 133, 150, 194, 220, 245, 272, 290, 293, 301, 303, 305, 306, 308, 317, 322 and 331), while his signum
was interpolated into a charter for Saint-Amand de Rouen, RADN, no. 116 version C. The bishop of Bayeux is also said to have attested a charter for Saint-Evroult
shortly after the Conquest, the text of which is now lost (OV, ii, p. 120), and another for Bec along with Robert Curthose, which has suffered a similar fate, BN, ms.

lat. 13905, fol. 20r (marginalia). Odo is also mentioned in two confirmation charters issued by Henry I, Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, nos. 646, 890.

GZT
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Odo witnessed this act, which was issued at Domfront in 1063 x 1066, because his

28 it is also

position in a neighbouring diocese allowed him to know local custom,
possible that the act was issued at the end of the Breton campaign of 1064, in which

the bishop may have played a part.?

The culmination of this campaign was, of course, the momentous oath of Harold
Godwinson, which was sworn, according to the famous embroidery later produced
under Odo’s patronage,® at Bayeux.*" Unfortunately, the narrative sources disagree as
to the location at which the oath was sworn,* though it is not impossible there were
many such ceremonies,* while none of the chroniclers, or the Tapestry itself, mention
the involvement of Odo himself. It is generally assumed that, if the oath was sworn at
Bayeux, then it was done so upon the cathedral’s relics, though Wace, who was
himself a canon of Bayeux,** does not mention any specific ossements, claiming
instead that the duke ordered numerous unidentified relics to be assembled in the
city.®® This naturally recalls similar circumstances at the council of Caen convened in
1047, where the relics of the abbey of Saint-Ouen de Rouen had held centre stage.*
Nevertheless, by 1064 the city of Bayeux would have been no mean place at which to
stage such an important act of ceremony. Odo had already begun acquiring benefices
for his cathedral,®” and the edifice, which would be dedicated just over a decade later,
must have already been fairly well advanced. It is possible that the cobble stones
depicted in the Bayeux Tapestry, upon which the reliquaries are placed, represent the
space before Odo’s most impressive architectural achievement, namely the two
towers of the cathedral’s western fagcade. Furthermore, while the relics housed at

Bayeux were of no great international reputation, we know that Odo provided a lavish

%8 Barton, Lordship in Maine, p. 217.

29 Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, pp. 11-12.

% The debate over the patronage of the Bayeux Tapestry continues to this day, with the most recent
candidate being Edith Godwinson, wife of Edward the Confessor. Other possible patrons include
Eustace 11, count of Boulogne, although Odo remains the most likely candidate. For a full bibliography
of Tapestry works written between 1985 and 1999, see S.A. Brown, ‘Bibliographie sur la Tapisserie de
Bayeux (1985-1999)’, in La Tapisserie de Bayeux: I’art de broder I’Histoire, ed. P. Bouet, B. Levy and
F. Neveux (Caen, 2004), pp. 411-417.

3 Musset, Bayeux Tapestry, Scenes 22-24, pp. 144-155.

% Wace suggests Bayeux (Wace, Roman de Rouen, part Il1, line 5683), William of Poitiers proposes
Bonneville-sur-Touques (GG, i. 42, p. 70) and Orderic Vitalis claims Rouen, OV, ii, p. 134.

¥ Musset, Bayeux Tapestry, p. 148.

% Spear, The personnel, p. 83.

% Wace, Roman de Rouen, part 111, 1. 5685-86.

% Musset, Bayeux Tapestry, p. 150.

¥ RADN, no. 219.
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reliquary for the bones of SS. Ravennus and Rasiphus, the twelfth-century description
of which matches those depicted in the Tapestry.*® Unfortunately, the reliquary’s
most distinctive feature, its four gilded feet shaped like those of an eagle,® are not
represented here, although a later inventory description does refer to its cover using
terminology normally associated with roofs,*’ recalling the reliquary under Harold’s
right hand, which has a curved lid in the shape of a hogback roof similar to other

contemporary examples.*!

The liberality evident in the reliquary of SS. Ravennus and Rasiphus was repeated
by Odo throughout Bayeux. By the beginning of the twelfth century, visitors from
outside the duchy expressed their admiration at a city of shining rooftops and
impressive towers,*? while Marbode de Rennes snidely commented that the diocese
was wealthy enough to support three bishops.*® Although a great deal of capital was
injected into the city following the Conquest of England, it is clear that a great many
of the institutions that would later benefit from Odo’s newly acquired wealth had been
patronised by the bishop before 1066. Chief among these was the cathedral, of which
only a fraction of the material built by Odo survives. The nature of these components,
and the information they provide regarding the place of Odo’s cathedral within the
architectural history of the region, is so well known that it need not be rehearsed in
full here.*® Those features that perhaps reveal the most about Odo, and about
eleventh-century Bayeux, are the numerous capitals that were discovered during

restorations performed on the cathedral in 1856. Carved in the years before the

% <pontificante vero magno et sublimi viro domno Odone hanc matrem nostram, sanctam videlicet
ecclesiam Baiocensem, tam digniter quam sublimiter, maioris dignitatis et honoris praecipui pretiosam

et mirabiliter auro obrizo et gemmis micantibus dignissimam aliam...’, ‘Historia Ravenni et Rasiphi’,
p. 393.
* This feature is mentioned in an inventory of 1476: <... assise sur quatre piés de cuivre doré, faictz en

maniere de piés d’aigle’, ‘Inventaire de Bayeux’, ed. Deslandes, p. 363. The reliquary described is
generally believed to be Odo’s, Neveux, ‘Les reliques de Bayeux’, p. 114.

“ The inventory of 1476 has *... le costé de devant, les deux boutz et le festage de hault, est de fin or’,
‘Inventaire de Bayeux’, ed. Deslandes, p. 363. The term festage, which is derived from the Latin
fastigium, refers to the top or slope of a roof, Dictionnaire de la langue francaise au Xlle et au Xllle
siécle, ed. C. Hippeau, 2 vols. (Paris, 1873), i, p. 178.

*! This is a Danish reliquary from Cammin cathedral, Musset, Bayeux Tapestry, pp. 150-153.

*2 Rodulfi Tortarii Carmina, ed. M. Ogle and D. Schullian (Rome, 1933), Ep. IX, p. 329.

* <Quo si forte vocas citus occurram Baiocas, sedes praesulibus sufficit illa tribus’, Marbode de
Rennes, ‘Carmina varia’, no. xxi, ‘Marbodus Samsoni episcopo’, Migne, PL, clxxi, col. 1658.

#J. Vallery-Radot, La cathédrale de Bayeux, 2nd ed. (Paris, 1958), pp. 12-14, 26-32; J.-J. Bertaux, ‘La
cathédrale de Bayeux’, Art de Basse-Normandie, 54 (1969), pp. 19-43; J. Thirion, ‘La cathédrale de
Bayeux’, Congrés archéologique de France, 132 (1978), pp. 240-285, esp. pp. 240-250; M. Baylé,
‘Bayeux: cathédrale Notre-Dame’, in L architecture normande au Moyen Age, ed. M. Baylé, 2 vols.
(Caen, 1997), ii, pp. 37-42.
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Conquest,”> Bates considered them as somewhat rudimentary,*® though they are
generally thought to be ‘parmi les chef-d’cuvre de la sculpture du Xle siecle en
Normandie’.*” The sculptors themselves seem to have come from outside Normandy,
and were influenced by styles found from Toulouse to England.*® Their exact identity,
and the means by how they came into Odo’s employ, remains unclear, but the
presence of these craftsmen in the city does much to confirm twelfth-century views of
Bayeux, which paint the city created by Odo as a sophisticated centre of international

trade and commerce.*

The most interesting of the capitals is that depicting a scene from the Life of
Christ (fig. 26). Once thought to portray Jesus and the apostles Peter and Paul,* it is
now believed to represent the Incredulity of Thomas,® who can be seen gesticulating
towards Christ’s right side, while Peter stands on his left, holding an enormous key.
Although some have expressed reservations about this identification,>® the similarity
between this capital and others located at the nearby church of Rucqueville,®® as well
as the more remote basilica of Saint-Sernin de Toulouse, confirms the identity of this
particular scene.> Those who have studied these capitals have tended to focus on the
representation of Peter, since few depictions of the Incredulity identify the Prince of
Apostles by his key,> but it is the portrayal of Thomas that is of greatest significance
in the Bayeux work. Normally standing to the right of Jesus, the earliest known

examples of the Incredulity invariably show Thomas pointing to the wound in Christ’s

“® Baylé, ‘Bayeux: cathédrale Notre-Dame’, p. 39.

“® Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, pp. 151-152.

*" Thirion, ‘La cathédrale de Bayeux’, pp. 242-244.

*® L. Musset, Normandie romane, 2nd ed., 2 vols. (La Pierre-qui-Vire, 1984-1985), i, p. 250; M. Baylé,
‘Chapiteaux provenant de la cathédrale romane de Bayeux’, Bulletin de la Société nationale des
antiquaires de France (1980), pp. 45-50, at pp. 48-50; G. Zarnecki, ‘Early Romanesque capitals at
Bayeux and Rucqueville’, in Symbolae historiae artium: studia z historii sztuki Lechowi
Kalinowskiemu dedykowane (Warsaw, 1986), pp. 165-189; M. Baylé, Les origines et les premiers
developpements de la sculpture romane en Normandie (Caen, 1992), pp. 118-123.

“ “Incipiunt versus Serlonis capta Baiocensium civitate’, in The Anglo-Latin satirical poets and
epigrammatists of the twelfth century, ed. T. Wright, 2 vols. (London, 1872), ii, pp. 241-251; Rodulfi
Tortarii Carmina, Ep. IX, pp. 329-330; ‘Vita s. Gaufridi’, § 11, pp. 392-394.

*% vallery-Radot, La cathédrale de Bayeux, p. 56.

*! Bertaux, ‘La cathédrale de Bayeux’, p. 20; Musset, Normandie romane, i, p. 250; Bayl¢, ‘Chapiteaux
de Bayeux’, p. 46.

*2 Thirion, ‘La cathédrale de Bayeux’, p. 244.

*% Rucqueville, Calvados, cant. Creully.

> For images of these capitals, see Musset, Normandie romane, i, pl. 125; Zarnecki, ‘Early
Romanesque capitals’, p. 171.

% Zarnecki, ‘Early Romanesque capitals’, p. 172. Peter is also not personally named as present at this
event in the Gospels, John, 20: 26-29.
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Fig. 26 Eleventh-century capital of Bayeux cathedral (carved c. 1050 x 1077)
showing the Incredulity of Thomas (photo R. Allen)

" This capital, which was once housed in the Musée lapidaire, is now found in the cathedral itself in the
crypt built by Bishop Odo.



Origin

Medium

Location

Date

Description

Aachen

Metz

Echternach

Augsburg

Cologne(?)

Winchester

Ivory

Illumination

Illumination

Illumination

lvory

Illumination

Aachen, Domkapitel. Diptych, six panels.

BN, ms. lat. 9428, fol. 66r

Brussels, Bibliothéque royale, ms. 9428, fol. 92v

Munich, Bayerische Staatsbibliothek, Cod. lat. 23631,
fol. 197r

Cologne, Domschatzkammer im Dom. Pxyis.

BL, ms. Add. 49598, fol. 56v

9th cent.

9th cent.

9th cent.

9th cent.

10th cent.

971 x 984

Incredulity in top left panel. Christ, cross-nimbed, partly
draped, right hand extended. Thomas, to His right, touches
Christ’s right side with his right hand. Left hand not visible.
Four other apostles present. Scene in architectural setting.

Christ, nimbed, partly-robed, stands on hillock with right
hand raised, surrounded by apostles. Thomas stands on
Christ’s right side, touching His wounds with his right hand.
Left hand not visible. Scene in letter ‘P’.

Christ, cross-nimbed, partly draped, right hand extended,
with scroll in left hand, stands in a stylised building with
three of the apostles, including Thomas, who are on his right
side. Thomas is identified by an inscription, and points to
Christ’s wounds with his right hand, while his left hand his
open palm-forward and empty. The other apostles are not
identified.

Christ, nimbed, raises left hand, and points at wounds on
High left side with His right hand. Thomas, couched, on
Christ’s left, examines His wounds. Holding his right hand
up to his face, his left holds the bottom of Christ’s robes.

Christ, cross-nimbed, partly-robed, raises His right to reveal
wounds on right side. Thomas, points with his right hand to
Christ’s wounds; his left is not shown. Another unidentified
figure is depicted to Christ’s right. The scene is set within a
stylised castle.

Christ, cross-nimbed and partly draped, holding a cross-
topped staff in left hand, stands between eight Apostles, all
nimbed. Besides Thomas, only Peter is identified by his key.
All but one of the apostles are on Christ’s right side. Thomas
points to Christ’s wound with his right hand, while his left
holds the bottom of Christ’s robes. The scene is set in an
arched frame of ‘Winchester’ acanthus, surmounted by a
round boss.
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Reichenau (?)

Reichenau

Salzburg

Salzburg

Echternach

Winchester

Bayeux

Ivory

Ilumination

Illumination

Illumination

IHlumination

Illumination

Sculpture

Munich, Bayer. Nat. Museum. Plaque.

Trier, Stadtbibliothek, ms. 24, fol. 92r

Salzburg, Stiftsbibliothek St Peter, a 6 X, fol. 214r

New York, Morgan Library, ms. M.781, fol. 225r

Bremen, Staats- und Universitatshibliothek, b.21, fol.
66r

BL, ms. Cott. Tib. C. vi, fol. 14v

Bayeux cathedral. Historiated capital, once located on
the south-west pier of the crossing, now in cathedral

crypt.

970

980 x 993

1001 x 1015

11th cent.
(second quart.)

1039 x 1043

c. 1050

1050 x 1066

Christ, cross-nimbed, draped, raises His left hand. Thomas,
kneeling, points to Christ’s left side with right hand, and
holds Christ’s robes with his left. Scene in architectural
setting (stylised house)

Christ, cross-nimbed, raises His right hand, and pulls back
His robes with his left to reveal wound on right side.
Thomas, on His right, identified by an inscription, touches
Christ’s right side with his right hand. His left is empty, palm
forward. Three other unidentified apostles stand behind
Thomas. The scene is set outside.

Christ, cross-nimbed, draped, raises His right hand to reveal
wound on right side. Thomas, nimbed, kneels to His right on
mound, touching Christ's side with his right hand, and
holding his robes with his left. The scene is set between two
capitals.

Thomas, pearled nimbus, kneels, with right hand touching
side wound of Christ, left hand holding his own robes, cross-
projecting pearled nimbus, showing wounds, and raising his
right arm. Scene in architectural setting.

Christ, cross-nimbed, raises His right hand to reveal wound
on right side. Thomas, on His right, identified by an
inscription, touches Christ’s right side with his right hand.
His left is empty, palm forward. Three other apostles stand
behind Thomas. The scene is in an architectural setting.

Christ, cross-nimbed, robed, holding a cross-topped staff in
left hand, stretches out His right arm to reveal wound.
Thomas, nimbed, on Christ’s right, slightly couched, touches
the wound with his right hand; his left hand is empty, with
palm forward. The scene is set outdoors.

Christ, cross-nimbed, robed, with arms outstretched. Peter,
robed, stands to His left, holding a large key in his left hand,
and gesturing towards Christ with his right. Thomas, robed,
stands on the right, gesturing to Christ with his right hand,
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Salzburg

Toulouse

Salzburg

Osnabriick

Rucqueville

Silos

Illumination

Sculpture

Illumination

lvory

Sculpture

Sculpture

Munich, Bayerische Staatsbibliothek, Clm 15713, fol.
29v

Basiliqgue Saint-Sernin.
transept

Historiated capital, north

New York, Morgan Library, ms. M.780, fol. 39v

Osnabriick, Domschatz. Reliquary.

Eglise Saint-Pierre. Capital, southwest pillar of the
crossing.

Monasterio de Santo Domingo. Cloister.

11th cent.
(second half)

1070 x 1090

1070 x 1090

11th cent.
(second half)

11th cent.
(late)

c. 1100

and holding either a scroll or carved block of stone (an ionic
capital?) in his left.

Christ, cross-nimbed, partly draped, raises His right hand to
reveal wound. Thomas, nimbed, on right, touches Christ’s
right side with his right hand. His left hand is empty. A
female figure, presumably Mary Magdalene, nimbed, stands
on Christ’s right. Scene set in two-tiered architectural
setting, above image showing two women visiting the tomb
of Christ.

Christ, cross-nimbed, robed, with arms outstretched. Peter,
robed, stands to His left, holding a large key. Thomas, robed,
stands on the right, gesturing to Christ with his right hand,
left hand hidden.

Thomas, nimbed, with scroll in left hand, extends right hand
toward side wound of Christ, cross-nimbed, partly draped,
with right arm raised, and scroll in left hand. Scene in
architectural setting.

Christ, robed, surrounded by twelve apostles, raises right
hand to reveal wound, carries cross-topped staff in left hand.
Thomas, on Christ’s right side, points to wound with right
hand. Left hand not visible. Scene is in architectural setting,
and is to right of depiction of women at Christ’s tomb.

Christ, cross-nimbed, raises His right arm in benediction.
Thomas, nimbed, on His right, points to Christ’s right side
with his right hand. Left hand not craved. St. Peter, nimbed,
stands to Christ’s left holding key in right hand.

Christ, cross-nimbed, raises His right arm. Thomas, to
Christ’s right, touches His wounds with his right hand. Left
hand hidden. Three other apostles, nimbed, to Christ’s right,
among whom is Peter with his key. Remaining apostles,
nimbed, arranged above in two rows of four. Scene in
architectural setting.
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Narbonne

Arles

Toulouse

Toulouse

Hildesheim

St. Albans

Salzburg

Huesca

Sculpture

Sculpture

Sculpture

Sculpture

Enamel

IHlumination

IHlumination

Sculpture

Toulouse, Musée des Augustins. Capital (inventory no.
ME 263; 619 (Ra))

Eglise Saint-Trophime. Statues (nos. 28 and 29) on
pier of north range

Toulouse, Musée des Augustins. Capital, from the
abbey of Notre-Dame de la Daurade (inventory no.
ME 148; 466 a (Ra))

Toulouse, Musée des Augustins. Capital, from the
abbey of Notre-Dame de la Daurade (inventory no.
ME 110; 472 a (Ra))

Basilika St. Godehard. Plaque.

Hildesheim, Dombibliothek, ms. St. Godehard 1, p. 52

Munich, Bayerische Staatsbibliothek, CIm 15903, fol.
49v

Huesca, Monasterio de San Pedro el Viejo. Capital,
cloister, west range

12th cent.

12th cent.

12th cent.
(first quarter)

12th cent.
(first quarter)

12th cent.
(second half)

1119 x 1146

c. 1140

12th cent.

Christ, robed, stretches out his right arm to reveal right side.
Thomas, kneeling on His right, touches His wounds with his
left hand. His right hand rests upon his left knee.

Christ, on north face of pier, cross-nimbed, partly robed,
points to His wounds on His right side with His left hand,
right arm by His side with palm open. Thomas, on north-east
face of pier, holds left arm with right hand, while left hand is
hidden within his robes.

Christ, robed, stretches out his right arm to reveal right side.
Thomas, kneeling on His right, touches His wounds with his
right hand. Left hand not visible.

Christ, robed, stretches out his right arm to reveal right side.
Thomas, kneeling on His right, touches His wounds with his
right hand. Left hand not visible.

Thomas, nimbed, with unrolled scroll in left hand, extends
right hand toward side wound of Christ, cross-nimbed and
partly draped, with right arm raised.

Christ, cross-nimbed and robed, stands among the apostles
with arms raised. Thomas, on His right, points to His wounds
with his right hand, while his left hand is open palm forward.
Scene in architectural setting.

Christ, partly-draped, lifts His right arms to reveal wounds
on right side. Thomas, nimbed, to Christ’s right, touches His
wounds with his right hand, his left being empty and palm
forward. Three unidentified apostles, nimbed, stand behind
Thomas. The scene is in an architectural setting.

Christ, cross-nimbed, draped, lifts His left arm and points to
His left side with His right hand. He is surrounded by four
apostles, with Thomas to His left. Thomas does not gesture
to Christ with either hand, but instead holds on to his own
robes.
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Corbie

Fécamp

Pamplona

Tedula

Puy-de-Ddme

Pfalz

Illumination

Ilumination

Illumination

Sculpture

Sculpture

Illumination

New York, Morgan Library, ms. M.44, fol. 12v

Koninklijke Bibliotheek, The Hague, 76 F 13, fol. 25r

BM (Amiens), ms. 108, fol. 197r

Catedral de Santa Maria. Capital, cloister, east range,

no. 12

Eglise Saint-Nectaire. Capital, south side of northwest

pier of ambulatory

Trier, Stadtbibliothek, ms. 261/1140, fol. 127v

c. 1175

c. 1180

1197

12th cent.

(end)

12th cent.

(end)

1200

Christ, cross-nimbed, raises His left arm, revealing wound in
opening of His garment on His left side. His right hand is
grasped by Thomas with his left hand, nimbed, kneeling
partly and extending his right forefinger to the side wound of
Christ. Three nimbed apostles, one with joined hands raised,
stand at right. Scene with decorated frame.

Christ, cross-nimbed, partly draped, and surrounded by nine
of the apostles, all nimbed, in a stylised building. Three
apostles stand on Christ’s left and five, including Thomas, on
His right. Thomas touches Christ’s wounds with his right
hand, while his left holds Christ’s robes.

Christ, cross-nimbed, robed, and surrounded by the eleven
apostles in a stylised building. Six apostles stand on Christ’s
left and five, including Thomas, on his right. Thomas
touches Christ’s wounds with his right hand, while his left
hand is empty.

Christ, nimbed and robed, stretches out His rights arm to
reveal His wounds. Thomas, to His right, kneeling, touches
Christ’s right side with his right hand. Left hand is not
visible. The other apostles are carved on the other sides of
the capital.

The image is the last of four carved in order around this
capital. These begin with a representation of Peter striking
Malchus, who stands on the left of Christ, who is cross-
nimbed, robed, and outstretching His right hand. Thomas, on
Christ’s right, points to His wounds with his right hand. His
left hand is not visible.

Christ, cross-nimbed, raises His right arm, which holds an
unrolled scroll, to reveal wounds on His right side. Thomas,
nimbed, kneeling, touches Christ’s right side with his right
hand, while his left hold his own robes. The scene appears in
the left margin of the folio.

Fig. 27 Representations of the Incredulity of Thomas, north of the Alps, and south of the Pyrenees, 800-1200

YET



135

right side with his right hand, while his left is normally either hidden, empty, or
shown holding Jesus’ robes.”® Later examples conform to this pattern, as do those at
Rucqueville and Toulouse.”” The Bayeux capital, however, depicts Thomas holding
something in his left hand. This is perhaps a scroll, an iconographic tool sometimes
used to identify apostles (including Thomas),*® although it also looks like the top of

1.° The association of Thomas with such an item is not unusual, for the

an ionic capita
saint, like Peter and his key, soon came to be identified by other objects. These related
to the apostle’s architectural activities during his alleged mission to India, and
included a setsquare,®® as well as, occasionally, a stone.®* Such connections meant the
saint soon became the patron of architects, masons and stonecutters, who paid for
monuments to be erected in his honour.®? Admittedly, these traditions, and those
concerning the saint’s architectural iconography, are late, but if the object in Thomas’
hand is supposed to represent a capital, then the Bayeux carving may be one of the
earliest examples of the association of this saint with this particular art form, and the
men responsible for its creation. If nothing else, it remains one of the earliest
Romanesque images of the Incredulity to identify the apostle with an iconographical

symbol (fig. 27).

The capitals were not Odo’s only forays into the plastic arts. According to Rodulf
Tortaire, the early twelfth-century cathedral of Bayeux was covered in statues, which

*® BL, ms. Add. 49598, fol. 56v (Benedictional of St. Athelwold, produced 971-984); Moses Receiving
the Law and the Incredulity of Thomas, diptych, early eleventh century, ivory, 245mm x 102mm,
Staatliche Museen zu Berlin, Preussischer Kulturbesitz, Musuem fir Spatantike und Byzantische
Kunst.

> Late eleventh-/early twelfth-century carving in the cloister of Santo Domingo de Silos, E. Valdez del
Alamo, ‘Touch me, see me: the Emmaus and Thomas reliefs in the cloister of Silos’, in Spanish
medieval art: recent studies, ed. C. Hourihane (Tempe, AZ, 2007), pp. 35-64, at p. 36; twelfth-century
capital in the church of Saint-Nectaire (Puy-de-D6me), G. Rochias, ‘Les chapiteaux de 1’église de
Saint-Nectaire. Etude iconographique’, Bulletin monumental, 73 (1909), pp. 213-242, pl. 16c, between
pp. 236-237; late twelfth-century illustration in Koninklijke Bibliotheek, 76 F 13, fol. 25r.

%8 C. Kuné, ‘Thomas, der Zweifler. Text und Bild’, Amsterdamer Beitrége zur &lteren Germanistik, 30
(1990), pp. 33-49, at p. 37; New York, Morgan Library, ms. G.73, fol. 101r.

% For those who saw in this capital an image of Christ surrounded by SS. Peter and Paul, the object
was identified as the hilt of a sword, V. de Cussy, ‘Mémoire sur des chapiteaux romans de la cathédrale
de Bayeux’, Bulletin monumental, 25 (1859), pp. 465-476, at p. 468.

80 ] es attributs historiques de saint Thomas, apétre’, Recueil de la Commission des arts et monuments
historiques de la Charente-Inférieure, 9 (1888), p. 167; L. Réau, Iconographie de l'art Chrétien, 3
vols. (Paris, 1955-1959), iii, pt. iii, p. 1268.

1 A. Crosnier, ‘Iconographie chrétienne, ou étude des sculptures, peintures, etc.”, Bulletin monumental,
14 (1848), pp. 1-339, at p. 334; E. Reusens, Eléments d’archéologie chrétienne, 2 vols. (Aix-la-
Chapelle, 1886), ii, p. 515.

82 For example, the window dedicated to his life in the chapel of Sainte-Philoméne in the cathedral of
Bourges, A. Boinet, La cathédrale de Bourges, 2nd ed. (Paris, 1929), p. 121.
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had presumably been erected during Odo’s episcopate.®® Unfortunately, no other
information about these sculptures survives. The thirteenth-century cathedral in
nearby Coutances had statues dedicated to those associated with its foundation,®*
which may have replaced earlier effigies erected by Geoffrey de Montbray, and while
the figures at Bayeux may have been dedicated to a similar theme, it is possible that
the outside of the edifice was decorated with something similar to the Romanesque
frieze at Lincoln.®®> Odo was certainly no stranger to such a medium, for the famous
Bayeux Tapestry, which may, or may not, have been designed to hang in the nave of
the cathedral, certainly employed a similar ‘cartoon strip’ narrative.®® The bishop also
contributed to the internal decoration, and Rodulf Tortaire was stuck not only by the
amount and quality of the cathedral’s plate and vestments, but also, like so many
visitors, by the great crown that hung at the crossing.®” Measuring sixteen feet high,
and wide enough to almost touch the walls of the cathedral, the crown was made of
copper gilded in silver, carried ninety-six candles,? and was inscribed with verses that
included a prayer in Odo’s honour.®® It must have been an impressive, if somewhat
gaudy sight, and has rightly been considered as indicative of the extent of Odo’s

personal ambition.”

Odo was also able to secure donations of treasure from members of his family.
The duke gave to the cathedral, perhaps at the time of its dedication,”* a gilded casket,

as well as the cloaks that he and Mathilda had worn during their wedding ceremony.’

83 Exterius sculptis fulget imaginibus’, Rodulfi Tortarii Carmina, Ep. IX, p. 329, line 294.

% F.-A. Delamare, ‘Essai sur la véritable origine et sur les vicissitudes de la cathédrale de Coutances’,
MSAN, 12 (1841), pp. 139-263, at pp. 177-187.

% Although the artistic style of the frieze at Lincoln has long been recognised as a of the mid-twelfth
century, archaeological investigations seemed to suggest that the panels on which it rested had been
installed during the reign of Bishop Remigius. Recent magnetic testing seems to confirm the later date,
however, L. Maher et al., ‘The Romanesque frieze at Lincoln cathedral (England) — primary or
secondary insertion? Magnetic considerations’, Archaeometry, 42 (2000), pp. 225-236.

% For a summary of the debate concerning the location, either ecclesiastical or secular, in which the
Tapestry was meant to be displayed, see C. Henige, ‘Putting the Tapestry in its place’, in King Harold
I and the Bayeux Tapestry, ed. G.R. Owen-Crocker (Woodbridge, 2005), pp. 125-137, who eventually
advances arguments for a secular setting.

87 ‘Multa metallorum locupletat quam variorum copia cum bisso, murice, vermiculo; Ferrea sustentant
argenti vincla coronam, alta quae dura sunt trabe fixa sude’, Rodulfi Tortarii Carmina, Ep. IX, p. 329,
Il. 295-298.

% Beziers, Mémoires de Bayeu, i, p. 293; Bourrienne, ‘Odon de Conteville’, pp. 396-397.

% Bib. du chap. de Bayeux, ms. 1 (now AD Calvados, 6 G 1), fol. 217v; ed. Robert de Torigni,
Chronique, i, pp. Ixviii-Ixxi.

" Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 165; Bates, ‘The character and career’, p. 12.

™ Neveux, ‘Les reliques de Bayeux’, p. 115.

"2 ‘Inventaire de Bayeux’, ed. Deslandes, pp. 378, 380-381, nos. 110, 128-129.
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Odo and his brother also gave two vessels to the cathedral, each sculpted to represent
the horn of a unicorn.” These two artefacts, which are often incorrectly reported to
have been entire unicorns,’ apparently measured nine and fifteen feet in length,”
though their exact function is unclear. The inventory of 1476 records only that they
were ‘trés précieuse’,’® and as such, were presented to Francois |, king of France
(1515-1547), during his visit to the city in 1532.”" It was not uncommon to find such
items among the cathedral treasuries of France, however, and precious objects crafted
to represent everything from whales to crocodiles could be found in churches from
Paris to the Périgord.”® Unfortunately, like so many of the treasures amassed by Odo,
these two items were lost during the Huguenot uprisings of the second half of the
sixteenth century, and having been entrusted to Henri-Robert de La Marck, duc de

Bouillon, were lost forever.®

Worldly treasure was, of course, only a small part of the valuables that might be
accrued by a medieval bishop. Spiritual possessions, in particular relics, were also of
enormous value, and Odo, like his episcopal colleagues, attempted to reconstitute the
holdings of his cathedral, which had been devastated during the Scandinavian
incursions. Unfortunately, Odo’s exact contributions in this regard are unknown. It is
possible he helped secure the ossements of St. Aubert, which are recorded in the
inventory of 1476,%° in return for involving personnel from Mont-Saint-Michel in the
foundation of Saint-Vigor le Grand.®* The bishop’s methods were not always so
respectable, however. According to Guibert de Nogent, Odo bribed the priest of the

church of Corbeil® in an effort to secure the relics of St. Exupére,® the first bishop of

3 ‘Inventaire de Bayeux’, ed. Deslandes, p. 378, nos. 111-112.

" Beziers, Mémoires de Bayeux, i, p. 201; ii, p. 34; Bourrienne, ‘Odon de Conteville’, p. 395; Bates,
‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 156.

™ C. de Bourgueville, Les recherches et antiquitez de la Province de Neustrie (Caen, 1588; reprint,
Caen, 1833), p. 263. Repeated by all later Bayeux historians.

’® ‘Inventaire de Bayeux’, ed. Deslandes, p. 378.

" De Bourgueville, Recherches de Neustrie, p. 263. The king duly restored the objects to the cathedral.
He was in the city on 15 April 1532, Catalogue des actes de Francois ler, 10 vols. (Paris, 1887-1908),
viii, p. 478. Cf. vol. vi, no. 20200, pp. 255-256. The date is sometimes incorrectly given as 1531, P. de
Farcy, Sigillographie de la Normandie (évéché de Bayeux) (Caen, 1875), p. 49; Bourrienne, ‘Odon de
Conteville’, p. 395.

® E. Cholet, Remarques singulieres de Paris: d'aprés [’exemplaire unique de la Bibliotheque
nationale, ed. V. Dufour (Paris, 1881), p. 46 n. 1.

" M. Beziers, Histoire sommaire de la ville de Bayeux (Caen, 1773), piéces justificatives, pp. 3-16, at
p. 6; perhaps from Bib. du chap. de Bayeux, ms. 201 (now AD Calvados, 6 G 201), liasse I.

% ‘Inventaire de Bayeux’, ed. Deslandes, p. 370, no. 51.

8 Neveux, ‘Les reliques de Bayeux’, pp. 115, 126-127.

8 Corbeil-Essonnes, Essonne, chef-lieu.
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Bayeux,®* while he unsuccessfully petitioned the abbey of Saint-Riquier to return the
body of St. Vigor.® For Bates, the portrait was less than flattering,®® but neither the
circumstances in Bayeux, nor Odo’s methods, were unusual. The metropolitan church
of Rouen was so starved of relics, for example, that one archbishop decided to
translate the relics of St. Severus from the west of the duchy,®” while dioceses such as
Lisieux had to appropriate saintly traditions from as far away as Bourges.®® Odo may
have thought to establish a cult to a more general celestial figure, especially since his
cathedral was dedicated to the Virgin Mary, but it is possible, given that the bishop
eventually dedicated his cathedral on a day of local religious significance,®® that he
realised the extent to which a cult in her honour was being promoted in Coutances by

Geoffrey de Montbray.*

Unlike his neighbour, however, Odo seems to have been unable to foster any
successful cultic activity centred on his cathedral. The altar of SS. Ravennus and
Rasiphus was still the second most important in the cathedral at the beginning of the

twelfth century,®

a testament, if any were needed, to Odo’s failure to establish
anything more successful, while their cult barely spread beyond Bayeux itself.®? Of
course, the fact that no collection of ‘Bayeux miracles’ has survived does not mean
one was never written, though the fact that its residents sought, and received, healing
everywhere in the duchy but Bayeux does suggest that their was little in the city to

satisfy such needs.”® Such trends seem to have been established well before Odo’s

8 For St. Exupére see J. Lair, ‘Etudes sur les origines de I’évéché de Bayeux’, BEC, 24 (1863), pp.
281-302.

8 Guibert of Nogent, ‘De sanctis et eorum pigneribus’, in Guitbertus Abbas Sanctae Mariae Novigenti,
ed. R.B.C. Huygens (Turnhout, 1993), pp. 79-175, at p. 104. Odo was duped and humiliated, however,
being sold the bones of a local peasant named Exupére.

8 Hariulf, Chronique de I’Abbaye de Saint-Riquier (Ve siécle-1104), ed. F. Lot (Paris, 1894), p. 187.

8 Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, pp. 156-157.

8 <Beati Severi translatio anno 1089°, AASS, Feb. |, pp. 192-194, at p. 192.

8 For discussion, see below, pp. 265-266.

% Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 47.

% For discussion of this cult, see below, pp. 194-198.

%L ‘Bt quoniam, eodem tempore, ab eodem episcopo basilica, quae nunc usque superest, in honore
beatissimae Dei genitricis construebatur, altare quod secundum est, in honore et nomine horum fratrum
et martyrum condidit’, ‘Historia Ravenni et Rasiphi’, p. 393.

% Qutside of Bayeux, copies of the vita and/or the translatio were found in manuscripts belonging to
Saint-Ouen de Rouen and Saint-Evroult, while their feast was noted in liturgical manuscripts in Caen,
Lisieux and Sées, B. de Gaiffier, ‘Les saints Raven et Rasiphe vénérés en Normandie’, Analecta
Bollandiana, 79 (1961), pp. 303-319, at pp. 304-307. There is only one church dedicated in their
honour in the whole of Normandy, Fournée, Le culte des saints, p. 32.

% There are cases of inhabitants of Bayeux being healed at Saint-Ouen de Rouen, Saint-Wandrille,
Mortain, Coutances and Fécamp, Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, pp. 157-158.
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time, however,** and although it was no great hagiographical centre, the duke deemed
the cathedral worthy enough to receive the body of his daughter, Agatha.*® In spite of
this, and all that Odo lavished on the cathedral, he did not chose the building as his
final resting place, stipulating instead that he, and his successors, should be interred in
the abbey of Saint-Vigor le Grand.® Bates saw this as proof of the ‘personal

disappointment’ that Odo felt in his work at the cathedral,®’

and although such
stipulations are unique in Normandy, the bishop’s choice not to be buried in his
cathedral is hardly unusual.®® Only one of his successors obeyed the edict, however,*
and by the mid-twelfth century it proved so embarrassing that the pope was asked to

provide an exemption.'®

However, little epitomises the chequered history of one of Odo’s more enigmatic
creations better than this papal decree. Founded before 1066, the abbey of Saint-Vigor
was located to the northeast of the city on a site home to various religious edifices
since at least the sixth century.’®* Odo was undoubtedly already familiar with the
mechanics of establishing a monastery, since his father had founded the abbey of
Grestain in 1050, to which the bishop had made certain contributions.’®? The ultimate
demise of Odo’s own venture—the abbey would be turned into a priory in 1096—has
led some to see Saint-Vigor as little more than a ‘folly’, over which the bishop
exercised almost seigneurial rights.’®® Since Odo retained the right to elect and invest

every abbot, such accusations are not without cause.'® The house was not only well

 Aimoin, ‘De miraculis sancti Germani libri duo’, Migne, PL, cxxvi, col. 1041.

% OV, iii, p. 114. Agatha was interred in 1068.

% <Constituo etiam ibidem fieri sepulturam corporis mei et successorum meorum, et canonicorum, ritu
sempiterno, laude eorumdem canonicorum’, Chartes de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, ii, no. 385. A critical
edition of this charter can be found in Appendix G.

%" Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 158.

% Surprisingly few members of the episcopate for this period can actually be said to have been buried
in their cathedral. For discussion of the various places in which the bishops of this period were interred,
see Allen, ‘Un évéque et sa ville’, pp. 32-33.

% This was Richard of Gloucester, d. 3 April 1142, Bourrienne, ‘Odon de Conteville’, p. 286.

1% Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. clxxx.

191 There is no solid historical evidence to confirm this date, though it is that most often repeated by
historians of the abbey, J.-F. Faucon, ‘Essai historique sur le prieuré de Saint-Vigor-le-Grand’, BSAN,
2 (1862), pp. 47-52; G. Aubourg, ‘L’église du prieuré de Saint-Vigor-le-Grand, ordre de St Benoit’,
BSAN, 47 (1939), pp. 333-347; L. Musset, ‘Les fouilles entreprises a 1’emplacement de 1’ancienne
église abbatiale de Saint-Vigor-le-Grand prés de Bayeux’, BSAN, 57 (1965), pp. 696-703; L. Musset,
‘Rapport sur les fouilles de 1’abbatiale de Saint-Vigor le Grand en 1965 et 1966, BSAN, 58 (1969), pp.
538-544; Neveux, Bayeux et Lisieux, pp. 65-67; Gazeau, Normannia monastica, ii, pp. 5-6.

102 Regesta, no. 158. Cf. Bates and Gazeau, ‘L’abbaye de Grestain’, pp. 5-30.

103 Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 159.

104 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. vi, pp. 11-12.
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invested with property, however, but provided with an abbot of impressive
ecclesiastical credentials. Robert de Tombelaine, who as his toponym suggests came
from Mont-Saint-Michel,*® had been personally chosen by Odo.'® The author of
various commentaries,'®” and a correspondent of Anselm of Bec,'® Robert would
eventually leave Bayeux for Rome, where he served Gregory VI1.2% It seems highly
improbable, therefore, that Odo would have been able to convince such a figure to
help establish the abbey if there was any suggestion that contemporaries viewed it

with disdain.*°

The fact that life at the community collapsed so completely following the bishop’s
incarceration seems, however, to confirm the view that the house depended entirely
on his will.'** Exactly what the monks abandoned is unclear. Orderic claimed the
buildings were incomplete upon their departure,™? but a letter of Robert de
Tombelaine, sent to the monks of Mont-Saint-Michel, refers to the choir of the abbey,
its chapter house, an altar dedicated to St. Nicholas, which was perhaps housed in one

of the apsidal chapels of the transepts,™

an infirmary (domus infirmum) and a house
of refection (domus refectorium).* Much of this was perhaps already in place by
1068 x 1070, for the abbey, although described pejoratively (monasteriolum), was
still suitably equipped to host a trial by ordeal.™™ Robert’s letter, which recounts the
epileptic seizures of a monk named Hugh, also reveals a close-knit community, which
strove for almost thirty days to cure their brother, employing not only a wide range of

ecclesiastical techniques, but also seeking the help of two doctors, who were at that

1% The Tombelaine is a small island in the bay of Mont-Saint-Michel, which is located on the right
bank of the channel of the river Sée.

%0V, iv, p. 116.

970V, iv, pp. 304-306. Cf. P. Quivy and J. Thiron, ‘Robert de Tombelaine et son commentaire du
Cantique des cantiques’, in Millénaire monastique, ii, pp. 347-356.

108 Anselm, “Epistolae’, in S. Anselmi Cantuariensis archiepiscopi opera omnia, ed. F.S. Schmitt, 6
vols. (Edinburgh, 1946-1951), iii, no. 3.

%90V, iv, pp. 116, 304.

10 Gleason suggested that Odo chose Robert to maintain ‘a high standard of monastic discipline’
within the abbey, Gleason, An ecclesiastical barony, p. 14.

L Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, pp. 159-160; Bates, ‘The character and career’, p. 19.

120V, iv, p. 304.

13 That the abbey had such features is suggested by an eighteenth-century print, Monasticon
Gallicanum: collection de 168 planches de vues topographiques des monasteres benedictins de la
Congrégation de Saint-Maur, ed. A. Peigné-Delacourt (Paris, 1871), planche 103.

114 <Roberti de Tumbalena prioris s. Vigoris epistola ad monachos s. Michaelis de Monte’, Migne, PL,
cl, cols. 1369-1378.

115 Regesta, no. 162. The trial was administered in the presence of a number of dignitaries, including
William, archdeacon of Bayeux, who presumably brought the ordeal iron from the neighbouring
cathedral.
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time in the city of Bayeux.™® The abbey was also able to employ lay servants
(famuli), who joked with Hugh as he recovered in the infirmary.!’ Bates rather
cynically implied that, since Hugh had come, like his abbot, to Bayeux from Mont-
Saint-Michel,*® his prolonged illness was the result of ‘a psychological problem of
adjustment”.*® But the description given by Robert is more of a frightened young man
suffering from a debilitating disease to which no cure, either spiritual or medical,

could be found.*?°

The fact that the monks did disperse following Odo’s imprisonment is, however,
inescapable. Bates felt that the root cause of their departure was that Odo had over-
provisioned the house, resulting in an artificial environment ‘detrimental to
community spirit’.*** The bishop’s behaviour was hardly unusual, however, and
similar patterns of endowment can be found throughout the Norman monastic
network.*?? The abbeys founded in nearby Caen may have even provided a model for
Odo as he contemplated establishing his own house, and both La Trinité and Saint-
Etienne, like Saint-Vigor, were well endowed with land, while the first abbot of Saint-
Etienne, Lanfranc, was, like Robert de Tombelaine, a man of impressive ecclesiastical
credentials.®® The Caen houses soon became some of the most successful monastic
institutions in the duchy, in spite of their pampered beginnings, and there seems little
reason to doubt that Odo intended the same for Saint-Vigor. Relics, of course, were an
essential part in establishing a successful community, and whereas the abbeys of Caen
had many such possessions, including of saints to whom they were dedicated,*** Odo

had failed to secure any relics of note for Saint-Vigor, even those of the bishop

16« medici duo doctissimi, qui in civitate praesentes aderant...’, ‘Roberti de Tumbalena’, col. 1372.

17 < . domum in qua frater separatus, ut huiuscemodi rei competebat, habebatur, intrans, eum et
ridentem, sedentem, iocantemque cum famulis, qui eius servitio’, Migne, PL, cl, col. 1372.

118 According to the letter, five monks of Saint-Vigor had come from Mont-Saint-Michel along with
Robert and Hugh, ‘Roberti de Tumbalena’, col. 1378.

19 Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 161.

120 Hugh was eventually restored to full health following a vision in which he was told he would die if
the monks of Saint-Vigor ever returned to Mont-Saint-Michel during Robert’s lifetime. This is hardly
the vision of a monk keen to return to the Avranchin, though perhaps suggests such talk was current
among the monks of Saint-Vigor. Robert clearly took the vision seriously, however, for he not only
wrote to his former companions on the matter, but chose to leave for Rome, rather than return to the
Mont, in 1082/3, QV, iv, pp. 116, 304.

121 Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 160.

122 For a general overview of the numerous male houses founded or refounded between 911 and 1204,
see Gazeau, Normannia monastica, i, pp. 7-16.

12 For a brief summary of the early history of both Caen houses, see Musset, Abbayes caennaises, pp.
13-15.

124 Musset, Abbayes caennaises, nos. 29, 30.
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himself."*® For monks of Mont-Saint-Michel, accustomed to an endless flow of
pilgrims, the circumstances at Bayeux perhaps proved disheartening, while the
existence of an altar dedicated to St. Nicholas,'? a universal saint whose cult did not
require the physical presence of relics,**’ suggests the relic drought persisted at the

time Robert wrote his letter.'?®

It seems unlikely, however, that such deficiencies alone would have prompted the
monks to disperse so readily. Bayeux was, after all, no ecclesiastical backwater. It had
an impressive cathedral, an extensive parochial network,'®® and was home to a
thriving ecclesiastical regimen in which Saint-Vigor was itself involved.*®
Furthermore, given the presence of cults to eastern saints already established within
the city, an altar dedicated to St. Nicholas may simply reflect further devotion in this
regard.™*! That which ultimately doomed the abbey was, rather, the decision taken by
Robert de Tombelaine in the immediate aftermath of Odo’s imprisonment. The
explanation, given by Orderic, that Robert chose to leave Bayeux simply because Odo
‘lay in fetters’ is unconvincing.”*> Houses founded by members of the aristocracy
always faced the risk that their patron might fall foul of the duke, or, in the case of
William fitzOsbern, die in his service, but abbeys such as Lyre and Notre-Dame de
Cormeilles continued nonetheless.'*® It is possible that Odo’s arrest simply presented
Robert with the opportunity to escape a post he did not want, or that he felt his
association with the disgraced bishop endangered his own life. Regardless, in
choosing to abandon the monks Robert effectively sealed the community’s fate. Six of

their number had come with him from Mont-Saint-Michel, and it is doubtful they

12 Hariulf, Chronique, p. 187.

126 < ante beati Nicolai prostraverunt altare’, ‘Roberti de Tumbalena’, col. 1371.

1273, Fournée, Saint Nicolas en Normandie (Nogent-sur-Marne, 1988), pp. 47-50; Lifshitz, Norman
conquest, pp. 208-210.

128 |nterestingly, relics play no part in the methods (the Cross, holy water, prostration before the altar of
St. Nicholas, the singing of psalms, etc.) used by Robert de Tombelaine, as he and his monks struggled
to relieve Hugh’s suffering, ‘Roberti de Tumbalena’, cols. 1371-1377.

129 Bouvris, ‘Notes d’histoire bayeusaine’, pp. 15-30; Neveux, Bayeux et Lisieux, pp. 52-53.

130 See, for example, the various Paschal processions, which a thirteenth-century ordinal records were
established by Odo: ‘Et inter orationes predictus dicitur oratio Absolve quesumus, pro Odonis anima
episcopi qui has processiones instituit’, Ordinaire et coutumier de 1’église catédrale de Bayeux (XIlle
siécle), ed. U. Chevalier (Paris, 1902), pp. 382-383.

31 The leprosy of Saint-Nicolas-de-la-Chesnaie, which was founded during the reign of William the
Conqueror, was established on land belonging to Saint-Vigor, Bouvris, ‘Notes d’histoire bayeusaine’,
pp. 23-25; Fournée, Saint Nicolas en Normandie, p. 40.

B20v, iv, p. 116.

133 Like Saint-Vigor, these two houses depended entirely on the generosity of their founder for their
earliest possessions, RADN, no. 120 (Lyre); Recueil des actes de Henri Il, ii, no. dccvii (Cormeilles).
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would have wanted to remain, with their mentor now in Italy.*** If these individuals
chose to leave the community, which may have numbered little more than the
apostolic number of twelve, it would have been effectively halved. Those who
decided to remain in Bayeux probably found themselves the victims of Odo’s rigid
guidelines and,** unable to receive a new abbot at his hands, were also unable to
secure an appointment from a duke less than amenable to matters concerning his half
brother.*®

Whatever the fate of Saint-Vigor, it did earn Odo some praise from the normally
critical Orderic.®®” The bishop was, of course, not solely concerned with his own
foundation, and like many of his colleagues played an active role in the development
of the wider monastic network. In the diocese of Bayeux, for example, the abbeys of
Caen and Troarn not only benefitted from Odo’s generosity,**® but he was also present
at their dedications,** officiating at that of Troarn on 13 May 1059.**° Elsewhere, he
was probably a regular participant in the councils held by Archbishop Maurilius, and
although he can only be definitively located at that which accompanied the dedication
of Rouen cathedral on 1 October 1063, he was, by some accounts, most eloquent
during these meetings.'*> Odo reinforced these contributions to the fabric of the
duchy’s ecclesiastical life by also strengthening the lay institutions of his diocese. His
dabbling in secular matters would earn the ire of later chroniclers,**® but their

importance to the stabilisation and expansion of the Norman realm has long been

34 In his letter to the monks of Mont-Saint-Michel, Robert mentions that five of the monks at Saint-
Vigor were ‘of the Mont’, as was Hugh, nephew of the abbot of Lonlay: ‘Quibus dictis, ego fratribus
illis montanis (erant autem quinque): “Eia, domini mei, audistis, quae a Deo praecepta sunt vobis;
recedite nunc, ut iterum in stratis vestris quiescatis™’, ‘Roberti de Tumbalena’, col. 1378.

135 Richard des Fourneaux, later abbot of Préaux (1101-1125), gathered the remaining monks of Saint-
Vigor in a house in the city, Gazeau, Normannia monastica, ii, p. 234. Such behaviour contradicts
Bates’ assertion that the monks ‘felt little attachment to their new home’, Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of
Bayeux’, p. 160.

31t is possible that William actively targeted the abbey’s possessions, though there is no direct
evidence of spoliation, Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 160.

37 Orderic claimed that the giving of the house to the abbey of Saint-Bénigne de Dijon ‘clearly
demonstrates Bishop Odo’s great affection for the monastic order’, OV, iv, p. 118.

138 RADN, no. 231; Regesta, no. 280; BN, ms. lat. 10086, fol. 52r.

39 The following charters were issued either at, or shortly after, the dedications in question, and were
witnessed by Odo, RADN, no. 231 (La Trinité); Regesta, no. 46 (Saint-Etienne).

140 < ab anno .m.lix. et terciadecima die mensis maii quibus hec abbatia dedicata fuit ab Odone
episcopo Baiocensis, et regimen ipsius abbatie traditum abbati primo Durando’, BN, ms. lat. 10086,
fol. 29r.

141 <Acta archiepiscoporum’, p. 224.

Y2 GG, ii. 37, p. 166.

30V, ii, pp. 264-266.
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recognised.’** Home to a ducal castle since the reign of Richard 1,"* the city of
Bayeux was also equipped with an impressive series of stone fortifications,**® which
included houses like that of the father of Geoffrey abbot of Savigny.**” Unfortunately,
it is unknown if Odo had any role in the maintenance of such structures. Bayeux was,
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of course, controlled primarily by a vicomte,” although the existence of a burgus

episcopi,**® which was one of a network of such municipal districts,*®

suggests the
bishop played some role in assuring the city’s defences, while we know that other
Norman bishops did not hesitate to reconfigure the walls of their cities.™ Thanks to
the efforts of his predecessor, Odo was also ensured a presence in the region’s

principal harbour, Port-en-Bessin. 2

The bishop’s most impressive contribution in this regard remains, however, the
network of knights and tenants that he enfeoffed throughout his diocese, the details of
which are recorded in the famous Inquest of 1133."® Their identities, and the reasons
why Odo enfeoffed six times the number of knights he owed in service to the duke,
have long been a topic of discussion, the details of which will not be repeated here.'**
Their geographical distribution is, nevertheless, impressive, and the magnates,
knights, vavassors and services associated with the bishop not only stretched across
most of the diocese of Bayeux, but also extended throughout the duchy as a whole
(fig. 28). Of course, the details recorded in the Inquest of 1133 relate to circumstances
as they were at the end of the eleventh century,™ but as Haskins first noted, the

history of the military obligations of at least one of the bishop’s honours, that of Le

144 Even contemporaries praised Odo’s important contribution in this regard, though some of this work
is panegyric in nature, GG, ii. 37, p. 164.

Y5 “Translatio secunda beati Audoeni’, p. 823. The exact form of this castle is, unfortunately, not
known.

18 “Incipiunt versus Serlonis’, p. 246.

YT “Hic [pater Gaufridi] habuit mansionem suam, videlicet castellum nobile, cum turri fortissima, intra
civitatem Baiocensem prope portam Anquilonarem’, ‘Vita s. Gaufridi’, § II, p. 391.

18 For the eleventh-century vicomtes of the Bessin, see E. de Laheudrie, ‘Les vicomtes de Bayeux’,
BSAN, 46 (1938), pp. 183-225, esp. pp. 193-195.

19 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. vi.

150 Neveux, Bayeux et Lisieux, pp. 41-43.

51 Azo, bishop of Sées, and Herbert, bishop of Lisieux, both used stone from their city walls to build
their cathedrals. For discussion, see below, pp. 249-251, 401.

152 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. xxi. Port-en-Bessin, Calvados, cant. Ryes.

153 Navel, ‘L’enquéte de 1133°, pp. 13-23.

>4 Besides the commentary of Navel, see Haskins, Norman Institutions, pp. 14-19; Gleason, An
ecclesiastical barony, pp. 41-82; Hull, ‘The Norman episcopate’, ii, pp. 298-352; Bates, ‘Odo, bishop
of Bayeux’, pp. 219-229.

155 Haskins, Norman Institutions, p. 15; Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 220.
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Plessis-Grimoult, suggests it had been fixed before Odo ascended to the episcopate.**®

Moreover, the prominent role that the bishop would play in preparing for the invasion
of England, and in governing during its aftermath, suggest that he had already
established himself as an experienced administrator from whom both counsel and
material contributions were expected. The bishop duly obliged, and was not only
among those who advised the duke on the expedition,™’ but also equipped the fleet

with one hundred ships.**®

Like his contemporary in the diocese of Coutances, few would have their career
redefined so dramatically by the events of 14 October 1066 as Odo. The bishop is, of
course, most famous for his role in the Battle of Hastings, the ‘active’ nature of which
is vividly realised in the Bayeux Tapestry.*® Having helped his half-brother secure
victory, Odo was promptly rewarded with the county of Kent.*®® His administration of
this region, and the vice-regency he shared with William fitzOsbern, fundamentally
altered his position in the political landscape, and his title of episcopus Baiocensis
was soon augmented by those of a radically different nature, such as Cantie comes
and consul.*® Odo was also invested with great territorial holdings by his brother,
which by the time Domesday came to be completed stretched across twenty-two
counties and had a value of over three thousand pounds.*®* The consequences of this
fundamental shift in the scope of Odo’s power, its exact nature, and the problems it
created in the relationship between the bishop of Bayeux and earl of Kent, have
already been fully discussed by David Bates.’®® Unlike Geoffrey de Montbray,
however, whose time was spent almost entirely in England until the reign of William

156 Haskins, Norman Institutions, pp. 16-18.

57 According to Wace, Odo was among the first small group of nobles from whom the duke sought
advice, Wace, Roman de Rouen, part Ill, line 5989. He was also present at the larger gathering, details
of which are recorded by Orderic, OV, ii, p. 140.

%8 EM.C. van Houts, ‘The ship list of William the Conqueror’, ANS, 10 (1988), pp. 159-183, at
Appendix I, p. 176. Wace claims that Odo only contributed forty ships, Wace, Roman de Rouen, part
1, line 6164.

159 Musset, Bayeux Tapestry, Scene 54, pp. 248-249.

%00V, ii, p. 196.

181 Regesta, nos. 85-86, 266(11), 267(ll1). Later chroniclers gave Odo even more prolific epithets,
including consul palatinus, praeceptor Angliae and iustitiarius et princeps totius Angliae, OV, ii, p.
264; Goscelin of Saint-Bertin, ‘Historia translationis s. Augustini episcopi Anglorum apostoli’, Migne,
PL, clv, col. 37; Henry of Huntingdon, Historia Anglorum: the history of the English people, ed. and
trans. D. Greenway (Oxford, 1996), p. 408. The last of these seems to be a misinterpretation of a
reference in the ASC, which is supposed to relate to the bishop of Durham.

162 Bates, “The character and career’, p. 10.

13 D. Bates, ‘The origins of the justiciarship’, ANS, 4 (1982), pp. 1-12, at pp. 2-4; Bates, ‘The
character and career’, pp. 6-12; Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, pp. 30-108.
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Rufus, Odo remained an active, if somewhat infrequent, participant in Norman affairs,
returning in both 1072 and 1074 to attend the councils convened by John of Ivry,
archbishop of Rouen.'® He was also present at the council of Lillebonne, convened

by John’s successor in 1080.1%°

Such visits cannot, however, have been motivated simply by Odo’s desire to
contribute to the promulgation of reform ideas. He could, after all, have compensated
for any absence at these meetings by participating, like Geoffrey de Montbray, in their
English equivalents.’®® Instead, his activities during the trip of 1074, which appears to
have lasted from May until the end of the year, allowed him to not only secure
additional wealth for his cathedral,"®” but must have also permitted him to supervise
developments in his city and diocese. Material wealth, such as the sapphire pastoral
staff taken by Odo from Durham cathedral,*®® flowed from England to Bayeux,
enriching not only physical structures such as the cathedral, but also allowing for the
development of less tangible endeavours. The Bayeux school, which had clearly been

established before the Conquest,*®

produced an impressive number of students during
these years, and Odo was able to fund their wider education with trips to Liege,
Germany and even Spain.'® The bishop would have also been afforded the
opportunity to attend to more mundane matters, such as the petition he received from
Serlo, canon of the cathedral,'™ and one of the school’s most famous students,

concerning his dispute with the monks of Saint-Etienne de Caen.*’? Moreover, with

%40V, ii, pp. 286, 292; Mansi, xx, col. 399. Odo seems to have remained in Normandy until at least 30
November, Regesta, no. 26.

%0V, iii, p. 24.

1% Council of London, 25 Dec. 1074 x 28 Aug. 1075, Councils and synods: with other documents
relating to the English church, A.D. 871-1204, ed. D. Whitelock, M. Brett and C.N.L. Brooke, 2 vols.
(Oxford, 1981), i, p. 612.

167 Regesta, nos. 26-27.

168 <Quedam etiam ex ornamentis ecclesie [Dunelmensis], inter que et baculum pastoralem materia et
arte mirandum (erat enim de saphiro factus), prefatus episcopus [Odo] abstulit’, Symeon of Durham,
Libellus de exordio atque procursu istius, hoc est Dunhelmensis, ecclesie, ed. and trans. D. Rollason
(Oxford, 2000), p. 220. Unfortunately, this staff is not among those listed in the fifteenth-century
inventory (‘Inventaire de Bayeux’, ed. Deslandes, pp. 371, 373, 377-378), though it seems logical that
Odo would have taken such an object for use in his own church.

%9 D, Bates, ‘Le patronage clérical et intellectuel de I’évéque Odon de Bayeux, (1049/50-1097)’, in
Chapitres et cathédrales en Normandie, ed. S. Lemagnen et al. (Caen, 1997), pp. 105-114, at p. 106.
170 Bates, ‘Le patronage clérical’, pp. 105-114; Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, pp. 193-218.

71 <Quae monachi quaerunt’, in The Anglo-Latin satirical poets, ii, pp. 202-207, at p. 204. For the
identification of these verses, see A. Boutemy, ‘Deux poémes inconnus de Serlon de Bayeux et une
copie nouvelle de son poéme contre les moines de Caen’, Le Moyen Age, 67 (1938), pp. 241-269.

172 This dispute, which occurred during the abbatiate of Abbot Gilbert (1079-1101), has been dated by
some to 1079/80 (H. Boéhmer, ‘Der sogenannte Serlo von Bayeux und die ihm zugeschriebene
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the cathedral nearing completion, Odo may have not only taken the opportunity to
monitor circumstances at the worksite, but also begin preparations for the building’s

eventual consecration.

The dedication itself took place on 14 July 1077.*”® Held on the anniversary of
the translation of the relics of SS. Exupére and Loup to the Merovingian cathedral,*
the event was attended by an impressive gathering of ecclesiastical and secular
dignitaries, including the king and queen, with their two sons Robert and William; the
archbishops of Canterbury, Rouen and York; all the bishops of Normandy, except
Hugh, bishop of Lisieux; the abbot of Sant’Eufemia di Calabria; Robert, count of Eu,
and Richard son of Gilbert de Brionne.!”® The service itself was performed by the
archbishop of Rouen, although the most famous account of the dedication is lacking
in precise details.'’® It is possible that the famous Tapestry was presented to the
cathedral during the ceremony, but nothing is certain.*’” We do know that the king

donated to the cathedral the wood of Elle,!"®

a gift he confirmed by placing his helmet
and crown on the high altar,’”® while he also took the time to issue a writ concerning
the abbey of St. Augustine’s, Canterbury.® What happened to Odo after the
dedication is unclear. He may have returned with the king to Rouen,™® and he was
certainly not among those present at the dedication of Saint-Désir de Lisieux, which
took place on 25 July.*®? He was certainly back in his diocese by 13 September, as his
participation in the dedication of Saint-Etienne de Caen demonstrates,'®® while just
over a month later he was back in Upper Normandy for the dedication of Bec on 23

October.’® It is also possible he attended the dedication of Evreux cathedral during

Gedichte’, Neues archiv, 22 (1897), pp. 703-738, at p. 722) though not all have been convinced, Bates,
‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, pp. 202-203.

13 The standard work on this event is J.-M. Bouvris, ‘La dédicace de 1’église cathédrale Notre-Dame
de Bayeux (14 juillet 1077)’, Société des sciences, arts et belles-lettres de Bayeux, 28 (1982), pp. 3-16.
174 Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 47.

1 Bouvris, ‘La dédicace de Bayeux’, p. 12.

78 oV, iii, p. 10.

" Bouvris, ‘La dédicace de Bayeux’, p. 16.

178 < et in signum donationis ipsius posuit cassidem sua super maius altare ecclesie cum corona
deaurata...’, Ordinaire de Bayeux, ed. Chevalier, p. 418.

% Regesta, no. 52. Elle, Manche, cant. Saint-Clair-sur-Elle and Calvados, cant. Isigny. A critical
edition of this act can be found in Appendix G.

180 Regesta, no. 83.

181 Orderic records the king’s presence in the Norman capital a few days after the dedication, though
the monk of Saint-Evroult may have misinterpreted the evidence, OV, iii, p. 18.

182 The attendees are listed in AD Calvados, 2 Fi 231.

183 Odo witnessed a charter issued during this ceremony, Regesta, no. 46.

184 Chronique du Bec, p. 3.
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this year, though the exact date, and the identities of those in attendance, remain far

from certain.'®

Odo’s movements for 1078 and 1079 are unknown. The year of dedications had
been marred by the dispute that arose between the king and Robert Curthose, which
erupted sometime after 13 September 1077.1%¢ The consequences for the stability of
the region were profound, and although we do not know how Odo reacted to his
nephew’s behaviour, he cannot failed to have been somehow involved. Nevertheless,
his position remained secure and, as the new decade began, he continued to be an
active member of the Norman ecclesiastical and political scene. The bishop was
certainly in Normandy for much of 1080, and his itinerary can be documented with a
degree of certainty.’®” He began the year in Caen, where on 7 January he took part in
a plea involving the abbey of Saint-Florent de Saumur.*® It appears he then travelled
with the court for the rest of the month, following the king-duke to Saint-Georges de
Boscherville, where he was involved in another plea involving the same house.'® He
is strangely absent from the prestigious Easter meeting convened at Rouen on 12
April **® though Odo was still in—or had returned to—Upper Normandy by late
spring/early summer, and not only attended the council of Lillebonne on 31 May,***
but also witnessed a charter for the abbey of Lessay at Bonneville-sur-Touques on 14
July.* He returned to England at some point thereafter, and was dispatched to the
north of the country, where he viciously avenged the murder of Walcher, bishop of
Durham (1071-1080).'%* Odo’s actions, which included the pilfering of treasure from
Durham cathedral, drew no comment outside the local community, however, and by
the end of the year it appears he was back down south, where he perhaps spent

Christmas in Gloucester.*®*

185 For discussion, see below, pp. 229-230.

18 The dispute took place after Robert had been publicly insulted by his brothers during a stay in
L’Aigle, which occurred in either late 1077 or early 1078, OV, ii, pp. 356-360.

187 That proposed by Bates, which is based largely upon the dates given by Davis’s Regesta, contains a
number of errors that can here be rectified thanks to the later work of the same scholar, Bates, ‘Odo,
bishop of Bayeux’, p. 59.

188 Regesta, no. 267 (11).

189 Regesta, no. 266 (I1).

190 Regesta, no. 235.

BLov, iii, p. 24.

192 Regesta, no. 175 (1&I1).

193 Symeon of Durham, Libellus, pp. 218-220. It was during this adventure that Odo stole the emerald
staff from the cathedral of Durham.

194 Regesta, no. 153.
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Though if the actions of this year, and those of 1081/82,'%° suggest that Odo was
preoccupied solely with the routine, the bishop was, according to later chroniclers,
already engaged in affairs of a far grander design. From the almost cryptic entry in the

Anglo-Saxon Chronicle,'*®

to the fantastic tales of Orderic, William of Malmesbury
and the Hyde Chronicle,'*" the exact nature of these manoeuvrings, which ultimately
led to Odo’s arrest by his brother on the Isle of Wight in late 1082 or early 1083, have
long been a subject of fascination for historians.'*® It is generally accepted that Odo
was arrested on account of some involvement in Italian affairs, which perhaps
included plans to abandon his charge and acquire the papacy. Of course, the sources
for this story, which relate how the bishop obtained and provisioned a house in Rome,
and began to bribe its citizens, were written almost forty years after the fact."®® The
idea of Odo becoming involved in the machinations of eleventh-century papal politics
has, nevertheless, proved so intoxicating as to tempt some to identify the bishop with
figures such as Odo de Tuliore, who appears in the vita of Mathilda of Tuscany
written by Donizo of Canossa.?®® What is certain is that Odo was arrested, and he was

to spend the next four years in the ducal castle at Rouen.?*

We know nothing of his
time in prison, though his circumstances were either secure or comfortable enough to
dissuade him from attempting to escape,”®? while the enmity that he had aroused in his
half-brother was so intense that the Conqueror only finally assented to his release on

his deathbed.?®

Having been freed, the bishop of Bayeux initially chose to remain in Normandy.

He attended his brother’s funeral in Caen, which suggests he had decided to forgive

1% Odo was largely in England during these years (Regesta, nos. 39, 193, 253), although he was back
in Normandy for the dedication of the collegiate church of Mortain in late summer/fall 1082, Regesta,
no. 215.

19 ASC “E’, p. 214.

70V, iv, pp. 38-44; William of Malmesbury, GR, i, p. 506; ‘Chronicon monasterii de Hida’, in Liber
Monasterii de Hyda, ed. E. Edwards (London, 1866), pp. 283-321, at p. 296.

1% For a summary of the debate, see Bates, ‘The character and career’, pp. 15-17; Bates, ‘Odo, bishop
of Bayeux’, pp. 247-261.

990V, iv, pp. 38-44; William of Malmesbury, GR, i, p. 506; ‘Chronicon de Hida’, p. 296.

20 <15 est Oddo episcopus Bajocensis, Wilhelmi conquestoris Angliae regis frater, ad papatum
sacrilegis votis inhians, de quo Ordericus Vitalis lib. VII. Hist. eccles. ad annum 1085°, Donizo of
Canossa, ‘Vita Mathildis, celeberrimae principis Italiae’, Migne, PL, cxlviii, col. 1003 n. 768. For the
dismissal of this identification, see Rerum italicarum scriptores, ed. G. Carducii et al., 34 vols.
(Bologna, 1900-1979), 5.2, p. 67.

21OV, iv, p. 42.

202 For examples of how one might escape ducal or royal incarceration, see GC, xi, Instr., cols. 153-
154; OV, v, p. 312.

230V, iv, pp. 98-100.
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William for his actions, and was duly restored to his Norman possessions by Robert
Curthose.?® Consequently, Odo was soon an active force within both the ducal court
and his diocese, attesting Curthose’s confirmation of his father’s donation of the
manor of Vains to Saint-Etienne de Caen,?® and renegotiating his relationship with
the vicomte of the Bessin, who had been granted some of the bishop’s lands during his
incarceration.’® For some, his return was heralded as akin to the return of Joseph,
though not all can have welcomed the bishop’s restoration so enthusiastically.?” Odo
then travelled to England, apparently in time for Christmas court at London,”®® and
was well received by William Rufus, who restored him to his earldom.?®® He soon
began to participate in the governance of the realm, receiving notification from the
king regarding the abbey of St. Augustine’s, Canterbury,?™® and helping Lanfranc to
install the new abbot of this same house on 22 December 1087.”** The assertion that
Odo also participated at this time in the dedication of St. Mary’s, York,?? has,

however, rightly been questioned.

But it would not be long before the bishop was once again embroiled in affairs
that would lead to his ruin. The revolt against William Rufus, which he engineered in
the spring and early summer of 1088, would eventually see his presence in England
end forever, though exactly what motivated the uprising remains a matter for
debate.”* Its outcome is beyond question, however, and in defeat Odo returned to
Normandy, his English fee being steadily broken up.?*® The bishop initially went to

240V, iv, p. 114.

25 AD Calvados, 1 J 41, fol. 45v-46v. Charles Haskins printed a different version of this charter, which
does not include the mention of Odo, Haskins, Norman Institutions, Appendix E, no. 1, p. 285. Haskins
dated the charter to shortly after September 1087, but the presence among the witnesses of William,
bishop of Durham, and Robert, count of Mortain, must place the act between November 1088 and
1091.

26 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. Ixxvi. A critical edition of this act can be found
in Appendix G.

207 < Joseph namque modo nobis est redditus Odo | Joseph dira trucis clauserat ira ducis’, ‘Ad Odonem
Baiocensem episcopum, versus’, in The Anglo-Latin satirical poets, ii, p. 254.

2% Henry of Huntingdon, Historia Anglorum, p. 408.

209 \illiam of Malmesbury, GR, i, p. 544.

219 Regesta (Davis), i, no. 304. It is also possible that a writ for St. Paul’s, London, of which Odo is the
sole witness, was issued by Rufus, though this may be an act of his father, Regesta, no. 186.

211 <Acta Lanfranci’, in Two of the Saxon chronicles, parallel, with supplementary extracts from the
others, ed. C. Plummer, 2 vols. (Oxford, 1892-1899), i, Appendix B, pp. 290-291.

212\, Dugdale, Monasticon Anglicanum, ed. J. Caley et al., 6 vols. (London, 1817-1830), iii, p. 546.
213 Hull, ‘The Norman episcopate’, ii, p. 269; Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 264.

24 Aird, Robert Curthose, pp. 104-117; Barlow, William Rufus, pp. 70-84; Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of
Bayeux’, pp. 264-269; David, Robert Curthose, pp. 45-53.

215 Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, pp. 269-270.
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Bayeux where, according to Orderic, he found a duchy in disarray.?® The bishop’s
own men had been involved in the pillaging of benefices belonging to the monastic
institutions of his diocese,?*" and it was not long before Odo himself began to lash out

218 t5 demand a

at those around him. He decided, within a short time of his return,
written profession of obedience from Arnulf, the new abbot of Troarn,*® an issue he
may have pressed when the two men met in the bishop’s house at Caen to resolve the
abbey’s possession of the church of Dives-sur-Mer,??° while politically he contrived
to have Henry, the duke’s brother, and Robert de Belléme arrested upon their return
from England in autumn 1088, the two men being imprisoned under Odo’s guard at
Bayeux and Neuilly-I’Evéque.””* The bishop then promptly travelled to Rouen to
meet with the duke who, so the story goes, quickly found himself the victim of Odo’s

restless ambition.???

The first target of this ambition was the county of Maine. The death of the
Conqueror had led to some unrest in the region,??® and although it seems Robert had
already dealt with these problems,?** Odo urged Curthose to secure formal homage
from the nobles of Maine.??® The duke duly assembled an army, which was in part
commanded by the bishop of Bayeux, and in August 1088 marched towards Le
Mans.?® The majority of the county’s leading men came out in support of the duke,

though Payn of Mondoubleau resisted at the castle of Ballon,?*’

the siege of which
killed Osmond de Gaprée on 1 September.?® The duke then turned his attention back

to Normandy and to the possessions of the Montgommery-Belléme, whom Odo had

280V, iv, pp. 134, 146.

2 According to the records of La Trinité de Caen, the bishop’s chamberlain, Adelold, took from them
possessions in Englesqueville-la-Percée (Calvados, cant. Isigny-sur-Mer) and Grandcamp-les-Bains
(Calvados, cant. Isigny-sur-Mer), Charters and custumals of the abbey of Holy Trinity, Caen, Part 2,
The French estates, ed. J. Walmsley (Oxford, 1994), pp. 126-127.

28 Arnulf was elected sometime after 11 February 1088. It seems unlikely that Odo would have
pressed the abbot on such an issue while still in England, especially if he was preparing to revolt. For
Arnulf, see Gazeau, Normannia monastica, ii, pp. 374-376.

2195 Anselmi Opera omnia, iii, no. 123, pp. 263-264.

220 “Notum sit omnibus... quod Robertus de Suille requisitus apud Cadomum a domino abbate Ernulfo
in hospicio domini Odonis Baiocensis episcopi...’, BN, ms. lat. 10086, fol. 158v-159r, at fol. 158v.

221 OV, iv, p. 148. Robert de Torigni states that Henry was imprisoned at Rouen, GND, ii, p. 204.
220V, iv, p. 150.

228 Actus pontificum Cenomannis in urbe degentium, ed. G. Busson and A. Ledru (Le Mans, 1901), p.
385.

224 David, Robert Curthose, p. 69.

2V, iv, p. 150.

260V, iv, p. 154.

227 Ballon, Sarthe, chef-lieu.

280V, iv, p. 154.
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advised he also attack, besieging the castle at Saint-Céneri-le-Gérei.?”® The garrison
eventually surrendered, but as winter approached the campaign had to be brought to a
halt. Curthose therefore came to terms with Roger Montgommery, and released his

son Robert from prison.?*°

If Odo was in any way disappointed by this outcome then none of the sources
record it. Instead, it seems that the bishop spent Easter 1089 (1 April) with the duke,
for on the 24 April he was with Curthose at the castle of Vernon,?** convincing him to
confirm the possessions of his cathedral as the duke prepared for an expedition into
France.?®? It is not known if Odo accompanied the duke beyond Vernon at this time,
but the excursion was undoubtedly the result of the steadily deteriorating
circumstances in the duchy. Maine was in revolt again, while the northeast of the
duchy had been coerced into rebellion by William Rufus, who had bribed many of the
local magnates.”®® The duke was able to secure help from the king of France to
combat his brother’s influence, and together they besieged the castle of La Ferté-en-

234

Bray.”™ When Curthose granted the land of Gisors to King Philip in return for his

assistance, however, he so enraged the archbishop of Rouen that he laid the duchy

under an interdict.?*®

It is possible that Odo remained with the duke throughout this
period. He was certainly at the siege of the castle of Eu on 20 July, and not only
witnessed an agreement between the abbeys of Saint-Etienne de Caen and Saint-
Bénigne de Dijon,>® but also secured a confirmation from the duke of his
establishment of Saint-Vigor-le-Grand.>" Shortly thereafter, and certainly before

September 9, Odo was present at an impressive gathering of court,?*® during which

*2% Saint-Céneri-le-Gérei, Orne, cant. Alengon 1.

20 OV, iv, pp. 154-156. Orderic attributes the abrupt end of the campaign to Curthose’s laziness. For
the suggestion that the onset of winter was a more likely cause, see Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p.
271.

21 \/ernon, Eure, chef-lieu.

282 < apud Vernonem, quoddam castrum Normanniae, iturus in expeditionem in Frantiam’,
Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. iv.

3 For details, see Barlow, William Rufus, pp. 270-273; David, Robert Curthose, pp. 53-54.

24 Now La Ferté-Saint-Samson, Seine-Maritime, cant. Forges-les-Eaux.

25 GG, xi, Instr., cols. 18-19.

2 AD Calvados, 1 J 41, fol. 46v-47r. The precise date for the siege of the castle is given by this
charter.

7 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. vi.

% Those present included the duke, William Bona Anima, archbishop of Rouen, Michael, bishop of
Avranches, William of Saint-Calais, bishop of Durham, Gilbert Maminot, bishop of Lisieux, Gerard,
bishop Sées, and a large number of laymen, including Robert, count of Meulan, and Nigel, vicomte of
the Cotentin, AD Calvados, 1 J 41, fol. 45r-v. For discussion of the date, see Gazeau, Normannia
monastica, ii, p. 45.
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Gilbert, abbot of Saint-Etienne de Caen, paid Rainald d’Orval, whose lord was the

239

bishop of Bayeux,“*” two hundred and fifty livres for his part of the manor of Baupte,

located in the Cotentin.?°

The regularity with which Odo can be seen participating in the government of
Normandy decreases after this date, though his movements can still be traced with
some degree of accuracy.?** He played no apparent role in the Rouen insurrection of
November 1090, though given the involvement of count Henry, whom he had helped
imprison, it is perhaps little surprise that Odo chose to stay clear of the Norman
capital.>*> He seems to have attended the council convened shortly after 1 June 1091
to elect the new bishop of Sées,** since he was among those who witnessed a charter
issued for the abbey of Bec by the archbishop of Rouen, which is traditionally
associated with this event.*** He also witnessed an act for the abbey of Jumiéges
issued by the duke at Lisieux, though the document can be no more accurately dated
than 1091 x 1095.%*° He can next be located in his diocese, where, in the chapterhouse
of his cathedral, he witnessed, on 7 May 1092, a donation made to the cathedral by
the archdeacon Goscelin and Rodulf de Russy,?*® an act he would later confirm, again
in the chapterhouse at Bayeux, on 25 September 1093 and 16 January 1094.2" It is
possible that he was in the west of the duchy throughout this entire period, since he is
known to have visited Geoffrey de Montbray on his deathbed at Coutances, and
attended his funeral on 3 February 1093.2*8 He certainly did not perform the marriage
249

of the king of France and Bertrade de Montfort in May 1092, as Orderic contends.

He was, instead, by the end of the year, and certainly after 11 December, back in the

289 < concedente... Odone episcopo Baiocensi domino meo’, AD Calvados, 1 J 41, fol. 45r.

9 Baupte, Manche, cant. Périers.

1 Bourrienne believed that Odo played a limited role in the troubles of 1091-1095, but this may
simply confirm Orderic’s statement that the duke took the bishop’s advice only when it suited him,
Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 275.

2.0V, iv, pp. 220-226.

30V, iv, p. 252.

24 BN, ms. lat. 13905, fol. 52r. For a critical edition of this act see Appendix G.

5 Haskins, Norman Institutions, Appendix E, no. 7.

248 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. xxii. A critical edition of this act can be found in
Appendix G.

' Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. xxiii. A critical edition of this act can be found
in Appendix G.

28 <De statu’, col. 223.

90V, iv, p. 260. William of Malmesbury claimed the union was solemnised by William Bona Anima,
archbishop of Rouen (William of Malmesbury, GR, i, p. 732), but papal letters and royal charter
subscriptions prove that the marriage was performed by Ursion, bishop of Senlis, A. Fliche, Le regne
de Philippe ler, roi de France, 1060-1108 (Paris, 1912), p. 50.
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presence of the duke, for at Bonneville-sur-Touques he witnessed a plea between the
abbeys of Saint-Florent de Saumur and Lonlay concerning the church of Briouze.?*®
He then followed Curthose to Maine in 1094, where at Venddme he witnessed two

charters for the abbey of La Trinité.?*!

If this visit did take place in this year, and it is not entirely clear that it did, > then
it must have occurred before the invasion of Normandy by William Rufus on 19
March 1094,%°® an event in whose consequences the bishop of Bayeux is not known to
have played any part. Odo does not resurface, in fact, until over twenty months later

5.25% \Whether Odo’s restless nature

at the council of Clermont in November 109
induced him to travel to the meeting, or he went simply to discuss matters of an
unknown nature with the pope, is unclear. According to the Liber depositionum of
Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, Odo travelled first to the abbey, where he hoped to meet
Pope Urban for reasons that are not stated.”> He was welcomed by Abbot Gerento,
and during the course of his stay, granted the abbey of Saint-Vigor-le-Grand to Saint-
Bénigne.256 Scholars have longed puzzled at Odo’s decision, given the apparent
mismatch between his personality and the strict religious life practised at Saint-
Bénigne, and have been unconvinced by the Dijon explanation that Odo felt he had to
reward the monks for the hospitality shown him during his stay.*’ Gerento and Odo
had met before, however, on 20 July 1089, during the course of a hearing concerning

the abbeys of Saint-Etienne de Caen and Saint-Bénigne, which had been held during

20 Regesta, no. 267(11). Odo had been witness to the original plea concerning this church, which took
place at Caen on 7 Jan. 1080.

! Cartulaire de Venddme, ii, nos. cccli and ccclii.

%2 The first charter, the oldest copy of which dates to the seventeenth/eighteenth century (BN, coll.
Baluze, vol. 47, fol. 267r), was also witnessed by William de Saint-Calais, bishop of Durham
(Guillelmus episcopus de Durelmo). Although he was in Normandy in early 1093, he was back in
England by July of that year, and seems to have remained in the country until his death on 2 Jan. 1096.
Having been so restored to favour by Rufus that in Christmas 1093 he was able to secure a charter
allowing him to hold in free alms all those lands for which he had once owed military service, it seems
unlikely he would have jeopardised all this by returning to the court of Curthose. For the bishop’s
itinerary at this time, see H. Offler, ‘William of Saint-Calais, first Norman bishop of Durham’,
Transactions of the Architectural and Archaeological Society of Durham and Northumberland, 10
(1950), pp. 258-279, at pp. 274-275.

%3 The closest to Venddme that Robert is known to have come between March and December 1094 is
Argentan, almost 150km away, Barlow, William Rufus, pp. 331-335.

240V, v, p. 18.

2% < cum vice quadam Urbanum papam inter Gallias constitutum expeteret, Divionem veniens a
domno larentone...’, Chartes de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, ii, no. 390.

8 Chartes de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, ii, no. 390. This grant was later confirmed in Bayeux on 24 May
1096, Chartes de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, ii, nos. 385 and 391. A critical edition of this act can be
found in Appendix G.

%7 Bates, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux’, p. 278.
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the siege of the castle of Eu.?®® Interestingly, it was at this event that Odo secured

° and it is not

from the duke a confirmation of the foundation of Saint-Vigor,?
impossible that the bishop had occasion to speak of his establishment with the abbot

of Saint-Bénigne at this time.

It is also important to remember that Odo was a man with international ambitions
who enjoyed a pan-European network of relations. He had transformed his city into an
international centre, and throughout his long career the bishop is known to have been
a correspondent with some of Europe’s leading ecclesiastics,?®® receiving letters or
verses from Marbode de Rennes,?®* Hildebert de Lavardin,?®® St. Anselm,?* and even

264

Berengar of Tours.”> Many of these, such as the letter from Marbode de Rennes, who

was then archdeacon of Angers, are addressed to the bishop warmly, even

265

sycophantically,” while others testify to the generosity that so obviously endeared

Odo to his colleagues.?®

Among men of this calibre only Lanfranc seems to have
genuinely mistrusted the bishop, and proved himself a constant foil to Odo’s ambition
almost from the very beginning. Within a few years of his election as abbot of Saint-
Etienne, for example, he had used a visit to Rome to secure a papal bull protecting the
abbey from episcopal interference,”®’ while in England he consistently fought to
prevent Odo from appropriating land belonging to his cathedral, most famously
thwarting his efforts at Penenden Heath.?®® William of Malmesbury even reports that
it was at Lanfranc’s suggestion that the king arrested Odo in 1082/3 not as bishop of

Bayeux, but as earl of Kent.?®® Such bitter relations seem, however, to have been the

%8 “Hi omnes hanc cartam firmaverunt quorum subscripti sunt nomina, Robertus comes Normannorum,
Willelmus archiepiscopus, Odo Baiocensis episcopus... Ierento abbas Divionensis...”, AD Calvados, 1
J 41, fol. 46v-47r, at fol. 47r.

9 Bourrienne, Antiquus cartularius Baiocensis, i, no. vi.

20 For full discussion, see Bates, ‘Le patronage clérical’, pp. 105-114.

%1 Marbode de Rennes, ‘Carmina varia’, no. xxxii, ‘Ad Odonem episcopum simul et comitem’, Migne,
PL, clxxi, col. 1724.

%2 Hildebert de Lavardin, ‘Carmina’, no. Ivii, ‘Ad episcopum Bajocensem’, Migne, PL, clxxi, col.
1407.

%35 Anselmi Opera omnia, iii, no. 87.

2% Berengarius Turonensis oder eine Sammlung ihn betreffender Briefe, ed. H. Sudendorf (Hamburg,
1850), no. xxi, pp. 231-232.

% <Gazas, aetatem, personaque nobilitatem, | Linguam quae fari, mentem quae scit meditari, | Morum
candorem, plebis patrumque favorem’, Marbode de Rennes, ‘Ad Odonem episcopum’, col. 1724,

%% One speaks of a ring (annulus) given to him by Odo, Hildebert de Lavardin, ‘Ad episcopum
Bajocensem’, col. 1407.

%7 Migne, PL, cxlvi, vol. 1340 (dated 18 Jan. 1068).

268 Regesta, no. 69.

%69 William of Malmesbury, GR, i, p. 544.
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exception rather than the rule in Odo’s dealings with his fellow ecclesiastics. His gift
to Gerento is further proof that he was able charm those who might otherwise
condemn him, while the donation of the abbey of Saint-Vigor, however failed this
institution may have been, was as much an honour for the abbey of Dijon as for the

bishop and city of Bayeux.

Having secured the future of his foundation, the bishop then travelled to Clermont,
his dean and an archdeacon in tow,?”® where he was joined from among the Norman
dioceses by the bishops of Evreux and Sées.?”* The proceedings of the papal council
clearly had a profound impact on Odo, and upon his return to the duchy he joined the
bishops of Avranches, Coutances, Lisieux and Sées at a council convened by the
archbishop of Rouen to promulgate certain of the Clermont canons.?’? The bishop,
who may have made the decision to take the cross before returning to Normandy, then
began to set his affairs in order ready for departure. In spring 1096, the abbot of Saint-
Bénigne, along with Hugh of Flavigny, came to Normandy as part of his legatine
mission to reconcile the warring Rufus and Curthose. Having already been to
England, the abbot and his entourage crossed to Normandy at some point after
Easter.’”® Odo and Gerento were reunited at Bayeux on 24 May, where the bishop
confirmed his grant of the abbey of Saint-Vigor.?’* The duke issued his own

confirmation charter on the same day,?”

the scribe identifying himself as Hugo
Divionensis ecclesic monachus, that is to say, Hugh of Flavigny.?’® The signum
appended by Odo is in a different hand, and may be that of the bishop himself. The

duke, the bishop and the abbot then seem to have travelled to Upper Normandy

2% Odo travelled with William, dean of Bayeux, and Richard the archdeacon (Richardo Rhotomagensi
archidiacono), who was either an archdeacon of the church of Rouen, or an archdeacon of Bayeux
whose toponym was ‘de Rouen’, Chartes de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, ii, no. 390. Spear opts for the
former, Spear, The personnel, p. 209-210.

1oV, v, p. 18.

220V, v, p. 20.

2" Hugh of Flavigny Chronicon, pp. 474-475.

2% Chartes de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, ii, nos. 385, 391. A critical edition of this act can be found in
Appendix G.

"> BM (Bayeux), titres scellés, no. 9; ed. Chartes de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, ii, no. 386.

278 For discussion, see P. Healy, The chronicle of Hugh of Flavigny: reform and the investiture contest
in the late eleventh century (Aldershot, 2006), pp. 72-73. Healy is mistaken, however, in his assertion
that Gerento also arranged at this time the exchange with the abbey of Saint-Etienne concerning the
church of Saint-Martin de Longchamps. The text of the original charter to which he refers (AD
Calvados, H 1847) is identical to that considered at the siege of Eu in July 1089 (AD Calvados, 1 J 41,
fol. 46v-47r), and therefore dates to the same time. Haskins believed that the original was written by
Hugh of Flavigny (Haskins, Norman Institutions, p. 76 n. 34), which if correct, means Hugh
accompanied Gerento to the duchy in both 1089 and 1096.
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together, for in the summer of 1096 they can be found in Rouen witnessing a charter
for its cathedral.?’” In late September the three men left the duchy, along with many

others, for the east.?®

The crusade caravan began to make its way slowly across France. Gerento and
Hugh of Flavigny accompanied the crusaders as far as the eastern limits of the comté
of Burgundy, taking their leave of the leaders at Pontarlier.2”® Odo and the duke then
crossed over into Italy, where they were met at Lucca by Urban 11.%° The host then
moved on to Rome, where they were greeted violently by supporters of the anti-
pope,”®" before pushing to the port of Bari by way of Montecassino, where they
stopped to ask a blessing of St. Benedict.”® Unable to cross the sea in winter,
however, the crusaders remained in Apulia and Calabria,?®® and while Curthose was

entertained by Roger Bursa, duke of Apulia,®®*

the ever-restless Odo crossed to Sicily
to visit Palermo. During his stay, however, the bishop contracted a fatal disease, and
after a short illness, succumbed. Orderic placed this episode in February,?® but
various Norman and English obituaries record the bishop’s death in the first week of
January.”® Odo bequeathed his moveable wealth to Arnulf de Chocques, later
patriarch of Jerusalem.?’ The bishop was then interred in the cathedral of Palermo by
his colleague Gilbert, bishop of Evreux, who had been at his deathbed, while Roger,
count of Sicily, erected a magnificent tomb for him.?®® Unfortunately, all trace of this

monument was lost during the remodelling of the cathedral in the last quarter of the

2" Bauduin, La premiére Normandie, Appendix 11, no. 10.

8OV, v, p. 34.

2% Hugh of Flavigny, Chronicon, p. 475.

80 Eylcher of Chartres says the duke was greeted by the pope at Lucca (Fulcheri Carnotensis Historia
Hierosolymitana (1095-1127), ed. H. Hagenmeyer (Heidelberg, 1913), p. 164), while Orderic claims
Odo had an audience with the pope in Rome, OV, v, p. 210. This is probably a confused reference to
the meeting mentioned by Fulcher.

81 Fylcher of Chartres, Historia, pp. 165-166.

%2 | g0 of Ostia, Guido of Monte Cassino and Peter the Deacon, Chronica monasterii Casinensis, ed.
H. Hoffmann, MGH: SS, 34 (Hanover, 1980), p. 476.

%83 Fylcher of Chartres, Historia, p. 167.

240V, v, p. 278.

%50V, v, p. 210.

% The obituary of Jumiéges records his death of 2 January (RHGF, xxiii, p. 417), that of St.
Augustine’s, Canterbury, on 4 January (BL, ms. Cott. Vitellius, C. xii, fol. 114r), while he was
commemorated at Bayeux on 6 January (Ordinaire de Bayeux, ed. Chevalier, p. 410). However, the
obituary of abbey of Grestain, which is now lost, records that Odo’s obit was moveable, being
celebrated on the Thursday of the third week of Lent, Abbé Alix, ‘Fragment de I’obituaire de Notre-
Dame de Grestain’, BSAN, 33 (1918), pp. 313-318, at p. 317.

%7 Guibert de Nogent, Dei gesta per Francos et cing autres textes, ed. R.B.C. Huygens (Turnhout,
1996), p. 291.

%80V, iv, p. 118; v, p. 210.
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twelfth century, although three seventeenth-century manuscripts contain what is
purported to be the bishop’s epitaph. This is perhaps the work of the bishop of
Evreux, who was known for his funeral oration.”®® Only one of the versions has been
printed before, and although the differences between them are not great, there is

some value to printing all three here.

The first is found in an anonymous history of the bishops of Bayeux, which forms
part of the Mancel collection at Caen:**

Epitaphium Odonis episcopi Baiocen(sis), primi huius
nominis fratris regis Angliae et dux Normanorum

Quid Baiocensis prodest mihi pontificatus,
Gloria laus et honor quid erant nisi causa iratus.
lam tam exibant de tempestate profundi,

Quia iam rescibat episcopatu pro XLVI11° anno
Et per transibant laqueos et tetrici mundi.

Dum pertransirem Hierosolimam veniendo
Panormi iacui pauper domini moriendo.

Unde memento mei clerus quem semper amaui
Pro me funde proeces aliquas in odore suaui
Pro me, funde gemitus lachrimas recolendo
Quam meruit veniam peccatrix foemina flendo
Interea de morte mea tua respice fata.

Et speculare quod hic nunquam sit vita beata
Vita beata deus in eo sunt gaudia vitae

Unde mei fratres ad eum properando redditae.

The second is located in another anonymous history of the bishops, with the text

rendered in narrative form:?%

Epitaphium Odonis episcopi Baiocensis, primi huius nominis, fratris regis
Angliae et ducis Normannorum

Quid Baiocensis prodest mihi pontificatus gloria, laus et honor, quid erant,
nisi causa quaestus. Dum pertransirem lerosolymam veniendo panormi iacui
pauper domini moriendo. Unde memento mei, clerus quem semper amaui pro
me funde preces aliquas in odore suaui pro me funde gemitus lacrymas
recolendo quam meruit veniam peccatrix famina flendo interea de morte mea
tua respice fata et speculare quod hic nunquam sit vita beata deus in sancta
gaudia uitae, unde mei fratres ad eum properando reddite.

%89 Dosdat, ‘Les évéques et la vie intellectuelle’, p. 234. For further discussion of Gilbert’s oratorical
skills, see below, pp. 233-234.

20 Bourrienne, ‘Odon de Conteville’, p. 276; R. Tower, ‘Odo, bishop of Bayeux and earl of Kent’,
Archaeologia Cantiana, 39 (1927), pp. 55-76, at p. 68; Dosdat, ‘Les évéques et la vie intellectuelle’,
pp. 251-252. Dosdat suggests corrections for some of the faulty Latin. For an English translation, see
Hull, ‘The Norman episcopate’, ii, p. 297 n. 5.

291 Caen, Musée des Beaux-Avrts, coll. Mancel, vol. 183, fol. 5r.

2%2 BM (Caen), ms. 296 (in quarto 169), pp. 122-123. Another example of this narrative version, which
has slight variations, can be found in Bib. du chap. de Bayeux, ms. 6 (now AD Calvados, ms. 6 G 6),
fol. 36r.
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Finally, there is the abbreviated version incorporated into the work of Jean Hermant,
whose composition the epitaph may in fact be.?*® The manuscript copy of his diocesan
history, which survives in three volumes in the municipal library of Caen,®* is
different from that printed in 1705:%°

Quid Baiocensis prodest mihi pontificatus,

Gloria, laus et honor tantum nisi causa reatus,

Dum pertransirem Hierosolimam veniendo,

Panormi iacui pauper domini moriendo,

Unde memento mei clerus, quem semper amauli,

Pro me funde preces aliquas in odore suaui, etc.

Whatever the authenticity of this piece, Odo had, of course, made provision to be
buried in his foundation at Saint-Vigor-le-Grand. That such was stipulated in a charter
issued just months before his departure for Jerusalem suggests he perhaps expected to
return to the duchy.?®® Despite not being able to lay claim to the body of their most
important patron, the cathedral community at Bayeux made efforts to incorporate his
remembrance into their liturgical routine. Commemorated on 6 January, three
reliquaries (capsa), which perhaps included that sent back to Bayeux by Odo from the

297

east,”" were to be placed on the altar during this day, while a mass was to be said for

the bishop during the feast of St. Thomas, if certain liturgical ceremonies had already
earlier been performed.?®® His obituary was also to be marked by the lighting of a

° The liturgical

candelabrum, which was to burn beside the altar during mass.?
regimen of the cathedral even remembered some of Odo’s less celebrated
achievements, and during the processions that were to take place during the Paschal
season a ‘special speech’ (oratio specialis) was to be made on behalf of the former
bishop, who had secured from the pope the right to grant ten days indulgence to all

300

those who participated in the celebrations.”™ Odo’s full importance could, of course,

2% Bourrienne, ‘Odon de Conteville’, p. 276.

2% BM (Caen), ms. 297 (in folio 70), vol. 1, fol. 121r.

2% The last line in the printed version is rendered ‘Pro me funde preces in ordine suaui, etc’, Hermant,
Histoire du diocése de Bayeux, p. 150.

% Chartes de Saint-Bénigne de Dijon, ii, nos. 385, 391.

27 This is the reliquary used to hold the chasuble of St. Regnobert, which can still be found today
among the cathedral’s treasures. Arabic in origin, it was perhaps sent back by Odo, or brought back by
Gilbert, bishop of Evreux. It is inscribed with the Arabic word 4.« » (basmala), Corpus des
inscriptions de la France medievale . 22, Calvados, Eure, Manche, Orne, Seine-Maritime, ed. R.
Favreau and J. Michaud (Paris, 2002), p. 30.

%8 Ordinaire de Bayeux, ed. Chevalier, pp. 77, 410.

2 Ordinaire de Bayeux, ed. Chevalier, pp. 406.

%00 <Et in hiis omnibus processionibus fit oratio specialis, ut dictum est, pro Odone episcopo, qui sicut
dicitur impetravit a sede apostolica, dari decem die de indulgentia omnibus qui prosequerentur
processiones predictas’, Ordinaire de Bayeux, ed. Chevalier, p. 383.
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never fully be memorialised without a tomb around which such festivities could
revolve, but the spiritual and physical infrastructure that he left in place, many traces
of which can still be seen today, is perhaps greater testament to the significance of his

episcopate than any sepulchral monument.
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Turold d’Envermeu,’ 1097 x 1099-1107

It seems almost inevitable that the man chosen to fill the vacancy left by Odo
should fail to live up to the reputation of his predecessor. Elected to the episcopate by
William Rufus during his administration of the duchy following Curthose’s departure
for the Holy Land,? Turold was the brother of Hugh d’Envermeu,® and was part of a
family whose power was centred on Dieppe.® It was in this region that the king of
England had established much of his power in Normandy,®> and the appearances of
both men as witnesses to his acts,® along with a papal letter concerning Turold’s
election,’ reveal that the two were curiales engaged in the mundane matters of court.
Although royal clerks constituted a significant number of the men elected to the
English episcopate,® Turold seems to have been particularly unsuited for such a role.
He had failed to pass through the minor orders in the normal clerical fashion, had
probably had a son,” and had not even received a canonical election, owing his

position solely to the intervention of secular authorities.™

Although similar
allegations could have been levelled at his predecessor, the new bishop of Bayeux
lacked the weight and influence that Odo commanded so masterfully. With his
powerbase restricted to the Pays de Caux, and with the death of his patron in August
1100, Turold soon found himself unable to secure recognition of his investiture from
every important authority. Consequently, his episcopate is remarkable only for the
series of disasters that afflicted the diocese of Bayeux during his reign. His
appearances in the historical record are, unsurprisingly, somewhat limited, and it is
thanks only to his association with the abbey of Bec, where he later became a monk,

that we know anything of his life.

! Envermeu, Seine-Maritime, chef-lieu.

20V, v, p. 210.

20V, v, p. 210.

* Gleason, An ecclesiastical barony, p. 18.

® Barlow, William Rufus, pp. 270-273; David, Robert Curthose, pp. 53-54.

® Regesta (Davis), i, nos. 354, 400 (Hugh), 413 (Turold, as chaplain).

" The letter was first printed and discussed by Germain Morin, who dated it to 8 October 1104, G.
Morin, ‘Lettre inédite de Pascal II notifiant la déposition de Turold, évéque de Bayeux, puis moine du
Bec (8 oct. 1104)’, Revue d’histoire ecclésiastique, 5 (1904), pp. 284-289, at pp. 284-285. A critical
edition, with a redating to the previous year, can be found in Papsturkunden in Frankreich: Neue
Folge, ed. J. Ramackers, 9 vols. (Berlin, 1932-), ii, no. 5, pp. 58-60.

® For the precise numbers see R. Bartlett, England under the Norman and Angevin kings, 1066-1225
(Oxford, 2000), p. 397.

° For discussion, see below Appendix D.

10°¢.. se quidem non electum a clero, non expetitum a populo, per secularem potestatem ecclesiam
obtinuisse confessus est, diaconii etiam officium, quod non nisi certis licet temporibus extra eadem
tempora accepisse se non negauit’, Papsturkunden in Frankreich, ii, no. 5, p. 59.
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The exact date at which Rufus gave the bishopric to Turold is unclear. Orderic
provides two contradictory pieces of evidence. He first states that the king gave the
bishopric to Turold when he heard of the death of Bishop Odo.™ Since news from the
east travelled relatively quickly,™ this suggests the new bishop may have been in
position well before the end of 1097. However, Orderic states that Turold abandoned
his post ‘seven years later’,"> and since the bishop of Bayeux is known to have still
been active as late as November 1106, this seems to indicate that Turold was not
given the episcopate by Rufus until as late as 1099. Although scholars have found this
contradictory evidence difficult to reconcile,’® often placing his elevation in 1098, it
is not entirely impossible that Turold was given the bishopric at such a late date.
Orderic does not, after all, state that Rufus placed Turold in Bayeux immediately
following the news of Odo’s death, while the English king is well known to have
delayed the investiture of bishops in order to appropriate for as long as possible the
revenues of vacant bishoprics.!” With his oldest brother away in the east, Rufus may
have anticipated that the contest that would come to dominate the succession would
be between himself and his brother Henry. Of course, Henry was already well
established in the west of the duchy,'® and the opportunity for Rufus to extend his
influence in the land bordering his brother’s zone of influence would have been a
welcome one. Furthermore, in the letter sent on 8 October 1103 to the clergy and
people of Bayeux regarding the irregularities of Turold’s election, Paschal II stated
that it had been three years since the bishop had forcibly seized the bishopric, placing
this event in 1099.%

Of course, the pope had been made aware of the circumstances in Bayeux by its

chapter, who had refused to accept Turold. It is difficult to determine on what grounds

1 ov, v, p. 210.

12 News of the capture of Jerusalem ‘flew swiftly’ to Normandy, and details of Curthose’s exploits
were already well known before his arrival back in the duchy in 1100, OV, v, p. 280.

Bov,v, p. 210.

" GC, xi, Instr., cols. 127-128.

1> Spear, The personnel, p. 32.

'S M. Christelow, ‘Chancellors and curial bishops: ecclesiastical promotions and power in Anglo-
Norman England’, ANS, 22 (2000), pp. 49-69, at p. 60; Bouet and Dosdat, ‘Les évéques normands’, p.
25.

7 Dioceses in England remained vacant anywhere from under a year to over four-and-a-half years,
Barlow, William Rufus, pp. 181, 234-240.

'8 He had been granted the Cotentin by Curthose in 1088, ‘De statu’, col. 221; OV, iv, pp. 118-120.

9 pro vestra igitur salute oportuit Turoldi, eius qui vobis hactenus presedit, causam diligentius
ventilari. lam enim triennium agitur, ex quo ipsius cause actio ventilata est’, Papsturkunden in
Frankreich, ii, no. 5, p. 59.
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this refusal was based. The means by which Turold was nominated to the bishopric
were hardly unusual,?® and although the chapter may have taken a stand on religious
grounds, it is possible that Odo had ordered the chapter, many of whose members his
careers he had made, to refuse any appointment of Rufus, his bitter enemy, should he
fail to return from the east. If the bishop did ever give such an order it would
ultimately prove destructive, for it would paralyse his diocese. The chapter of Bayeux
petitioned the pope, resulting in a summons ordering Turold to appear in Rome. The
bishop ignored the first of these commands, which was made in 1100, and seems then
to have set about trying to secure investiture from Curthose, for which the pope also
later criticised him.?* It appears, however, that he ultimately failed in his attempts,?
and soon found himself in an unenviable position between the pope, Curthose and the
king of England.

In spite of these circumstances, however, Turold can be seen acting as bishop of
Bayeux. At some between 1101 and 1105, for example, he witnessed a charter of the
duke by which he gave an annual fair at Cheux to the abbey of Saint-Etienne de
Caen,”® while according to Arthur Du Monstier, who consulted folia now lost of the
Livre rouge of Bayeux,** there also arose a ‘dispute’ (contentio) between Turold and
Robert, abbot of this same house, concerning jurisdiction,”® which was eventually
resolved amicably.?® Turold also received another summons from the pope at this
time, and at some time in 1102 he travelled to Rome, where he appeared before

Paschal II ‘crying and wailing’, convincing him to grant a delay sufficient to enable

0 garell Gleason noted that in refusing to canonically elect the appointment, the chapter at Bayeux
‘defied both tradition and recognized authority’, Gleason, An ecclesiastical barony, p. 21.

%1 The pope accuses Turold of breaking an oath he made to the king of England (identified as Henry 1),
which said he would not seek investiture from Curthose: ‘Pro his igitur omnibus, pro fide etiam non
accipiendi a Normannorum comite honoris ecclesiastici ante conspectum Anglici regis data...’,
Papsturkunden in Frankreich, ii, no. 5, p. 59.

%2 In a letter to William Bona Anima, archbishop of Rouen, the pope admitted that he had heard that
Turold had not yet been invested: ‘Caeterum, quia eum [Turoldus] necdum revestitum audivimus...’,
Pascal 11, ‘Epistolae’, no. clxxix, Migne, PL, clxiii, col. 188.

% Haskins, Norman Institutions, Appendix E, no. 3. He appears only as episcopus Baiocensis in the
original act edited by Haskins, but a cartulary copy of the charter provides his name, AD Calvados, 1 J
41, fol. 21r-v. Cheux, Calvados, cant. Tilly-sur-Seulles.

* Du Monstier cites folio 102r of the Livre rouge (BN, ms. n. a. lat. 1828), but folia 93r-108r are
missing. Cf. Le Livre rouge de 1’évéché de Bayeux: manuscrit du XVe siécle, ed. E. Anquetil, 2 vols.
(Bayeux, 1908), i, p. 11.

 <Contentio notatur super iurisdictione quadam inter episcopum Baiocensem, et ipsum Robertum,
Cadomensem abbatem, quae postea conciliatur’, Du Monstier, Neustria pia, p. 651.

% \/éronique Gazeau identifies the bishop of Bayeux as Robert son of Samson, but since Robert, abbot
of Saint-Etienne, died on 22 January 1107, it seems more likely that the dispute arose during Turold’s
episcopate, Gazeau, Normannia monastica, ii, p. 47.
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him to prove his innocence.?” The pope granted him a year’s respite, and ordered that
he return to Rome on 1 October the following year (1103), at which time he would
hear judgement. Turold would never return to Rome. His activities following his
return from the papal see are unknown. He may have returned to his diocese in order
to further press his case and consolidate his power within the bishopric, but if he had
established any semblance of order within his episcopal city, it was soon to be rudely
disturbed.

Henry I’s invasion of the duchy in spring 1105 was to have ruinous consequences
for the city of Bayeux. Having arrived in the neighbouring Cotentin, where he heard
the famous Easter sermon delivered by Serlo, bishop of Seées, in the church at
Carentan,?® the king soon began his march eastward. Following an engagement
shortly after Easter at Maromme in Upper Normandy,? Henry turned his attention to
Bayeux. The city was not only of great strategic significance, but its citizens had also
captured Robert fitzHaimon, lord of Creully and Torigni,®® who in the months before
had switched his allegiance to the king, and had been harrying much of the Bessin.*
Whatever can be said about the siege that followed, Turold appears to have played no
part in it.3? His brother, Hugh, seems to have been involved with Henry in the military
engagements that preceded the siege of Bayeux, witnessing a charter issued ‘during
the siege of Arques’,®® and was certainly with the king in the years before the
invasion.®* 1t is possible, therefore, that Turold also lent his support to Henry’s
campaign. This was probably limited to tacit approval, however, since any active role
would surely have drawn comment from someone like Serlo de Bayeux, who was not
only a great admirer of Turold’s predecessor, but was also a member of the cathedral

chapter resisting his claims to the episcopate. Nevertheless, the destruction wrought in

27 <. cum flens et eiulans terrae consternatus indutias flagitauit...”, Papsturkunden in Frankreich, ii,

no. 5, p. 59.

% OV, vi, pp. 60-68. For full discussion, see below, pp. 443-444.

2 OV, vi, p. 72. Maromme, Seine-Maritime, chef-lieu.

% Creully, Calvados, chef-lieu; Torigni-sur-Vire, Manche, chef-lieu.

*! The most detailed account of this episode is found in Wace, Roman de Rou, pt. iii, Il. 11073-11102.
His description is corroborated elsewhere, OV, vi, p. 60.

%2 The bishop is not mentioned in any of the sources that recount the circumstances during and after the
siege; ‘Incipiunt versus Serlonis’, pp. 241-251; OV, vi, p. 70; Wace, Roman de Rou, pt. iii, Il. 10945-
11162.

% <Teste Hugone de Envremodio, in obsidione ante Archas’, BN, ms. lat. 10058, p. 7. Round dated this
charter 1104 x 1106 (CDF, no. 393) , while Davis and Cronne placed it in 1106(?), Regesta (Johnson
and Cronne), ii, no. 794. Charles David, however, associates it with the events of 1105, David, Robert
Curthose, p. 165 n. 107.

% Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, nos. 601, 727.
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the city of Bayeux during the siege was profound,® and it would not be long before
the disasters that ruined his episcopal city would soon come to overwhelm Turold

himself.

The bishop’s papal problems resurfaced even before the war between Henry and
Curthose had come to an end on the field at Tinchebray. On 30 March 1106, Paschal
Il sent a letter to William Bona Anima, archbishop of Rouen, which gave him various
instructions regarding the situation at Bayeux, and set a date of Easter 1107 for the
final hearing before the archbishop of Canterbury.*® Turold continued in his functions
as diocesan, however, witnessing a charter of the archbishop of Rouen that was issued
in the Norman capital sometime after 28 September 1106,*” while on 6 November he
was still in Rouen for a large gathering of court convened by Henry I, during which a
charter in favour of Fécamp was issued.® Turold undoubtedly used the opportunity to
press the new king-duke on the subject of his investiture, but it was a matter on which
Henry was not to be moved. He had perhaps heard the rumours that Turold had sought
investiture from Curthose, breaking an oath that the bishop had made with the king.*
It was not long, therefore, before Turold found his position impossible, and at
sometime in early 1107 he resigned his post.** Orderic suggests that he then
immediately became a monk at Bec,* to whom he had granted as bishop the priory of
Saint-Laurence d’Envermeu,”” but he was certainly in England following his
resignation, where he witnessed an act issued in London, which might be associated
with the election of Rodulf d’Escures as bishop of Rochester on 29 June 1108.% If
nothing else, the appearance certainly shows that Turold had not fallen entirely out of
favour with the king. Indeed, his brother Hugh remained a constant in the royal

® It is sometimes suggested that the destruction wrought in Bayeux by Henry was somewhat
exaggerated by Serlo, though his account is partly confirmed by that of John of Worcester: ‘llle
[Henricus rex] vero Baius, cum ecclesia s. Marie, que intus erat, combussit’, John of Worcester,
Chronicle, iii, p. 106.

% pascal Il, “Epistolae’, no. clxxix, col. 188.

%7 Haskins, Norman Institutions, Appendix F, no. 1, p. 293. A critical edition of this act can be found in
Appendix G.

¥ GC, xi, Instr., cols. 127-128.

% This is the oath mentioned in the 1103 letter of Paschal 11, Papsturkunden in Frankreich, ii, no. 5, p.
59. It is possible that king referred to is William Rufus, though is more likely a reference to Henry,
Gleason, An ecclesiastical barony, pp. 19-20.

0 Turold’s successor, Richard son of Samson, entered office in 1107, since he died in 1133 and Orderic
states he ruled for twenty-six years, OV, v, p. 210.

oV, v, p. 210.

“2 BN, ms. lat. 10058, pp. 1-2. A critical edition of this act can be found in Appendix G.

4 Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, no. 936. Turold witnesses as ‘Tur[old] de Enverneu’.
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court,* eventually marrying Turfrida, the daughter of the repudiated wife of

Hereward the Wake.*®

Nevertheless, Turold’s experiences as bishop of Bayeux had clearly had a
profound effect upon him. His decision to retire to Bec certainly suggests that he had
either always sought a stricter religious life, or that the disasters of his reign had taken
their toll upon his person. His career at Bec, which lasted almost forty years, has left
but a few traces. Porée believed that an anonymous letter, the text of which survives
in a manuscript that was once at Bec, was sent to Turold in the immediate aftermath
of his decision to become a monk,*® but it is now known that this epistle was actually
sent by Richard de Saint-Victor to Alain de Lille in early 1168.*" In fact, Turold
received words of encouragement from St. Anselm, who counselled his ‘dearest
friend’ (amico carissimo) that by removing his person from the secular way of life his
mind ‘might be separated from worldly thought, and might always be occupied with
good things and spiritual contemplation’.*® Turold clearly took the advice of this
letter, which proves he became a monk before 21 April 1109, to heart. Abbey texts
remembered the former bishop as ‘a very venerable man’, even ‘holy’,*® while a letter
of Honorius I, which was sent to Richard son of Samson, recalled to the new bishop
of Bayeux his ‘god-fearing” predecessor.” It is possible, however, that Turold did not
completely abandon his secular roots, for he is often identified as the Turold

* Regesta (Johnson and Cronne), ii, nos. 601, 727, 744-5, 818, 973, 1577.

*® Such is the claim made in the history of Crowland by pseudo-Ingulf, ‘Historia Ingulphi’, ed. W.
Fulman, in Rerum anglicarum scriptorum veterum, ed. J. Fell and W. Fulman, 3 vols. (Oxford, 1684-
1691), i, p. 67. Round dismissed such a suggestion (J. Round, Feudal England: historical studies on
the eleventh and twelfth centuries (London, 1895), pp. 159-161, 165), though the idea has recently
found fresh support, EM.C. van Houts, ‘Hereward and Flanders’, Anglo-Saxon England, 28 (1999),
pp. 201-223, at p. 222.

® A-A. Porée, ‘L’abbaye du Bec et ses écoles (1045-1790)°, Revue catholique de Normandie, 1
(1891), pp. 407-430, 513-541; 2 (1892), pp. 28-50, 120-161, at 2, pp. 41-43.

“" BN, ms. lat. 13575, fol. 48r-49r. A fourteenth-century note reveals that the manuscript eventually
became the property of the abbey of Saint-Pierre de Préaux (‘Iste liber est de abbatia sancti Petri de
Pratellis’, BN, ms. lat. 13575, fol. 44v), before entering the collection of Machault and then the abbey
of Saint-Germain-des-Prés. For discussion, Alain de Lille, Lettres familiéres, 1167-1170, ed. F. Hudry
(Paris, 2003), no vi, pp. 106-113.

“ <Sicut igitur corpus vestrum est segregatum a saecularium conversatione: sic cor vestrum sit
separatum a mundana cogitatione, et sit semper occupatum aliqua utili et spirituali meditatione’, S.
Anselmi Opera omnia, v, no. 418, pp. 363-364.

%9 “Fuit nostris temporibus vir valde venerabilis, Turoldus nomine, germanus Hugonis Evremodensis,
pontifex ordinatus Baoicassine urbis... Hanc vero miseriam vir sanctus, pudore optimo decorates...’,
Vatican Library, ms. Regina lat. 499, fol. 161r; BN, ms. lat. 5427, fol. 125r. For discussion of the
Vatican manuscript, of which I have only seen photocopies, see L. Delisle, ‘Notice sur vingt manuscrits
du Vatican’, BEC, 37 (1876), pp. 471-527, at pp. 519-527.

%0 ¢ timoratus praedecessoris tui Toroldi...”, Honorius II, ‘Epistolae’, no. Ix, Migne, PL, clxvi, col.
1276. The letter is dated 6 May 1127.
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responsible for the oldest copy of the Song of Roland, which is found in a manuscript
at the Bodleian.”* The fact that Turold, while suffering from a hernia, appealed for
help to St. Foy,* for whom an eleventh-century chanson survives,*® certainly suggests
he may have been familiar with such material. One of his last known actions was to
make a pilgrimage to the priory of Sainte-Foy de Longueville,>* but he seems to have
died shortly thereafter, in around 1146.%

In spite of his admirable monastic career, the damage done to the diocese of
Bayeux during Turold’s short episcopate proved nearly catastrophic. His immediate
successor, Richard son of Samson, although a highly gifted intellectual, seems to have
lacked the administrative skills necessary for the governance of a bishopric, and the
steady exploitation of cathedral benefices by local magnates that had begun under
Turold continued unabated during his reign. So dire were the circumstances by the
end of his tenure that Henry | ordered the famous Inquest of 1133, which attempted to
establish the diocese’s possessions in the days of Bishop Odo. Richard of Gloucester,
the son of the earl of Gloucester and grandson of Henry 1, proved little better than his
predecessor, for his appointment simply opened the wealth of the diocese to his
father, who had been enriching himself through the appropriation of cathedral
benefices since the reign of Richard son of Samson. It would only be with the election
of Philip d’Harcourt, a man of considerable drive and energy, that the bishopric would
eventually begin to recover.® How much we should blame Turold for the decline in
the diocese’s fortunes is, nevertheless, difficult to determine. His time at Bec suggests
he was not completely insensitive to religious sensibilities, and it perhaps reveals a
man whose cenobic personality was inherently incompatible with the dirtier world of
eleventh-century episcopal politics. His background as a curialis, however, means

such matters cannot have been entirely alien to him, and it is perhaps best to view

L W. Tavernier, ‘Beitrige zur Rolandsforschung’, Zeitschrift fiir Franzosische Sprache und Literatur,
38 (1912), pp. 117-135; 39 (1913), pp. 133-159; 41 (1914), pp. 49-101; J. Bédier, La chanson de
Roland (Paris, 1927), p. 33; P. Le Gentil, La Chanson de Roland, 2nd ed. (Paris, 1967), p. 34; The Song
of Roland, ed. and trans. G. Burgess (London, 1990), p. 14.

2 ‘Miraculum beatae Fidis de episcopo Baiocensi qui postea factus fuit monachus Becci’, Vatican
Library, ms. Regina lat. 499, fol. 161r-162r; BN, ms. lat. 5427, fol. 125r-126v. This text is discussed in
Porée, Histoire du Bec, i, pp. 311-313.

*% The only surviving copy of the chanson is written in Provencal, but it is generally thought that this
scribe worked from a version, now lost, written in French, F.M. Chambers, An introduction to old
Provencal versification (Philadelphia, PA, 1985), p. 10.

> Vatican Library, ms. Regina lat. 499, fol. 161r-162r; BN, ms. lat. 5427, fol. 125r-126v.

%5 <Chronicon Beccensis abbatiae’, in Migne, PL, cl, col. 653.

% Gleason, An ecclesiastical barony, pp. 23-31.
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Turold as little more than a victim of circumstance. The chaos of Curthose’s reign had
caused difficulties for many of the Norman bishops; it was simply that the enormous
wealth amassed by Turold’s predecessor made the diocese of Bayeux an even more

tempting target.
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Hugh I, c. 989-c. 1022

If the destruction wrought by the Northmen in the diocese of Coutances during the
tenth century can be compared to that elsewhere in the duchy, it differs in two distinct
ways. Firstly, we have a description, albeit from almost two centuries later, of the
circumstances following the arrival of Scandinavian forces in the region. According to
De statu huius ecclesiae ab anno 836 ad 1093, which was written by a canon of the
cathedral, John son of Peter, in the early twelfth century,' the diocese was home,
towards the end of ninth century, to urban settlements, churches, relics, the cathedral
and a sizeable lay and clerical population, all of which were laid to waste by the
successive invasions of Hasting the Dane and Hrolfr, later Rollo, first duke of
Normandy.? Secondly, while every other Norman diocese besides Rouen ceased to be
represented by a bishop for all or part of the tenth century, the episcopal succession at
Coutances remained uninterrupted. This partial reprieve was apparently thanks to
Rollo, who in the years following his baptism, sought to make amends for the
destruction wrought by his followers. As a sign of his commitment to the new faith of
which he had just become part, the duke not only patronised religious institutions in
Rouen and Evreux,® but also arranged for the transferral of Theoderic, bishop of
Coutances, to the church of Saint-L6 in Rouen, where he would continue to work ‘as
if he were in his own see’.* Unfortunately, the De statu provides no further
information about the coutancais presence in Rouen, except to name the bishops
(Herbert, Algerundus and Gilbert) who succeeded Theoderic, although archaeological
evidence confirms that the church in which they had been placed had existed long in
the city before their arrival.’

! For the identification of the author of the De statu, who also wrote a set of miracles of the church
of Coutances (ed. E.-A. Pigeon, Histoire de la cathédrale de Coutances (Coutances, 1876), pp. 217-
224), see L. Delisle, ‘Notice sur un traité¢ inédit du XIle siécle: Miracula Ecclesiae Constantiensis’,
BEC, 4 (1847-1848), pp. 339-352, at p. 341. For full bibliographical details concerning the De statu,
and the now lost manuscript in which it was once found, see B. Jacqueline, ‘Institutions et état
économico-social du diocése de Coutances de 836 a 1093, d’aprés les Gesta Gaufridi du ‘Livre noir’
du chapitre coutangais’, Revue historique de droit francais et étranger, 58 (1980), pp. 227-239, esp. p.
228 n. 4. A critical edition of the Coutances miracles can be found in Appendix F. For the oldest
surviving manuscript of De statu se above p. 1 n. 2.

2 <. plurimae captae et concrematae sunt urbes, oppida diruta, destructae ecclesiae, praedia
sanctorum et ecclesiastica iura et privilegia direpta, clerus et incola populus gladiis aufugit annullatus,
sanctorum reliquiae et corpora latibulis abscondita, vel fuga per diversas provincias exportata. His
itaque miseriis iingruentibus, sancta Constantiensis ecclesia... funditus evertitur...’, ‘De statu’, col.
217.

® De moribus, p. 171; GND, ii, p. 134.

“ ... ibique sicut in sede propria sedebat’, ‘De statu’, col. 218.

® Le Maho, ‘Recherches sur les origines’, pp. 148-150.



Date Document Beneficiary Location S
c. 989 x 996 RADN, no. 6 (act lost) Coutances cathedral
15 June 990 RADN, no. 4 Fécamp Fécamp
996 x ¢. 1022 RADN, no. 28 (act lost) Coutances cathedral
15 Sept. 1011 RADN, no. 13 Saint-Ouen de Rouen Rouen X
c. 1014 x 1017 Musset, ‘Les origines de Saint-Fromond’, p. 484 Saint-Fromond (priory)
1015 RADN, no. 17 Mont-Saint-Michel X
8 Sept. 1015 RADN, no. 18 Saint-Quentin Rouen X
1017 x ¢. 1022 Bulst, Wilhelms von Dijon, pp. 223-236 Fruttuaria X
1017 x 1022 RADN, no. 24 Saint-Ouen de Rouen
1017 x c. 1022 RADN, no. 30 Saint-Wandrille X

Fig. 29 Appearances of Hugh |, bishop of Coutances (c. 989- c. 1022), in the diplomatic record

Date Document Beneficiary Location S
1023 x 1026 RADN, no. 49 Mont-Saint-Michel X
c. 1025 x c. 1026 Cartulaire de Saint-Pére de Chartres, i, no. iv, pp. 115-116 | Saint-Pére de Chartres X
c. 1025 RADN, no. 33 Sées cathedral
1025 RADN, no. 35 Fécamp X
1032 x 1035 RADN, no. 85 Fécamp X
1033 x 1034 RADN, no. 76 Mont-Saint-Michel X
13x30 April 1033 RADN, no. 69 Saint-Wandrille X
1034 x 1035 RADN, no. 87 Fécamp X
1035 Grand Cartulaire de Conches, no. 406 (i) Conches X
1037 x ¢.1045 RADN, no. 102 Saint-Wandrille X
1037 x 1048 RADN, no. 112 Saint-Ouen de Rouen X

“ Hugh may be the bishop by that name who witnessed RADN, no. 21, though the bishops of Avranches, Bayeux, and Evreux were also called Hugh at this time.

Fig. 30 Appearances of Robert I, bishop of Coutances (c. 1023-1048), in the diplomatic record

TLT
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It is only with the accession of Hugh to the episcopate that we can begin to trace
with any certainty the reestablishment of episcopal authority. The exact date at which
he succeeded Gilbert is unknown, but like every other member of the late tenth-
century episcopate, his first known datable appearance is at the dedication of Fécamp
on 15 June 990.° Given the state of his diocese, he proved to be a particularly active
member of the episcopate. Richard | had made an attempt to restore an episcopal
presence in the Cotentin, and although Hugh moved seven of the canons established
by the duke to Saint-L6 in Rouen,” he apparently made every effort to aggrandise the
church to which they had been relocated.® Hugh also secured the first restitutions of
land for his cathedral canons, granting them Blainville, Courcy and Soulles,? while he
may also have obtained the donation of Saint-Ebremond and Bonfosse, which was
later turned into an episcopal manor.'® His curial activities were, however, limited
almost exclusively to Upper Normandy, where he witnessed acts at Rouen and
Fécamp for houses located within the traditional centres of ducal power.'* Hugh was,
nevertheless, involved with institutions located in the west of the duchy, such as the
church of Saint-Fromond,** which would later become a priory of Cerisy-la-Forét,*?
while a twelfth-century charter of Saint-Sauveur-le-Vicomte claims the church (later
abbey) enjoyed freedom from all episcopal customs in ‘the time of old duke Richard’
(a tempore vetuli Ricardi comitis),** for which it had given to the cathedral of
Coutances the church and other possessions at Le Homme.™ It is possible that Hugh

had negotiated this arrangement, and although the document’s veracity has recently

®RADN, no. 4.

" “De statu’, col. 218.

8 <Consequente vero tempore venerabilis Hugo episcopus ad honorem sanctorum et gloriam eamdem
pluribus sumptibus ampliavit ecclesiam...’, ‘Translatio sancti Laudi’, in Pigeon, Vies des saints, i, p.
162.

® RADN, nos. 6 and 28. These possessions, all of which are located in La Manche, are in the cantons of
Saint-Malo-de-la-Lande, Coutances and Canisy, respectively.

10 Casset, Les évéques aux champs, p. 417.

" RADN, nos. 13, 17, 18, 24 and 30.

12 aint-Fromond, Manche, cant. Saint-Jean-de-Daye.

3 Hugh is mentioned in a copy of a lost charter of Richard I1, in which he grants the church freedom
from synod, visit and all episcopal customs. For the text of the charter, see L. Musset, ‘Les origines du
prieuré de Saint-Fromond. Un acte négligé de Richard II’, BSAN, 53 (1955-1956), pp. 475-488, at p.
484. For a partial re-evaluation of this act, see Van Torhoudt, ‘Centralité et marginalité’, ii, pp. 320-
322.

4 <Notum sit omnibus hanc cartam legentibus et audientibus quod ecclesia sancti Salvatoris est libera
ab omnibus episcopalibus consuetudinibus, et a tempore vetuli Ricardi comitis et Rogeri vicecomitis,
qui ecclesiam inchoavit et liberam eam construxit, qui pro hac libertate ecclesiam sancti Nicholai de
Hulmo et vicum qui vocatur Gishaula in eadem villa sancte Marie Constanciensi concessit’, L. Delisle,
Histoire du chéateau et des sires de Saint-Sauveur-le-Vicomte (Valognes, 1867), pieces justificatives,
no. 48, p. 59. The act is dated 1135 x 1138.

' Le Homme, now L’Isle-Marie, Manche, cant. Saint-Mére-Eglise, comm. Picauville.
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been questioned,’® the church at Le Homme is among those possessions confirmed in
the charter of the cathedral of Coutances, which was issued after 8 December 1056.
Hugh was also party to two acts for institutions located outside Normandy. On 8
September 1015 he witnessed a charter for the abbey of Saint-Quentin,*® while he also
attested an act along with the entire Norman episcopate for the Italian house of

Fruttuaria.®

The date at which the bishop left his charge is unknown. His last appearance in the
diplomatic record can be dated no more exactly than 1017 x c. 1023,% although he
was certainly still active in around 1020, for it was at this time that he dedicated the
church of La Ferté-en-Bray, an important event that helped stabilise the duchy’s
north-eastern borders, in the presence of Richard Il and Robert, archbishop of
Rouen.?! Besides these appearances, we know only that Hugh had a wife, or at the
very least a concubine, for his son Roger later gave lands to two different Rouen
houses.”? With these donations concerning land located either within the vicinity of
Rouen, or within the Pays de Talou, we have what is perhaps the best evidence with
regards to Hugh’s own origins, and while this may lead us to question the suitability
of his appointment as a bishop of Coutances, as Eric van Torhoudt has recently noted,
the bishop’s links within the eastern part of the duchy may well have allowed for the
implantation of some of Normandy’s leading families in the west of the duchy, which
subsequently allowed for the reintegration of this region within the burgeoning

Norman realm.?

1 E. van Torhoudt, ‘Les siéges du pouvoir des Néel, vicomtes dans le Cotentin’, in Les lieux de
pouvoir, pp. 7-35, at p. 11.

' RADN, no. 214; Fontanel, Le cartulaire de Coutances, no. 340.

'® RADN, no. 18.

9 Bulst, Wilhelms von Dijon, pp. 223-236.

20 RADN, no. 30. Fauroux dated this act 1017 x 1025.

2! Bauduin, La premiére Normandie, p. 292 n. 37.

22 RADN, nos. 135 (La Trinité-du-Mont de Rouen), 186 (Saint-Amand de Rouen).

2 Van Torhoudt, ‘Centralité et marginalité’, ii, pp. 591-592.
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Robert I, c. 1023-1048

Robert began his episcopal career as bishop of Lisieux, a position to which he
probably ascended in around 1022. For reasons unknown he then traded dioceses
with Herbert, bishop of Coutances.! During his short episcopate, Herbert had left
Rouen and had re-established himself in the Cotentin at Saint-L6. Noticing the lack of
instruction among the canons previously installed there, he deprived them of their
prebends until they made an effort to acquire some knowledge.” Robert followed in
his predecessor’s footsteps, choosing to remain in the region, from where it is
sometimes claimed he originated,® while also taking the first steps towards a full
reconstitution of episcopal authority within the city of Coutances. His episcopate
proved, however, to be somewhat of a mixed blessing for the diocese. On the one
hand, he undertook the construction of a new cathedral, which he began with the help
of the duchess Gunnor,* who donated the land of Forcivilla at the time that she came
to lay the first stone,> while he also enlisted the help of local nobles and his
parishioners, whose names he engraved on the arches of the edifice in recognition of
their contributions.® Robert, however, failed to reconstitute either the library of the
cathedral, or its ornaments, which were required to conduct the divine service, while
he also used cathedral lands to support his family members.” Moreover, given the
length of his episcopate, Robert’s appearances in the diplomatic record are
surprisingly limited, and overwhelmingly concern houses located in Upper
Normandy. This, however, is not unusual for a bishop of Lower Normandy at this
time, and this pattern is remarkably similar to the diplomatic appearances of Hugh,

bishop of Avranches.

! For a full discussion of the complexities surrounding the exact date at which Robert first accepted,
and then abandoned, his charge, see the chapter on Herbert, bishop of Lisieux, below p. 248.

2 De statu’, col. 218.

® R. Toustain de Billy, Histoire ecclésiastique du diocése de Coutances, ed. F. Dolbet, 3 vols. (Rouen,
1874-1886), i, p. 109; Pigeon, Histoire de Coutances, p. 37.

* The involvement of the duchess places this event sometime between c. 1023 and 1026, if one assumes
that she would have only acted in this capacity during her husband’s lifetime. Otherwise, the terminus
ad quem is her death in 1031, ‘Chronicon Rotomagense’, p. 366. Gunnor was herself from the
Cotentin. For discussion, see Searle, ‘Fact and pattern’, p. 135.

> <. terram etiam Rolphi de Forcivilla quam dedit Gonnor ancilla dei cum primam posuerit petram in
fundamentis predicte ecclesie’, RADN, no. 214, p. 406.

® ‘Huius tamen temporibus incoepta et ex parte constructa est Constantientis ecclesia, fundante et
coadiuvante Gonnora comitissa, auxiliantibus etiam canonicis, reditibus medietatis altaris ad tempus
operi concessis, cooperantibus quoque baronibus et parochianis fidelibus, quod usque hodie
contestantur aliquod ipsorum nomina insculpta lapidibus in ecclesia arcubus’, ‘De statu’, col. 218.

" “De statu’, col. 218. This behaviour goes someway to confirm the assertion that Robert was from the
Cotentin.
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Frustratingly, we know little else of Robert. Unlike some of his contemporaries,
no later chronicler provides any information regarding his background, though he was
presumably closely related to the ducal line, or was at least descended from one of the
duchy’s leading families.® Given the involvement of Gunnor in the refoundation of
the cathedral, it would be tempting to posit a relationship between her and the bishop,
though the familial origins of the duchess remain unresolved.” We know that he had
sisters, but their identities are unknown.'® Besides his diplomatic attestations we
know only that Robert helped the archbishop of Rouen and Herbert, bishop of
Lisieux, consecrate the abbey of Saint-Wandrille on 12 September 1033,** while
towards 1045 he attended the reforming council convened by Mauger, archbishop of
Rouen.'? Why he chose to attend an event that was apparently shunned by two-thirds
of his colleagues is unclear. It is possible that he felt strongly about reform ideas,
although this seems unlikely given his treatment of his cathedral’s possessions.
Interestingly, the only other member of the episcopate at the council was Hugh,
bishop of Evreux, who was perhaps related to the archbishop.’® If the bishop of
Coutances did enjoy a familial connection with the duchess Gunnor, then he too
would have been related to Mauger, and it is possible that familial loyalties, rather
than reforming zeal, determined the presence of both bishops. Despite the claims of
the author of the De statu that Robert despoiled cathedral property, however, it is
possible that it was Robert who secured the land of Saint-Ebremond and Bonfosse,
which was later turned into an episcopal manor,** and that he was committed to
improving the church which he served. It is in the achievements of his successor,
however, that the inadequacies of Robert’s episcopate are perhaps most clearly
reflected, for under Geoffrey de Montbray, the cathedral of Coutances would rarely

want again.

8 Like, for example, the man with whom he swapped dioceses, who was described by an author of the
twelfth century as a propinquus of the duke, ‘De libertate Beccensis’, p. 138.

° Eleanor Searle proposed that she was related to the family of Nigel, vicomte of the Cotentin (Searle,
Predatory kinship, p. 103), though this was dismissed by Eric van Torhoudt, ‘Les siéges du pouvoir’, p.
22. For discussion of the various other theories concerning her familial ties, see Bauduin, La premiére
Normandie, pp. 219-220.

10°< . non solum praebendas dictorum canonicorum servito ecclesiae non reddidit, verum etiam haec et
alia in feodum et hereditatem nepotibus et consanguineis, et sororibus suis non large sed prodige
distribuit’, ‘De statu’, col. 218.

1 ‘Inventio et miracula sancti Vulfranni’, ed. J. Laporte, in Société de I’histoire de Normandie,
Mélanges, 14 (1938), pp. 8-87, at pp. 50-51.

12 Bessin, Concilia, p. 40.

3 For Hugh’s possible association with the ducal line, see below, pp. 215-216.

1 Casset, Les évéques aux champs, p. 417.
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Geoffrey de Montbray,' 1048/9-1093

Like his contemporary in the diocese of Bayeux, Geoffrey de Montbray was an
exceptional individual. Ruling his diocese for forty-five years, the bishop was an
active force not only within the regeneration of the Norman episcopal network, but
also within the Norman governance of England. Accordingly, he has been the focus
of scholarly interest since the seventeenth century, and, although his career has not
been the subject of a truly comprehensive analysis for over sixty-five years,? the
following seeks, as with the famous bishop of Bayeux, only to reconsider Geoffrey’s
Norman activities.® The new bishop was himself of a noble family whose origins are
unclear. No contemporary source refers to the bishop by the toponym with which he
IS now most famously associated, although it is Orderic who claims that Robert de
Montbray, earl of Northumberland, was his nephew.* This has subsequently led to the
assumption that Roger de Montbray was the bishop’s brother.> Fortunately, the author
of De statu, John son of Peter, a canon of the cathedral, provides additional
information with regards to Geoffrey’s other siblings, and not only refers to his
sisters, but also names another of the bishop’s brothers, l\/Iauger.6 The same author
also claims that Geoffrey was a kinsman (consanguineus) of Nigel, vicomte of the
Cotentin,” though the extent of these ties cannot have been great, for Geoffrey’s rise
to power seems to have been unaffected by Nigel’s fall from grace after the battle of
Val-és-Dunes.® The profusion of the name Mauger within the ducal family has led
some to question whether Geoffrey was a member of Normandy’s ruling lineage,’
although if such a connection did ever exist, it is strange that no contemporary

chronicler chose to mention it.

! Montbray, Manche, cant. Percy.

? The standard modern work remains Le Patourel, ‘Geoffrey of Mowbray’, pp. 129-161. For further
treatment of Geoffrey’s career, see L. Musset, ‘Un grand prélat normand du Xle siécle: Geoffroy de
Montbray, évéque de Coutances (1048-1093)’, Revue du département de la Manche, 14 (1983), pp. 3-
17; Jacqueline, ‘Institutions et état économico-social’, pp. 227-239; M. Chibnall, ‘La carriere de
Geoffroi de Montbray’, in Les évéques normands, pp. 279-294; Fontanel, ‘La réorganisation
religieuse’, pp. 189-208.

® A complete study of Geoffrey’s episcopate is currently in preparation by Chris Dennis, under the
supervision of Bill Aird at the University of Cardiff.

* OV, ii, p. 266.

® Le Patourel, ‘Geoffrey of Mowbray’, p. 133; Musset, ‘Un grand prélat normand’, p. 7; Spear, The
personnel, p. 91.

® De statu’, col. 219.

" “De statu’, col. 222.

& Nigel went into exile in Brittany, and was only restored to ducal favour in 1054, GND, ii, p. 122 n. 3.
% Chibnall, ‘La carriére de Geoffroi’, p. 281.



177

The most recent hypothesis concerning the bishop’s origins proposes an entirely
local pedigree. Eric van Torhoudt has suggested that Geoffrey was from a canonical
family of ‘bajocassino-contentinaise’ origins, who were based around the prebend of
Soulles,° the evidence for which he claimed is found in a passage in the confirmation
charter of the cathedral of Coutances.* Unhappy with the explanation that Geoffrey

1,2 van Torhoudt

had acquired the land of Crapolt from an individual called Sole
argued that this is actually a confused reference to a toponym associated with the
bishop (i.e. ‘de Soulles’). Although the uncertainty surrounding Geoffrey’s origins
certainly allows for such speculation, this hypothesis ignores a number of important
factors. Most importantly, few Norman bishops of the eleventh century, even those
with the most prestigious of pedigrees, refer to themselves, or are referred to by
others, as anything other than the bishop of the diocese with which they were charged.
If the allusion to de Solel is a confused reference to a toponym associated with the
bishop of Coutances, then it is an unusual, and given the insignificant nature of
Soulles, also a highly unlikely example of such practices. Furthermore, the charter of
Coutances survives only in later copies, the earliest of which date to the fourteenth
century. Analysis of these copies confirms the reading of de Solel,*® though this could
easily be part of the name Solel(man) (Solomon),** which was common in the
region,™ or perhaps even a garbled reference to Saint-L6, another name for the bishop
of Coutances.™®

To whomever Geoffrey was related they were sufficiently powerful to be able to
secure the episcopate for him, although Mauger’s purchase of the bishopric for his
brother was not particularly well-received outside the duchy.'” Like his origins, the

19 Van Torhoudt, ‘Centralité et marginalité’, ii, pp. 473 and 776; E. van Torhoudt, ‘Les Bretons dans
les diocéses d’Avranches et de Coutances (950-1200 environ)’, in Bretons et Normands au Moyen Age,
pp. 113-144, at pp. 139-140. Soulles, Manche, cant. Canisy.

< . terram etiam de Crapolt quam Gaufridus episcopus de Solel ad opus sancte Marie acquisivit et
terram de Unceyo quam similter prefate ecclesie attribuit’, Fontanel, Le cartulaire de Coutances, no.
340, p. 493.

12 For the traditional identification, see the ‘Index général’ in RADN, p. 540.

3 Arch. nat., 3 59, fol. 146v; Arch. nat., JJ 152, fol. 111v.

Y 1t is possible that this name was abbreviated as Solel’, and that later scribes simply omitted the
apostrophe.

1% There is, for example, a Solomon d’Avranches, who was active around the time that the charter was
drawn up, RADN, nos. 201, 208 and 220, p. 419 n. w.

1% For an example of the bishop of Coutances being called ‘bishop of Saint-Ld’ (sanctus Loth), see
Regesta, no. 81(1).

17 Geoffrey was censured by the pope at the Council of Reims in 1049, ‘Dedicatio sancti Remigii’, col.
741; Anselme de Saint-Rémy, ‘Histoire’, p. 248.



Date Document Beneficiary Location T S M
1048/9 x 1066 RADN, no. 181 Bec Brionne X
c. 1050 x 1064 RADN, no. 163 Marmoutier X
c. 1050 x 1064 RADN, no. 163bis Marmoutier X
c. 1052 x 1058 RADN, no. 141 Marmoutier X
1056 x 1066 RADN, no. 214 Coutances cathedral X
1066 RADN, no. 227 Beaumont-leés-Tours Bayeux (in camera comitis) X X
1066 x 1087 Regesta, no. 77 Canterbury cathedral Westminster X
1066 x 1087 Regesta, no. 95 Cerisy-la-Forét X X
1066 x 1086 Regesta, no. 103 Coutances cathedral X
1066 x 1083 Regesta, no. 51 Saint-Etienne de Caen X
1066 x 1083 Regesta, no. 92 Cerisy-la-Forét X X
1066 x 1077/80 Regesta, no. 346 Worcester cathedral X
May 1068 Regesta, no. 286 (probable) Wells cathedral X
11 May 1068 Regesta, no. 181 St. Martin-le-Grand Westminster X
1069 Regesta, no. 256 Saint-Gabriel priory Valognes X X
1069 (? Easter) Regesta, no. 138 Exeter cathedral X
prob. c. 12 April 1069 Regesta, no. 232 La Trinité-du-Mont de Rouen X
13 April 1069 Regesta, no. 254 Saint-Denis Winchester X
1070 x 1087 Regesta, no. 88 St. Augustine’s, Canterbury Rouen X
1070 x 1087 Regesta, no. 152 St. Peter’s, Gloucester X
1070 x 1086 Regesta, no. 129 England, kingdom X
1070 x 1082/3 Regesta, no. 87 St. Augustine’s, Canterbury Windsor X
1070 x 1078 Regesta, no. 133 Evesham abbey Winchester X
1070 x 1071 Regesta, no. 104 St. Mary’s, Coventry X
1070 (bef. Whitsun) Regesta, no. 81(1) St. Augustine’s, Canterbury Windsor X
1071 x 1075 Regesta, no. 117 St. Etheldreda’s, Ely X
1072 x 1085 Regesta, no. 265 Samson the chaplain X
1072 x 1073 Regesta, no. 69(1&I1) Canterbury cathedral Penenden Heath X
27 May 1072 Regesta, no. 68 Canterbury cathedral Windsor X
1075/6 x 1087 Regesta, no. 122 St. Etheldreda’s, Ely X
c. 1076 Regesta, no. 214 Mont-Saint-Michel X
1077 x 1085 Regesta, no. 349 Worcester cathedral X
1077 x 1078 Regesta, no. 174 Saint-Vincent du Mans (?) Le Mans X
1077 x 1078 Regesta, no. 217 Saint-Léger de Préaux X
14 July 1077 Regesta, no. 83 St. Augustine’s, Canterbury Bayeux X
1078 x 1085 Regesta, no. 347 Worcester cathedral X
1078 x 1085 Regesta, no. 348 Worcester cathedral X X
1079 x 1083 Regesta, no. 57 Saint-Etienne de Caen X X X

8.1



1080/1 x 1083
1080

12 April 1080
14 July 1080
27 Dec. 1080 (?)
1081 x 1087
1081 x 1087
1081 x 1082
1081 x 1082
1081/2 x 1083
1081/2 x 1083
1081/2 x 1083
1081/2 x 1083
1081/2 x 1083
1081/2 x 1083
1081/2 x 1083
1081/2 x 1083
Feb. 1081

31 May 1081
1082

1082

1082 (late)
1085 x 1093
1085

1086

April (or after) 1086
1087 x 1093
1087 x 1091
1087 x 1088
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27 Jan. 1091

1 June 1091 x 28 Feb. 1092
1092 x 1093
Jan. 1093
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Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta, no.
Regesta (Davis), i, no. 346

Regesta (Davis), i, no. 323

Regesta (Davis), i, no. 306

Regesta (Davis), i, no. 320

Regesta (Davis), i, no. 315

BN, ms. lat. 13905, fol. 52r

Caen, coll. Mancel, vol. 303 (vi), fol. 59r

53
257
235
175(1&I1)
201
54
167
49
50
119
120
121
123
124
125
126 (var. ‘a’)
127
193
39
60
215
253
278
156
350
146

GC, xi, Instr., col. 223

Saint-Etienne de Caen
Saint-Gabriel priory

La Trinité-du-Mont de Rouen
Lessay

Marmoutier
Saint-Etienne de Caen
Bec

Saint-Etienne de Caen
Saint-Etienne de Caen
St. Etheldreda’s, Ely

St. Etheldreda’s, Ely

St. Etheldreda’s, Ely

St. Etheldreda’s, Ely

St. Etheldreda’s, Ely

St. Etheldreda’s, Ely

St. Etheldreda’s, Ely

St. Etheldreda’s, Ely
Malmesbury abbey
Bury St. Edmunds

La Trinité de Caen
Saint-Evroult de Mortain
Saint-Calais

St. Mary’s, Thorney

St. Peter’s, Gloucester
Worcester cathedral
Fécamp

Peter de Valognes

Gent, Saint-Pierre au Mont-Blandin
St. Peter’s, Westminster
Bec

Bath cathedral

Bec

Saint-Pierre de Marigny
Coutances cathedral

Bonneville-sur-Touques
Cherbourg

London
Winchester
Downton (Wilts)
Gloucester

Lacock (Wilts)

Dover

Marigny
(Coutances)

x

X X X X

X X X X X

X X

X X X X

X X X X X X X X

Fig. 31 Appearances of Geoffrey de Montbray, bishop of Coutances (1048/9-1093), in the diplomatic record’

“ Geoffrey also appears in forged charters for Gent, Saint-Pierre au Moulin-Blandin (Regesta, no. 150), Malmesbury abbey (Regesta, no. 194), St. Peter’s,
Westminster (Regesta, nos. 290, 294, 301, 303, 305, 306, 317, 322, 331) and Durham (Regesta, nos. 109, 110). Geoffrey may also be the unnamed bishop of
Coutances said to have attested a charter for Bec along with Robert Curthose, the text of which is now lost, BN, ms. lat. 13905, fol. 20r (marginalia).
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date of the bishop’s consecration has also been the subject of much debate, and
although the date of 12 March 1049 was once accepted, it seems most likely that he
was consecrated at Rouen, where he presumably received his pastoral staff from
Archbishop Mauger, on 10 April 1048.

Whether Geoffrey visited the diocese with which he had been entrusted at this
time is unclear. He may have had little need to see an episcopal city which was
already well known to be in state of some considerable disrepair, while the
chronology of De statu seems to suggest that his first action upon his consecration
was to leave for Italy, where he was welcomed by Robert Guiscard, his parishioner
(parochianum suum), and his barons, to whom Geoffrey was kinsman
(consanguineus).’® Before arriving in the Apennine peninsula, however, Geoffrey
had first attended the papal council convened at Reims in October 1049, where he was
forced to defend himself against accusations of simony.”> This he managed to do
successfully,?! and having been accorded a position of some apparent privilege—and
perhaps also of reconciliation—during the dedication ceremony of the church of
Reims,? he then followed the pope to Rome, where in April 1050 he attended the
Easter synod convened to discuss, among other matters, the heresy of Berengar of
Tours.? It was from here that he then undoubtedly went to visit his parishioner and
relatives in the south of the country, from whom he was able to elicit gold, silver and
many jewels, which he later used to enrich his church.?* The bishop of Coutances
was not alone in exploiting such networks, for Ivo, bishop of Sées, who had been with

Geoffrey at Reims, also visited relatives in Italy to secure finances for the rebuilding

¥ The source of the confusion is the following passage in De statu: ‘Anno igitur Dominicae
Incarnationis MXLVIII, duodecim tantum diebus ipsius anni restantibus, id est IV idus Aprilis,
indictione II, venerandus Gaufridus post Robertum Constantiensis episcopus Rotomagi consecratur...’.
Le Patourel proposed 12 March 1049 (Le Patourel, ‘Geoffrey of Mowbray’, p. 134 and n. 2), which has
been followed by most modern authorities. David Spear, however, has recently argued convincingly for
the alternative date, Spear, The personnel, p. 90 n. 5.

9 De statu’, col. 219.

% ‘Dedicatio sancti Remigii’, col. 737; Anselme de Saint-Rémy, ‘Histoire’, p. 236.

2! Geoffrey claimed that he had protested against his brother’s purchase of the bishopric, but that he
had been held violently captive by him, and forced to accept the see against his will: *... sed ab eodem
violenter captum, episcopali contra voluntatem suam esse dignitate’, ‘Dedicatio sancti Remigii’, col.
741; Anselme de Saint-Rémy, ‘Histoire’, p. 248.

22 Geoffrey stood fourth from the pope’s right, next to the archbishop of Canterbury, and was the
closest to Leo IX of all the Norman bishops present. For an illustration of the order of the bishops
based on the description given by Anselme de Saint-Rémy, see Anselme de Saint-Rémy, ‘Histoire’, p.
285.

2 ‘Dedicatio sancti Remigii’, col. 771.

2 <De statu’, col. 219.
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of his cathedral, and even travelled as far as Constantinople, where he received gifts

for his church from the Emperor.?®

When Geoffrey did finally arrive at Coutances he found a city in decline. Despite
the efforts of his predecessors, the city remained unable to accommodate the presence
of a bishop, and Geoffrey found that not only was there no church in the area that
could accommodate him, or a residence ‘leaning against the walls of the cathedral’,
but also, as the author of De statu famously remarked, that there was not even a place
in which ‘to stable his horse’.?®® If this account is accurate, and there is every
possibility that John son of Peter is more panegyrist than historian,?’ then the speed
with which Geoffrey revived the city is remarkable. He quickly began the work of
rebuilding, and

on account of his prudence and probity, he acquired and secured the most
important half of the city [of Coutances], the suburbs, the tolls and taxes, with the
mill and its dues of Grimouville, from William, the most invincible duke of the
Normans, and later glorious king of the English, for three hundred livres. Then he
constructed an episcopal hall and outbuildings, planted an orchard and a vineyard
of no small scale, built the chevet of the nave of the cathedral, with an area, and
on both sides constructed two larger chevets more noble and more distinguished.?
He also erected, from their foundations, two [western] towers, and one above the
choir, in which he established melodious and expensive bells; and all this he
covered in lead. Moreover, he created in Coutances two ponds with mills; regained
in part the land of Parc from the count of Mortain, which he surrounded with a
double fosse and a palisade, and within which